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A Message To

Our Shareholders

Greg D. Carmichael
President and Chief Executive Officer

Dear Fifth Third Shareholders,

It is my great pleasure to address you as chief executive officer of Fifth Third
Bancorp. I am honored by the Board’s appointment to this post and I look
forward to helping our Company deliver new solutions that will continue to
raise the bar on the services we provide as a trusted advisor to our retail and
commercial customers.

Before turning to the highlights and challenges of 2015, and on behalf of
everyone at Fifth Third, I want to thank Kevin Kabat for his 33 years of
strong and steady leadership. Having served as CEO for more than eight

of those years, Kevin deftly guided Fifth Third through the financial crisis with a
steadfast commitment to deliver shareholder value and support the communities
we serve. [ want to thank him for his guidance, his support and his friendship.

2015 was a transformative year for Fifth Third; a year in which we took bold
steps to better navigate, manage and anticipate industry change as well as risk,
and a year in which we redoubled our efforts to keep the customer at the center
of everything we do.

The second half of the year was especially active as we worked to position
Fifth Third for sustainable success through every economic cycle.

For example, we welcomed several top-caliber executives who are already
contributing to our talented leadership team. We chose to exit two of our retail
markets to improve efficiency and competitiveness. And we resolved a number
of long-standing regulatory matters, allowing us to take a strong step forward
on the road ahead.

Given the grounding early in my career in technology and operations, you will
not be surprised to hear that this road will include significant technological
milestones as well as a focus on process improvements, customer service and
regulatory excellence. We are firmly committed to growing our businesses
profitably and responsibly.

2015 Performance

Our progress in 2015 across our businesses and markets provides a good start.
Net income available to common shareholders was $1.6 billion and earnings
per diluted share were $2.01. The results reflect a solid performance across each
of our business lines, highlighted by revenue growth in mortgage banking,
payments processing and wealth management. This contributed to a return on
average assets of 1.2 percent, which is an increase from 2014 and higher than
the average of our commercial bank peers.

Return on average tangible common equity! of 13.5 percent was a 130-basis-point
increase from 2014. Loan and lease balances grew by more than $2 billion in
2015, as our continued focus on the commercial and industrial space remained
strong. The growth in our commercial business was complemented by customer
deposits, which increased by over $5 billion. We continued to recognize significant
value from our position in Vantiv and, as a result, generated over $500 million
of after-tax cash proceeds after liquidating a portion of our position.

TNon-GAAP measure. For further information, see the Non-GAAP Financial Measures section of MD&A.
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A Message To Our Shareholders continued

Expenses were up in 2015 as we invested in our commitment to digitize our
business and regulatory excellence. However, we improved our efficiency ratio

by carefully managing the relationship between revenue and expenses. Line of
business performance also improved. Mortgage banking revenue grew 12 percent
due to more than $8 billion in originations. Wealth management revenue grew

3 percent as asset management and securities and brokerage fees grew 3 and

4 percent, respectively. Payment processing revenue increased 2 percent as we
issued more credit cards to meet customer needs and grew our client base. We
also continued to return capital to shareholders through a 2 percent dividend
increase and the repurchase of over 42 million shares of common stock.

Driving Consistently Strong Results

In a world of higher and higher expectations—in terms of service, efficiency,
results and returns—our own expectation for Fifth Third is to deliver a consistently
strong performance throughout the cycle. To meet that expectation, we have
added and enhanced talent and ramped up the level of accountability at all
levels of the Company.

Our commitment to growing our businesses will be calibrated and
measured, with a focus on profitability, lower volatility and risk
management. Resources will be allocated strategically and carefully managed.
Additionally, we will seek relationships with the right risk/return profiles.

This includes avoiding an over-reliance on credit income and building out more
fee-driven relationships, specifically showcasing our suite of products across
our consumer and core middle-market sectors.

The substantial investments we have made in people, products and services are
already moving us toward a better mix of fee and credit income. By focusing on
having a greater proportion of our revenue driven by fee-based products and
services, we are supporting our goal to operate with lower volatility. We have also
worked to reshape our business mix, again to manage the volatility inherent in
certain, more cyclical industries. We regularly consider opportunities that could
be additive to our existing businesses or could expand our existing lineup.

We are very pleased to have assembled a leadership team that brings together
significant experience from within the industry and from companies that have
served the industry. New additions include Lars Anderson, a seasoned
commercial banker with a 30-year record of success at other large regional banks.
Since the day he joined us as chief operating officer last August, Lars has modeled
the high level of work ethic and performance that is necessary for us to win.
Tim Spence came to Fifth Third in September from Oliver Wyman, where he
was a partner in the regional banking practice. As our new chief strategy officer,
Tim brings along substantial knowledge about our Company, our industry

and the competitive landscape. Chief Legal Officer Heather Russell Koenig,
who also joined in September, has deep experience with regulatory affairs at
several other large financial institutions. In addition to these great executives,
we also have added senior talent in sales, credit and risk management
over the last 18 months. These leaders, along with the highly capable and
engaged individuals all across our Company, have the skill and energy to execute
on our vision.
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Our commitment to growing
our businesses will be
calibrated & measured, with a
focus on profitability,
lower volatility and risk
management.

Dealing Effectively with Uncertainty

Along with investing to grow and drive efficiencies in

our core businesses, we are also mindful of the challenges
of operating through different economic cycles to protect
the value of the business. As you may know, interest rates
have recently dominated discussion around bank earnings,
and we continue to perform well in the current low
interest rate environment. Our balance sheet is positioned
very well and reflects our expectations for slowly rising
interest rates, as our securities portfolio is structured
with lower exposures to prepayments and re-pricing.

At the same time, however, we have also maintained the

flexibility to adapt to an even lower rate environment in the event that the Fed takes
a slower-than-expected approach. We believe this strategy will be pivotal to
supporting a stable earnings stream in a continually uncertain rate environment.

In any environment, the keys to our future are steadfast: keep the
customer at the center, operate with excellence, proactively manage
risk and foster engagement among our teams.

Achieving Excellence in Risk Management and Operations

While we are constantly looking ahead, we are also focused on day-to-day operational
excellence while managing the risks that are inherent in the business of banking.
As I mentioned earlier, we settled a few significant regulatory matters in 2015

and we were pleased to put these matters behind us. We are focused on ensuring
that we meet or exceed our regulatory and compliance targets to avoid regulatory
enforcement actions in the future.

As the Dodd-Frank Act and other banking regulations take effect, we are gaining
more clarity around the types of regulatory and compliance expectations we
will be required to meet in the coming years. We have made the necessary
investments to continue to meet these expectations and ensure that our risk
management culture will be a competitive advantage going forward.

Our commitment to risk management is not just about the back office, or narrowly
focused in support of regulatory and compliance areas. Our commitment is also

a big driver of how we think about customer satisfaction as we strive to achieve
service excellence. When we deliver on our operational duties, risks are
mitigated, and both our customers and our Company win.

This means that whether a customer is standing in front of us or banking online,
at the ATM or on the phone, he or she should have a great experience with
Fifth Third. We need to make sure we do all we can, every time, to deliver from
an operational standpoint. This will mitigate risk to the customer and to us, all
while ensuring that every customer has a great overall experience at Fifth Third.
Ultimately, we are proving to our customers that they can and should trust

us to provide high-quality and highly efficient services that connect them with

their goals.
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A Message To Our Shareholders continued

Keeping Customers at the Center

Doing the right thing, the right way, is a core principle of our Company. We
want to be the One Bank people most value and trust. To achieve this, we will
remain focused on understanding and meeting customer needs; being clear
and transparent; and delivering solutions when, and how they want to bank.
We will look at processes through the lens of the customer and work to continually
meet and exceed expectations. We know that by putting the customer
at the center of everything we do, we will continue to create
shareholder value.

With the right foundation in place, we are firmly focused on growing direct,
profitable relationships with our customers. Being a trusted advisor and taking
care of our customers are vital to creating value for our franchise, and will require
us to increase the pace of play across each of our businesses.

In the Consumer Bank, investments in technology and efforts to
develop and improve digital channels are essential to building these
relationships. Customer demographics are changing, and by any measure, it’s
clear that their comfort level with digital channels is growing. Digital channel
experiences are generally more highly rated than traditional service channels
and online services in retail and other categories are increasing expectations
for access, transparency and speed.

Digital channels are integral to the way people shop for, apply for and
use financial services and we are already using these tools to increase
the number of customer touch points. This places a higher focus on
customer-facing actions while helping to develop a consultative sales process
in which we are the trusted advisor to our consumer customers.

Late last year, we rolled out a new website with an enhanced look and feel

to improve the customer experience, which is the most important factor in
the ultimate success of digital deployment. As the frequency of digital contact
is growing relative to physical contact, our investments have been increasingly
moving to ensure and improve the quality of the experience. This also has led
us to more effective management of our brick and mortar branch network.
These strategies will improve customer experience and take risks out of processes,

| FIFTH THIRD BANCORP 2015 ANNUAL REPORT




We will look at processes
through the lens of

the customer and work to
continually meet and
exceed expectations.

all while allowing us to deliver services and solutions to
our customers safely and efficiently through the channels
they most prefer.

In the Commercial Bank, we are targeting high-
value customers with the right risk/reward
balance. We have enhanced the capabilities available
to our relationship managers so that they have the
necessary tools to be assets to their customers, especially
on the go. It is important that we monitor and consult
on significant macroeconomic trends to help benefit
commercial clients in a dynamic rate environment. By
offering fast, seamless, convenient and flexible solutions,

we will earn respect from our customers by promoting trust and integrity as the
valuable advantages to doing business with Fifth Third.

In the wealth management business, our investments in mobile
enhancements and our convenient Life360 tool will connect our
customers and advisors to more information faster, which will improve
the quality of relationships. Our specific focus on intergenerational wealth
transfer will help build long-term relationships driven by the value Fifth Third

provides as a trusted advisor.

Over the last several years, we have also continued to grow our Payments and
Commerce Solutions business, and I am enthused about the opportunities we
have in this space. We are bringing value-added services to customers faster than
the competition and are focused on this competitive advantage going forward.
Through emerging products in mobile payments, digital sales and consulting
tools, we continue to drive customer-centric innovations.

Overall, we are using technology to enhance our ability to be nimble
and opportunistic in all aspects of our Company. While we will continue
to have an intense focus on expenses in 2016, we have invested wisely in the
digital space. Technology is transforming our industry through its impact on day-
to-day operations, its success in widening the delivery channels for products and
services, and the value that data analytics provides. Our digital investments will
set the stage for ongoing outperformance through all economic cycles.

Digital channels are integral to the way people
shop for, apply for and use financial services
and we are already using these tools to increase the

number of customer touch points.
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A Message To Our Shareholders continued

Improving the Lives of Customers and the Well-being
of Communities

Fifth Third is committed to improving the lives of customers and the well-being
of our communities. This commitment shows in our products, services and
relationships, and it also shows in the way we step up and step together to
positively impact the places where we live and work.

This long legacy of caring, which has been a hallmark of our Company,
continued in 2015. Last August, for example, we announced that Fifth Third’s
headquarters and Cincinnati region had held the most successful United Way
campaign to date, raising more than $3 million from employee contributions
alone. We provided roughly 800,000 meals to the hungry through Fifth Third
Day celebrations in 2015 (5/3 on the calendar).

In June, we received the prestigious Community Service Award from
the Illinois Bankers Association (IBA) for our many efforts to help the
communities we serve, especially through our “Honoring Our Veterans”
campaign. This campaign included providing veterans and military families
with college scholarships, care packages, house remodeling, free pet adoptions,
job coaching assistance and training for support dogs. It culminated on Veterans
Day, when more than 200 veterans received either jobs or solid job leads at our
first-of-its-kind “Hiring Fair” for veterans.

Additionally, since our collaboration with Stand Up To Cancer (SU2C) began
in 2013, Fifth Third has raised $6 million by providing opportunities for customers
and community members to help in the fight against this disease by donating

to SU2C’s innovative research programs.

We could not have this kind of community impact, nor could we deliver the
financial products and services that improve the lives of individual and families,
without the dedication of our more than 18,000

employees. Our employees are the face of

Fifth Third. They also are the hands

that put their neighbors in homes; help

businesses launch, expand and operate;

put kids through college and send workers

to a secure retirement. [ am proud to be I lOOk for war d to the
part of this industry, this Company and this team. o

I look forward to the future with confidence, future WIth Conﬁdencel
optimism and great faith that Fifth Third will optimi sm & great faith

continue to make a positive difference in the

lives of customers, communities, employees that Fifth Third will continue

and shareholders.

to make a positive difference

Sincerely, in the lives of customers,
Greg D. Carmichael communities, employees
President and Chief Executive Officer

. and shareholders.
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Full-year net income
available to
common shareholders
INCREASED

16%

Average loans & leases
INCREASED TO

$93.3B

Average securities
INCREASED

$5.2B

Average
transaction deposits
INCREASED

6%

At year-end, our
LCR was

116%

exceeding Federal
requirements

Noninterest income
INCREASED

21%

2015 Financial Review

Full-year 2015 net income available to common shareholders of
$1.6 billion increased 16 percent from 2014. Earnings per diluted
common share of $2.01 increased 21 percent.

Results for both years included the benefit to earnings related to our holding

in Vantiv. In 2015, after-tax Vantiv net gains were approximately

$519 million (approximately $0.64 per share), compared with net gains
of $148 million (approximately $0.17 per share) in 2014. We reduced our direct
ownership stake and realized significant gains, and our remaining interest in
Vantiv will continue to be a source of significant future returns.

Our balance sheet is strong as we maintained our disciplined approach to lending
and focused on areas that we believe have a compelling risk/return profile.
Average loans and leases increased to $93.3 billion, with a majority of
the growth in commercial and industrial and commercial construction loans.
Average securities increased $5.2 billion as we worked toward an optimal
mix for the current and near-term rate and liquidity environment.

We also continued to grow high-value, low-cost transaction deposits in 2015,
with average balances increasing 6 percent from 2014. We view the strength
of our deposit franchise to be the driving force for profitable balance
sheet growth in the coming years.

Full-year net interest income declined 1 percent as we nearly offset $94 million
dollars of revenue reduction from the changes made to our deposit advance
product that went into effect on Jan. 1, 2015. Excluding that, NII was up 1 percent.
At year-end, our liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) was 116 percent, which exceeds
the Federal Banking Regulators’ LCR requirements.

Noninterest income increased 21 percent from 2014, reflecting the higher
net benefit from our investment in Vantiv, partially offset by charges associated
with branch rationalization plans, and an 11 percent decline in corporate
banking revenue. Otherwise, fee income results were highlighted by mortgage
banking net revenue and investment advisory fees. Throughout the year, we
maintained our focus on expenses, and while total noninterest expense increased
2 percent from 2014, we are driving efficiencies in our operations that are largely
funding our investments in our risk and compliance infrastructure.

Credit trends reflected the benign environment and our continued focus to improve
our businesses and results. Full-year net charge-offs decreased 22 percent, while
nonperforming assets declined 16 percent from 2014. Our coverage ratios remain
solid at 1.37 percent of loans and 252 percent of nonperforming loans.

Overall, we have momentum in many of our core businesses.
We believe we are taking appropriate steps to be successful today
and to position ourselves for long-term success. @

RETILY 1L
l
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2015 HIGHLIGHTS

Consumer Lending

We offer competitive rates with flexible terms
to help customers reach their goals.

Our Consumer Lending division offers competitive

rates with flexible terms to help customers reach
$6 5 6 M their goals, whether short- or long-term. In our
TOTAL REVENUE consumer credit card business, we focus

on acquiring and activating existing retail and

small business customers to strengthen the total

customer relationship. The recent creation of

our Payments and Commerce Solutions division

$21 B takes this strategy even further, allowing us to

AVERASE accelerate and deepen customer relationships.
Our auto business is another important
component of Consumer Lending, and it
is a business that has remained stable in size

$ 73 B throughout 2015. There is no shortage of

MORTGAGE opportunity to generate substantial auto loan

S, growth, given the industry volume, but we believe
we are sized right to effectively manage risk and
controls in this area. Fifth Third is one of the
largest bank originators of indirect auto loans

8 3 71 7 in the country, and we continue to value the

DEALER relationships with our extensive dealer network
INDIRECT AUTO . )
LENDING across our 45-state indirect auto footprint.
NETWORK

Mortgage is the most cyclical of our
businesses, and we have managed well through
the most recent cycle. We have a fairly flexible

We proactively work
with borrowers
to explore options that

make sense within
their current financial
situation.

| FIFTH THIRD BANCORP 2015 ANNUAL REPORT

business model that can be adjusted quickly in
response to the changing environment. Fifth
Third is primarily an in-footprint, direct and retail
lender, though we also purchase loans through
a correspondent channel. We offer home loans
to our existing customers and new prospects,
knowing that ideally, we can provide additional
products and services beyond their home loan.
Mortgage often opens the door to deeper, more
profitable relationships, and our One Bank
approach to holistically serving the needs of
customers is key to leveraging these opportunities.

Regardless of whether our credit customers
come to us through card, auto, mortgage or
other Consumer Lending areas, Fifth Third
provides ample resources to simplify the process
of obtaining a loan. We proactively work with
borrowers to explore options that make sense
within their current financial situation. Our
commitment to demonstrate better listening,
better ideas and better solutions helps earn us
the trust that creates value...value that lasts well
beyond the life of the loan. @




Branch Banking

Our mobile app and re-designed
website makes it easier to
bank where and when our

customers prefer.

We continue to believe a strong Retail Bank
IS critical to the future of Fifth Third.

We offer a complete suite of retail banking
products and services, and our localized,
high-touch service model allows us to connect
with the unique and diverse areas of our
footprint to create a more personal banking
experience. Our branch network is fundamental
to our success, as customers have indicated that
convenience and branch proximity are still top
factors in selecting a bank.

Our physical infrastructure complements
our digital efforts. Over the last several years,
we have taken significant action to re-engineer
our retail operations to better meet the evolving
needs of customers. As we announced in June,
this work included changes to the size of our
branch network. We are in the process of selling
or consolidating 107 branches across our
footprint. While our banking centers represent
the physical manifestation of our brand in the
community, our enhanced online and mobile
presence is becoming an increasingly valued tool
for our customers.

Customers’ expectations for access, transparency
and speed are quickly rising. Accordingly,

we are prioritizing our investments to align
with the demographic and technological
changes that are reshaping these markets.
The traditional lines across retail delivery
channels are no longer well-defined, and our
investments will continue to integrate every
touch point into a universal sales, service and
marketing strategy. We believe our efforts

to effectively integrate digital technology in
this fast-changing environment will not only
improve the lives of our customers, but also will
provide significant shareholder value. @

$2.2B

TOTAL REVENUE

$16.4B

AVERAGE
LOANS

$51.2B

AVERAGE
CORE
DEPOSITS

1.7M

ONLINE
BANKING
CUSTOMERS

~1.2M

MOBILE
BANKING
CUSTOMERS

SLHOITHSOIH SlLO¢
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2015 HIGHLIGHTS

Investment Advisors

We provide our clients with complete, powerful
financial solutions from one trusted advisor.

Investment Advisors is comprised of four
distinct businesses tailored to the unique
$ 546 M needs of its customers. We put more than
TOTAL REVENUE 100 years of experience to work to help individuals,
families, businesses, and institutional clients
protect, grow, and manage their wealth.

- Fifth Third Private Bank serves the complex

$2 8 B financial needs of the Bank’s clients with teams
AVE ; AGE of professionals dedicated to helping clients
LOANS achieve their financial goals.

- Fifth Third Securities helps individuals
and families at every stage of their lives,
offering retirement, investment and education

$9_4 B planning, managed money, annuities and
AVERAGE transactional brokerage services.
CORE
DEPOSITS « ClearArc Capital, Inc. provides asset

management services to institutional clients.

- Fifth Third Institutional Services provides
consulting, investment and record-keeping

$2 6 B services for corporations, financial institutions,
ASSETS UNDER foundations, endowments and not-for-profit
MANAGEMENT

organizations. Products include retirement
plans, endowment management, planned
giving and global and domestic custody services.

$297B

ASSETS UNDER
CARE

We put more than 100 years
of experience to work to help

our clients protect, grow and
manage their wealth.

| FIFTH THIRD BANCORP 2015 ANNUAL REPORT

Our Investment Advisors business has become
successful through helping clients over their
lifetimes and becoming their trusted partner.
Client behaviors, preferences and expectations
are evolving alongside shifts in demographics.
We are prioritizing our investments in recognition
of these significant changes. One such investment
is in digital tools to help clients better manage
their personal wealth and enhance their
experience with us.

By providing holistic advice, guidance and
service, and focusing on the needs of our clients,
Investment Advisors is poised to continue to
deliver growth to Fifth Third. @




Commercial Banking

We offer a variety of services that
can help your business succeed—

no matter your industry.

Our commitment to business lending

remains strong.

In the Commercial Bank, we develop
relationships with business, government, and
professional customers through customized
financial solutions. With our focused
segmentation strategy, we are targeting
clients ranging in size from those with

$20 million in annual revenue to some of the
world’s largest companies. Our comprehensive
and competitive offerings span from traditional
lending and depository products to global
cash management, foreign exchange and
international trade finance, derivatives and
capital markets services, asset-based lending,
real estate finance, public finance, commercial
leasing, and syndicated finance.

This wide range of service and experience
allows us to address our clients’ needs as our
talented bankers become valued partners

in our customers’ financial success. We have
seen the benefits of our strategies in stronger
partnerships with our customers and in the
steady growth of this business. In 2015, our
Commercial Bank produced 38 percent
of Bancorp revenue and accounted for more
than half of our loan balances.

We are focused on sustaining the growth
trajectory in this business by cultivating
relationships that go well beyond traditional
lending arrangements and that fit within

our risk appetite. We are focused on selecting
high-value customers with the right risk/
reward balance. Our commitment to business
lending remains strong. Our track record
of success and ability to develop new
capabilities sets Fifth Third apart from
the competition. We have built specialized
verticals and significantly strengthened our
credit underwriting by adding experienced
talent in these areas as well.

We stand ready to help businesses adapt to the
new economy, drive innovation and growth,
and access the working capital needed to
meet their goals. We are confident we have
the experience and knowledge to grow this
business profitably. W

$2.5B

TOTAL REVENUE

$53B

AVERAGE
LOANS

$37.2B

AVERAGE
CORE
DEPOSITS

14,000

CLIENTS

1,800

STRATEGIC
VERTICAL
CLIENTS

SLHOITHSOIH SlLO¢
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Community Giving

Our purpose is to improve lives, and by
extension, our communities.

We are committed to serving our community
by delivering signature programs that keep our
customers at the center of everything we do.

Our alliance with Stand Up to Cancer
(SU2C) hit a major milestone in 2015—the
raising of $6 million for cancer research since
our collaboration began in 2013. We helped
to raise the funds through our SU2C credit
and debit cards, regional SU2C Nights at minor
league ballparks and an innovative social
media campaign, which encouraged people
to share stories about how they fight cancer
with the #howifight hash tag. Fifth Third
donated $1 to SU2C for each eligible post and
more than 35,000 stories were shared.

The Bank also expanded its unique collaboration
with national employment solutions company,
NextJob, to help fight against unemployment
in the United States. In 2015, our outreach
included offering $1,000 scholarships to recent
college graduates to get career coaching from
NextJob experts.

For more than 10 years, Fifth Third has worked
to empower people through educational
programs that equip people with the knowledge
and tools they need to be financially successful.
Our Fifth Third Bank L.I.F.E. (Lives Improved
through Financial Empowerment®)
programs teach budgeting, saving and planning
strategies for major life events like homeownership,
college funding and retirement.

The Young Banker’s Club®, our L.I.EE.
program for fifth-graders, graduated more
than 2,000 students in 2015. We took our
sponsorship of Dave Ramsey’s Foundations
in Personal Finance® curriculum into our
fifth consecutive year and into approximately
1,800 schools. More than 800,000 students
have gone through the program to date.
Empower U®, our program for adults,
reached more employees within our business
client base in 2015, as did our Fifth Third
Financial Empowerment Mobiles, or eBuses,
which conducted more than 200 tours in

over 100 cities. The eBuses are staffed by Bank
professionals who bring credit counseling, job
search assistance, foreclosure prevention and
homeownership help directly into underserved
and minority neighborhoods.

We expanded our “Feeding Our Communities”
initiative in 2015 where the fundraising

and volunteer efforts of our employees helped

to provide more than 800,000 meals and
personal care items to those in need in our local
neighborhoods.

Veterans, too, continued to receive our
admiration and support. We provided NextJob
scholarships for veterans looking to transition
from their military career into a civilian role.
We invested $220,000 with Rebuilding Together
National to do 17 home rebuild projects for
low-income veterans in our regional markets.
We hosted job fairs, commemorative events and
key sponsorships to give back and serve those
who have served.

Finally, our innovative school-to-work transition
program for people with disabilities, Project
SEARCH?®, continued to positively impact the
lives of student interns served at our three
Project SEARCH campuses. We had 30 student
interns in 2015. Further, the Bank hosted its
annual Tee Off for Project SEARCH golf outing
and raised $151,000. Over the past 10 years,
the Bank has helped raise more than $1 million
in support of the program.

Beyond our signature programs, we also
invested directly into our communities. Our
2015 corporate and employee donations to
United Way were more than $7.8 million.
We invested over $190 million in affordable
housing, historic preservation projects through
the Fifth Third Community Development
Corporation. We made more than $4 million
in grants through the Fifth Third Foundation.
These investments, and many others, helped
to improve the lives of hundreds of thousands
of people in the markets we serve. @
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains statements that we believe are “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Rule 175 promulgated thereunder, and Section
21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Rule 3b-6 promulgated thereunder. These statements relate to our financial condition, results of operations, plans, objectives, future performance or
business. They usually can be identified by the use of forward-looking language such as “will likely result,” “may,” “are expected to,” “is anticipated,” “estimate,” “forecast,” “projected,” “intends to,” or may include
other similar words or phrases such as “believes,” “plans,” “trend,” “objective,” “continue,” “remain,” or similar expressions, ot future or conditional verbs such as “will,” “would,” “should,” “could,” “might,”
“can,” or similar verbs. You should not place undue reliance on these statements, as they are subject to risks and uncertainties, including but not limited to those set forth in the Risk Factors section of MD&A in
this report. When considering these forward-looking statements, you should keep in mind these risks and uncertainties, as well as any cautionary statements we may make. Moreover, you should treat these
statements as speaking only as of the date they are made and based only on information then actually known to us. There are a number of important factors that could cause future results to differ materially from
historical performance and these forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause such a difference include, but are not limited to: (1) general economic conditions and weakening in the economy, specifically
the real estate market, either nationally or in the states in which Fifth Third, one or more acquired entities and/or the combined company do business, are less favorable than expected; (2) deteriorating credit quality;
(3) political developments, wars or other hostilities may disrupt or increase volatility in securities markets or other economic conditions; (4) changes in the interest rate environment reduce interest margins; (5)
prepayment speeds, loan origination and sale volumes, charge-offs and loan loss provisions; (6) Fifth Third’s ability to maintain required capital levels and adequate sources of funding and liquidity; (7) maintaining,
capital requirements and adequate sources of funding and liquidity may limit Fifth Third’s operations and potential growth; (8) changes and trends in capital markets; (9) problems encountered by larger or similar
financial institutions may adversely affect the banking industry and/or Fifth Third; (10) competitive pressures among depository institutions increase significantly; (11) effects of critical accounting policies and
judgments; (12) changes in accounting policies or procedutes as may be required by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) or other regulatory agencies; (13) legislative or regulatory changes or actions, or
significant litigation, adversely affect Fifth Third, one or more acquired entities and/or the combined company or the businesses in which Fifth Third, one or more acquired entities and/or the combined company
are engaged, including the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act; (14) ability to maintain favorable ratings from rating agencies; (15) fluctuation of Fifth Third’s stock price; (16) ability to
attract and retain key personnel; (17) ability to receive dividends from its subsidiaries; (18) potentially dilutive effect of future acquisitions on current shareholders” ownership of Fifth Third; (19) effects of accounting
or financial results of one or more acquired entities; (20) difficulties from Fifth Third’s investment in, relationship with, and nature of the operations of Vantiv, LLC; (21) loss of income from any sale or potential
sale of businesses that could have an adverse effect on Fifth Third’s earnings and future growth; (22) difficulties in separating the operations of any branches or other assets divested; (23) inability to achieve expected
benefits from branch consolidations and planned sales within desired timeframes, if at all; (24) ability to secure confidential information and deliver products and services through the use of computer systems and
telecommunications networks; and (25) the impact of reputational risk created by these developments on such matters as business generation and retention, funding and liquidity.
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GLOSSARY OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

Fifth Third Bancorp provides the following list of abbreviations and acronyms as a tool for the reader that are used in Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements.

ALCO: Asset Liability Management Committee
ALLL: Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses

AML: Anti-Money Laundering

AOCI: Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
ARM: Adjustable Rate Mortgage

ASU: Accounting Standards Update

ATM: Automated Teller Machine

BCBS: Basel Committee on Banking Supervision
BHC: Bank Holding Company

BHCA: Bank Holding Company Act

BOLI: Bank Owned Life Insurance

BPO: Broker Price Opinion

bps: Basis Points

BSA: Bank Secrecy Act

CCAR: Comprehensive Capital Analysis and Review
CDC: Fifth Third Community Development Corporation
CET1: Common Equity Tier 1

CFE: Collateralized Financing Entity

CFPB: United States Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
CFTC: Commodity Futures Trading Commission
C&I: Commercial and Industrial

CPP: Capital Purchase Program

CRA: Community Reinvestment Act

DCEF: Discounted Cash Flow

DFA: Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act
DIF: Deposit Insurance Fund

DOJ: United States Department of Justice

DTCC: Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation
ERISA: Employee Retirement Income Security Act
ERM: Enterprise Risk Management

ERMC: Enterprise Risk Management Committee
EVE: Economic Value of Equity

FASB: Financial Accounting Standards Board

FDIA: Federal Deposit Insurance Act

FDIC: Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
FFIEC: Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council
FHA: Federal Housing Administration

FHLB: Federal Home Loan Bank

FHLMC: Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation
FICO: Fair Isaac Corporation (credit rating)

FNMA: Federal National Mortgage Association

FRB: Federal Reserve Bank

FSOC: Financial Stability Oversight Council

FTE: Fully Taxable Equivalent

FTP: Funds Transfer Pricing

FTS: Fifth Third Securities

GDP: Gross Domestic Product

GNMA: Government National Mortgage Association
GSE: United States Government Sponsored Enterprise

HAMP: Home Affordable Modification Program
HARP: Home Affordable Refinance Program

HFS: Held for Sale

HQLA: High-Quality Liquid Assets

HUD: Department of Housing and Urban Development
IPO: Initial Public Offering

IRC: Internal Revenue Code

IRLC: Interest Rate Lock Commitment

IRS: Internal Revenue Service

ISDA: International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc.
LCR: Liquidity Coverage Ratio

LIBOR: London Interbank Offered Rate

LLC: Limited Liability Company

LTV: Loan-to-Value

MD&A: Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations

MSA: Metro Statistical Area

MSR: Mortgage Servicing Right

N/A: Not Applicable

NASDAQ: National Association of Securities Dealers Automated
Quotations

NII: Net Interest Income

NM: Not Meaningful

NSFR: Net Stable Funding Ratio

OAS: Option-Adjusted Spread

OCC: Office of the Comptroller of the Currency

OCI: Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

OREO: Other Real Estate Owned

OTTI: Other-Than-Temporary Impairment

PCA: Prompt Corrective Action

PMI: Private Mortgage Insurance

PSAs: Performance Share Awards

RSAs: Restricted Stock Awards

RSUs: Restricted Stock Units

SARs: Stock Appreciation Rights

SBA: Small Business Administration

SEC: United States Securities and Exchange Commission
TARP: Troubled Asset Relief Program

TBAs: To Be Announced

TDR: Troubled Debt Restructuring

TRA: Tax Receivable Agreement

TruPS: Trust Preferred Securities

U.S.: United States of America

U.S. GAAP: United States Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles

VA: Department of Veterans Affairs

VIE: Variable Interest Entity

VRDN: Variable Rate Demand Note
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following is Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of certain significant factors that have
affected Fifth Third Bancorp’s (the “Bancorp” or “Fifth Third”) financial condition and results of operations during the periods included in the
Consolidated Financial Statements, which are a part of this filing. Reference to the Bancorp incorporates the parent holding company and all

consolidated subsidiaries.

TABLE 1: SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

For the years ended December 31 (§ in millions, except for per share data) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
Income Statement Data
Net interest income® $ 3,554 3,600 3,581 3,613 3,575
Noninterest income 3,003 2,473 3,227 2,999 2,455
Total revenue® 6,557 6,073 6,808 6,612 6,030

Provision for loan and lease losses 396 315 229 303 423
Noninterest expense 3,775 3,709 3,961 4,081 3,758
Net income attributable to Bancorp 1,712 1,481 1,836 1,576 1,297
Net income available to common shareholders 1,637 1,414 1,799 1,541 1,094
Common Share Data
Earnings per share - basic $ 2.03 1.68 2.05 1.69 1.20
Earnings per share - diluted 2.01 1.66 2.02 1.66 1.18
Cash dividends declared per common share 0.52 0.51 0.47 0.36 0.28
Book value per share 18.48 17.35 15.85 15.10 13.92
Market value per share 20.10 20.38 21.03 15.20 12.72
Financial Ratios
Return on average assets 1.22 % 1.12 1.48 1.34 1.15
Return on average common equity 11.3 10.0 13.1 11.6 9.0
Return on average tangible common equity® 13.5 12.2 16.0 14.3 114
Dividend payout ratio 25.6 30.3 22.9 21.3 23.3
Average total Bancotp shareholders' equity as a percent of average assets 11.32 11.59 11.56 11.65 11.41
Tangible common equity as a percent of tangible assets®® 8.59 8.43 8.63 8.83 8.68
Net interest margin/ 2.88 3.10 3.32 3.55 3.66
Efficiency® 57.6 61.1 58.2 61.7 62.3
Credit Quality
Net losses charged-off $ 446 575 501 704 1,172
Net losses charged-off as a percent of average portfolio loans and leases 0.48 0.64 0.58 0.85 1.49
ALLL as a percent of portfolio loans and leases 1.37 1.47 1.79 2.16 2.78
Allowance for credit losses as a percent of portfolio loans and leases® 1.52 1.62 1.97 2.37 3.01
Nonperforming portfolio assets as a percent of portfolio loans and leases

and OREO 0.70 0.82 1.10 1.49 2.23
Average Balances
Loans and leases, including held for sale $ 93,339 91,127 89,093 84,822 80,214
Total securities and other short-term investments 30,245 24,866 18,861 16,814 17,468
Total assets 140,111 131,943 123,732 117,614 112,666
Transaction deposits@ 95,244 89,715 82,915 78,116 72,392
Core deposits( 99,295 93,477 86,675 82,422 78,652
Wholesale funding? 20,243 19,188 17,797 16,978 16,939
Bancorp shareholders’ equity 15,865 15,290 14,302 13,701 12,851

Basel 111
Regulatory Capital Ratios Transitional ® Basel 1®
CET1 capital 9.82 % N/A N/A N/A N/A
Tier I risk-based capital 10.93 10.83 10.43 10.69 12.00
Total risk-based capital 14.13 14.33 14.17 14.47 16.19
Tier I leverage 9.54 9.66 9.73 10.15 11.25
Basel III Fully
Phased-In

CET1 capital® 9.72 % N/A N/A N/A N/A

(a)  Amounts presented on an FTE basis. The FTE adjustment for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was 821, §21, §20, §18 and §18, respectively.
(b)  These are non-GAAP measures. For further information, refer to the Non-GAAP Financial Measures section of MD&>A.

(c)  The allowance for credit losses is the sum of the ALLL and the reserve for nnfunded commitments.
(d)  Includes demand deposits, interest checking deposits, savings deposits, money market deposits and foreign office deposits.

(e)  Includes transaction deposits and other time deposits.

() Includes certificates $100,000 and over, other deposits, federal funds purchased, other short-term borrowings and long-term debt.
@

Under the U.S. banking agencies’ Basel 111 Final Rule, assets and credit equival

“of offb

assets. The resulting values are added together in the Bancorp’s total risk-weighted assets.

nee sheet exposures are calenlated according to the standardized approach for risk-weighted

(h)  These capital ratios were calculated under the Supervisory Agencies general risk-based capital rules (Basel 1) which were in effect prior to January 1, 2015.

(i) Excludes unrealized gains and losses.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

Fifth Third Bancorp is a diversified financial services company
headquartered in Cincinnati, Ohio. At December 31, 2015, the
Bancorp had $141.1 billion in assets and operates 1,254 full-service
banking centers, including 95 Bank Mart® locations, open seven
days a week, inside select grocery stores and 2,593 ATMs in twelve
states throughout the Midwestern and Southeastern regions of the
U.S. The Bancorp reports on four business segments: Commercial
Banking, Branch Banking, Consumer Lending and Investment
Advisors. The Bancorp also has an approximate 18% interest in
Vantiv Holding, LLC. The carrying value of the Bancorp’s
investment in Vantiv Holding, LLC was $360 million as of
December 31, 2015.

This overview of MD&A highlights selected information in the
financial results of the Bancorp and may not contain all of the
information that is important to you. For a more complete
understanding of trends, events, commitments, uncertainties,
liquidity, capital resources and critical accounting policies and
estimates, you should carefully read this entire document. Each of
these items could have an impact on the Bancorp’s financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows. In addition, refer to
the Glossaty of Abbreviations and Acronyms in this report for a list
of terms included as a tool for the reader of this annual report on
Form 10-K. The abbreviations and acronyms identified therein are
used throughout this MD&A, as well as the Consolidated Financial
Statements and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Net interest income, net interest margin and the efficiency ratio
are presented in MD&A on an FTE basis. The FTE basis adjusts
for the tax-favored status of income from certain loans and
securities held by the Bancorp that are not taxable for federal
income tax purposes. The Bancorp believes this presentation to be
the preferred industry measurement of net interest income as it
provides a relevant compatison between taxable and non-taxable
amounts.

The Bancorp’s revenues are dependent on both net interest
income and noninterest income. For the year ended December 31,
2015, net interest income on an FTE basis and noninterest income
provided 54% and 46% of total revenue, respectively. The Bancorp
derives the majority of its revenues within the U.S. from customers
domiciled in the United States. Revenue from foreign countries and
external customers domiciled in foreign countries was immaterial to
the Consolidated Financial Statements. Changes in interest rates,
credit quality, economic trends and the capital markets are primary
factors that drive the performance of the Bancorp. As discussed
later in the Risk Management section of MD&A, risk identification,
measurement, monitoring, control and reporting are important to
the management of risk and to the financial performance and capital
strength of the Bancorp.

Net interest income is the difference between interest income
earned on assets such as loans, leases and securities, and interest
expense incurred on liabilities such as deposits, other short-term
borrowings and long-term debt. Net interest income is affected by
the general level of interest rates, the relative level of short-term and
long-term interest rates, changes in interest rates and changes in the
amount and composition of interest-earning assets and interest-
bearing liabilities. Generally, the rates of interest the Bancorp earns
on its assets and pays on its liabilities are established for a period of
time. The change in market interest rates over time exposes the
Bancorp to interest rate risk through potential adverse changes to
net interest income and financial position. The Bancorp manages
this risk by continually analyzing and adjusting the composition of
its assets and liabilities based on their payment streams and interest
rates, the timing of their maturities and their sensitivity to changes
in market interest rates. Additionally, in the ordinary course of
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business, the Bancorp enters into certain derivative transactions as
part of its overall strategy to manage its interest rate and prepayment
risks. The Bancorp is also exposed to the risk of losses on its loan
and lease portfolio as a result of changing expected cash flows
caused by borrower credit events, such as loan defaults and
inadequate collateral due to a weakened economy within the
Bancorp’s footprint.

Noninterest income is detived from service charges on
deposits, investment advisory revenue, corporate banking revenue,
mortgage banking net revenue, card and processing revenue,
securities gains, net and other noninterest income. Noninterest
expense includes personnel costs, net occupancy expense,
technology and communication costs, card and processing expense,
equipment expense and other noninterest expense.

Vantiv, Inc. and Vantiv Holding, LLC Transactions

During the fourth quarter of 2015, the Bancorp entered into an
agreement with Vantiv, Inc. under which a portion of its TRA with
Vantiv, Inc. was terminated and settled in full for a cash payment of
approximately $49 million from Vantiv, Inc. Under the agreement,
the Bancorp sold certain TRA cash flows it expected to receive
from 2017 to 2030, totaling an estimated $140 million.
Approximately half of the sold TRA cash flows related to 2025 and
later. This sale did not impact the TRA payment recognized during
the fourth quarter of 2015 and is not expected to impact the TRA
payment to be recognized in the fourth quarter of 2016. In addition
to the impact of the TRA termination discussed above, the Bancorp
recognized $31 million, $23 million and $9 million in noninterest
income in the Consolidated Statements of Income associated with
the TRA during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and
2013, respectively.

The Bancorp agreed during the fourth quarter of 2015 to
cancel rights to purchase approximately 4.8 million Class C units in
Vantiv Holding, LLC, the wholly-owned principal operating
subsidiary of Vantiv, Inc., underlying the Bancorp’s warrant in
exchange for a cash payment of $200 million. Subsequent to this
cancellation, the Bancorp exercised its right to purchase
approximately 7.8 million Class C units underlying the Bancorp’s
warrant at the $15.98 strike price. This exercise was settled on a net
basis for approximately 5.4 million Class C units, which were then
exchanged for approximately 5.4 million shares of Vantiv, Inc. Class
A common stock that were sold in the secondaty offering. The
Bancorp recognized a gain of $89 million on the 62% of the warrant
that was settled or net exercised.

Additionally, during the fourth quarter of 2015, the Bancorp
exchanged 8 million Class B units of Vantiv Holding, LLC for 8
million Class A shares in Vantiv, Inc., which were also sold in the
secondary offering, and on which the Bancorp recognized a gain of
$331 million. The Bancorp’s remaining investment in Vantiv
Holding, LLC continues to be accounted for under the equity
method of accounting. For more information, refer to Note 19 of
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Branch Consolidation and Sales Plan

The Bancorp monitors changing customer preferences associated
with the channels it uses for banking transactions to evaluate the
efficiency, competitiveness and quality of the customer service
experience in its consumer distribution network. As part of this
ongoing assessment, the Bancorp may determine that it is no longer
fully committed to maintaining full-service branches at certain of its
existing banking center locations. Similarly, the Bancorp may also
determine that it is no longer fully committed to building banking
centers on certain parcels of land which had previously been held



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

for future branch expansion. On June 16, 2015, the Bancorp’s
Board of Directors authorized management to pursue a plan to
further develop its distribution strategy, including a plan to
consolidate and/or sell certain operating branch locations and to sell
certain parcels of undeveloped land that had been acquited by the
Bancorp for future branch expansion (the “Branch Consolidation
and Sales Plan”). The Bancorp expects to receive $60 million in
annual savings from operating expenses upon completion of the
Branch Consolidation and Sales Plan.

On September 3, 2015, the Bancorp announced the decision to
enter into an agreement to sell branch banking locations, retail
accounts, certain private banking deposits and related loan
relationships in the Pittsburgh MSA to First National Bank of
Pennsylvania. On September 30, 2015, the Bancorp announced the
decision to enter into an agreement to sell its retail operations,
including retail accounts, certain private banking deposits and
related loan relationships in the St. Louis MSA to Great Southern
Bank. Both transactions are part of the Branch Consolidation and
Sales Plan and are expected to close in the first half of 2016. As of
December 31, 2015, the Bancorp intended to consolidate and/or
sell 107 operating branch locations and to sell an additional 32
patcels of undeveloped land that had been acquited by the Bancorp
for future branch expansion. For further information on a
subsequent event related to the Branch Consolidation and Sales
Plan, refer to Note 31 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

The Bancorp performs assessments of the recoverability of
long-lived assets when events or changes in circumstances indicate
that their carrying values may not be recoverable. Impairment losses
associated with such assessments and lower of cost or market
adjustments were $109 million, $20 million and $6 million for the
years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The
recognized impairment losses were recorded in other noninterest
income in the Consolidated Statements of Income. For more
information on the Branch Consolidation and Sales Plan, refer to
Note 7 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Accelerated Share Repurchase Transactions

During the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Bancorp
entered into or settled a number of accelerated share repurchase
transactions. As part of these transactions, the Bancorp entered into
forward contracts in which the final number of shares delivered at
settlement was based generally on a discount to the average daily
volume weighted-average price of the Bancotp’s common stock
during the term of the repurchase agreements. For more
information on the accelerated share repurchase program, refer to
Note 23 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. For a
summary of the Bancorp’s accelerated shate repurchase transactions
that were entered into or settled during the years ended December
31, 2015 and 2014, refer to Table 2.

TABLE 2: SUMMARY OF ACCELERATED SHARE REPURCHASE TRANSACTIONS

Shatres Repurchased on  Shares Received from Forward — Total Shates

Repurchase Date Amount ($ in millions) Repurchase Date Contract Settlement Repurchased Settlement Date

November 18, 2013 200 8,538,423 1,132,495 9,670,918 March 5, 2014
December 13, 2013 456 19,084,195 2,294,932 21,379,127 March 31, 2014
January 31, 2014 99 3,950,705 602,109 4,552,814 March 31, 2014
May 1, 2014 150 6,216,480 1,016,514 7,232,994 July 21, 2014
July 24, 2014 225 9,352,078 1,896,685 11,248,763 October 14, 2014
October 23, 2014 180 8,337,875 794,245 9,132,120 January 8, 2015
January 27, 2015 180 8,542,713 1,103,744 9,646,457 April 28, 2015
Aptil 30, 2015 155 6,704,835 842,655 7,547,490 July 31, 2015
August 3, 2015 150 6,039,792 1,346,314 7,386,106 September 3, 2015
September 9, 2015 150 6,538,462 1,446,613 7,985,075 October 23, 2015
December 14, 2015 215 9,248,482 1,782,477 11,030,959 January 14, 2016

Senior Notes Offerings
On July 27, 2015, the Bancorp issued and sold $1.1 billion of
2.875% unsecured senior fixed-rate notes, with a maturity of five
years, due on July 27, 2020. The notes are not subject to redemption
at the Bancorp’s option at any time until 30 days prior to maturity.
On August 20, 2015, the Bank issued and sold $1.3 billion in
aggregate principal amount of unsecured senior bank notes, with a
maturity of three years, due on August 20, 2018. The bank notes
consisted of $1.0 billion of 2.15% senior fixed-rate notes and $250
million of senior floating-rate notes. The Bancorp entered into
interest rate swaps to convert the fixed-rate notes to floating-rate,
which resulted in an effective rate of three-month LIBOR plus 90
bps. Interest on the floating-rate notes is three-month LIBOR plus
91 bps. These bank notes will be redeemable by the Bank, in whole
ot in part, on or after the date that is 30 days prior to the maturity
date at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount
plus accrued and unpaid interest up to, but excluding, the
redemption date. For additional information on the senior notes
offerings, refer to Note 16 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Automobile Loan Securitization

On November 5, 2015, the Bancorp transferred an aggregate
amount of approximately $750 million in consumer automobile
loans to a bankruptcy remote trust which was deemed to be a VIE.
The Bancorp concluded that it is the primary beneficiary of this
VIE and, therefore, has consolidated this VIE. For additional
information on the automobile loan securitization refer to Note 11
and Note 16 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Legislative and Regulatory Developments

The FDIC published a notice of proposed rulemaking in October
of 2015 which would implement a 4.5 bps surcharge on the
quarterly FDIC insurance assessments of insured depository
institutions with total consolidated assets of $10 billion or more.
The surcharge would take effect at the same time the FDIC is
required to lower the regular FDIC insurance assessments by
approximately 2 bps under a rule adopted by the FDIC in 2011 that
is triggered by the DIF reserve ratio reaching 1.15% of insured
deposits. The FDIC estimates the DIF reserve ratio will reach
1.15% in 2016 and the surcharge would be sufficient to raise the
DIF reserve ratio to the 1.35% minimum mandated by the DFA in
approximately eight quarters. Fifth Third estimates the proposed
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changes to the FDIC assessments would result in a net increase in
its FDIC insurance expense of approximately $25 million on an
annual basis. The comment period for this proposal ended January
5, 2016.

On September 30, 2015, the Bancorp agreed to pay
approximately $85 million to cover losses on approximately 500
loans for which HUD had paid FHA insurance claims, and an
additional $2 million to HUD, in connection with the Bancorp’s
entry into a Stipulation and Otrder of Settlement and Dismissal with
the DOJ and HUD, which was approved by the U.S. District Court
for the Southern District of New York on October 5, 2015, and a
related Settlement Agreement with HUD. On September 28, 2015,
the Bancorp entered into consent orders and agreed, without
admitting or denying any of the findings of fact or conclusions of
law (except to establish jurisdiction), to pay $18 million to
consumers in a settlement with the DOJ and the CFPB related to an
investigation into whether Fifth Third Bank engaged in any
discriminatory practices in connection with the Bank’s indirect
automobile loan portfolio. On September 28, 2015, the Bancorp
agreed to pay an amount not less than $3 million in redress to
consumers and a civil penalty of $500,000 to the CFPB in
connection with its entry into a consent order with the CFPB
related to the marketing and administration of the Bancorp’s debt
protection credit card “add-on” product for those entolled in the
product from January 1, 2007 through November 11, 2013. For
additional information on these legal and regulatory proceedings
refer to Note 18 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

On Match 11, 2015, the Bancorp announced the results of its
capital plan submitted to the FRB as part of the 2015 CCAR. The
FRB indicated to the Bancorp that it did not object to the following
capital actions for the period beginning April 1, 2015 and ending
June 30, 2016:

e The potential increase in the quarterly common stock
dividend to $0.14 per share in 2016;

e The potential repurchase of common shares in an
amount up to $765 million; and

e The additional ability to repurchase shares in the
amount of any after-tax gains from the sale of Vantiv,
Inc. common stock.

The BHCs that participated in the 2015 CCAR, including the
Bancorp, were required to conduct mid-cycle company-run stress
tests using data as of March 31, 2015. For more information on the
2015 CCAR results and 2015 mid-cycle stress test, refer to Note 3
of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Fifth Third offers qualified deposit customers a deposit
advance product if they choose to avail themselves of this product
to meet short-term, small-dollar financial needs. In April of 2013,
the CEFPB issued a “White Paper” which studied financial services
industry offerings and customer use of deposit advance products as
well as payday loans and is considering whether rules governing
these products are warranted. At the same time, the OCC and FDIC
each issued proposed supervisory guidance for public comment to
institutions they supervise which supplements existing OCC and
FDIC guidance, detailing the principles they expect financial
institutions to follow in connection with deposit advance products
and supervisory expectations for the use of deposit advance
products. The Federal Reserve also issued a statement in April of
2013 to state member banks like Fifth Third for whom the Federal
Reserve is the primary regulator. This statement encouraged state
member banks to respond to customers’ small-dollar credit needs in
a responsible manner; emphasized that they should take into
consideration the risks associated with deposit advance products,
including potential consumer harm and potential elevated
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compliance risk; and reminded them that these product offerings
must comply with applicable laws and regulations.

Fifth Third’s deposit advance product is designed to fully
comply with the applicable federal and state laws and use of this
product is subject to strict eligibility requirements and advance
restriction guidelines to limit dependency on this product as a
borrowing source. The Bancorp’s deposit advance balances are
included in other consumer loans and leases in the Loans and
Leases subsection of the Balance Sheet Analysis section of MD&A
and in Table 9 in the Statements of Income Analysis section of
MD&A. On January 17, 2014, given developments in industry
practice, Fifth Third announced that it would no longer enroll new
customers in its deposit advance product and expected to phase out
the service to existing customers by the end of 2014. To avoid a
disruption to its existing customers during the extension period
while the banking industry awaits further regulatory guidance on the
deposit advance product, on November 3, 2014, Fifth Third
announced changes to its current deposit advance product for
existing customers beginning January 1, 2015, including a lower
transaction fee, an extended repayment period and a reduced
maximum advance period. The Bancorp is continuing to offer the
service to existing deposit advance customers until further
regulatory guidance is finalized. These changes to the deposit
advance product negatively impacted net interest income by $94
million for the year ended December 31, 2015.

In July of 2013, U.S. banking regulators approved final
enhanced regulatory capital requirements (Basel III Final Rule),
which included modifications to the proposed tules. The Basel III
Final Rule provided for certain banks, including the Bancorp, to opt
out of including AOCI in regulatory capital and also retained the
treatment of residential mortgage exposures consistent with the
current Basel I capital rules. The Basel III Final Rule phases out the
inclusion of certain TruPS as a component of Tier I capital. The
Bancorp became subject to the Basel III Final Rule on January 1,
2015. The Bancorp made a one-time permanent election not to
include AOCI in regulatory capital in the March 31, 2015 FFIEC
031 and FR Y-9C filings. For more information on the impact of
the regulatory capital enhancements, refer to the Capital
Management subsection of the Risk Management section of
MD&A.

On December 10, 2013, the U.S. banking agencies finalized
section 619 of the DFA, known as the Volcker Rule, which became
effective April 1, 2014. Though the Final Rule was effective April 1,
2014, the FRB granted the industry an extension of time until July
21, 2015 to conform certain of its activities related to proprietary
trading to comply with the Volcker Rule. In addition, the FRB has
granted the industry an extension of time until July 21, 2016, and
announced its intention to grant a one year extension of the
conformance period until July 21, 2017, to conform certain
ownership interests in, sponsorship activities of and relationships
with ptivate equity or hedge funds as well as holding certain
collateralized loan obligations that were in place as of December 31,
2013. It is possible that additional conformance period extensions
could be granted cither to the entire industry, or, upon request, to
requesting banking organizations on a case-by-case basis. The Final
Rule prohibits banks and BHCs from engaging in short-term
proprietary trading of certain securities, derivatives, commodity
futures and options on these instruments for their own account.
The Volcker Rule also restricts banks and their affiliated entities
from owning, sponsoring or having certain relationships with
private equity and hedge funds, as well as holding certain
collateralized loan obligations that are deemed to contain ownership
interests. Exemptions are provided for certain activities such as
underwriting, market making, hedging, trading in certain
government obligations and organizing and offering a hedge fund or
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ptivate equity fund. Fifth Third does not sponsor any private equity
or hedge funds that, under the Final Rule, it is prohibited from
sponsoring. At December 31, 2015, the Bancorp did not hold
collateralized loan obligations. At December 31, 2015, the Bancorp
had approximately $186 million in interests and approximately $37
million in binding commitments to invest in private equity funds
that are affected by the Volcker Rule. It is expected that over time
the Bancorp may need to dispose of these investments, however no
formal plan to sell has been approved as of December 31, 2015. As
a result of the announced conformance period extension, the
Bancorp believes it is likely that these investments will be reduced
over time in the ordinary course of events before compliance is
required.

On October 10, 2014, the U.S. banking agencies published
final rules implementing a quantitative liquidity requirement
consistent with the LCR standard established by the BCBS for large
internationally active banking organizations, generally those with
$250 billion or more in total consolidated assets or $10 billion or
more in on-balance sheet foreign exposure. In addition, a modified
LCR requirement was implemented for BHCs with $50 billion or
more in total consolidated assets but that are not internationally
active, such as Fifth Third. The Modified LLCR became effective
January 1, 2016 and requires BHCs to calculate its LCR on a
monthly basis. Refer to the Liquidity Risk Management subsection
of the Risk Management section of MD&A for further discussion
on these ratios.

On July 31, 2013, the U.S. District Court for the District of
Columbia issued an order granting summary judgment to the

TABLE 3: CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

plaintiffs in a case challenging certain provisions of the FRB’s rule
concerning electronic debit card transaction fees and network
exclusivity arrangements (the “Current Rule”) that were adopted to
implement Section 1075 of the DFA, known as the Durbin
Amendment. The Court held that, in adopting the Current Rule, the
FRB violated the Durbin Amendment’s provisions concerning
which costs ate allowed to be taken into account for purposes of
setting fees that are reasonable and proportional to the costs
incurred by the issuer and, therefore, the Current Rule’s maximum
permissible fees were too high. In addition, the Court held that the
Current Rule’s network non-exclusivity provisions concerning
unaffiliated payment networks for debit cards also violated the
Durbin Amendment. The Court vacated the Current Rule, but
stayed its ruling to provide the FRB an opportunity to replace the
invalidated portions. The FRB appealed this decision and on March
21, 2014, the District of Columbia Circuit Court of Appeals
reversed the District Court’s grant of summary judgment and
remanded the case for further proceedings in accordance with its
opinion. The merchants have filed a petition for writ of certiorari to
the U.S. Supreme Court. However, on January 20, 2015, the U.S.
Supreme Court declined to hear an appeal of the Circuit Court
reversal, thereby largely upholding the Current Rule and
substantially reducing uncertainty surrounding debit card
interchange fees the Bancorp is permitted to charge. Refer to the
Noninterest Income subsection of the Statements of Income
Analysis section of MD&A for further information regarding the
Bancorp’s debit card interchange revenue.

For the years ended December 31 (§ in millions, except per share data) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Interest income (FTE) $ 4,049 4,051 3,993 4,125 4,236
Interest expense 495 451 412 512 661
Net Interest Income (FTE) 3,554 3,600 3,581 3,613 3,575
Provision for loan and lease losses 396 315 229 303 423
Net Interest Income After Provision for Loan and Lease Losses (FTE) 3,158 3,285 3,352 3,310 3,152
Noninterest income 3,003 2,473 3,227 2,999 2,455
Noninterest expense 3,775 3,709 3,961 4,081 3,758
Income Before Income Taxes (FTE) 2,386 2,049 2,618 2,228 1,849
Fully taxable equivalent adjustment 21 21 20 18 18
Applicable income tax expense 659 545 772 636 533
Net Income 1,706 1,483 1,826 1,574 1,298
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (6) 2 (10) (2) 1
Net Income Attributable to Bancorp 1,712 1,481 1,836 1,576 1,297
Dividends on preferred stock 75 67 37 35 203
Net Income Available to Common Shareholders $ 1,637 1,414 1,799 1,541 1,094
Earnings per share - basic $ 2.03 1.68 2.05 1.69 1.20
Earnings per share - diluted $ 2.01 1.66 2.02 1.66 1.18
Cash dividends declared per common share $ 0.52 0.51 0.47 0.36 0.28

FEarnings Summary
The Bancorp’s net income available to common shareholders for
the year ended December 31, 2015 was $1.6 billion, or $2.01 per
diluted share, which was net of $75 million in preferred stock
dividends. The Bancorp’s net income available to common
shareholders for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $1.4 billion,
or $1.66 per diluted share, which was net of $67 million in preferred
stock dividends. Pre-provision net revenue was $2.8 billion and $2.3
billion for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. Pre-provision net revenue is a non-GAAP measure.
For further information, refer to the Non-GAAP Financial
Measures section of MD&A.

Net interest income on an FTE basis was $3.6 billion for both
the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. Net interest income

was negatively impacted by a decrease in the net interest rate spread,
changes made to the Bancorp’s deposit advance product beginning
January 1, 2015 and an increase in average long-term debt of $1.7
billion for the year ended December 31, 2015 compated to the year
ended December 31, 2014. These negative impacts were partially
offset by increases in average taxable securities and average loans
and leases of $5.2 billion and $2.2 billion, respectively, for the year
ended December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December
31, 2014. Net interest margin on an FTE basis was 2.88% and
3.10% for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively.

Noninterest income increased $530 million from the year
ended December 31, 2014 primarily due to increases in other
noninterest income and mortgage banking net revenue partially
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offset by a decrease in corporate banking revenue. Other
noninterest income increased $529 million from the year ended
December 31, 2014. The increase included the impact of a gain of
$331 million on the sale of Vantiv, Inc. shares in the fourth quarter
of 2015 compared to a gain of $125 million during the second
quarter of 2014. The positive valuation adjustments on the stock
warrant associated with Vantiv Holding, LL.C were $236 million and
$31 million for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. During the fourth quarter of 2015, the Bancorp
recognized a gain of $89 million on both the sale and exercise of a
portion of the warrant associated with Vantiv Holding, LLC.
Additionally, the Bancorp recognized a gain of $49 million from the
payment from Vantiv, Inc. to terminate a portion of the TRA and
also recognized a gain of $31 million associated with the annual
TRA payment duting the fourth quarter of 2015. The Bancorp
recognized a gain of $23 million associated with the TRA during the
fourth quarter of 2014. Mortgage banking net revenue increased $38
million from the year ended December 31, 2014 primarily due to
increases in net mortgage servicing revenue and origination fees and
gains on loan sales. Corporate banking revenue decreased $46
million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to the year
ended December 31, 2014 primarily driven by decreases in
syndication fees and lease remarketing fees.

Noninterest expense increased $66 million for the year ended
December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December 31, 2014
primarily due to increases in personnel costs, technology and
communications expense and card and processing expense partially
offset by a decrease in other noninterest expense. Personnel costs
increased $65 million for the year ended December 31, 2015
compared to the year ended December 31, 2014 driven by higher
executive retirement and severance costs as well as an increase in
base compensation and an increase in incentive compensation,
primarily in  the mortgage business. Technology and
communications expense increased $12 million for the year ended
December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December 31, 2014
driven primarily by increased investment in information technology
associated with regulatory and compliance initiatives, system
maintenance, and other growth initiatives. Card and processing
expense increased $12 million for the year ended December 31,
2015 compared to the year ended December 31, 2014 driven
primarily by increased fraud prevention related expenses. Other
noninterest expense decreased $34 million for the year ended
December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December 31, 2014
primarily due to a decrease in losses and adjustments partially offset
by increases in the provision for the reserve for unfunded
commitments, marketing expense, donations expense, impairment
on affordable housing investments, FDIC insurance and other taxes
and operating lease expense.

For more information on net interest income, noninterest
income and noninterest expense, refer to the Statements of Income
Analysis section of MD&A.

Credit Summary

The provision for loan and lease losses was $396 million and $315
million for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. Net losses charged-off as a percent of average portfolio
loans and leases decreased to 0.48% during the year ended
December 31, 2015 compared to 0.64% during the year ended
December 31, 2014. At December 31, 2015, nonperforming
portfolio assets as a percent of portfolio loans and leases and
OREO decreased to 0.70% compared to 0.82% at December 31,
2014. For further discussion on credit quality, refer to the Credit
Risk Management subsection of the Risk Management section of
MD&A.
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Capital Summary

The Bancorp’s capital ratios exceed the “well-capitalized” guidelines
as defined by the PCA requirements of the U.S. banking agencies.
As of December 31, 2015, as calculated under the Basel III
transition provisions, the CET1 capital ratio was 9.82%, the Tier I
risk-based capital ratio was 10.93%, the Total risk-based capital ratio
was 14.13% and the Tier I leverage ratio was 9.54%.
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NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

The following are non-GAAP measures which are important to the
reader of the Consolidated Financial Statements but should be
supplemental to primary U.S. GAAP measures.

The Bancorp considers many factors when determining the
adequacy of its liquidity profile, including its LCR as defined by the
U.S. banking agencies Basel IIT LCR Final Rule. Generally, the LCR
is designed to ensure banks maintain an adequate level of
unencumbered HQLA to satisfy the estimated net cash outflows
under a 30-day stress scenario. The Bancorp is subject to the

Modified LCR whereby the net cash outflow under the 30-day stress
scenario is multiplied by a factor of 0.7. The LCR Final Rule became
effective for the Bancorp on January 1, 2016. The Bancorp believes
there is no comparable U.S. GAAP financial measure to the LCR.
The Bancorp believes providing an estimated Modified LCR is
important for comparability to other financial institutions. For a
further discussion on liquidity management and the LCR, refer to
the Liquidity Risk Management subsection of the Risk Management
section of MD&A.

TABLE 4: NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES — ESTIMATED MODIFIED LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIO

December 31,

As of (§ in millions) 2015
Estimated HQLA $ 21,897
Estimated net cash outflow 18,849
Estimated Modified LCR 116 %

Pre-provision net revenue is net interest income plus noninterest
income minus noninterest expense. The Bancorp believes this

measure is important because it provides a ready view of the
Bancorp’s pre-tax earnings before the impact of provision expense.

The following table reconciles the non-GAAP financial measure of pre-provision net revenue to U.S. GAAP for the years ended December 31:

TABLE 5: NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES - PRE-PROVISION NET REVENUE

($ in millions) 2015 2014

Net interest income (U.S. GAAP) $ 3,533 3,579
Add: Noninterest income 3,003 2,473
Less: Noninterest expense (3,775) (3,709)
Pre-provision net revenue $ 2,761 2,343

The Bancorp believes return on average tangible common equity is
an important measure for comparative purposes with other financial

institutions, but is not defined under U.S. GAAP, and therefore is
considered a non-GAAP financial measure.

The following table reconciles the non-GAAP financial measure of return on average tangible common equity to U.S. GAAP for the years ended

December 31:

TABLE 6: NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES - RETURN ON AVERAGE TANGIBLE COMMON EQUITY

($ in millions) 2015 2014
Net income available to common shatreholders (U.S. GAAP) $ 1,637 1,414
Add: Intangible amortization, net of tax 2 3
Tangible net income available to common shareholders (1) $ 1,639 1,417
Average Bancorp shareholders' equity (U.S. GAAP) $ 15,865 15,290
Less: Average preferred stock (1,331) (1,205)
Average goodwill (2,416) (2,416)
Average intangible assets and other servicing rights (14) (20
Average tangible common equity (2) $ 12,104 11,649
Return on average tangible common equity (1) / (2) 13.5 % 12.2

The Bancorp considers various measures when evaluating capital
utilization and adequacy, including the tangible equity ratio and
tangible common equity ratio, in addition to capital ratios defined by
banking regulators. These calculations are intended to complement
the capital ratios defined by banking regulators for both absolute
and comparative purposes. Because U.S. GAAP does not include
capital ratio measures, the Bancorp believes there are no comparable
U.S. GAAP financial measures to these ratios. These ratios are not
formally defined by U.S. GAAP or codified in the federal banking
regulations and, therefore, are considered to be non-GAAP financial
measures. Additionally, the Bancorp became subject to the Basel III
Final Rule on January 1, 2015. The CET1 capital ratio is a new

measure defined by the banking regulatory agencies under the Basel
IIT Final Rule. The CET1 capital ratio has transition provisions that
will be phased out over time. The Bancorp is presenting the CET1
capital ratio on a fully phased-in basis for comparative purposes
with other organizations. Since analysts and banking regulators may
assess the Bancorp’s capital adequacy using these ratios, the
Bancorp believes they are useful to provide investors the ability to
assess its capital adequacy on the same basis. The Bancorp
encourages readers to consider its Consolidated Financial
Statements in their entirety and not to rely on any single financial
measute.
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The following table reconciles non-GAAP capital ratios to U.S. GAAP as of December 31:

TABLE 7: NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES - CAPITAL RATIOS

($ in millions) 2015 2014
Total Bancorp Shareholders’ Equity (U.S. GAAP) $ 15,839 15,626
Less: Preferred stock (1,331) (1,331)
Goodwill (2,416) (2,416)
Intangible assets and other servicing rights (13) (16)
Tangible common equity, including untealized gains / losses 12,079 11,863
Less: AOCI (197) (429)
Tangible common equity, excluding unrealized gains / losses (1) 11,882 11,434
Add: Preferred stock 1,331 1,331
Tangible equity (2) $ 13,213 12,765
Total Assets (U.S. GAAP) $ 141,082 138,706
Less: Goodwill (2,416) (2,410)
Intangible assets and other servicing rights 13) (106)
AOCI, before tax (303) (660)
Tangible assets, excluding unrealized gains / losses (3) $ 138,350 135,614
Total Bancorp Shareholders’ Equity (U.S. GAAP) $ N/A 15,626
Less: Goodwill and certain other intangibles N/A (2,476)
Unrealized gains N/A (429)
Add: Qualifying TruPS N/A 60
Other N/A (17
Tier I risk-based capital N/A 12,764
Less: Preferred stock N/A (1,331)
Qualifying TruPS N/A (60)
Qualified noncontrolling interests in consolidated subsidiaries N/A 1
Tier I common equity (4) $ N/A 11,372
Ratios:
Tangible equity as a percent of tangible assets (2) / (3)% 9.55 % 9.41
Tangible common equity as a petcent of tangible assets (1) / (3)@ 8.59 8.43
Basel ITI
Transitional® Basel 1)
Risk-weighted assets (5) $ 121,290 117,878
Ratio:
Tiet I common equity (4) / (5) N/A 9.65 %
Basel I1I Final Rule - Transition to Fully Phased-In
CET1 capital (transitional) $ 11,917 N/A
Less: Adjustments to CET1 capital from transitional to fully phased-in®@ 8) N/A
CET1 capital (fully phased-in) (6) 11,909 N/A
Risk-weighted assets (transitional) 121,290 N/A
Add: Adjustments to risk-weighted assets from transitional to fully phased-in®@ 1,178 N/A
Risk-weighted assets (fully phased-in) (7) $ 122,468 N/A
Estimated CET1 capital ratio under Basel III Final Rule (fully phased-in) (6) / (7) 9.72 % N/A

(@) Under the U.S. banking agencies’ Basel 111 Final Rule, assets and credit equivalent amonnts of off-balance sheet exposures are calenlated according to the standardized approach for risk-weighted
assets. The resulting weighted values are added together resulting in the Bancorp’s total risk-weighted assets.

(b)  This capital amount and ratio were calenlated nnder the Supervisory Agencies general risk-based capital rules (Basel 1) which were in effect prior to January 1, 2015.

(¢c)  Primarily relates to disallowed intangible assets (other than goodwill and MSRs, net of associated deferred tax: liabilities).

(d)  Primarily relates to higher risk weighting for MSRs.

(¢)  Excludes unrealized gains and losses.
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RECENT ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements provides
a discussion of the significant new accounting standards adopted by

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

the Bancorp during 2015 and the expected impact of significant
accounting standards issued, but not yet required to be adopted.

The Bancorp’s Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in
accordance with U.S. GAAP. Certain accounting policies require
management to exercise judgment in determining methodologies,
economic assumptions and estimates that may materially affect the
Bancorp’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
The Bancorp’s critical accounting policies include the accounting for
the ALLL, reserve for unfunded commitments, income taxes,
valuation of servicing rights, fair value measurements, goodwill and
legal contingencies. No material changes were made to the valuation
techniques or models described below during the year ended
December 31, 2015.

ALLL

The Bancorp disaggregates its portfolio loans and leases into
portfolio segments for purposes of determining the ALLL. The
Bancorp’s portfolio segments include commercial, residential
mortgage and consumer. The Bancorp further disaggregates its
portfolio segments into classes for purposes of monitoring and
assessing credit quality based on certain risk characteristics. For an
analysis of the Bancorp’s ALLL by portfolio segment and credit
quality information by class, refer to Note 6 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Bancorp maintains the ALLL to absorb probable loan
and lease losses inherent in its portfolio segments. The ALLL is
maintained at a level the Bancorp considers to be adequate and is
based on ongoing quarterly assessments and evaluations of the
collectability and historical loss experience of loans and leases.
Credit losses are charged and recoveries are credited to the ALLL.
Provisions for loan and lease losses are based on the Bancorp’s
review of the historical credit loss experience and such factors that,
in management’s judgment, deserve consideration under existing
economic conditions in estimating probable credit losses. The
Bancorp’s strategy for credit risk management includes a
combination of conservative exposure limits significantly below
legal lending limits and conservative underwriting, documentation
and collections standards. The strategy also emphasizes
diversification on a geographic, industry and customer level, regular
credit examinations and quarterly management reviews of large
credit exposures and loans experiencing detetioration of credit
quality.

The Bancorp’s methodology for determining the ALLL
requires significant management judgement and is based on
historical loss rates, current credit grades, specific allocation on
loans modified in a TDR and impaired commercial credits above
specified thresholds and other qualitative adjustments. Allowances
on individual commercial loans, TDRs and historical loss rates are
reviewed quartetly and adjusted as necessary based on changing
borrower and/or collateral conditions and actual collection and
charge-off experience. An unallocated allowance is maintained to
recognize the imprecision in estimating and measuring losses when
evaluating allowances for individual loans or pools of loans.

Larger commercial loans included within aggregate borrower
relationship balances exceeding $1 million that exhibit probable or
observed credit weaknesses, as well as loans that have been
modified in a TDR, are subject to individual review for impairment.
The Bancorp considers the current value of collateral, credit quality
of any guarantees, the guarantor’s liquidity and willingness to
cooperate, the loan structure and other factors when evaluating
whether an individual loan is impaited. Other factors may include

the industry and geographic region of the borrower, size and
financial condition of the borrower, cash flow and leverage of the
borrower and the Bancorp’s evaluation of the borrower’s
management. When individual loans are impaired, allowances are
determined based on management’s estimate of the borrower’s
ability to repay the loan given the availability of collateral and other
sources of cash flow, as well as an evaluation of legal options
available to the Bancorp. Allowances for impaired loans are
measured based on the present value of expected future cash flows
discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate, fair value of the
underlying collateral or readily observable secondary market values.
The Bancorp evaluates the collectability of both principal and
interest when assessing the need for a loss accrual.

Historical credit loss rates are applied to commercial loans that
are not impaired or are impaired, but smaller than the established
threshold of $1 million and thus not subject to specific allowance
allocations. The loss rates are derived from a migration analysis,
which tracks the historical net charge-off experience sustained on
loans according to their internal risk grade. The risk grading system
utilized for allowance analysis purposes encompasses ten categories.

Homogenous loans and leases in the residential mortgage and
consumer portfolio segments are not individually risk graded.
Rather, standard credit scoring systems and delinquency monitoring
are used to assess credit risks and allowances are established based
on the expected net charge-offs. Loss rates are based on the trailing
twelve month net charge-off history by loan category. Historical loss
rates may be adjusted for certain prescriptive and qualitative factors
that, in management’s judgment, are necessary to reflect losses
inherent in the portfolio. Factors that management considers in the
analysis include the effects of the national and local economies;
trends in the nature and volume of delinquencies, charge-offs and
nonaccrual loans; changes in loan mix; credit score migration
comparisons; asset quality trends; risk management and loan
administration; changes in the internal lending policies and credit
standards; collection practices; and examination results from bank
regulatory agencies and the Bancorp’s internal credit reviewers.

The Bancorp’s primary market areas for lending are the
Midwestern and Southeastern regions of the United States. When
evaluating the adequacy of allowances, consideration is given to
these regional geographic concentrations and the closely associated
effect changing economic conditions have on the Bancorp’s
customers.

Refer to the Allowance for Credit Losses subsection of the
Risk Management section of MD&A for a discussion on the
Bancorp’s ALLL sensitivity analysis.

Reserve for Unfunded Commitments

The reserve for unfunded commitments is maintained at a level
believed by management to be sufficient to absorb estimated
probable losses related to unfunded credit facilities and is included
in other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
determination of the adequacy of the reserve is based upon an
evaluation of the unfunded credit facilities, including an assessment
of historical commitment utilization experience, credit risk grading
and historical loss rates based on credit grade migration. This
process takes into consideration the same risk elements that are
analyzed in the determination of the adequacy of the Bancorp’s
ALLL, as discussed above. Net adjustments to the reserve for
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unfunded commitments are included in other noninterest expense
in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Income Taxes

The income tax laws of the jurisdictions in which the Bancorp
operates are complex and may be subject to different
interpretations. The Bancorp evaluates and assesses the relative risks
and appropriate tax treatment of transactions and filing positions
after considering relevant statutes, regulations, judicial decisions and
other information. The Bancorp maintains tax accruals consistent
with its evaluation of these items.

Changes in the estimate of tax accruals occur periodically as a
result of changes in tax rates, interpretation of tax laws and
regulations, and other guidance issued by tax authorities and the
status of examinations conducted by tax authorities, as well as the
expiration of statutes of limitations. These changes may significantly
impact the Bancorp’s tax accruals, deferred taxes and income tax
expense and may significantly impact the operating results of the
Bancorp.

Deferred taxes are determined using the balance sheet method.
Under this method, the net deferred tax asset or liability is calculated
based on the difference between the book and tax bases of the
assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates. Significant management
judgment is required to determine the realizability of deferred tax
assets. Deferred tax assets are recognized when management
believes that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets
will be realized. Where management has determined that it is not
more likely than not that certain deferred tax assets will be realized,
a valuation allowance is maintained. For additional information on
income taxes, refer to Note 20 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Valuation of Servicing Rights

When the Bancorp sells loans through either securitizations or
individual loan sales in accordance with its investment policies, it
often obtains servicing rights. Servicing rights resulting from loan
sales are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently amortized
in proportion to, and over the period of, estimated net servicing
revenue. Servicing rights are assessed for impairment monthly,
based on fair value, with temporary impairment recognized through
a valuation allowance and other-than-temporary impairment
recognized through a write-off of the servicing asset and related
valuation allowance. Significant management judgement is necessary
to identify key economic assumptions used in measuring any
potential impairment of the servicing rights including the
prepayment speeds of the underlying loans, the weighted-average
life, the OAS spread and the weighted-average coupon rate, as
applicable. The primary risk of material changes to the value of the
servicing rights resides in the potential volatility in the economic
assumptions used, particularly the prepayment speeds. The Bancorp
monitors risk and adjusts its valuation allowance as necessaty to
adequately reserve for impairment in the servicing portfolio. In
order to assist in this assessment, the Bancorp obtains external
valuations of the MSR portfolio from third parties and participates
in peer surveys that provide additional confirmation of the
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reasonableness of key assumptions utilized in the internal OAS
model. For purposes of measuring impairment, the MSRs are
stratified into classes based on the financial asset type (fixed-rate vs.
adjustable-rate) and interest rates. For additional information on
servicing rights, refer to Note 12 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Fair Value Measurements

The Bancorp measures certain financial assets and liabilities at fair
value in accordance with U.S. GAAP, which defines fair value as the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. Valuation techniques the Bancorp uses to
measure fair value include the market approach, income approach
and cost approach. The market approach uses prices or relevant
information generated by market transactions involving identical or
comparable assets or liabilities. The income approach involves
discounting future amounts to a single present amount and is based
on current market expectations about those future amounts. The
cost approach is based on the amount that currently would be
required to replace the service capacity of the asset.

U.S. GAAP establishes a fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into
three broad levels. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority
to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
(Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). A
financial instrument’s categorization within the fair value hierarchy
is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the
instrument’s fair value measurement. For additional information on
the fair value hierarchy and fair value measurements, refer to Note 1
of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Bancorp’s fair value measurements involve various
valuation techniques and models, which involve inputs that are
observable, when available. Valuation techniques and parameters
used for measuring assets and liabilities are reviewed and validated
by the Bancorp on a quarterly basis. Additionally, the Bancorp
monitors the fair values of significant assets and liabilities using a
variety of methods including the evaluation of pricing runs and
exception reports based on certain analytical criteria, comparison to
previous trades and overall review and assessments for
reasonableness. The level of management judgement necessary to
determine fair value varies based upon the methods used in the
determination of fair value. Financial instruments that are measured
at fair value using quoted prices in active markets (Level 1) require
minimal judgement. The valuation of financial instruments when
quoted market prices are not available (Levels 2 and 3) may require
significant management judgement to assess whether quoted prices
for similar instruments exist, the impact of changing market
conditions including reducing liquidity in the capital markets, and,
the use of estimates surrounding significant unobservable inputs.
Table 8 provides a summary of the fair value of financial
instruments carried at fair value on a recurring basis and the
amounts of financial instruments valued using Level 3 inputs.
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TABLE 8: FAIR VALUE SUMMARY

As of (§ in millions) December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014
Balance Level 3 Balance Level 3
Assets carried at fair value $ 31,364 444 24,917 535
As a percent of total assets 22% - 18 -
Liabilities carried at fair value $ 967 64 1,064 51
As a percent of total liabilities 1% - 1 -

Refer to Note 27 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for further information on fair value measurements including a
description of the valuation methodologies used for significant
financial instruments.

Goodwill

Business combinations entered into by the Bancorp typically include
the acquisition of goodwill. U.S. GAAP requires goodwill to be
tested for impairment at the Bancorp’s reporting unit level on an
annual basis, which for the Bancorp is September 30, and more
frequently if events or circumstances indicate that there may be
impairment. Refer to Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion on the methodology used by the
Bancorp to assess goodwill for impairment.

Impairment exists when a reporting unit’s carrying amount of
goodwill exceeds its implied fair value. In testing goodwill for
impairment, U.S. GAAP permits the Bancorp to first assess
qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not
that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount.
In this qualitative assessment, the Bancorp evaluates events and
circumstances which may include, but are not limited to, the general
economic environment, banking industry and market conditions,
the overall financial performance of the Bancorp, the performance
of the Bancorp’s stock, the key financial performance metrics of the
reporting units and events affecting the reporting units to determine
if it is not more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit
is less than its carrying amount. If the two-step impairment test is
required ot the decision to bypass the qualitative assessment is
elected, the Bancorp would be required to perform the first step
(Step 1) of the impairment test by comparing the fair value of a
reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the
carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, Step 2
of the goodwill impairment test is performed to measure the
amount of impairment loss, if any.

The fair value of a reporting unit is the price that would be
received to sell the unit as a whole in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. Since none of the
Bancorp’s reporting units are publicly traded, individual reporting
unit fair value determinations cannot be directly correlated to the
Bancorp’s stock price. The determination of the fair value of a
reporting unit is a subjective process that involves the use of
estimates and judgments, particularly related to cash flows, the
appropriate discount rates and an applicable control premium. The
Bancorp employs an income-based approach, utilizing the reporting
unit’s forecasted cash flows (including a terminal value approach to
estimate cash flows beyond the final year of the forecast) and the
reporting unit’s estimated cost of equity as the discount rate.
Significant management judgment is necessary in the preparation of
each reporting unit’s forecasted cash flows surrounding expectations
for earnings projections, growth and credit loss expectations and
actual results may differ from forecasted results. Additionally, the
Bancorp determines its market capitalization based on the average
of the closing price of the Bancorp’s stock during the month
including the measurement date, incorporating an additional control

premium, and compares this market-based fair value measurement
to the aggregate fair value of the Bancorp’s reporting units in order
to corroborate the results of the income approach.

When required to perform Step 2, the Bancorp compares the
implied fair value of a reporting unit’s goodwill with the carrying
amount of that goodwill. If the carrying amount exceeds the implied
fair value, an impairment loss equal to that excess amount is
recognized. A recognized impairment loss cannot exceed the
carrying amount of that goodwill and cannot be reversed in future
periods even if the fair value of the reporting unit recovers.

During Step 2, the Bancorp determines the implied fair value
of goodwill for a reporting unit by assigning the fair value of the
reporting unit to all of the assets and liabilities of that unit (including
any unrecognized intangible assets) as if the reporting unit had been
acquired in a business combination. Significant management
judgement is necessary in the identification and valuation of
unrecognized intangible assets and the valuation of the reporting
unit’s recorded assets and liabilities. The excess of the fair value of
the reporting unit over the amounts assigned to its assets and
liabilities is the implied fair value of goodwill. This assignment
process is only performed for purposes of testing goodwill for
impairment. The Bancorp does not adjust the carrying values of
recognized assets or liabilities (other than goodwill, if appropriate),
nor does it recognize previously unrecognized intangible assets in
the Consolidated Financial Statements as a result of this assignment
process. Refer to Note 9 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for further information regarding the Bancorp’s
goodwill.

Legal Contingencies

The Bancorp and its subsidiaries are parties to numerous claims and
lawsuits as well as threatened or potential actions or claims
concerning matters arising from the conduct of its business
activities. The outcome of claims or litigation and the timing of
ultimate resolution are inherently difficult to predict and significant
judgment may be requited in the determination of both the
probability of loss and whether the amount of the loss is reasonably
estimable. The Bancorp’s estimates are subjective and are based on
the status of legal and regulatory proceedings, the merit of the
Bancorp’s defenses and consultation with internal and external legal
counsel. An accrual for a potential litigation loss is established when
information related to the loss contingency indicates both that a loss
is probable and that the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated.
Refer to Note 18 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for further information regarding the Bancorp’s legal proceedings.
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RISK FACTORS

The risks listed below present risks that could have a material
impact on the Bancorp’s financial condition, the results of its
operations, or its business.

RISKS RELATING TO ECONOMIC AND MARKET
CONDITIONS

Weakness in the U.S. economy, including within Fifth Third’s
geographic footprint, has adversely aftected Fifth Third in the
past and may adversely affect Fifth Third in the future.

If the strength of the U.S. economy in general or the strength of the
local economies in which Fifth Third conducts operations declines,
this could result in, among other things, a deterioration in credit
quality or a reduced demand for credit, including a resultant effect
on Fifth Third’s loan portfolio and ALLL and in the receipt of
lower proceeds from the sale of loans and foreclosed properties.
These factors could result in higher delinquencies, greater charge-
offs and increased losses in future periods, which could materially
adversely affect Fifth Third’s financial condition and results of
operations.

Global financial conditions could hamper economic recovery
or contribute to recessionary economic conditions and severe
stress in the financial markets, including in the United States.
Should the U.S. economic recovery be adversely impacted by
these factors, the likelihood for loan and asset growth at U.S.
financial institutions, like Fifth Third, may deteriorate.

The global financial markets continue to be strained as a result of
economic slowdowns, geopolitical concerns and the related path of
commodity prices and interest rates. Divergence in economic
growth in the U.S. and international economies and the resulting
differences in monetary policy are placing strains on financial
matkets and strengthening the U.S. dollar. The relative strength of
the US. dollar may continue to negatively impact the U.S.
manufacturing sector. These factors could negatively impact the
U.S. economy and affect the stability of global financial markets.

Changes in interest rates could affect Fifth Third’s income and
cash flows.

Fifth Third’s income and cash flows depend to a great extent on the
difference between the interest rates earned on interest-earning
assets such as loans and investment securities, and the interest rates
paid on interest-bearing liabilities such as deposits and borrowings.
These rates are highly sensitive to many factors that are beyond
Fifth Third’s control, including general economic conditions and the
policies of various governmental and regulatory agencies (in
particular, the FRB). Changes in monetary policy, including changes
in interest rates, will influence the origination of loans, the
prepayment speed of loans, the purchase of investments, the
generation of deposits and the rates received on loans and
investment securities and paid on deposits or other sources of
funding. The impact of these changes may be magnified if Fifth
Third does not effectively manage the relative sensitivity of its assets
and liabilities to changes in market interest rates. Fluctuations in
these areas may adversely affect Fifth Third and its shareholders.

Changes and trends in the capital markets may affect Fifth
Third’s income and cash flows.

Fifth Third enters into and maintains trading and investment
positions in the capital markets on its own behalf and manages
investment positions on behalf of its customers. These investment
positions include derivative financial instruments. The revenues and
profits Fifth Third detives from managing proprietary and customer
trading and investment positions are dependent on market prices.
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Market changes and trends may result in a decline in investment
advisory revenue or investment or trading losses that may impact
Fifth Third. Losses on behalf of its customers could expose Fifth
Third to litigation, credit risks or loss of revenue from those clients
and customers. Additionally, losses in Fifth Third’s trading and
investment positions could lead to a loss with respect to those
investments and may adversely affect cash flows and funding costs.

Problems encountered by financial institutions latger than or
similar to Fifth Third could adversely affect financial markets
generally and have direct and indirect adverse effects on Fifth
Third.

Fifth Third has exposure to counterparties in the financial services
industry and other industries, and routinely executes transactions
with such counterparties, including brokers and dealers, commercial
banks, investment banks, mutual and hedge funds, and other
institutional clients. Many of Fifth Third’s transactions with other
financial institutions expose Fifth Third to credit risk in the event of
default of a counterparty or client. In addition, Fifth Third’s credit
risk may be affected when the collateral it holds cannot be realized
or is liquidated at prices not sufficient to recover the full amount of
the loan or derivative exposure. The commercial soundness of many
financial institutions may be closely interrelated as a result of credit,
trading, clearing or other relationships between the institutions. As a
result, concerns about, or a default or threatened default by, one
institution could lead to significant market-wide liquidity and credit
problems, losses or defaults by other institutions. This is sometimes
referred to as “systemic risk” and may adversely affect financial
intermediaries, such as clearing agencies, clearing houses, banks,
securities firms and exchanges, with which the Bancorp interacts on
a daily basis, and therefore could adversely affect Fifth Third.

Fifth Third’s stock price is volatile.
Fifth Third’s stock price has been volatile in the past and several
factors could cause the price to fluctuate substantially in the future.
These factors include:
e Actual or anticipated variations in earnings;
e Changes in analysts’ recommendations or projections;
e  Fifth Third’s announcements of developments related to
its businesses;
e  Operating and stock performance of other companies
deemed to be peers;
e Actions by government regulators;
e New technology used or services offered by traditional
and non-traditional competitors;
e News reports of trends, concerns and other issues related
to the financial services industry;
e  Natural disasters;
e Geopolitical conditions such as acts or threats of terrorism
or military conflicts.

The price for shares of Fifth Third’s common stock may
fluctuate significantly in the future, and these fluctuations may be
unrelated to Fifth Third’s performance. General market price
declines or market volatility in the future could adversely affect the
price for shares of Fifth Third’s common stock, and the current
market price of such shares may not be indicative of future market
prices.
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Changes In retail distribution strategies and consumer
behavior may adversely impact Fifth Third’s investments in its
bank premises and equipment and other assets and may lead
to increased expenditures to change its retail distribution
channel.

Fifth Third has significant investments in bank premises and
equipment for its branch network including its 1,254 full-service
banking centers, 56 parcels of land held for the development of
future banking centers, as well as its retail work force and other
branch banking assets. Advances in technology such as e-commerce,
telephone, internet and mobile banking, and in-branch self-service
technologies including automatic teller machines and other
equipment, as well as changing customer preferences for these other
methods of accessing Fifth Third’s products and services, could
affect the value of Fifth Third’s branch network or other retail
distribution assets and may cause it to change its retail distribution
strategy, close and/or sell certain branches or parcels of land held
for development and restructure or reduce its remaining branches
and work force. Further advances in technology and/or changes in
customer preferences could have additional changes in Fifth Third’s
retail distribution strategy and/or branch network. These actions
could lead to losses on these assets or could adversely impact the
carrying value of other long-lived assets and may lead to increased
expenditures to renovate and reconfigure remaining branches or to
otherwise reform its retail distribution channel.

RISKS RELATING TO FIFTH THIRD’S GENERAL
BUSINESS

Deteriorating credit quality has adversely impacted Fifth
Third in the past and may adversely impact Fifth Third in the
future.

When Fifth Third lends money or commits to lend money the
Bancorp incurs credit risk or the risk of loss if borrowers do not
repay their loans. The credit performance of the loan portfolios
significantly affects the Bancorp’s financial results and condition. If
the current economic environment were to deteriorate, motre
customers may have difficulty in repaying their loans or other
obligations which could result in a higher level of credit losses and
reserves for credit losses. Fifth Third reserves for credit losses by
establishing reserves through a charge to earnings. The amount of
these reserves is based on Fifth Third’s assessment of credit losses
inherent in the loan portfolio including unfunded credit
commitments. The process for determining the amount of the
ALLL and the reserve for unfunded commitments is critical to Fifth
Third’s financial results and condition. It requires difficult,
subjective and complex judgments about the environment, including
analysis of economic or market conditions that might impair the
ability of borrowers to repay their loans.

Fifth Third might underestimate the credit losses inherent in its
loan portfolio and have credit losses in excess of the amount
reserved. Fifth Third might increase the reserve because of changing
economic conditions, including falling home prices or higher
unemployment, or other factors such as changes in borrower’s
behavior. As an example, borrowers may "strategically default," or
discontinue making payments on their real estate-secured loans if
the value of the real estate is less than what they owe, even if they
are still financially able to make the payments.

Fifth Third believes that both the ALLL and the resetve for
unfunded commitments are adequate to cover inherent losses at
December 31, 2015; however, there is no assurance that they will be
sufficient to cover future credit losses, especially if housing and
employment conditions worsen. In the event of significant
deterioration in economic conditions, Fifth Third may be required
to increase reserves in future periods, which would reduce earnings.

For more information, refer to the Credit Risk Management
subsection of the Risk Management section of MD&A and the
Allowance for Loan and Losses and Reserve for Unfunded
Commitments subsections of the Critical Accounting Policies

section of MD&A.

Fifth Third must maintain adequate sources of funding and
liquidity.

Fifth Third must maintain adequate funding sources in the normal
course of business to support its operations and fund outstanding
liabilities, as well as meet regulatory expectations. Fifth Third
primarily relies on bank deposits to be a low cost and stable source
of funding for the loans Fifth Third makes and the operations of
Fifth Third’s business. Core deposits, which include transaction
deposits and other time deposits, have historically provided Fifth
Third with a sizeable source of relatively stable and low-cost funds
(average core deposits funded 71% of average total assets at
December 31, 2015). In addition to customer deposits, soutces of
liquidity include investments in the securities portfolio, Fifth Third’s
sale or securitization of loans in secondary markets and the pledging
of loans and investment securities to access secured borrowing
facilities through the FHLB and the FRB, and Fifth Third’s ability
to raise funds in domestic and international money and capital
markets.

Fifth Third’s liquidity and ability to fund and run the business
could be materially adversely affected by a vatiety of conditions and
factors, including financial and credit market disruptions and
volatility or a lack of market or customer confidence in financial
markets in general similar to what occurred during the financial
crisis in 2008 and early 2009, which may result in a loss of customer
deposits ot outflows of cash or collateral and/or ability to access
capital markets on favorable terms.

Other conditions and factors that could materially adversely
affect Fifth Third’s liquidity and funding include a lack of market or
customer confidence in Fifth Third or negative news about Fifth
Third or the financial services industry generally which also may
result in a loss of deposits and/or negatively affect the ability to
access the capital markets; the loss of customer deposits to
alternative investments; inability to sell or securitize loans or other
assets, increased regulatory requirements, and reductions in one or
more of Fifth Third’s credit ratings. A reduced credit rating could
adversely affect Fifth Third’s ability to borrow funds and raise the
cost of borrowings substantially and could cause creditors and
business counterparties to raise collateral requirements or take other
actions that could adversely affect Fifth Third’s ability to raise
capital. Many of the above conditions and factors may be caused by
events over which Fifth Third has little or no control such as what
occutred duting the financial crisis. While market conditions have
stabilized and, in many cases, improved, there can be no assurance
that significant disruption and volatility in the financial markets will
not occur in the future.

Recent regulatory changes relating to liquidity and risk
management may also negatively impact Fifth Third’s results of
operations and competitive position. Various regulations recently
adopted or proposed, and additional regulations under
consideration, impose or could impose more stringent liquidity
requirements for large financial institutions, including Fifth Third.
These regulations address, among other matters, liquidity stress
testing, minimum liquidity requirements and restrictions on short-
term debt issued by top-tier holding companies. Given the overlap
and complex interactions of these regulations with other regulatory
changes, including the resolution and recovery framework

applicable to Fifth Third, the full impact of the adopted and
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proposed regulations will remain uncertain until their full
implementation.

If Fifth Third is unable to continue to fund assets through
customer bank deposits or access capital markets on favorable terms
or if Fifth Third suffers an increase in borrowing costs or otherwise
fails to manage liquidity effectively; then Fifth Third’s liquidity,
operating margins, and financial results and condition may be
materially adversely affected. As Fifth Third did during the financial
crisis, it may also need to raise additional capital through the
issuance of stock, which could dilute the ownership of existing
stockholders, or reduce or even eliminate common stock dividends
to preserve capital.

Fifth Third may have more credit risk and higher credit losses
to the extent loans are concentrated by location or industry of
the borrowers or collateral.

Fifth Third’s credit risk and credit losses can increase if its loans are
concentrated to borrowers engaged in the same or similar activities
or to borrowers who as a group may be uniquely or
disproportionately affected by economic or market conditions.
Deterioration in economic conditions, housing conditions and
commodity and real estate values in these states and generally across
the country could result in materially higher credit losses.

Fifth Third may be required to repurchase residential
mortgage loans or reimburse investors and others as a result of
breaches in contractual representations and warranties.

Fifth Third sells residential mortgage loans to various parties,
including GSEs and other financial institutions that purchase
residential mortgage loans for investment or private label
securitization. Fifth Third may be required to repurchase residential
mortgage loans, indemnify the securitization trust, investor or
insurer, or reimburse the securitization trust, investor or insurer for
credit losses incurred on loans in the event of a breach of
contractual representations or warranties that is not remedied within
a specified period (usually 60 days or less) after Fifth Third receives
notice of the breach. Contracts for residential mortgage loan sales to
the GSEs include various types of specific remedies and penalties
that could be applied to inadequate responses to repurchase
requests. If economic conditions and the housing market deteriorate
or future investor repurchase demand and Fifth Third’s success at
appealing repurchase requests differ from past experience, Fifth
Third could have increased repurchase obligations and increased
loss severity on repurchases, requiring material additions to the
repurchase reserve.

If Fifth Third does not appropriately adjust to rapid changes
In the financial services industry, its financial performance
may suffer.

Fifth Third’s ability to deliver strong financial performance and
returns on investment to shareholders will depend in part on its
ability to expand the scope of available financial services to meet the
needs and demands of its customers. In addition to the challenge of
competing against other banks in attracting and retaining customers
for traditional banking services, Fifth Third’s competitors also
include securities dealers, brokers, mortgage bankers, investment
advisors, and specialty finance, telecommunications, technology and
insurance companies who seck to offer one-stop financial services
that may include services that banks have not been able or allowed
to offer to their customers in the past or may not be currently able
or allowed to offer. This increasingly competitive environment is
primarily a result of changes in regulation, changes in technology
and product delivery systems, as well as the accelerating pace of
consolidation among financial service providers. Fifth Third may
make strategic investments and may expand an existing line of

28 Fifth Third Bancorp

business or enter into new lines of business to remain competitive.
If it does not execute the appropriate strategies to effectively
compete with or does not do so in an appropriate or timely manner
its business may suffer. Additionally, these strategies, products and
lines of business may bring with them unforeseeable or unforeseen
risks and may not generate the expected results or returns, which
could adversely affect Fifth Third’s results of operations or future
growth prospects.

If Fifth Third is unable to grow its deposits, it may be subject
to paying higher funding costs.

The total amount that Fifth Third pays for funding costs is
dependent, in part, on Fifth Third’s ability to grow its deposits. If
Fifth Third is unable to sufficiently grow its deposits to meet
liquidity objectives, it may be subject to paying higher funding costs.
Fifth Third competes with banks and other financial services
companies for deposits. If competitors raise the rates they pay on
deposits, Fifth Third’s funding costs may increase, either because
Fifth Third raises rates to avoid losing deposits or because Fifth
Third loses deposits and must rely on more expensive sources of
funding. Higher funding costs reduce Fifth Third’s net interest
margin and net interest income. Fifth Third’s bank customers could
take their money out of the Bank and put it in alternative
investments, causing Fifth Third to lose a lower cost source of
funding. Checking and savings account balances and other forms of
customer deposits may decrease when customers petrceive
alternative investments, such as the stock market, as providing a
better risk/return tradeoff.

The Bancorp’s ability to receive dividends from its
subsidiaries accounts for most of its revenue and could affect
1ts liquidity and ability to pay dividends.

Fifth Third Bancorp is a separate and distinct legal entity from its
subsidiaries. Fifth Third Bancorp typically receives substantially all
of its revenue from dividends from its subsidiaries. These dividends
are the principal source of funds to pay dividends on Fifth Third
Bancorp’s stock and intetest and principal on its debt. Various
federal and/or state laws and regulations, as well as regulatory
expectations, limit the amount of dividends that the Bancorp’s
banking subsidiary and certain nonbank subsidiaries may pay.
Regulatory scrutiny of capital levels at bank holding companies and
insured depository institution subsidiaries has increased since the
financial crisis and has resulted in increased regulatory focus on all
aspects of capital planning, including dividends and other
distributions to shareholders of banks such as the parent bank
holding companies. Also, Fifth Third Bancorp’s right to participate
in a distribution of assets upon a subsidiary’s liquidation or
reorganization is subject to the prior claims of that subsidiary’s
creditors. Limitations on the Bancorp’s ability to receive dividends
from its subsidiaries could have a matetial adverse effect on its
liquidity and ability to pay dividends on stock or interest and
principal on its debt. For further information refer to Note 3 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

The financial services industry is highly competitive and
creates competitive pressures that could adversely aftect Fifth
Third’s revenue and profitability.

The financial services industry in which Fifth Third operates is
highly competitive. Fifth Third competes not only with commercial
banks, but also with insurance companies, mutual funds, hedge
funds, telecommunications and technology and other companies
offering financial services in the U.S., globally and over the internet.
Fifth Third competes on the basis of several factors, including
capital, access to capital, revenue generation, products, services,
transaction execution, innovation, reputation and price. Over time,
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certain sectors of the financial services industry have become more
concentrated, as institutions involved in a broad range of financial
services have been acquired by or merged into other firms. These
developments could result in Fifth Third’s competitors gaining
greater capital and other resources, such as a broader range of
products and services and geographic diversity. Fifth Third may
experience pricing pressures as a result of these factors and as some
of its competitors seek to increase market share by reducing prices.

Fifth Third and/or the holders of its securities could be
adversely aftected by unfavorable ratings from rating agencies.
Fifth Third’s ability to access the capital markets is important to its
overall funding profile. This access is affected by the ratings
assigned by rating agencies to Fifth Third, certain of its subsidiaties
and particular classes of securities they issue. The interest rates that
Fifth Third pays on its securities are also influenced by, among
other things, the credit ratings that it, its subsidiaries and/or its
securities receive from recognized rating agencies. A downgrade to
Fifth Third or its subsidiaries’ credit rating could affect its ability to
access the capital markets, increase its borrowing costs and
negatively impact its profitability. A ratings downgrade to Fifth
Third, its subsidiaries or their securities could also create obligations
or liabilities to Fifth Third under the terms of its outstanding
securities that could increase Fifth Third’s costs or otherwise have a
negative effect on its results of operations or financial condition.
Additionally, a downgrade of the credit rating of any particular
security issued by Fifth Third or its subsidiaries could negatively
affect the ability of the holders of that secutity to sell the securities
and the prices at which any such securities may be sold.

Fifth Third could suffer if it fails to attract and retain skilled
personnel.
Fifth Third’s success depends, in large part, on its ability to attract
and retain key individuals. Competition for qualified candidates in
the activities and markets that Fifth Third serves is great, which may
increase Fifth Third’s expenses and may result in Fifth Third not
being able to hire these candidates or retain them. If Fifth Third is
not able to hire or retain these key individuals, Fifth Third may be
unable to execute its business strategies and may suffer adverse
consequences to its business, operations and financial condition.
Compensation paid by financial institutions such as Fifth Third
has become increasingly regulated, particularly under the DFA,
which regulation affects the amount and form of compensation
Fifth Third pays to hire and retain talented employees. If Fifth
Third is unable to attract and retain qualified employees, or do so at
rates necessary to maintain its competitive position, or if
compensation costs required to attract and retain employees
become more expensive, Fifth Third’s performance, including its
competitive position, could be materially adversely affected.

Fifth Third’s mortgage banking revenue can be volatile from
quarter to quarter.

Fifth Third earns revenue from the fees it receives for originating
mortgage loans and for servicing mortgage loans. When rates rise,
the demand for mortgage loans tends to fall, reducing the revenue
Fifth Third receives from loan originations. At the same time,
revenue from MSRs can increase through increases in fair value.
When rates fall, mortgage originations tend to increase and the value
of MSRs tends to decline, also with some offsetting revenue effect.
Even though the origination of mortgage loans can act as a “natural
hedge,” the hedge is not perfect, either in amount or timing. For
example, the negative effect on revenue from a decrease in the fair
value of residential MSRs is immediate, but any offsetting revenue
benefit from more originations and the MSRs relating to the new

loans would accrue over time. It is also possible that even if interest
rates were to fall, mortgage originations may also fall or any increase
in mortgage originations may not be enough to offset the decrease
in the MSRs value caused by the lower rates.

Fifth Third typically uses derivatives and other instruments to
hedge its mortgage banking interest rate risk. Fifth Third generally
does not hedge all of its risks, and the fact that Fifth Third attempts
to hedge any of the risks does not mean Fifth Third will be
successful. Hedging is a complex process, requiting sophisticated
models and constant monitoring. Fifth Third may use hedging
instruments tied to U.S. Treasury rates, LIBOR or Eurodollars that
may not perfectly correlate with the value or income being hedged.
Fifth Third could incur significant losses from its hedging activities.
There may be periods where Fifth Third elects not to use derivatives
and other instruments to hedge mortgage banking interest rate risk.

Fifth Third uses models for business planning purposes that
may not adequately predict future results.

Fifth Third uses financial models to aid in its planning for various
putposes including its capital and liquidity needs, potential charge-
offs, reserves, and other purposes. The models used may not
accurately account for all variables that could affect future results,
may fail to predict outcomes accurately and/or may overstate ot
understate certain effects. As a result of these potential failures,
Fifth Third may not adequately prepare for future events and may
suffer losses or other setbacks due to these failures.

Changes in interest rates could also reduce the value of MSRs.
Fifth Third acquires MSRs when it keeps the servicing rights after
the sale or securitization of the loans that have been originated or
when it purchases the servicing rights to mortgage loans originated
by other lenders. Fifth Third initially measures all residential MSRs
at fair value and subsequently amortizes the MSRs in proportion to,
and over the period of, estimated net servicing income. Fair value is
the present value of estimated future net servicing income,
calculated based on a number of variables, including assumptions
about the likelihood of prepayment by borrowers. Servicing rights
are assessed for impairment monthly, based on fair value, with
temporary impairment recognized through a valuation allowance
and other-than-temporary impairment recognized through a write-
off of the servicing asset and related valuation allowance.

Changes in interest rates can affect prepayment assumptions
and thus fair value. When interest rates fall, borrowers are usually
more likely to prepay their mortgage loans by refinancing them at a
lower rate. As the likelihood of prepayment increases, the fair value
of MSRs can decrease. Each quarter Fifth Third evaluates the fair
value of MSRs, and decreases in fair value below amortized cost
reduce earnings in the period in which the decrease occurs.

The preparation of Fifth Third’s financial statements requires
the use of estimates that may vary from actual results.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with U.S. GAAP requires management to make significant estimates
that affect the financial statements. If new information arises that
results in a material change to a reserve amount, such a change
could result in a change to previously announced financial results.
Refer to the Critical Accounting Policies section of MD&A for
more information regarding management’s significant estimates.
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Changes in accounting standards or iInterpretations could
Iimpact Fifth Third’s reported earnings and financial
condition.

The accounting standard setters, including the FASB, the SEC and
other regulatory agencies, periodically change the financial
accounting and reporting standards that govern the preparation of
Fifth Third’s consolidated financial statements. These changes can
be hard to predict and can materially impact how Fifth Third
records and reports its financial condition and results of operations.
In some cases, Fifth Third could be required to apply a new or
revised standard retroactively, which would result in the recasting of
Fifth Third’s prior period financial statements.

Future acquisitions may dilute current shareholders’
ownership of Fifth Third and may cause Fifth Third to
become more susceptible to adverse economic events.

Future business acquisitions could be material to Fifth Third and it
may issue additional shares of stock to pay for those acquisitions,
which would dilute current shareholders’ ownership interests.
Acquisitions also could require Fifth Third to use substantial cash or
other liquid assets or to incur debt. In those events, Fifth Third
could become more susceptible to economic downturns and
competitive pressures.

Difficulties in combining the operations of acquired entities
with Fifth Third’s own operations may prevent Fifth Third
from achieving the expected benefits from its acquisitions.
Inherent uncertainties exist when integrating the operations of an
acquired entity. Fifth Third may not be able to fully achieve its
strategic objectives and planned operating efficiencies in an
acquisition. In addition, the markets and industries in which Fifth
Third and its potential acquisition targets operate are highly
competitive. Fifth Third may lose customers or the customers of
acquired entities as a result of an acquisition. Future acquisition and
integration activities may require Fifth Third to devote substantial
time and resources and as a result Fifth Third may not be able to
putsue other business opportunities.

After completing an acquisition, Fifth Third may find certain
items are not accounted for propetly in accordance with financial
accounting and reporting standards. Fifth Third may also not realize
the expected benefits of the acquisition due to lower financial
results pertaining to the acquired entity. For example, Fifth Third
could experience higher charge-offs than originally anticipated
related to the acquired loan portfolio.

Fifth Third may sell or consider selling one or more of its
businesses. Should it determine to sell such a business, it may
not be able to generate gains on sale or related increase in
shareholders’ equity commensurate with desirable levels.
Moreover, if Fifth Third sold such businesses, the loss of
Income could have an adverse effect on its earnings and future
growth.

Fifth Third owns, or owns a minority stake in, as applicable, several
non-strategic businesses that ate not significantly synergistic with its
core financial services businesses. Fifth Third has, from time to
time, considered and undertaken (and, in the case of Vantiv, has
announced its intention to continue) the sale of such businesses
and/or interests, including, for example, portions of Fifth Third’s
stake in Vantiv Holding, LLC. If it were to determine to sell such
businesses and/or interests, Fifth Third would be subject to market
forces that may make completion of a sale unsuccessful or may not
be able to do so within a desirable time frame. If Fifth Third were to
complete the sale of any of its businesses and/or interests in third
parties, it would suffer the loss of income from the sold businesses
and/or interests, including those accounted for under the equity
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method of accounting, and such loss of income could have an
adverse effect on its future earnings and growth. Additionally, Fifth
Third may encounter difficulties in separating the operations of any
businesses it sells, which may affect its business or results of
operations.

Fifth Third relies on its systems and certain service providers,
and certain failures could materially adversely affect
operations.

Fifth Third collects, processes and stores sensitive consumer data by
utilizing computer systems and telecommunications networks
operated by both Fifth Third and third party service providers. Fifth
Third has security, backup and recovery systems in place, as well as
a business continuity plan to ensure the systems will not be
inoperable. Fifth Third also has security to prevent unauthorized
access to the systems. In addition, Fifth Third requires its third party
service providers to maintain similar controls. However, Fifth Third
cannot be certain that the measures will be successful. A security
breach in the systems and loss of confidential information such as
credit card numbers and related information could result in losing
the customers’ confidence and thus the loss of their business as well
as additional significant costs for privacy monitoring activities.

Fifth Third’s necessary dependence upon automated systems to
record and process its transaction volume poses the risk that
technical system flaws or employee errors, tampering or
manipulation of those systems will result in losses and may be
difficult to detect. Fifth Third may also be subject to disruptions of
its operating systems arising from events that are beyond its control
(for example, computer viruses or electrical or telecommunications
outages).

Third parties with which the Bancorp does business, as well as
retailers and other third parties with which the Bancorp’s customers
do business, can also be sources of operational risk to the Bancorp,
particularly where activities of customers ate beyond the Bancorp’s
security and control systems, such as through the use of the
internet, personal computers, tablets, smatt phones and other
mobile services. Security breaches affecting the Bancorp’s
customers, or systems breakdowns or failures, security breaches or
employee misconduct affecting such other third parties, may require
the Bancorp to take steps to protect the integrity of its own
operational systems ot to safeguard confidential information of the
Bancorp or its customers, thereby increasing the Bancorp’s
operational costs and potentially diminishing customer satisfaction.
If personal, confidential or proprietary information of customers or
clients in the Bancorp’s possession were to be mishandled or
misused, the Bancorp could suffer significant regulatory
consequences, reputational damage and financial loss. Such
mishandling or misuse could include circumstances where, for
example, such information was erroneously provided to parties who
are not permitted to have the information, either through the fault
of the Bancorp’s systems, employees or counterparties, or where
such information was intercepted or otherwise compromised by
third parties. The Bancorp may be subject to disruptions of its
operating systems arising from events that are wholly or partially
beyond the Bancorp’s control, which may include, for example,
security breaches; electrical or telecommunications outages; failures
of computer servers or other damage to the Bancorp’s property or
assets; natural disasters or severe weather conditions; health
emergencies; or events arising from local or larger-scale political
events, including outbreaks of hostilities ot terrorist acts. While the
Bancorp believes that its current resiliency plans are both sufficient
and adequate, there can be no assurance that such plans will fully
mitigate all potential business continuity risks to the Bancorp or its
customers and clients. Any failures or distuptions of the Bancorp’s
systems or operations could give rise to losses in service to
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customers and clients, adversely affect the Bancorp’s business and
results of operations by subjecting the Bancorp to losses or liability,
or require the Bancorp to expend significant resources to correct
the failure or disruption, as well as by exposing the Bancorp to
litigation, regulatory fines or penalties or losses not covered by
insurance.

Fifth Third is exposed to cyber-security risks, including denial
of service, hacking, and identity theft.

Fifth Third relies heavily on communications and information
systems to conduct its business. Any failure, interruption or breach
in security of these systems could result in disruptions to its
accounting, deposit, loan and other systems, and adversely affect its
customer relationships. While Fifth Third has policies and
procedures designed to prevent or limit the effect of these possible
events, there can be no assurance that any such failure, interruption
or security breach will not occur or, if any does occur, that it can be
sufficiently remediated. There have been increasing efforts on the
part of third parties, including through cyber attacks, to breach data
security at financial institutions or with respect to financial
transactions. There have been several recent instances involving
financial services and consumer-based companies teporting the
unauthorized disclosure of client or customer information or the
destruction or theft of corporate data, by both private individuals
and foreign governments. In addition, because the techniques used
to cause such security breaches change frequently, often are not
recognized until launched against a target and may originate from
less regulated and remote areas around the world, Fifth Third may
be unable to proactively address these techniques or to implement
adequate preventative measures. Furthermore, there has been a well-
publicized series of appatently related distributed denial of service
attacks on large financial services companies, including Fifth Third
Bank. Distributed denial of service attacks are designed to satutrate
the targeted online network with excessive amounts of network
traffic, resulting in slow response times, or in some cases, causing
the site to be temporarily unavailable. These events adversely
affected the performance of Fifth Third’s website and in some
instances prevented customers from accessing Fifth Third’s website.
Future cyber-attacks could be more disruptive and damaging. Cyber
threats are rapidly evolving and Fifth Third may not be able to
anticipate or prevent all such attacks. Fifth Third may incur
increasing costs in an effort to minimize these risks or in the
investigation of such cyber-attacks or related to the protection of
the Bancorp’s customers from identity theft as a result of such
attacks. Despite this effort, the occurrence of any failure,
interruption or security breach of Fifth Third’s systems or third-
party service providers, particularly if widespread or resulting in
financial losses to customers, could also seriously damage Fifth
Third’s reputation, result in a loss of customer business, subject it to
additional regulatory scrutiny, or expose it to civil litigation and
financial liability.

Fifth Third is exposed to operational and reputational risk.
Fifth Third is exposed to many types of operational risk, including
but not limited to, business continuity risk, information
management risk, fraud risk, model risk, third party service provider
risk, human resources risk, and process risk.

Fifth Third’s actual or alleged conduct in activities, such as
lending practices, data security, corporate governance and
acquisitions, may result in negative public opinion and may damage
Fifth Third’s reputation. Actions taken by government regulators
and community organizations may also damage Fifth Third’s
reputation. Additionally, whereas negative public opinion once was
primarily driven by adverse news coverage in traditional media, the

advent and expansion of social media facilitates the rapid
dissemination of information. Though Fifth Third monitors social
media channels, the potential remains for rapid and widespread
dissemination of inaccurate, misleading or false information that
could damage Fifth Third’s reputation. Negative public opinion can
adversely affect Fifth Third’s ability to attract and keep customers
and can increase the risk that it will be a target of litigation and
regulatory action.

The results of Vantv Holding, LLC could have a negative
Impact on Fifth Third’s operating results and financial
condition.

In 2009, Fifth Third sold an approximate 51% interest in its
processing business, Vantiv Holding, LLC (formerly Fifth Third
Processing Solutions). As a result of additional share sales
completed by Fifth Third in 2013, 2014 and 2015, the Bancorp’s
ownership share in Vantiv Holding, LL.C as of December 31, 2015,
is approximately 18%. The Bancorp’s investment in Vantiv Holding,
LLC is currently accounted for under the equity method of
accounting and is not consolidated based on Fifth Third’s remaining
ownership share in Vantiv Holding, LLC. Vantiv Holding, LLC’s
operating results could be poor and could negatively affect the
operating results of Fifth Third. In addition, Fifth Third owns a
warrant to acquire approximately 7.8 million Class C non-voting
units of Vantiv Holding, LL.C. Fifth Third participates in a multi-
lender credit facility to Vantiv Holding, I.I.C and repayment of these
loans is contingent on the future cash flows of Vantiv Holding,
LLC.

Changes in Fifth Third’s ownership in Vantiv Holding, LLC
could have an impact on Fifth Third’s stock price, operating
results, financial condition, and future outlook.

Fifth Third expects that it will reduce its equity and detivative
investments in Vantiv Holding, LL.C and its publicly traded parent,
Vantiv, Inc., in whole or in part, but there can be no assurance that
such sales will occur or as to when they will occur or the value that
might be received by Fifth Third. A reduction in Fifth Third’s
Vantiv ownership interest may result from a series of sale
transactions similar to transactions in Vantiv securities engaged in
by Fifth Third to date, or could occur as a result of one or more
larger transactions, depending on strategic considerations, market
conditions, or other factors deemed important by Fifth Third.
Additionally, Fifth Third’s ownership in Vantiv could be affected by
transactions that Vantiv may undertake. The nature, terms, and
timing of transactions engaged in by Vantiv may not be entirely
within Fifth Third’s control, if at all. If and when Fifth Third’s
ownership in Vantiv is reduced, such changes in ownership could
have a material impact, positive or negative, on Fifth Third’s stock
price, operating results, financial condition and future outlook.

Weather related events or other natural disasters may have an
effect on the performance of Fifth Third’s loan portfolios,
especially in its coastal markets, thereby adversely impacting
1ts results of operations.

Fifth Third’s footprint stretches from the upper Midwestern to
lower Southeastern regions of the United States. These regions have
experienced weather events including hurricanes and other natural
disasters. The nature and level of these events and the impact of
global climate change upon their frequency and severity cannot be
predicted. If large scale events occur, they may significantly impact
its loan portfolios by damaging properties pledged as collateral as
well as impairing its borrowers’ ability to repay their loans.
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RISKS RELATED TO THE LEGAL AND REGULATORY
ENVIRONMENT

As a regulated entity, the Bancorp is subject to certain capital
requirements that may limit its operations and potential
growth.

The Bancorp is a bank holding company and a financial holding
company. As such, it is subject to the comprehensive, consolidated
supervision and regulation of the FRB, including risk-based and
leverage capital requirements, investment practices, dividend policy
and growth. The Bancorp must maintain certain risk-based and
leverage capital ratios as requited by the FRB which can change
depending upon general economic conditions and the Bancorp’s
particular condition, risk profile and growth plans. Compliance with
the capital requirements, including leverage ratios, may limit
operations that require the intensive use of capital and could
adversely affect the Bancorp’s ability to expand or maintain present
business levels.

In July 2013, the Federal banking agencies issued final rules for
the enhanced regulatory capital requirements for U.S. banking
organizations, which implemented aspects of Basel III. The final
rules provide the option for certain banking organizations, including
the Bancotp, to opt out of including AOCI in regulatory capital and
retain the treatment of residential mortgage exposures consistent
with the current Basel I capital rules. The new capital rules became
effective for the Bancorp on January 1, 2015, subject to phase-in
periods for certain components and other provisions. The need to
maintain more and higher quality capital as well as greater liquidity
could limit Fifth Third’s business activities, including lending, and
the ability to expand, either organically or through acquisitions.
Moreover, although these new requirements are being phased in
over time, U.S. federal banking agencies have been taking into
account expectations regarding the ability of banks to meet these
new requirements, including under stressed conditions, in approving
actions that represent uses of capital, such as dividend increases and
share repurchases.

The Bank must be well-capitalized, well-managed and maintain
at least a "Satisfactory" CRA rating for the Bancotp to retain its
status as a financial holding company. Failure to meet these
requirements could result in the FRB placing limitations ot
conditions on the Bancorp's activities (and the commencement of
new activities, including merger with or acquisitions of other
financial institutions) and could ultimately result in the loss of
financial holding company status. The FRB conducted a regulatly
scheduled examination covering 2011 through 2013 to determine
the Bancorp's banking subsidiary's compliance with the CRA.
Although the FRB has not made a final determination, the Bancorp
believes that the results of such CRA examination may result in a
rating of "Needs to Improve". If that would occut, such rating
would last at least until the Bancorp's banking subsidiary's next CRA
examination.

In addition, failure by the Bancorp’s banking subsidiary to meet
applicable capital guidelines could subject the Bank to a variety of
enforcement remedies available to the federal regulatory authorities.
These include limitations on the ability to pay dividends, the
issuance by the regulatory authority of a capital directive to increase
capital, and the termination of deposit insurance by the FDIC.

Fifth Third’s business, financial condition and results of
operations could be adversely affected by new or changed
regulations and by the manner in which such regulations are
applied by regulatory authorities.

Previous economic conditions, particularly in the financial markets,
have resulted in government regulatory agencies placing increased
focus on and scrutiny of the financial services industry. The U.S.
government has intervened on an unprecedented scale, responding
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to what has been commonly referred to as the financial crisis, by
introducing various actions and passing legislation such as the DFA.
Such programs and legislation subject Fifth Third and other
financial institutions to restrictions, oversight and/or costs that may
have an impact on Fifth Third’s business, financial condition, results
of operations or the price of its common stock.

New proposals for legislation and regulations continue to be
introduced that could further substantially increase regulation of the
financial services industry. Fifth Third cannot predict whether any
pending or future legislation will be adopted or the substance and
impact of any such new legislation on Fifth Third. Additional
regulation could affect Fifth Third in a substantial way and could
have an adverse effect on its business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Fifth Third is subject to various regulatory requirements that
may limit its operations and potential growth.

Under federal and state laws and regulations pertaining to the safety
and soundness of insured depository institutions and their holding
companies, the FRB, the FDIC, the CFPB and the Ohio Division of
Financial Institutions have the authority to compel or restrict certain
actions by Fifth Third and its banking subsidiary. Fifth Third and its
banking subsidiary are subject to such supervisory authority and,
more generally, must, in certain instances, obtain ptior regulatory
approval before engaging in certain activities or corporate decisions.
There can be no assurance that such approvals, if required, would
be forthcoming or that such approvals would be granted in a timely
manner. Failure to receive any such approval, if required, could limit
or impair Fifth Third’s operations, restrict its growth and/or affect
its dividend policy. Such actions and activities subject to prior
approval include, but are not limited to, increasing dividends paid by
Fifth Third or its banking subsidiary, entering into a merger or
acquisition transaction, acquiring or establishing new branches, and
entering into certain new businesses.

In addition, Fifth Third, as well as other financial institutions
more generally, have recently been subjected to increased scrutiny
from government authorities, including bank regulatory authorities,
stemming from broader systemic regulatory concerns, including
with respect to stress testing, capital levels, asset quality,
provisioning, AML/BSA, consumer compliance and other
prudential matters and efforts to ensure that financial institutions
take steps to improve their risk management and prevent future
crises. In this regard, government authorities, including the bank
regulatory agencies, are also pursuing aggressive enforcement
actions with respect to compliance and other legal matters involving
financial activities, which heightens the risks associated with actual
and perceived compliance failures and may also adversely affect
Fifth Third’s ability to enter into certain transactions or engage in
certain activities, or obtain necessary regulatory approvals in
connection therewith.

In some cases, regulatory agencies may take supervisory actions
that may not be publicly disclosed, which restrict or limit a financial
institution. Finally, as part of Fifth Third’s regular examination
process, Fifth Third’s and its banking subsidiary’s respective
regulators may advise it and its banking subsidiary to operate under
vatious restrictions as a prudential matter. Such supervisory actions
or restrictions, if and in whatever manner imposed, could negatively
affect Fifth Third’s ability to engage in new activities and certain
transactions, as well as have a material adverse effect on Fifth
Third’s business and results of operations and may not be publicly
disclosed.
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Fifth Third and/or its affiliates are or may become involved
from time to time In iInformation-gathering requests,
Investigations and proceedings by various governmental
regulatory agencies and law enforcement authorities, as well
as self-regulatory agencies which may lead to adverse
consequences.

Fifth Third and/or its affiliates are or may become involved from
time to time in information-gathering requests, treviews,
investigations and proceedings (both formal and informal) by
governmental regulatory agencies and law enforcement authorities,
as well as self-regulatory agencies, regarding their respective
businesses. Such matters may result in material adverse
consequences, including without limitation, adverse judgments,
settlements, fines, penalties, injunctions or other actions,
amendments and/or restatements of Fifth Third’s SEC filings
and/or financial statements, as applicable, and/or determinations of
material weaknesses in its disclosure controls and procedures.

Deposit insurance premiums levied against Fifth Third Bank
may increase if the number of bank failures increase or the
cost of resolving failed banks increases.

The FDIC maintains a DIF to protect insured depositors in the
event of bank failures. The DIF is funded by fees assessed on
insured depository institutions including Fifth Third Bank. Under a
rule adopted by the FDIC in 2011, regular assessment rates for all
banks will decline when the reserve ratio reaches 1.15%, which the
FDIC expects will occur in early 2016. In October 2015, the FDIC
issued a proposed rule which would impose on banks with at least
$10 billion in assets, such as Fifth Third, a surcharge of 4.5 cents per
$100 of their assessment base, after making certain adjustments. The
Bancorp estimates the impact of these changes will increase Fifth
Third’s FDIC premiums by approximately $25 million per year.
Future deposit premiums paid by Fifth Third Bank depend on
FDIC rules, which are subject to change, the level of the DIF and
the magnitude and cost of future bank failures. Fifth Third Bank
may be required to pay significantly higher FDIC premiums if
market developments change such that the DIF balance is reduced
or the FDIC changes its rules to require higher premiums.

Fifth Third is subject to extensive governmental regulation
which could adversely impact Fifth Third or the businesses in
which Fifth Third is engaged.

Fifth Third is subject to extensive state and federal regulation,
supervision and legislation that govern almost all aspects of its
operations and limit the businesses in which Fifth Third may
engage. These laws and regulations may change from time to time
and are primarily intended for the protection of consumers and
depositors. The impact of any changes to laws and regulations or
other actions by regulatory agencies may negatively impact Fifth
Third or its ability to increase the value of its business. Additionally,
actions by regulatory agencies or significant litigation against Fifth
Third could cause it to devote significant time and tesources to
defending itself and may lead to penalties that materially affect Fifth
Third and its sharecholders. Future changes in the laws, including tax
laws, or regulations or their interpretations or enforcement may also
be materially adverse to Fifth Third and its shareholders or may
require Fifth Third to expend significant time and resources to
comply with such requirements.

The DFA, enacted in 2010, is complex and broad in scope and
several of its provisions are still being implemented. The DFA
established the CFPB which has authority to regulate consumer
financial products and services sold by banks and non-bank
companies and to supervise banks with assets of more than $10
billion and their affiliates for compliance with Federal consumer

protection laws. Since its formation, the CFPB has finalized a
number of significant rules that could have a significant impact on
Fifth Third’s business and the financial services industry more
generally including integrated mortgage disclosures under the Truth
in Lending Act and the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act.
Compliance with the rules and policies adopted by the CFPB may
limit the products Fifth Third may permissibly offer to customers,
or limit the terms on which those products may be issued, or may
adversely affect Fifth Third’s ability to conduct its business as
previously conducted. Fifth Third may also be required to add
additional compliance personnel or incur other significant
compliance-related expenses. Fifth Third’s business, results of
operations or competitive position may be adversely affected as a
result.

The reforms, both under the DFA and otherwise, are having a
significant effect on the entire financial industry. Fifth Third
believes compliance with the DFA and implementing its regulations
and other initiatives will likely continue to negatively impact revenue
and increase the cost of doing business, both in terms of transition
expenses and on an ongoing basis, and may also limit Fifth Third’s
ability to pursue certain desirable business opportunities. Any new
regulatory requirements or changes to existing requirements could
require changes to Fifth Third’s businesses, result in increased
compliance costs and affect the profitability of such businesses.
Additionally, reform could affect the behaviors of third parties that
Fifth Third deals with in the course of business, such as rating
agencies, insurance companies and investors. The extent to which
Fifth Third can adjust its strategies to offset such adverse impacts
also is not known at this time.

Conforming Covered Activities to the Volcker Rule may
require the expenditure of resources and management
attention.

The DFA “Volcker Rule” provisions implementing the final rule
generally restrict banks and their affiliated entities from investing in
or sponsoring certain private equity and hedge funds. Fifth Third
does not sponsor any private equity or hedge funds that it is
prohibited from sponsoring. As of December 31, 2015, the
Bancorp had approximately $186 million in interests and
approximately $37 million in binding commitments to invest in
private equity funds likely to be affected by the Volcker Rule. It is
expected that the Bancorp may need to dispose of these
investments although it is likely that these investments will be
reduced over time in the ordinary course before compliance is
requited. In December 2014, the FRB extended the conformance
period through July 2016 for investments in and relationships with
such covered funds that were in place prior to December 31, 2013,
and announced its intention to grant a one year extension of the
conformance period until July 21, 2017. An ultimate forced sale of
some of these investments could result in Fifth Third receiving less
value than it would otherwise have received.

If an orderly liquidation of a systemically important bank
holding company or non-bank financial company were
triggered, Fifth Third could face assessments for the Orderly
Liquidation Fund.

The DFA creates authority for the orderly liquidation of
systemically important bank holding companies and non-bank
financial companies and is based on the FDIC’s bank resolution
model. The Sectetary of the U.S. Treasury may trigger a liquidation
under this authority only after consultation with the President of the
United States and after receiving a recommendation from the
boards of the FDIC and the Federal Reserve upon a two-thirds
vote. Liquidation proceedings will be funded by the Orderly
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Liquidation Fund established under the DFA, which will borrow
from the U.S. Treasury and impose risk-based assessments on
covered financial companies. Risk-based assessments would be
made, first, on entities that received mote in the resolution than they
would have received in the liquidation to the extent of such excess,
and second, if necessary, on, among others, bank holding companies
with total consolidated assets of $50 billion or more, such as Fifth
Third. Any such assessments may adversely affect Fifth Third’s
business, financial condition or results of operations.

Regulation of Fifth Third by the CFTC imposes additional
operational and compliance costs.

Title VII of DFA imposes a new regulatory regime on the U.S.
derivatives markets. While most of the provisions related to
derivatives markets are now in effect, several additional
requirements await final regulations from the relevant regulatory
agencies for derivatives, the CFTC and the SEC. One aspect of this
new regulatory regime for derivatives is that substantial oversight
responsibility has been provided to the CFTC, which, as a result,
now has a meaningful supervisory role with respect to some of Fifth
Third’s businesses. In 2014, Fifth Third Bank registered as a swap
dealer with the CFTC and became subject to new substantive
requirements, including real time trade reporting and robust record
keeping requirements, business conduct requirements (including
daily valuations, disclosure of material risks associated with swaps
and disclosure of material incentives and conflicts of interest), and
mandatory clearing and exchange trading of all standardized swaps
designated by the relevant regulatory agencies as required to be
cleared. Although the ultimate impact will depend on the
promulgation of all final regulations, Fifth Thirds derivatives
business will likely be further subject to new substantive
requirements, including margin requirements in excess of current
market practice and capital requirements specific to this business.
These requirements will collectively impose implementation and
ongoing compliance burdens on Fifth Third and will introduce
additional legal risk (including as a result of newly applicable
antifraud and anti-manipulation provisions and private rights of
action). Once finalized, the rules may raise the costs and liquidity
burden associated with Fifth Third’s detrivatives businesses and
adversely affect or cause Fifth Third to change its derivatives
products.

Fifth Third and/or its affiliates are or may become the subject
of litigation which could result in legal liability and damage to
Fifth Third’s reputation.

Fifth Third and certain of its directors and officers have been
named from time to time as defendants in various class actions and
other litigation relating to Fifth Third’s business and activities. Past,
present and future litigation have included or could include claims
for substantial compensatory and/or punitive damages or claims for
indeterminate amounts of damages. The SEC may seck admissions
of liability when settling cases, which could adversely impact the
defense of private litigation. These matters could result in material
adverse judgments, settlements, fines, penalties, injunctions or other
relief, amendments and/or restatements of Fifth Third’s SEC filings
and/or financial statements, as applicable and/or determinations of
material weaknesses in its disclosure controls and procedures. Like
other large financial institutions and companies, Fifth Third is also
subject to risk from potential employee misconduct, including non-
compliance with policies and improper use or disclosure of
confidential information. Substantial legal liability or significant
regulatory action against Fifth Third could materially adversely
affect its business, financial condition or results of operations
and/or cause significant reputational harm to its business.
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Fifth Third’s ability to pay or increase dividends on its
common stock or to repurchase its capital stock is restricted.
Fifth Third’s ability to pay dividends or repurchase stock is subject
to regulatory requirements and the need to meet regulatory
expectations. Fifth Third is subject to an annual assessment by the
FRB as part of CCAR. The mandatory elements of the capital plan
are an assessment of the expected use and sources of capital over
the planning horizon, a description of all planned capital actions
over the planning hotizon, a discussion of any expected changes to
the Bancorp’s business plan that are likely to have a material impact
on its capital adequacy or liquidity, a detailed description of the
Bancorp’s process for assessing capital adequacy and the Bancorp’s
capital policy. Fifth Third’s stress testing results and 2016 capital
plan will be submitted to the FRB by April 5, 2016.

The FRB’s review of the capital plan will assess the
comprehensiveness of the capital plan, the reasonableness of the
assumptions and the analysis underlying the capital plan.
Additionally, the FRB will review the robustness of the capital
adequacy process, the capital policy and the Bancorp’s ability to
maintain capital above the minimum regulatory capital ratios and
above a CET1 ratio of 5% under baseline and stressful conditions
throughout a nine-quarter planning horizon.



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

STATEMENTS OF INCOME ANALYSIS

Net Interest Income

Net interest income is the interest earned on loans and leases
(including yield-related fees), securities and other short-term
investments less the interest paid for core deposits (includes
transaction deposits and other time deposits) and wholesale funding
(includes certificates $100,000 and over, other deposits, federal
funds purchased, other short-term borrowings and long-term debt).
The net interest margin is calculated by dividing net interest income
by average interest-earning assets. Net interest rate spread is the
difference between the average yield earned on interest-earning
assets and the average rate paid on interest-beating liabilities. Net
interest margin is typically greater than net interest rate spread due
to the interest income earned on those assets that are funded by
noninterest-bearing liabilities, or free funding, such as demand
deposits or shareholders’ equity.

Table 9 presents the components of net interest income, net
interest margin and net interest rate spread for the years ended
December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013. Nonaccrual loans and leases
and loans held for sale have been included in the average loan and
lease balances. Average outstanding securities balances are based on
amortized cost with any unrealized gains or losses on available-for-
sale securities included in other assets. Table 10 provides the relative
impact of changes in the balance sheet and changes in interest rates
on net interest income.

Net interest income on an FTE basis was $3.6 billion for both
the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. Net interest income
was negatively impacted by a decrease in the net interest rate spread,
changes made to the Bancorp’s deposit advance product beginning
January 1, 2015 and an increase in average long-term debt of $1.7
billion for the year ended December 31, 2015 compated to the year
ended December 31, 2014. These negative impacts were partially
offset by increases in average taxable securities and average loans
and leases of $5.2 billion and $2.2 billion, respectively, for the year
ended December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December
31, 2014. The net interest rate spread decreased to 2.69% during the
year ended December 31, 2015 from 2.94% in 2014 driven by a 21
bps decrease in yields on average interest-earning assets coupled
with a 3 bps increase in the rates paid on average interest-bearing
liabilities.

Net interest margin on an FTE basis was 2.88% for the year
ended December 31, 2015 compared to 3.10% for the year ended
December 31, 2014. The decrease from December 31, 2014 was
driven primarily by the previously mentioned decrease in the net
interest rate spread coupled with a $7.6 billion increase in average
interest-earning assets partially offset by an increase in average free
funding balances. The increase in average free funding balances was
driven by increases in average demand deposits and average
shareholders’ equity of $3.4 billion and $572 million, respectively,
for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2014.

Interest income on an FTE basis from loans and leases
decreased $147 million compared to the year ended December 31,
2014 primarily due to a decrease of 24 bps in yields on average loans
and leases partially offset by an increase of 2% in average loans and
leases. The decrease in yields for the year ended December 31, 2015
was primatily due to a $93 million decline in interest income on
other consumer loans and leases primarily due to changes made to
the Bancorp’s deposit advance product beginning January 1, 2015.
The decrease also included decreases in yields on average
commercial and industrial loans, average residential mortgage loans
and average automobile loans of 14 bps, 19 bps and 11 bps,
respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to the
year ended December 31, 2014. The increase in average loans and

leases for the year ended December 31, 2015 was driven primarily
by increases in average commercial loans and leases and average
residential mortgage loans. For more information on the Bancorp’s
loan and lease portfolio, refer to the Loans and Leases subsection of
the Balance Sheet Analysis section of MD&A. Intetest income from
investment securities and other short-term investments increased
$145 million compared to the year ended December 31, 2014
primarily as a result of the aforementioned increase in average
taxable securities.

Interest expense on core deposits decreased $15 million for the
year ended December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2014 as a decline in the cost of average interest-
bearing core deposits more than offset an increase in average
interest-bearing core deposits. The cost of average interest-bearing
cote deposits decreased to 24 bps for the year ended December 31,
2015 from 27 bps for the year ended December 31, 2014. Average
interest-bearing core deposits increased $2.4 billion for the year
ended December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December
31, 2014. The increase was primarily due to increases in average
money market deposits. Refer to the Deposits subsection of the
Balance Sheet Analysis section of MD&A for additional information
on the Bancorp’s deposits.

Interest expense on average wholesale funding increased $59
million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to the year
ended December 31, 2014 primarily due to a $1.7 billion increase in
average long-term debt coupled with a 18 bps increase in the rates
paid on average long-term debt. Refer to the Borrowings subsection
of the Balance Sheet Analysis section of MD&A for additional
information on the Bancorp’s borrowings. During both the years
ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, average wholesale funding
represented 24% of average interest-bearing liabilities. For more
information on the Bancorp’s interest rate risk management,
including estimated earnings sensitivity to changes in market interest
rates, see the Market Risk Management subsection of the Risk
Management section of MD&A.
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TABLE 9: CONSOLIDATED AVERAGE BALANCE SHEET AND ANALYSIS OF NET INTEREST INCOME

For the years ended December 31 2015 2014 2013
Average Average Average
Average  Revenue/ Yield/ Average Revenue/ Yield/ Average  Revenue/ Yield/
($ in millions) Balance Cost Rate Balance Cost Rate Balance Cost Rate
Assets
Interest-earning assets:
Loans and leases:@
Commercial and industrial loans $ 42594 $ 1,334 313% § 41,178 § 1,346 327% $ 37,770  $§ 1,361 3.60 %
Commercial mortgage loans 7,121 227 3.19 7,745 260 3.36 8,481 306 3.60
Commercial construction loans 2,717 86 3.17 1,492 51 3.44 793 27 3.45
Commercial leases 3,796 106 2.78 3,585 108 3.01 3,565 116 3.26
Total commercial loans and leases 56,228 1,753 3.12 54,000 1,765 3.27 50,609 1,810 3.58
Residential mortgage loans 13,798 509 3.69 13,344 518 3.88 14,428 564 391
Home equity 8,592 312 3.63 9,059 336 371 9,554 355 3.71
Automobile loans 11,847 315 2.66 12,068 334 2.77 12,021 373 3.10
Credit card 2,303 237 10.27 2,271 227 9.98 2,121 209 9.87
Other consumer loans and leases 571 45 8.00 385 138 35.99 360 155 42.93
Total consumer loans and leases 37,111 1,418 3.82 37,127 1,553 4.18 38,484 1,656 4.30
Total loans and leases 93,339 3,171 3.40 91,127 3,318 3.64 89,093 3,466 3.89
Securities:
Taxable 26,932 867 3.22 21,770 722 3.32 16,395 518 3.16
Exempt from income taxes® 55 3 5.23 53 3 4.94 49 3 5.29
Other short-term investments 3,258 8 0.25 3,043 8 0.26 2,417 6 0.26
Total interest-earning assets 123,584 4,049 3.28 115,993 4,051 3.49 107,954 3,993 3.70
Cash and due from banks 2,608 2,892 2,482
Other assets 15,212 14,539 15,053
Allowance for loan and lease losses (1,293) (1,481) (1,757)
Total assets $ 140,111 $ 131,943 $ 123,732
Liabilities and Equity
Interest-bearing liabilities:
Interest checking deposits $ 26,160 % 50 019% §$ 25382  § 56 0.22% $ 23582 § 53 0.23 %
Savings deposits 14,951 9 0.06 16,080 16 0.10 18,440 22 0.12
Money market deposits 18,152 44 0.24 14,670 51 0.35 9,467 23 0.25
Foreign office deposits 817 1 0.16 1,828 5 0.29 1,501 4 0.28
Other time deposits 4,051 49 1.20 3,762 40 1.06 3,760 50 1.33
Total interest-bearing core deposits 64,131 153 0.24 61,722 168 0.27 56,750 152 0.27
Certificates $100,000 and over 2,869 33 1.16 3,929 34 0.85 6,339 50 0.78
Other deposits 57 - 0.16 - - 0.02 17 - 0.11
Federal funds purchased 920 1 0.13 458 - 0.09 503 1 0.12
Other short-term borrowings 1,721 2 0.12 1,873 2 0.10 3,024 5 0.18
Long-term debt 14,677 306 2.09 12,928 247 1.91 7,914 204 2.58
Total interest-bearing liabilities 84,375 495 0.59 80,910 451 0.56 74,547 412 0.55
Demand deposits 35,164 31,755 29,925
Other liabilities 4,672 3,950 4,917
Total liabilities 124,211 116,615 109,389
Total equity 15,900 15,328 14,343
Total liabilities and equity $ 140,111 $ 131,943 $ 123,732
Net interest income (FTE) $ 3,554 $ 3,600 $ 3,581
Net interest margin (FTE) 2.88 % 3.10 % 3.32%
Net interest rate spread (FTE) 2.69 2.94 3.15
Interest-bearing liabilities to interest-earning assets 68.27 69.75 69.05

(a)  The FTE adjustments included in the above table were 821 for both the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 and §20 for the year ended December 31, 2013.
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TABLE 10: CHANGES IN NET INTEREST INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO VOLUME AND YIELD/RATE®

For the years ended December 31

2015 Compared to 2014 2014 Compared to 2013

($ in millions) Volume  Yield/Rate Total Volume Yield/Rate  Total
Assets

Interest-earning assets:

Loans and leases:

Commercial and industrial loans $ 45 (57) (12) 116 (131) 15)

Commercial mortgage loans (21) 12) 33) (26) (20) (46)

Commercial construction loans 39 “) 35 24 - 24

Commercial leases 6 8) 2) 1 9 8)
Total commercial loans and leases 69 (81) (12) 115 (160) (45)

Residential mortgage loans 17 (26) (&) (42) 4 (46)

Home equity a7 7) (24) 18) 1) 19)

Automobile loans 5) 14) 19) 1 (40) (39)

Credit card 3 7 10 16 2 18

Other consumer loans and leases 47 (140) (93) 9 (26) (17)
Total consumer loans and leases 45 (180) (135) (34) (69) (103)
Total loans and leases 114 (261) (147) 81 (229) (148)
Securities:

Taxable 167 (22) 145 177 27 204
Other short-term investments - - - 2 - 2
Total change in interest income $ 281 (283) (2) 260 (202) 58
Liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities:

Interest checking deposits $ 2 ®) ©) 3 - 3

Savings deposits ()] (6) ™) @) “) (6)

Money market deposits 10 a7) ™) 16 12 28

Foreign office deposits 2) 2) @) 1 - 1

Other time deposits 3 6 9 - (10) (10)
Total interest-bearing core deposits 12 27) (15) 18 2) 16

Certificates $100,000 and over (11) 10 (0)) (20) 4 (16)

Federal funds purchased 1 - 1 @) - )

Other short-term borrowings - - - ™ @) 3)

Long-term debt 35 24 59 106 (63) 43
Total change in interest expense 37 7 44 102 (63) 39
Total change in net interest income $ 244 (290) (46) 158 (139) 19

(a)  Changes in interest not solely due to volume or yield/ rate are allocated in proportion to the absolute dollar amonnt of change in volune and yield/ rate.

Provision for Loan and Lease Losses

The Bancorp provides as an expense an amount for probable losses
within the loan and lease portfolio that is based on factors
previously discussed in the Critical Accounting Policies section of
MD&A. The provision is recorded to bring the ALLL to a level
deemed appropriate by the Bancorp to cover losses inherent in the
portfolio. Actual credit losses on loans and leases are charged
against the ALLL. The amount of loans actually removed from the
Consolidated Balance Sheets is referred to as charge-offs. Net
charge-offs include current period charge-offs less recoveties on
previously charged-off loans and leases.

The provision for loan and lease losses was $396 million for
the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to $315 million for
the same period in the prior year. The increase in provision expense
for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to the prior year

was primarily due to the restructuring of a student loan backed
commercial credit originated in 2007, a broadening global economic
slowdown, stress on capital markets and the prolonged softness in
commodity prices. The ALLL declined $50 million from December
31, 2014 to $1.3 billion at December 31, 2015. At December 31,
2015, the ALLL as a percent of portfolio loans and leases decreased
to 1.37%, compared to 1.47% at December 31, 2014.

Refer to the Credit Risk Management subsection of the Risk
Management section of MD&A as well as Note 6 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for more detailed information on
the provision for loan and lease losses, including an analysis of loan
portfolio composition, nonperforming assets, net charge-offs and
other factors considered by the Bancorp in assessing the credit
quality of the loan and lease portfolio and the ALLL.
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Noninterest Income

Noninterest income increased $530 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December 31, 2014. The following

table presents the components of noninterest income:

TABLE 11: COMPONENTS OF NONINTEREST INCOME

For the years ended December 31 (§ in millions) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Service charges on deposits $ 563 560 549 522 520
Investment advisory revenue 418 407 393 374 375
Corporate banking revenue 384 430 400 413 350
Mortgage banking net revenue 348 310 700 845 597
Card and processing revenue 302 295 272 253 308
Other noninterest income 979 450 879 574 250
Securities gains, net 9 21 21 15 46
Securities gains, net - non-qualifying hedges on mortgage service rights - - 13 3 9
Total noninterest income $ 3,003 2,473 3,227 2,999 2,455

Service charges on deposits

Setvice chatges on deposits increased $3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December 31, 2014
due primarily to a $3 million increase in commercial deposit fees.
The increase in commercial deposit fees was driven by an increase
in activity from existing customers and new customer acquisition.

Investment advisory revenne

Investment advisory revenue increased $11 million for the year
ended December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December
31, 2014. The increase was primarily due to an increase of $6 million
in recurring securities brokerage fees driven by higher sales volume
and an increase of $5 million in private client service fees due to an
increase in personal asset management fees. The Bancorp had
approximately $297 billion and $308 billion in total assets under care
as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and managed $26
billion and $27 billion in assets for individuals, corporations and

Mortgage banking net revenue

not-for-profit organizations as of December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively.

Conporate banking revenne

Corporate banking revenue decreased $46 million for the year ended
December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December 31,
2014. The decrease from the prior year was primarily the result of a
decrease in syndication and lease remarketing fees. Syndication fees
decreased $29 million compared to the year ended December 31,
2014 as a result of decreased activity in the market and the
Bancorp’s reduced leveraged loan appetite. The decrease in lease
remarketing fees included the impact of impairment charges of $36
million related to certain operating lease equipment that was
recognized during the year ended December 31, 2015. The
decreases for the year ended December 31, 2015 were partially
offset by higher institutional sales revenue and gains on the sale of
operating lease equipment.

Mortgage banking net revenue increased $38 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December 31, 2014. The

following table presents the components of mortgage banking net revenue:

TABLE 12: COMPONENTS OF MORTGAGE BANKING NET REVENUE

For the years ended December 31 ($ in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Origination fees and gains on loan sales $ 171 153 453
Net mortgage servicing revenue:

Gross mortgage servicing fees 222 246 251

MSR amortization (139) (119) (166)

Net valuation adjustments on MSRs and free-standing derivatives

entered into to economically hedge MSRs 94 30 162

Net mortgage servicing revenue 177 157 247
Mortgage banking net revenue $ 348 310 700

Origination fees and gains on loan sales increased $18 million for
the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2014 primarily as the result of an 11% increase in
residential mortgage loan originations. Residential mortgage loan
originations increased to $8.3 billion for the year ended December
31, 2015 from $7.5 billion for the year ended December 31, 2014
due to strong refinancing activity that occurred during the year
ended December 31, 2015.

Net mortgage servicing revenue is comprised of gross
mortgage servicing fees and related MSR amortization as well as
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valuation adjustments on MSRs and mark-to-matket adjustments on
both settled and outstanding free-standing derivative financial
instruments used to economically hedge the MSR portfolio. Net
mortgage servicing revenue increased $20 million for the year ended
December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December 31, 2014
driven primarily by an increase of $64 million in net valuation
adjustments, partially offset by a decrease in gross mortgage
servicing fees of $24 million and an increase in mortgage servicing
rights amortization of $20 million.
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The following table presents the components of net valuation adjustments on the MSR portfolio and the impact of the non-qualifying hedging

strategy for the years ended December 31:

TABLE 13: COMPONENTS OF NET VALUATION ADJUSTMENTS ON MSRs

($ in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Changes in fair value and settlement of free-standing derivatives purchased

to economically hedge the MSR portfolio $ 90 95 (30)
Recovery of (provision for) MSR impairment 4 (65) 192
Net valuation adjustments on MSRs and free-standing derivatives

entered into to economically hedge MSRs $ 94 30 162

Mortgage rates increased during the year ended December 31, 2015
which caused the modeled prepayment speeds to slow, and led to
the recovery of temporary impairment on servicing rights during the
yeatr. Mortgage rates decteased during the year ended December 31,
2014 which caused the modeled prepayments speeds to increase,
which led to temporary impairment on servicing rights during the
year ended December 31, 2014.

Servicing rights are deemed impaired when a borrowet’s loan
rate is distinctly higher than prevailing rates. Impairment on
servicing rights is reversed when the prevailing rates return to a level
commensurate with the borrower’s loan rate. Further detail on the
valuation of MSRs can be found in Note 12 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements. The Bancorp maintains a non-
qualifying hedging strategy to manage a portion of the risk
associated with changes in the valuation on the MSR portfolio.
Refer to Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for more information on the free-standing derivatives used to
economically hedge the MSR portfolio.

In addition to the derivative positions used to economically
hedge the MSR portfolio, the Bancorp may acquire various

Other noninterest income

securities as a component of its non-qualifying hedging strategy.
The Bancorp did not sell securities related to the non-qualifying
hedging strategy during the years ended December 31, 2015 and
2014. Net gains on the sale of these securities were $13 million
during the year ended December 31, 2013, recorded in securities
gains, net - non-qualifying hedges on mortgage servicing rights in
the Consolidated Statements of Income.

The Bancorp’s total residential mortgage loans serviced as of
December 31, 2015 and 2014 were $73.4 billion and $79.0 billion,
respectively, with $59.0 billion and $65.4 billion, respectively, of
residential mortgage loans serviced for others.

Card and processing revenue

Card and processing revenue increased $7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December 31,
2014. The increase was primarily the result of an increase in the
number of actively used cards and an increase in customer spend
volume. Debit card interchange revenue, included in card and
processing revenue, was $137 million and $128 million for the yeats
ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

The following table presents the major components of other noninterest income:

TABLE 14: COMPONENTS OF OTHER NONINTEREST INCOME

For the years ended December 31 ($ in millions) 2015 2014 2013

Gain on sale of Vantiv, Inc. shatres $ 331 125 327
Valuation adjustments on the warrant associated with Vantiv Holding, LLC 236 31 206
Gain on sale and exercise of the warrant associated with Vantiv Holding, LL.C 89 - -
Operating lease income 89 84 75
Income from the TRA associated with Vantiv, Inc. 80 23 9
Equity method income from interest in Vantiv Holding, LLC 63 48 77
BOLI income 48 44 52
Cardholder fees 43 45 47
Gain on loan sales 38 - 3
Private equity investment income 28 27 24
Consumer loan and lease fees 23 25 27
Banking center income 21 30 34
Insurance income 14 13 25
Net losses on disposition and impairment of bank premises and equipment (101) (19) (6)
Loss on swap associated with the sale of Visa, Inc. Class B shares 37 (38) (31)
Other, net 14 12 10
Total other noninterest income $ 979 450 879

Other noninterest income increased $529 million for the year ended
December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December 31,
2014. The increase included the impact of a gain of $331 million on
the sale of Vantiv, Inc. shares in the fourth quarter of 2015
compared to a gain of $125 million in 2014. The positive valuation
adjustments on the stock warrant associated with Vantiv Holding,
LLC were $236 million and $31 million for the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The fair value of the
stock warrant is calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing

model, which utilizes several key inputs (Vantiv, Inc. stock price,
strike price of the warrant and several unobservable inputs). The
positive valuation adjustments for the years ended December 31,
2015 and 2014 were primarily due to increases of 40% and 4%,
respectively, in Vantiv, Inc.’s share price from December 31, 2014
to December 31, 2015 and from December 31, 2013 to December
31, 2014, respectively. During the fourth quarter of 2015, the
Bancorp recognized a gain of $89 million on both the sale and
exercise of a portion of the warrant associated with Vantiv Holding,
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LLC. Additionally, the Bancorp recognized a gain of $49 million
from the payment from Vantiv, Inc. to terminate a portion of the
TRA and also recognized a gain of $31 million associated with the
annual TRA payment during the fourth quarter of 2015. The
Bancorp recognized a gain of $23 million associated with the TRA
during the fourth quarter of 2014.

In addition to the increases discussed above, gain on loan sales
increased $38 million during the year ended December 31, 2015
compared to the same petiod in the prior year primarily due to a $37
million gain on the sale of certain residential mortgage loans
classified as TDRs during the first quarter of 2015. Equity method

Noninterest Expense

earnings from the Bancorp’s interest in Vantiv Holding, LLC
increased $15 million from the year ended December 31, 2014 as
2014 included charges taken by Vantiv Holding, LLC related to an
acquisition during 2014.

The year ended December 31, 2015 also included impairment
charges, included in net losses on disposition and impairment of
bank premises and equipment in other noninterest income of $109
million compared to $20 million for the same period in the prior
year. For more information on these impairment charges, refer to
Note 7 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Noninterest expense increased $66 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December 31, 2014, primarily due
to increases in personnel costs (salaries, wages and incentives plus employee benefits), technology and communications and card and processing
expense partially offset by a dectrease in other noninterest expense. The following table presents the major components of noninterest expense:

TABLE 15: COMPONENTS OF NONINTEREST EXPENSE

For the years ended December 31 ($ in millions) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Salaries, wages and incentives $ 1,525 1,449 1,581 1,607 1,478
Employee benefits 323 334 357 371 330
Net occupancy expense 321 313 307 302 305
Technology and communications 224 212 204 196 188
Card and processing expense 153 141 134 121 120
Equipment expense 124 121 114 110 113
Other noninterest expense 1,105 1,139 1,264 1,374 1,224
Total noninterest expense $ 3,775 3,709 3,961 4,081 3,758
Efficiency ratio 57.6 % 61.1 58.2 61.7 62.3

Personnel costs increased $65 million for the year ended December
31, 2015 compared to the year ended December 31, 2014 driven by
higher executive retirement and severance costs as well as an
increase in base compensation and an increase in incentive
compensation, primarily in the mortgage business. Full-time
equivalent employees totaled 18,261 at December 31, 2015
compared to 18,351 at December 31, 2014.

Technology and communications expense increased $12
million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to the year

ended December 31, 2014 driven primarily by increased investment
in information technology associated with regulatory and
compliance initiatives, system maintenance and other growth
initiatives.

Card and processing expense increased $12 million for the year
ended December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December
31, 2014 driven primarily by increased fraud prevention related
expenses.

The following table presents the major components of other noninterest expense:

TABLE 16: COMPONENTS OF OTHER NONINTEREST EXPENSE

For the years ended December 31 (§ in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Impairment on affordable housing investments $ 145 135 108
Loan and lease 118 119 158
Marketing 110 98 114
FDIC insurance and other taxes 99 89 127
Operating lease 74 67 57
Professional service fees 70 72 76
Losses and adjustments 55 188 221
Travel 54 52 54
Postal and courier 45 47 48
Data processing 45 41 42
Recruitment and education 33 28 26
Donations 29 18 24
Insurance 17 16 17
Supplies 16 15 16
Provision for (benefit from) the reserve for unfunded commitments 4 27) 17
Other, net 191 181 193
Total other noninterest expense $ 1,105 1,139 1,264
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Other noninterest expense decreased $34 million for the year ended
December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December 31, 2014
primarily due to a decrease in losses and adjustments partially offset
by increases in the provision for the reserve for unfunded
commitments, marketing expense, donations expense, impairment
on affordable housing investments, FDIC insurance and other taxes
and operating lease expense.

Losses and adjustments decreased $133 million for the year
ended December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December
31, 2014 primarily due to a decrease in legal settlements and reserve
expense. The provision for the reserve for unfunded commitments
increased $31 million for the year ended December 31, 2015
compared to the year ended December 31, 2014 primarily due to an
increase in unfunded commitments for which the Bancorp holds
reserves. Marketing expense increased $12 million for the year
ended December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December
31, 2014. Donations expense increased $11 million for the year
ended December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December
31, 2014 driven by contributions of $14 million to the Fifth Third

Applicable Income Taxes

Applicable income tax expense for all periods includes the benefit
from tax-exempt income, tax-advantaged investments, and certain
gains on sales of leveraged leases that are exempt from federal
taxation and tax credits, partially offset by the effect of certain
nondeductible expenses. The tax credits are associated with the
Low-Income Housing Tax Credit program established under
Section 42 of the IRC, the New Markets Tax Credit program
established under Section 45D of the IRC, the Rehabilitation
Investment Tax Credit program established under Section 47 of the
IRC and the Qualified Zone Academy Bond program established
under Section 1397E of the IRC.

The effective tax rates for the yeats ended December 31, 2015
and 2014 were primarily impacted by $178 million and $164 million,
respectively, in tax credits and $39 million and $27 million of tax
benefits from tax-exempt income in 2015 and 2014, respectively.
The increase in the effective tax rate for the year ended December
31, 2015 from the year ended December 31, 2014 was primarily
related to an increase in income before income taxes partially offset
by the increased amount of tax credits.

As required under U.S. GAAP, the Bancorp established a
deferred tax asset for stock-based awatrds granted to its employees

Foundation. Impairment on affordable housing investments
increased $10 million for the year ended December 31, 2015
compared to the year ended December 31, 2014 primarily due to
incremental losses resulting from previous growth in the portfolio.
FDIC insurance and other taxes increased $10 million for the year
ended December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December
31, 2014 primarily driven by an increase in the assessment rate due
to a change in asset mix as well as an increase in the assessment
base. Operating lease expense increased $7 for the year ended
December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December 31, 2014
due primarily to an increase in depreciation on operating lease
equipment.

The Bancorp continues to focus on efficiency initiatives as part
of its core emphasis on operating leverage and expense control. The
efficiency ratio (noninterest expense divided by the sum of net
interest income (FTE) and noninterest income) was 57.6% for the
year ended December 31, 2015 compared to 61.1% for the year
ended December 31, 2014.

and directors. When the actual tax deduction for these stock-based
awards is less than the expense previously recognized for financial
reporting or when the awards expire unexercised and where the
Bancorp has not accumulated an excess tax benefit for previously
exercised or released stock-based awatds, the Bancorp is required to
recognize a non-cash charge to income tax expense upon the write-
off of the deferred tax asset previously established for these stock-
based awards. As the Bancorp had an accumulated excess tax
benefit at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Bancorp was not
required to recognize a non-cash charge to income tax expense
during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.

Based on the Bancorp’s stock price at December 31, 2015 and
the Bancorp’s accumulation of an excess tax benefit through the
period ended December 31, 2015, the Bancorp does not believe it
will be required to recognize a non-cash charge to income tax
expense over the next twelve months related to stock-based awards.
However, the Bancorp cannot predict its stock price or whether its
employees will exercise other stock-based awards with lower
exercise prices in the future. Therefore, it is possible the Bancorp
may be requited to recognize a non-cash charge to income tax
expense in the future.

The following table presents the Bancorp’s income before income taxes, applicable income tax expense and effective tax rate:

TABLE 17: APPLICABLE INCOME TAXES

For the years ended December 31 ($ in millions) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Income before income taxes 2,365 2,028 2,598 2,210 1,831
Applicable income tax expense 659 545 772 636 533
Effective tax rate 27.8 % 26.9 29.7 28.8 29.1
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BUSINESS SEGMENT REVIEW

The Bancorp reports on four business segments: Commercial
Banking, Branch Banking, Consumer Lending and Investment
Advisors. Additional financial information on each business
segment is included in Note 30 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements. Results of the Bancorp’s business segments
are presented based on its management structure and management
accounting practices. The structure and accounting practices are
specific to the Bancorp; therefore, the financial results of the
Bancorp’s business segments are not necessarily comparable with
similar information for other financial institutions. The Bancorp
refines its methodologies from time to time as management’s
accounting practices or businesses change.

The Bancorp manages interest rate risk centrally at the
corporate level and employs an FTP methodology at the business
segment level. This methodology insulates the business segments
from interest rate volatility, enabling them to focus on serving
customers through loan and deposit products. The FTP system
assigns charge rates and credit rates to classes of assets and
liabilities, respectively, based on expected duration and the U.S.
swap curve. Matching duration allocates interest income and interest
expense to each segment so its resulting net interest income is
insulated from interest rate risk. In a rising rate environment, the
Bancorp benefits from the widening spread between deposit costs
and wholesale funding costs. However, the Bancorp’s FIP system
credits this benefit to deposit-providing businesses, such as Branch
Banking and Investment Advisors, on a duration-adjusted basis. The
net impact of the FTP methodology is captured in General
Corporate and Other.

The following table summatizes net income (loss) by business segment:

TABLE 18: NET INCOME (LOSS) BY BUSINESS SEGMENT

The Bancorp adjusts the FIP charge and credit rates as
dictated by changes in interest rates for various interest-earning
assets and interest-bearing liabilities and by review of the estimated
durations for the indeterminate-lived deposits. The credit rate
provided for demand deposit accounts is reviewed annually based
upon the account type, its estimated duration and the cotresponding
federal funds, U.S. swap curve or swap rate. The credit rates for
several deposit products were reset January 1, 2015 to reflect the
current market rates and updated duration assumptions. These rates
were generally lower than those in place during 2014, thus net
interest income for deposit-providing businesses was negatively
impacted during 2015.

The business segments are charged provision expense based on
the actual net charge-offs experienced on the loans and leases
owned by each business segment. Provision expense attributable to
loan and lease growth and changes in ALLL factors are captured in
General Corporate and Other. The financial results of the business
segments include allocations for shared services and headquarters
expenses. Additionally, the business segments form synergies by
taking advantage of cross-sell opportunities and when funding
operations by accessing the capital markets as a collective unit.

The results of operations and financial position for the years
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 were adjusted to reflect the
transfer of certain customers and Bancorp employees from
Commercial Banking to Branch Banking, effective January 1, 2015.
In addition, the balances for the years ended December 31, 2014
and 2013 were adjusted to reflect a change in internal allocation
methodology.

For the years ended December 31 ($ in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Income Statement Data

Commercial Banking $ 739 800 798
Branch Banking 3m 365 219
Consumer Lending 112 (60) 187
Investment Advisors 58 54 68
General Corporate & Other 486 330 554
Net income 1,706 1,483 1,826
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (6) 2 (10
Net income attributable to Bancorp 1,712 1,481 1,836
Dividends on preferred stock 75 67 37
Net income available to common shareholders $ 1,637 1,414 1,799
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Commercial Banking

Commercial Banking offers credit intermediation, cash management
and financial services to large and middle-market businesses and
government and professional customers. In addition to the
traditional lending and depository offerings, Commercial Banking

products and services include global cash management, foreign
exchange and international trade finance, derivatives and capital
matkets services, asset-based lending, real estate finance, public
finance, commercial leasing and syndicated finance.

The following table contains selected financial data for the Commercial Banking segment:

TABLE 19: COMMERCIAL BANKING

For the years ended December 31 ($ in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Income Statement Data
Net interest income (FTE)@ $ 1,646 1,648 1,589
Provision for loan and lease losses 239 235 195
Noninterest income:

Corporate banking revenue 378 429 391

Service charges on deposits 284 280 262

Other noninterest income 191 171 158
Noninterest expense:

Personnel costs 303 304 306

Other noninterest expense 1,099 1,013 924
Income before income taxes 858 976 975
Applicable income tax expense@®” 119 176 177
Net income $ 739 800 798
Average Balance Sheet Data
Commercial loans and leases, including held for sale $ 53,010 50,718 47,197
Demand deposits 20,677 18,381 16,582
Interest checking deposits 9,069 7,995 7,031
Savings and money market deposits 6,652 5,792 4,844
Other time deposits and certificates $100,000 and over 1,230 1,399 1,330
Foreign office deposits 813 1,817 1,483

(a)  Includes FTE adjustments of 821 for both the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 and §20 for the year ended December 31, 2013.
(b)  Applicable income tax expense for all periods includes the tax benefit from tax-exempt income and business tax credits, partially offset by the effect of certain nondeductible expenses. Refer to the

Applicable Income Taxes section of MD&>A for additional information.

Comparison of the year ended 2015 with 2014

Net income was $739 million for the year ended December 31, 2015
compared to net income of $800 million for the year ended
December 31, 2014. The decrease in net income was the tesult of an
increase in noninterest expense coupled with a decrease in
noninterest income.

Net interest income decreased $2 million from the year ended
December 31, 2014 primarily driven by a decline in yields of 19 bps
on average commercial loans and leases and increases in FTP
charges on loans and leases driven by an increase in average
balances. These decreases for the year ended December 31, 2015
were partially offset by increases in FTP credits on core deposits
driven by increases in average balances.

Provision for loan and lease losses increased $4 million from
the year ended December 31, 2014. The increase included a $102
million charge-off during the third quarter of 2015 associated with
the restructuring of a student loan backed commercial credit
originated in 2007. The year ended December 31, 2014 included net
charge-offs related to certain impaired commercial and industrial
loans in the first and third quarters of 2014. Net charge-offs as a
percent of average portfolio loans and leases decreased to 45 bps for
the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to 46 bps for the year
ended December 31, 2014.

Noninterest income decreased $27 million from the year ended
December 31, 2014 due primarily to a decrease in corporate banking
revenue partially offset by an increase in other noninterest income.
Corporate banking revenue decreased $51 million from the year
ended December 31, 2014 primarily driven by decreases in
syndication fees and lease remarketing fees. The decrease in
syndication fees was the result of decreased activity in the market
and the Bancorp’s reduced leveraged loan appetite. The decrease in

lease remarketing fees included the impact of impairment charges of
$36 million related to certain operating lease equipment that was
recognized during the year ended December 31, 2015. Refer to
Note 8 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information. The decrease in corporate banking revenue
for the year ended December 31, 2015 was partially offset by higher
institutional sales revenue. Other noninterest income increased $20
million from the year ended December 31, 2014 primarily driven by
increases in gains on loan sales.

Noninterest expense increased $85 million from the year ended
December 31, 2014 driven by an increase in other noninterest
expense. The increase in other noninterest expense was primarily
driven by increases in corporate overhead allocations, operating
lease expense and impairment on affordable housing investments.

Average commercial loans increased $2.3 billion from the year
ended December 31, 2014 primarily due to increases in average
commercial and industrial loans and average commercial
construction loans partially offset by a decrease in average
commercial mortgage loans. Average commercial and industrial
loans and average commercial construction loans increased $1.4
billion and $1.2 billion, respectively, from the year ended December
31, 2014 primarily as a result of an increase in new loan origination
activity resulting from an increase in demand and targeted marketing
efforts. Average commercial mortgage loans decreased $552 million
from the year ended December 31, 2014 primarily due to a decline
in new loan origination activity driven by increased competition and
an increase in paydowns.

Average core deposits increased $3.2 billion from the year
ended December 31, 2014. The increase was the result of growth in
average demand deposits, average interest checking deposits and
average savings and money market deposits which increased $2.3
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billion, $1.1 billion and $860 million, respectively, from the year
ended December 31, 2014. This increase was partially offset by a
decrease in average foreign deposits of $1.0 billion from the year
ended December 31, 2014.

Comparison of the year ended 2014 with 2013

Net income was $800 million for the year ended December 31, 2014
compared to net income of $798 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013. The increase in net income was the result of
increases in net interest income and noninterest income partially
offset by increases in noninterest expense and the provision for loan
and lease losses.

Net interest income increased $59 million from the year ended
December 31, 2013 primarily due to growth in average commercial
construction loans, an increase in FTP credits due to an increase in
demand deposits and a decrease in FTP charges, partially offset by a
decline in yields of 29 bps, on average commercial loans.

Provision for loan and lease losses increased $40 million from
the year ended December 31, 2013 due to an increase in net charge-
offs related to certain impaired commercial and industrial loans in
the first and third quarters of 2014. Net charge-offs as a percent of
average portfolio loans and leases increased to 46 bps for the year
ended December 31, 2014 compared to 41 bps for the year ended
December 31, 2013.

Noninterest income increased $69 million from the year ended
December 31, 2013 due to increases in corporate banking revenue,
service charges on deposits and other noninterest income.
Corporate banking revenue increased $38 million from the year
ended December 31, 2013 primarily driven by increases in
syndication fees and lease remarketing fees. Service charges on
deposits increased $18 million from the year ended December 31,
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2013 primarily driven by higher commercial deposit revenue which
increased due to the acquisition of new customers and product
expansion. Other noninterest income increased $13 million from
the year ended December 31, 2013 primatily due to increases in
operating lease income and card and processing tevenue.

Noninterest expense increased $87 million from the year ended
December 31, 2013 primarily as a result of an increase in other
noninterest expense. Other noninterest expense increased $89
million from the year ended December 31, 2013 driven by increases
in corporate overhead allocations, impairment on affordable
housing investments and operating lease expense.

Average commercial loans increased $3.5 billion from the year
ended December 31, 2013 primarily due to increases in average
commercial and industrial loans and average commercial
construction loans partially offset by a decrease in average
commercial mortgage loans. Average commercial and industrial
loans and average commercial construction loans increased $3.5
billion and $684 million, respectively, from the year ended
December 31, 2013 as a result of an increase in new loan origination
activity and utilization resulting from a strengthening economy and
targeted marketing efforts. Average commercial mortgage loans
decreased $671 million from the year ended December 31, 2013 due
to continued run-off as the level of new originations was less than
the repayments on the current portfolio.

Average core deposits increased $4.0 billion from the year
ended December 31, 2013. The increase was the result of growth in
average demand deposits, average interest checking deposits,
average savings and money market deposits and average foreign
deposits which increased $1.8 billion, $964 million, $948 million and
$334 million, respectively, from the year ended December 31, 2013.
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Branch Banking

Branch Banking provides a full range of deposit and loan products
to individuals and small businesses through 1,254 full-service
banking centers. Branch Banking offers depository and loan
products, such as checking and savings accounts, home equity loans

and lines of credit, credit cards and loans for automobiles and other
personal financing needs, as well as products designed to meet the
specific needs of small businesses, including cash management
services.

The following table contains selected financial data for the Branch Banking segment:

TABLE 20: BRANCH BANKING

For the years ended December 31 ($ in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Income Statement Data
Net interest income $ 1,555 1,573 1,380
Provision for loan and lease losses 159 181 211
Noninterest income:
Service charges on deposits 277 278 284
Card and processing revenue 236 227 208
Investment advisory revenue 157 152 147
Other noninterest income (18) 69 106
Noninterest expense:
Personnel costs 524 539 550
Net occupancy and equipment expense 248 246 241
Card and processing expense 145 133 125
Other noninterest expense 650 636 660
Income before income taxes 481 564 338
Applicable income tax expense 170 199 119
Net income $ 311 365 219
Average Balance Sheet Data
Consumer loans, including held for sale $ 14,374 14,978 15,223
Commercial loans, including held for sale 2,021 2,175 2,370
Demand deposits 12,715 11,781 11,284
Interest checking deposits 9,128 9,071 8,905
Savings and money market deposits 25,342 24,065 22,252
Other time deposits and certificates $100,000 and over 5,161 4,690 4,709

Comparison of the year ended 2015 with 2014

Net income was $311 million for the year ended December 31, 2015
compared to net income of $365 million for the year ended
December 31, 2014. The decrease was driven by decreases in
noninterest income and net interest income as well as an increase in
noninterest expense partially offset by a decrease in the provision
for loan and lease losses.

Net interest income decreased $18 million from the year ended
December 31, 2014 primarily driven by changes made to the
Bancorp’s deposit advance product beginning January 1, 2015 and a
decline in interest income on home equity loans and residential
mortgage loans driven by decreases in average balances partially
offset by a decrease in FTP charges due to the decrease in these
average balances. The decline in net interest income was partially
offset by a decrease in interest expense on core deposits due to a
decline in the rates paid and by increases in the benefits from FIP
credits for demand deposits, other time deposits and interest
checking deposits.

Provision for loan and lease losses decreased $22 million from
the year ended December 31, 2014 primarily due to improved credit
trends. Net charge-offs as a percent of average portfolio loans and
leases decreased to 96 bps for the year ended December 31, 2015
compared to 106 bps for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Noninterest income decreased $74 million from the year ended
December 31, 2014. The dectease was primarily driven by dectreases
in other noninterest income partially offset by increases in card and
processing revenue and investment advisory revenue. Other
noninterest income decreased $87 million from the year ended
December 31, 2014 primarily driven by impairment losses
associated with lower of cost or market adjustments on long-lived

assets of $109 million for the year ended December 31, 2015
compared to $20 million for the year ended December 31, 2014.
Refer to Note 7 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for additional information on impairment of bank premises and
equipment. Card and processing revenue increased $9 million from
the year ended December 31, 2014 primarily due to an increase in
the number of actively used cards and an increase in customer
spend volume. Investment advisory revenue increased $5 million
from the year ended December 31, 2014 primarily due to an
increase of $3 million in recurring securities brokerage fees driven
by higher sales volume and an increase of $2 million in private client
service fees due to an increase in personal asset management fees.

Noninterest expense increased $13 million from the year ended
December 31, 2014 primarily driven by increases in other
noninterest expense and card and processing expense partially offset
by a decrease in personnel costs. Other noninterest expense
increased $14 million from the year ended December 31, 2014 due
to higher operational losses and an increase in corporate overhead
allocations. Card and processing expense increased $12 million from
the year ended December 31, 2014 driven by increased fraud
prevention related expenses. Personnel costs decreased $15 million
from the year ended December 31, 2014 driven by a dectrease in
employee benefits expense due to changes in the Bancorp’s
employee benefit plan implemented in 2015 as well as a decrease in
base compensation due to a decline in the number of full-time
equivalent employees.

Average consumer loans decreased $604 million from the year
ended December 31, 2014 primarily due to a decrease in average
home equity loans and average residential mortgage loans of $336
million and $261 million, respectively, as payoffs exceeded new loan
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production. Average commercial loans decreased $154 million from
the year ended December 31, 2014 primarily due to a decrease in
average commercial mortgage loans and average commercial and
industrial loans of $97 million and $63 million, respectively, as
payoffs exceeded new loan production.

Average core deposits increased $2.6 billion from the year
ended December 31, 2014 primarily driven by net growth in average
savings and money market deposits of $1.3 billion and growth in
average demand deposits of $934 million. The net growth in average
savings and money market deposits was driven by a promotional
product offering and the growth in average demand deposits was
driven by an increase in average account balances.

Comparison of the year ended 2014 with 2013

Net income was $365 million for the year ended December 31, 2014
compared to net income of $219 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013. The increase was driven by an increase in net
interest income and decreases in the provision for loan and lease
losses and noninterest expense partially offset by a decrease in
noninterest income.

Net interest income increased $193 million from the year
ended December 31, 2013 primarily driven by increases in the FIP
credit rates for savings and money market deposits, demand
deposits and interest checking deposits and a dectease in the FIP
charges on loans and leases. These increases were partially offset by
declines in yields on average commercial loans and a dectrease in
interest income relating to the Bancorp’s decision to no longer
enroll new customers in the deposit advance product.

Provision for loan and lease losses for December 31, 2014
decreased $30 million from the year ended December 31, 2013 as a
result of improved credit trends. Net charge-offs as a percent of
average portfolio loans and leases decreased to 106 bps for the year
ended December 31, 2014 compared to 119 bps for the year ended
December 31, 2013.

Noninterest income decreased $19 million from the year ended
December 31, 2013. The decrease was primarily driven by decreases
in other noninterest income and setvice charges on deposits partially
offset by an increase in card and processing revenue. Other
noninterest income decreased $37 million from the year ended
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December 31, 2013 primarily due to $20 million in impairment
charges during the year ended December 31, 2014 for branches and
land. The remaining decrease in other noninterest income was
primarily due to decreases in gains on loan sales and mortgage
origination fees and retail service fees. Service charges on deposits
decreased $6 million from the year ended December 31, 2013
primarily due to a decrease in consumer checking and savings fees
from a decline in the percentage of consumer customers being
charged service fees. Card and processing revenue increased $19
million from the year ended December 31, 2013 primarily as a result
of an increase in the number of actively used cards as well as higher
processing fees related to additional ATM locations.

Noninterest expense decreased $22 million from the year
ended December 31, 2013 primarily driven by decreases in other
noninterest expense and personnel costs partially offset by increases
in card and processing expense and net occupancy and equipment
expense. Other noninterest expense decreased $24 million from the
year ended December 31, 2013 primarily due to lower marketing
expense and loan and lease expense. Personnel costs decreased $11
million from the year ended December 31, 2013 primarily driven by
lower compensation costs due to a decline in the number of full-
time equivalent employees. Card and processing expense increased
$8 million from the year ended December 31, 2013 primarily due to
higher rewards expense relating to credit cards and increased fraud-
related charges. Net occupancy and equipment expense increased $5
million from the year ended December 31, 2013 primarily due to an
increase in rent expense driven by additional ATM locations.

Average consumer loans decreased $245 million from the year
ended December 31, 2013 primarily due to a decrease in average
home equity loans of $382 million as payoffs exceeded new
advances and new loan production. This decrease was partially
offset by an increase in average credit card loans of $146 million
from the year ended December 31, 2013 primarily due to an
increase in open and active accounts driven by the volume of new
accounts.

Average core deposits increased $2.5 billion from the year
ended December 31, 2013 primarily driven by net growth in average
savings and money market deposits of $1.8 billion and growth in
average demand deposits of $497 million.
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Consumer Lending

Consumer Lending includes the Bancorp’s residential mortgage,
home equity, automobile and other indirect lending activities. Direct
lending activities include the origination, retention and servicing of
residential mortgage and home equity loans or lines of credit, sales

and securitizations of those loans, pools of loans or lines of credit
and all associated hedging activities. Indirect lending activities
include loans to consumers through correspondent lenders and
automobile dealers.

The following table contains selected financial data for the Consumer Lending segment:

TABLE 21: CONSUMER LENDING

For the years ended December 31 ($ in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Income Statement Data
Net interest income $ 249 258 312
Provision for loan and lease losses 45 156 93
Noninterest income:
Mortgage banking net revenue 341 305 688
Other noninterest income 66 45 67
Noninterest expense:
Personnel costs 185 181 281
Other noninterest expense 251 373 404
Income (loss) before income taxes 175 (102) 289
Applicable income tax expense (benefit) 63 (30) 102
Net income (loss) $ 112 (66) 187
Average Balance Sheet Data
Residential mortgage loans, including held for sale $ 9,251 8,866 10,222
Home equity 424 496 572
Automobile loans, including held for sale 11,341 11,517 11,409
Other consumer loans and leases, including held for sale 11 19 16

Comparison of the year ended 2015 with 2014

Net income was $112 million for the year ended December 31, 2015
compared to a net loss of $66 million for the year ended December
31, 2014. The increase was driven by decreases in noninterest
expense and the provision for loan and lease losses as well as an
increase in noninterest income partially offset by a decrease in net
interest income.

Net interest income decreased $9 million from the year ended
December 31, 2014 primarily driven by lower yields on average
residential mortgage loans and average automobile loans and a
decline in average home equity loans partially offset by decreases in
FTP charge rates on loans and leases.

The provision for loan and lease losses decreased $111 million
from the year ended December 31, 2014 as the prior year included
an $87 million charge-off related to the transfer of certain residential
mortgage loans from the portfolio to held for sale in the fourth
quarter of 2014. The decrease was also due to improved delinquency
metrics on residential mortgage loans and home equity loans. Net
charge-offs as a percent of average portfolio loans and leases
decreased to 22 bps for the year ended December 31, 2015
compared to 77 bps for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Noninterest income increased $57 million from the year ended
December 31, 2014 as a result of increases in mortgage banking net
revenue and other noninterest income. Mortgage banking net
revenue increased $36 million from the year ended December 31,
2014 driven by a $16 million increase in mortgage origination fees
and gains on loan sales and a $20 million increase in net mortgage
servicing tevenue. Refer to the Noninterest Income section of
MD&A for additional information on the fluctuations in mortgage
banking net revenue. Other noninterest income increased $21
million from the year ended December 31, 2014 primarily driven by
a $37 million gain on the sale of held for sale residential mortgage
loans classified as TDRs in the first quarter of 2015. This increase
was partially offset by a dectease in retail service fees.

Noninterest expense decreased $118 million from the year
ended December 31, 2014 driven by a decrease in other noninterest

expense of $122 million. The decrease in other noninterest expense
was primarily due to decreased legal expenses and operational losses
partially offset by an increase in corporate overhead allocations.
Average consumer loans and leases increased $129 million
from the year ended December 31, 2014. Average residential
mortgage loans increased $385 million from the year ended
December 31, 2014 primarily due to the continued retention of
certain conforming ARMs and certain other fixed-rate loans.
Average automobile loans and average home equity loans decreased
$176 million and $72 million, respectively, from the year ended
December 31, 2014 as payoffs exceeded new loan production.

Comparison of the year ended 2014 with 2013

Consumer Lending incurred a net loss of $66 million for the year
ended December 31, 2014 compared to net income of $187 million
from the year ended December 31, 2013. The decrease was driven
by decreases in net interest income and noninterest income and an
increase in the provision for loan and lease losses partially offset by
a decrease in noninterest expense.

Net interest income decreased $54 million from the year ended
December 31, 2013 primarily due to decreases in average residential
mortgage loans and average home equity loans as well as lower
yields on average automobile loans partially offset by a decrease in
FTP charges on loans and leases.

The provision for loan and lease losses increased $63 million
from the year ended December 31, 2013 primarily due to an $87
million charge-off related to the transfer of certain residential
mortgage loans from the portfolio to held for sale in the fourth
quarter of 2014 partially offset by improved delinquency metrics on
home equity loans. Net charge-offs as a percent of average portfolio
loans and leases increased to 77 bps for the year ended December
31, 2014 compared to 46 bps for the year ended December 31,
2013.

Noninterest income decreased $405 million from the year
ended December 31, 2013 as a result of decreases in mortgage
banking net revenue of $383 million and other noninterest income
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of $22 million. The decrease in mortgage banking net revenue was
due to a $293 million decline in mortgage origination fees and gains
on loan sales due to a decline in mortgage originations and a $90
million decrease in net mortgage servicing revenue. The decrease in
other noninterest income was primarily due to a $16 million
decrease in securities gains.

Noninterest expense decreased $131 million due to decreases
of $100 million in personnel costs and $31 million in other
noninterest expense from the year ended December 31, 2013. The
decrease in personnel costs was primarily the result of lower
mortgage loan originations. The decrease in other noninterest
expense was primarily due to decreases in loan and lease expense
and corporate overhead allocations.

Average consumer loans and leases decreased $1.3 billion from
the year ended December 31, 2013. Average residential mortgage

Investment Advisors

Investment Advisors provides a full range of investment alternatives
for individuals, companies and not-for-profit organizations.
Investment Advisors is made up of four main businesses: FTS, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Bancorp; ClearArc Capital,
Inc., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Bancorp; Fifth
Third Private Bank; and Fifth Third Institutional Services. FTS

loans decreased $1.4 billion from the year ended December 31, 2013
due primarily to a decline of $1.5 billion in average residential
mortgage loans held for sale from reduced origination volumes
driven by a reduction in refinance activity and the exit of the broker
origination channel during 2014. This decrease was partially offset
by the continued retention of certain shorter term residential
mortgage loans originated through the Bancorp’s retail branches and
the decision to retain certain conforming ARMs and certain other
fixed-rate loans originated during the year ended December 31,
2014. Average home equity loans decreased $76 million from the
year ended December 31, 2013 as payoffs exceeded new loan
production. Average automobile loans increased $108 million from
the year ended December 31, 2013 due to new originations
exceeding run-off.

offers full-service retail brokerage services to individual clients and
broker dealer services to the institutional marketplace. ClearArc
Capital, Inc. provides asset management services. Fifth Third
Private Bank offers holistic strategies to affluent clients in wealth
planning, investing, insurance and wealth protection. Fifth Third
Institutional Services provides advisory services for institutional
clients including states and municipalities.

The following table contains selected financial data for the Investment Advisors segment:

TABLE 22: INVESTMENT ADVISORS

For the years ended December 31 (§ in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Income Statement Data
Net interest income $ 128 121 154
Provision for loan and lease losses 3 3 2
Noninterest income:
Investment advisory revenue 406 397 384
Other noninterest income 12 13 22
Noninterest expense:
Personnel costs 170 162 159
Other noninterest expense 285 283 294
Income before income taxes 88 83 105
Applicable income tax expense 30 29 37
Net income $ 58 54 68
Average Balance Sheet Data
Loans and leases, including held for sale $ 2,805 2,270 2,014
Core deposits 9,357 9,535 8,815

Comparison of the year ended 2015 with 2014

Net income was $58 million for the year ended December 31, 2015
compared to net income of $54 million for the year ended
December 31, 2014. The increase in net income was primarily due
to increases in net interest income and noninterest income partially
offset by an increase in noninterest expense.

Net interest income increased $7 million from the year ended
December 31, 2014 primarily due to increases in interest income on
loans and leases and FTP credits on demand deposits both due to
increases in average balances as well as an increase in FIP credits on
interest checking deposits due to an increase in FTP credit rates.
These increases were partially offset by increases on FTP charges on
loans and leases driven by increases in average balances.

Noninterest income increased $8 million from the year ended
December 31, 2014 primarily due to a $9 million increase in
investment advisory revenue driven by increases in recurring
securities brokerage fees and private client service fees.

Noninterest expense increased $10 million from the year ended
December 31, 2014 primarily due to increases in personnel costs
due to higher incentive compensation and base compensation.

48 Fifth Third Bancorp

Average loans and leases increased $535 million from the year
ended December 31, 2014 primarily driven by increases in average
residential mortgage loans and average other consumer loans as a
result of increases in new loan origination activity partially offset by
a decrease in average home equity loans as payoffs exceeded new
loan production.

Average core deposits decreased $178 million from the year
ended December 31, 2014 primarily due to a decrease in average
interest checking balances partially offset by increases in average
savings and money market deposits and average demand deposits.

Comparison of the year ended 2014 with 2013
Net income was $54 million for the year ended December 31, 2014
compared to net income of $68 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013. The decrease in net income was primarily due
to a decrease in net interest income partially offset by a decrease in
noninterest expense and an increase in noninterest income.

Net interest income decreased $33 million from the year ended
December 31, 2013 primarily due to a decrease in the FIP credit
rate on certain interest checking deposits.
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Noninterest income increased $4 million from the year ended
December 31, 2013 due to a $13 million increase in investment
advisory revenue primarily driven by an increase of $12 million in
private client services revenue due to growth in personal asset
management fees partially offset by a decrease in securities broker
fees due to a decline in transactional brokerage revenue. This
increase was partially offset by a $9 million decrease in other
noninterest income as other noninterest income in the prior year
included gains on the sale of certain advisory contracts.

Noninterest expense decreased $8 million from the year ended
December 31, 2013 primarily due to a decrease in other noninterest

General Corporate and Other

General Corporate and Other includes the unallocated portion of
the investment securities portfolio, securities gains and losses,
certain non-core deposit funding, unassigned equity, provision
expense in excess of net charge-offs or a benefit from the reduction
of the ALLL, representation and warranty expense in excess of
actual losses or a benefit from the reduction of representation and
warranty reserves, the payment of preferred stock dividends and
certain support activities and other items not attributed to the
business segments.

Comparison of the year ended 2015 with 2014

Net interest income decreased $24 million from the year ended
December 31, 2014 primarily due to increases in FIP credits on
deposits allocated to business segments driven by increases in
average deposits. The remaining decrease in net interest income was
due to an increase in interest expense on long-term debt and a
decrease in the benefit related to the FTP charges on loans and
leases partially offset by an increase in interest income on taxable
securities. Results for the year ended December 31, 2015 were
impacted by a benefit of $50 million compated to a benefit of $260
million for the year ended December 31, 2014 due to reductions in
the ALLL.

Noninterest income was $822 million for the year ended
December 31, 2015 compated to $253 million for the year ended
December 31, 2014. The increase in noninterest income included
the impact of a gain of $331 million on the sale of Vantiv, Inc.
shares in the fourth quarter of 2015 compared to a gain of $125
million in 2014. The positive valuation adjustments on the stock
warrant associated with Vantiv Holding, LL.C were $236 million and
$31 million for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. During the fourth quarter of 2015, the Bancorp
recognized a gain of $89 million on both the sale and exercise of a
portion of the warrant associated with Vantiv Holding, LLC.
Additionally, the Bancorp recognized a gain of $49 million from the
payment from Vantiv, Inc. to terminate a portion of a TRA and also
recognized a gain of $31 million associated with the annual TRA
payment during the fourth quatter of 2015. The Bancorp recognized
a gain of $23 million associated with the TRA during the fourth
quarter of 2014. Equity method eatnings from the Bancorp’s
interest in Vantiv Holding, LL.C increased $15 million from the year
ended December 31, 2014. Noninterest income also included $37
million in negative valuation adjustments related to the Visa total
return swap for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to $38
million for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Noninterest expense for the year ended December 31, 2015
was an expense of $64 million compared to a benefit of $15 million
for the year ended December 31, 2014. The increase was primarily
due to an increase in personnel costs and an increase in the
provision for the reserve for unfunded commitments as well as
increases in FDIC insurance and other taxes, donations expense,
technology and communications expense and marketing expense.

expense driven by decreases in operational losses, marketing
expense and corporate overhead allocations.

Average loans and leases increased $256 million from the year
ended December 31, 2013 primarily driven by increases in average
residential mortgage loans and average commercial mortgage loans
partially offset by a decrease in average home equity loans.

Average core deposits increased $720 million from the year
ended December 31, 2013 due to growth in average interest
checking balances as customers have opted to maintain excess funds
in liquid transaction accounts as a result of interest rates remaining
near historic lows.

The increase was partially offset by decreased litigation and
regulatory activity and increased corporate overhead allocations
from General Corporate and Other to the other business segments.

Comparison of the year ended 2014 with 2013

Net interest income decreased $146 million from the year ended
December 31, 2013 primarily due to increases in FTP credits on
deposits allocated to business segments driven by increases in
average deposits. The remaining decrease in net interest income was
due to an increase in interest expense on long-term debt and a
decrease in the benefit related to the FIP charges on loans and
leases partially offset by an increase in interest income on taxable
securities. Results for the year ended December 31, 2014 were
impacted by a benefit of $260 million compared to a benefit of $272
for the year ended December 31, 2013 due to reductions in the
ALLL.

Noninterest income was $253 million for the year ended
December 31, 2014 compared to $654 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013. The year ended December 31, 2014 included
the impact of a gain of $125 million on the sale of Vantiv, Inc.
shares in the second quarter of 2014 compared to gains totaling
$327 million during the second and third quarters of 2013. The
Bancorp also recognized gains of $23 million and $9 million
associated with a TRA with Vantiv, Inc. in the fourth quarter of
2014 and 2013, respectively. The positive valuation adjustments on
the stock warrant associated with Vantiv Holding, LLC were $31
million and $206 million for the years ended December 31, 2014
and 2013, respectively. Additionally, the equity method earnings
from the Bancorp’s interest in Vantiv Holding, LLC decreased $29
million from the year ended December 31, 2013. Noninterest
income also included $38 million in negative valuation adjustments
related to the Visa total return swap for the year ended December
31, 2014 compared to $31 million for the year ended December 31,
2013.

Noninterest expense for the year ended December 31, 2014
was a benefit of $15 million compared to an expense of $161
million for the year ended December 31, 2013. The decrease was
driven by decreases in compensation expense, FDIC insurance and
other taxes and litigation and regulatory activity partially offset by a
decrease in the benefit from other noninterest expense driven by
decreased corporate overhead allocations from General Corporate
and Other to the other business segments.
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FOURTH QUARTER REVIEW

The Bancorp’s 2015 fourth quarter net income available to common
shareholders was $634 million, or $0.79 per diluted share, compared
to net income available to common shareholders of $366 million, or
$0.45 per diluted share, for the third quarter of 2015 and net income
available to common shareholders of $362 million, or $0.43 per
diluted share, for the fourth quarter of 2014.

Net interest income on an FTE basis was $904 million during
the fourth quarter of 2015 and decreased $2 million from the third
quarter of 2015 and increased $16 million from the fourth quarter
of 2014. The decrease from the third quarter of 2015 was primarily
driven by the impact of the issuance of $2.4 billion of long-term
debt during the third quarter of 2015, the $750 million auto
securitization completed in November of 2015 and commercial loan
yield compression, partially offset by higher average loan balances.
The increase in net interest income in compatison to the fourth
quarter of 2014 was driven by higher investment securities balances,
partially offset by a decline due to changes to the Bancorp’s deposit
advance product beginning January 1, 2015.

Fourth quarter 2015 noninterest income of $1.1 billion
increased $391 million compared to the third quarter of 2015 and
increased $451 million compated to the fourth quarter of 2014. The
increase from the third quarter of 2015 was primarily due to an
increase in other noninterest income. The year-over-year increase
was primarily the result of increases in other noninterest income and
mortgage banking net revenue, partially offset by lower corporate
banking revenue.

Service charges on deposits of $144 million decreased $1
million from the previous quarter and increased $2 million
compared to the fourth quarter of 2014. The decrease from the
third quatter of 2015 was primarily due to a decrease in retail service
charges due to lower overdraft occurrences. The increase from the
fourth quarter of 2014 was driven by an increase in commercial
service charges due to an increase in activity from existing
customers and new customer acquisition.

Corporate banking revenue of $104 million was flat compared
to the previous quarter and decreased $16 million from the fourth
quarter of 2014. The year-over-year decrease was driven by lower
loan syndications revenue, foreign exchange fees and business
lending fees, partially offset by higher lease remarketing and
institutional sales revenue. The dectease in syndication fees from the
fourth quarter of 2014 was the result of decreased activity in the
market and the Bancorp’s reduced leveraged loan appetite.

Mortgage banking net revenue was $74 million in the fourth
quarter of 2015 compared to $71 million in the third quarter of 2015
and $61 million in the fourth quarter of 2014. Fourth quarter 2015
originations were $1.8 billion, compared with $2.3 billion in the
previous quarter and $1.7 billion in the fourth quarter of 2014.
Fourth quarter 2015 originations resulted in gains of $37 million on
mortgages sold, compared with gains of $46 million during the
previous quarter and $36 million during the fourth quarter of 2014.
The decrease from the ptior quarter was driven by lower production
due to an increase in interest rates during the fourth quarter of 2015.
The increase from the prior year was due to stronger refinancing
activity during the fourth quarter of 2015. Gross mortgage servicing
fees were $53 million in the fourth quarter of 2015, $54 million in
the third quarter of 2015 and $60 million in the fourth quarter of
2014. Mortgage banking net revenue is also affected by net servicing
asset valuation adjustments, which include MSR amortization and
MSR valuation adjustments, including mark-to-market adjustments
on free-standing derivatives used to economically hedge the MSR
portfolio. These net servicing asset valuation adjustments were
negative $16 million and negative $29 million in the fourth and third
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quarters of 2015, respectively, and negative $34 million in the fourth
quarter of 2014.

Investment advisory revenue of $102 million decreased $1
million from the previous quarter and increased $2 million from the
fourth quarter of 2014. The decline from the third quarter of 2015
was due to a decrease in securities and brokerage fees. The year-
over-year increase was due to an increase in private client services
revenue.

Card and processing revenue of $77 million was flat compared
to the third quarter of 2015 and increased $1 million compared to
the fourth quarter of 2014. The increase from the ptior year was
driven by an increase in the number of actively used cards and an
increase in customer spend volume.

Other noninterest income of $602 million increased $389
million compared to the third quarter of 2015 and increased $452
million from the fourth quarter of 2014. Fourth quarter 2015 results
included a $331 million gain on the sale of Vantiv, Inc. shares, an
$89 million gain on both the sale and exercise of a portion of the
warrant associated with Vantiv, Holding, LLC, a $49 million gain
from a payment received from Vantiv, Inc. to terminate a portion of
the TRA, a $31 million gain from Vantiv, Inc. pursuant to the TRA
and a $21 million positive valuation adjustment on the Vantiv
Holding, LLC warrant. This compares with a $130 million positive
warrant valuation adjustment in the third quarter of 2015, and a $56
million positive warrant valuation adjustment in the fourth quarter
of 2014 as well as $23 million in gains pursuant to Fifth Third’s
TRA with Vantiv Holding, LLC recognized in the fourth quarter of
2014. Quarterly results also included charges related to the valuation
of the total return swap entered into as part of the 2009 sale of Visa,
Inc. Class B shares. Negative valuation adjustments on this swap
were $10 million, $8 million and $19 million in the fourth quarter of
2015, the third quarter of 2015 and the fourth quarter of 2014,
respectively.

The net gains on investment securities were $1 million in the
fourth quarter of 2015 and $4 million in the fourth quarter of 2014.
There were no net gains on investment securities during the third
quarter of 2015.

Noninterest expense of $963 million increased $20 million
from the previous quarter and increased $45 million from the fourth
quarter of 2014. The increase in noninterest expense compared to
the third quarter of 2015 was driven by a $10 million contribution to
the Fifth Third Foundation and higher net occupancy expense. The
increase in noninterest expense from the fourth quarter of 2014 was
primarily due to a $10 million contribution to the Fifth Third
Foundation, higher personnel costs, net occupancy expense and
technology and communications expense.

The ALLL as a percentage of portfolio loans and leases was
1.37% as of December 31, 2015, compared to 1.35% as of
September 30, 2015 and 1.47% as of December 31, 2014. The
provision for loan and lease losses was $91 million in the fourth
quarter of 2015 compared to $156 million in the third quarter of
2015 and $99 million in the fourth quarter of 2014. Net charge-offs
were $80 million in the fourth quarter of 2015, or 34 bps of average
portfolio loans and leases on an annualized basis, compared with net
charge-offs of $188 million in the third quarter of 2015 and $191
million in the fourth quarter of 2014. The third quarter of 2015
included a charge-off of $102 million associated with the
restructuring of a student loan backed commercial credit originated
in 2007. During the fourth quarter of 2014, the Bancorp transferred
certain residential mortgage loans from the portfolio to held for sale
resulting in a charge-off of $87 million.
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TABLE 23: QUARTERLY INFORMATION (unaudited)

2015 2014
For the three months ended (§ in millions, except per shatre data) 12/31 9/30 6/30 3/31 12/31 9/30 6/30 3/31
Net interest income®@ $ 904 906 892 852 888 908 905 898
Provision for loan and lease losses 91 156 79 69 99 71 76 69
Noninterest income 1,104 713 556 630 653 520 736 564
Noninterest expense 963 943 947 923 918 888 954 950
Net income attributable to Bancorp 657 381 315 361 385 340 439 318
Net income available to common shareholders 634 366 292 346 362 328 416 309
Earnings per share, basic 0.80 0.46 0.36 0.42 0.44 0.39 0.49 0.36
FEarnings per share, diluted 0.79 0.45 0.36 0.42 0.43 0.39 0.49 0.36

(a)  Amounts presented on an FTE basis. The FTE adjustment was 85 for all periods presented.

COMPARISON OF THE YEAR ENDED 2014 WITH 2013
The Bancorp’s net income available to common shareholders for
the year ended December 31, 2014 was $1.4 billion, or $1.66 per
diluted share, which was net of $67 million in preferred stock
dividends. The Bancorp’s net income available to common
shareholders for the year ended December 31, 2013 was $1.8 billion,
or $2.02 per diluted share, which was net of $37 million in preferred
stock dividends. The provision for loan and lease losses increased to
$315 million during the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to
$229 million during the year ended December 31, 2013 as the result
of an increase in net charge-offs related to certain impaired
commercial and industrial loans and an increase in net charge-offs
loans related to the transfer of certain residential mortgage loans
from the portfolio to held for sale during 2014. The impact of these
increases in chatge-offs on provision expense during the year ended
December 31, 2014 was partially offset by decreases in
nonperforming loans and leases and improved delinquency metrics.
Net charge-offs as a percent of average portfolio loans and leases
increased to 0.64% during 2014 compared to 0.58% during the year
ended December 31, 2013.

Net interest income was $3.6 billion for both of the years
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013. For the year ended December
31, 2014, net interest income was positively impacted by an increase
in average taxable securities of $5.4 billion coupled with an increase
in yields on these securities of 16 bps compared to the year ended
December 31, 2013. Net interest income also included the benefit
of an increase in average loans and leases of $2.0 billion as well as a
decrease in the rates paid on long-term debt for the year ended
December 31, 2014 compared to the year ended December 31,
2013. These benefits were partially offset by lower yields on loans
and leases and an increase in average long-term debt of $5.0 billion
for the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2013.

Noninterest income decreased $754 million during the year
ended December 31, 2014 compared to the year ended December
31, 2013. The decrease from December 31, 2013 was primatily due
to decreases in mortgage banking net revenue and other noninterest
income. Mortgage banking net revenue decreased $390 million for
the year ended December 31, 2014 compated to 2013 primarily due
to decreases in origination fees and gains on loan sales and net
mortgage servicing revenue. Other noninterest income decreased
$429 million compared to the year ended December 31, 2013. The
decrease included the impact of a gain of $125 million on the sale of
Vantiv, Inc. shares in the second quarter of 2014, compared to gains
totaling $327 million during the second and third quarters of 2013.
The Bancorp recognized gains of $23 million and $9 million
associated with the TRA with Vantiv, Inc. in the fourth quarters of
2014 and 2013, respectively. Additionally, other noninterest income
decreased for the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to 2013
primarily due to positive valuation adjustments on the stock warrant
associated with Vantiv Holding, LLC of $31 million during 2014

compared to positive valuation adjustments of $206 million during
2013 and a decrease in equity method earnings from Vantiv
Holding, LLC.

Noninterest expense decreased $252 million during the year
ended December 31, 2014 compared to 2013 primarily due to
decreases in total personnel costs and other noninterest expense.
The decrease in total personnel costs was driven by a decrease in
incentive compensation primarily in the mortgage business due to
lower production levels and a decrease in base compensation and
employee benefits as a result of a decline in the number of full-time
equivalent employees. Other noninterest expense decreased during
the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to 2013 primarily due
to decreases in loan and lease expense, FDIC insurance and other
taxes, losses and adjustments, marketing expense, debt
extinguishment costs and an increase in the benefit from the reserve
for unfunded commitments, partially offset by an increase in
impairment on affordable housing investments.
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BALANCE SHEET ANALYSIS

Loans and Leases

The Bancorp classifies its commercial loans and leases based upon
their primary purpose and consumer loans and leases based upon
product or collateral. Table 24 summarizes end of period loans and

leases, including loans held for sale and Table 25 summarizes
average total loans and leases, including loans held for sale.

TABLE 24: COMPONENTS OF TOTAL LOANS AND LEASES (INCLUDING HELD FOR SALE)

As of December 31 (§ in millions) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
Commercial loans and leases:
Commercial and industrial loans $ 42,151 40,801 39,347 36,077 30,828
Commercial mortgage loans 6,991 7,410 8,069 9,116 10,214
Commercial construction loans 3,214 2,071 1,041 707 1,037
Commercial leases 3,854 3,721 3,626 3,549 3,531
Total commercial loans and leases 56,210 54,003 52,083 49,449 45,610
Consumer loans and leases:
Residential mortgage loans 14,424 13,582 13,570 14,873 13,474
Home equity 8,336 8,886 9,246 10,018 10,719
Automobile loans 11,497 12,037 11,984 11,972 11,827
Credit card 2,360 2,401 2,294 2,097 1,978
Other consumer loans and leases 658 436 381 312 364
Total consumer loans and leases 37,275 37,342 37,475 39,272 38,362
Total loans and leases $ 93,485 91,345 89,558 88,721 83,972
Total portfolio loans and leases (excluding loans held for sale) $ 92,582 90,084 88,614 85,782 81,018

Loans and leases, including loans held for sale, increased $2.1
billion, or 2%, from December 31, 2014. The increase in loans and
leases from December 31, 2014 was the result of a $2.2 billion, or
4%, increase in commercial loans and leases partially offset by a $67
million decrease in consumer loans and leases.

Commercial loans and leases increased from December 31,
2014 primarily due to increases in commercial and industrial loans
and commercial construction loans partially offset by a decrease in
commercial mortgage loans. Commercial and industrial loans
increased $1.4 billion, or 3%, from December 31, 2014 and
commercial construction loans increased $1.1 billion, or 55%, from
December 31, 2014 primarily as a result of an increase in new loan
origination activity resulting from an increase in demand and
targeted marketing efforts. Commercial mortgage loans decreased
$419 million, or 6%, from December 31, 2014 primarily due to a

decline in new loan origination activity driven by increased
competition and an increase in paydowns.

Consumer loans and leases decreased from December 31, 2014
primarily due to decreases in home equity and automobile loans
partially offset by increases in residential mortgage loans and other
consumer loans and leases. Home equity decreased $550 million, or
6%, from December 31, 2014 and automobile loans decreased $540
million, or 4%, from December 31, 2014 as payoffs exceeded new
loan production. Residential mortgage loans increased $842 million,
or 6%, from December 31, 2014 primarily due to the continued
retention of certain conforming ARMs and certain other fixed-rate
loans originated during the year ended December 31, 2015. Other
consumer loans and leases increased $222 million, or 51%, from
December 31, 2014 primarily as a result of an increase in new loan
origination activity.

TABLE 25: COMPONENTS OF TOTAL AVERAGE LOANS AND LEASES (INCLUDING HELD FOR SALE)

For the years ended December 31 ($ in millions) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
Commercial loans and leases:
Commercial and industrial loans $ 42,594 41,178 37,770 32911 28,546
Commercial mortgage loans 7,121 7,745 8,481 9,686 10,447
Commercial construction loans 2,717 1,492 793 835 1,740
Commercial leases 3,796 3,585 3,565 3,502 3,341
Total commercial loans and leases 56,228 54,000 50,609 46,934 44,074
Consumer loans and leases:
Residential mortgage loans 13,798 13,344 14,428 13,370 11,318
Home equity 8,592 9,059 9,554 10,369 11,077
Automobile loans 11,847 12,068 12,021 11,849 11,352
Credit card 2,303 2,271 2,121 1,960 1,864
Other consumer loans and leases 571 385 360 340 529
Total consumer loans and leases 37,111 37,127 38,484 37,888 36,140
Total average loans and leases $ 93,339 91,127 89,093 84,822 80,214
Total average portfolio loans and leases (excluding loans held for sale) $ 92,423 90,485 86,950 82,733 78,533

Average loans and leases, including loans held for sale, increased
$2.2 billion, or 2%, from December 31, 2014. The inctrease from
December 31, 2014 was the tesult of a $2.2 billion, or 4%, increase
in average commercial loans and leases partially offset by a $16
million decrease in average consumer loans and leases.
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December 31, 2014 primatily due to increases in average
commercial and industrial loans and average commercial
construction loans partially offset by a decrease in average
commercial mortgage loans. Average commercial and industrial
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loans increased $1.4 billion, or 3%, from December 31, 2014 and
average commercial construction loans increased $1.2 billion, or
82%, from December 31, 2014 primarily as a result of an increase in
new loan origination activity resulting from an increase in demand
and targeted matketing efforts. Average commercial mortgage loans
decreased $624 million, or 8%, from December 31, 2014 due to a
decline in new loan origination activity driven by increased
competition and an increase in paydowns.

Average consumer loans and leases decreased from December
31, 2014 primarily due to decreases in average home equity and
average automobile loans partially offset by increases in average

Investment Securities

The Bancorp uses investment securities as a means of managing
interest rate risk, providing liquidity support and providing collateral
for pledging purposes. As of December 31, 2015, total investment
securities were $29.5 billion compared to $23.0 billion at December
31, 2014. The taxable investment securities portfolio had an
effective duration of 5.1 years at December 31, 2015 compared to
4.5 years at December 31, 2014.

At December 31, 2015, the Bancorp’s investment portfolio
consisted primarily of AAA-rated available-for-sale securities.
Securities classified as below investment grade were immaterial as of
December 31, 2015 and 2014. The Bancorp’s management has
evaluated the securities in an unrealized loss position in the

TABLE 26: COMPONENTS OF INVESTMENT SECURITIES

residential mortgage loans and average other consumer loans and
leases. Average home equity decreased $467 million, or 5%, from
December 31, 2014 and average automobile loans decreased $221
million, or 2%, from December 31, 2014 as payoffs exceeded new
loan production. Average residential mortgage loans increased $454
million, or 3%, from December 31, 2014 primarily driven by the
continued retention of certain conforming ARMs and certain other
fixed-rate loans. Average other consumer loans and leases increased
$186 million, or 48%, from December 31, 2014 primarily as a result
of an increase in new loan origination activity.

available-for-sale and held-to-maturity portfolios for OTTI. The
Bancorp recognized $5 million, $24 million and $74 million of
OTTI on its available-for-sale and other debt securities, included in
securities gains, net and securities gains, net — non-qualifying hedges
on mortgage servicing rights in the Consolidated Statements of
Income during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. The Bancorp did not recognize OTTI on any of its
available-for-sale equity securities or held-to-maturity debt securities
during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013. Refer to
Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the
Bancorp’s methodology for both classifying investment securities
and management’s evaluation of securities in an unrealized loss

position for OTTIL.

As of December 31 (§ in millions) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
Available-for-sale and other securities: (amortized cost basis)
U.S. Treasury and federal agencies securities $ 1,155 1,545 1,549 1,771 1,953
Obligations of states and political subdivisions securities 50 185 187 203 96
Mortgage-backed securities:
Agency residential mortgage-backed securities 14,811 11,968 12,294 8,403 9,743
Agency commercial mortgage-backed securities 7,795 4,465 - - -
Non-agency residential mortgage-backed securities - - - - 28
Non-agency commercial mortgage-backed securities 2,801 1,489 1,368 1,089 498
Asset-backed securities and other debt securities 1,363 1,324 2,146 2,072 1,266
Equity securities® 703 701 865 1,033 1,030
Total available-for-sale and other securities $ 28,678 21,677 18,409 14,571 14,614
Held-to-maturity securities: (amortized cost basis)
Obligations of states and political subdivisions securities $ 68 186 207 282 320
Asset-backed secutities and other debt securities 2 1 1 2 2
Total held-to-maturity securities $ 70 187 208 284 322
Trading securities: (fair value)
U.S. Treasury and federal agencies securities $ 19 14 5 7 -
Obligations of states and political subdivisions securities 9 8 13 17 9
Mortgage-backed securities:
Agency residential mortgage-backed securities 6 9 3 7 11
Non-agency residential mortgage-backed securities - - - - 1
Asset-backed securities and other debt securities 19 13 7 15 12
Equity securities 333 316 315 161 144
Total trading securities $ 386 360 343 207 177

(a)  Equity securities consist of FHLB, FRB and DTCC restricted stock holdings that are carried at par, FHIL.MC and FNNLA preferred stock holdings and certain mutual fund holdings and equity

security holdings.

On an amortized cost basis, available-for-sale and other securities
increased $7.0 billion, or 32%, from December 31, 2014 primarily
due to repositioning of the portfolio for LCR purposes resulting in
increases in agency residential mortgage-backed securities, agency
commercial mortgage-backed securities and non-agency commercial
mortgage-backed securities. Agency residential mortgage-backed
securities increased $2.8 billion, or 24%, from December 31, 2014
primarily due to the purchase of $18.8 billion of agency residential
mortgage-backed securities partially offset by sales of $13.6 billion

and paydowns of $2.5 billion during the year ended December 31,
2015. Agency commercial mortgage-backed securities increased $3.3
billion, ot 75%, from December 31, 2014 primatily due to the
purchase of $5.6 billion of agency commercial mortgage-backed
securities partially offset by sales of $2.1 billion and paydowns of
$146 million during the year ended December 31, 2015. Non-agency
commercial mortgage-backed securities increased $1.3 billion, or
88%, from December 31, 2014 primarily due to the purchase of $1.9
billion of non-agency commercial mortgage-backed securities
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partially offset by sales of $483 million and paydowns of $105
million during the year ended December 31, 2015.

On an amortized cost basis, available-for-sale and other
securities were 23% and 18% of total interest-carning assets at
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The estimated weighted-
average life of the debt securities in the available-for-sale and other
portfolio was 6.4 years at December 31, 2015 compared to 5.8 yeats
at December 31, 2014. In addition, at December 31, 2015, the
available-for-sale and other securities portfolio had a weighted-
average vield of 3.19% compared to 3.31% at December 31, 2014.

Information presented in Table 27 is on a weighted-average life
basis, anticipating future prepayments. Yield information is

presented on an FTE basis and is computed using amortized cost
balances. Maturity and yield calculations for the total available-for-
sale and other portfolio exclude equity securities that have no stated
yield or maturity. Total net unrealized gains on the available-for-sale
and other secutities portfolio were $366 million at December 31,
2015 compared to $731 million at December 31, 2014. The decrease
from December 31, 2014 was primarily due to an increase in interest
rates and wider spreads during the year ended December 31, 2015.
The fair value of investment securities is impacted by interest rates,
credit spreads, market volatility and liquidity conditions. The fair
value of investment securities generally increases when interest rates
decrease or when credit spreads contract.

TABLE 27: CHARACTERISTICS OF AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE AND OTHER SECURITIES

Weighted-Average Weighted-Average

As of December 31, 2015 (§ in millions) Amortized Cost Fair Value Life (in yeats) Yield
U.S. Treasury and federal agencies securities:
Average life of 1 year or less $ 549 561 0.70 3.76 %
Average life 1 — 5 years 530 550 1.50 3.97
Average life 5 — 10 years 76 76 5.10 1.80
Total $ 1,155 1,187 1.30 3.72%
Obligations of states and political subdivisions securities:@
Average life of 1 year or less 14 14 0.80 0.01
Average life 1 — 5 years 1 1 1.80 5.79
Average life 5 — 10 years 35 37 7.30 3.93
Total $ 50 52 5.30 2.80 %
Agency residential mortgage-backed securities:
Average life of 1 year or less 13 14 0.70 4.15
Average life 1 — 5 years 4,992 5,106 3.90 3.49
Average life 5 — 10 years 9,154 9,295 6.50 3.18
Average life greater than 10 years 652 666 12.90 3.45
Total $ 14,811 15,081 5.90 3.30 %
Agency commetcial mortgage-backed securities:
Average life 1 — 5 years 1,063 1,083 4.40 311
Average life 5 — 10 years 6,542 6,585 8.20 2.99
Average life greater than 10 years 190 194 13.10 2.86
Total $ 7,795 7,862 7.80 3.01 %
Non-agency commercial mortgage-backed securities:
Average life of 1 year or less 117 118 0.50 3.09
Average life 1 — 5 years 365 370 2.80 3.26
Average life 5 — 10 years 2,319 2,316 8.10 3.30
Total $ 2,801 2,804 7.10 3.29 %
Asset-backed securities and other debt securities:
Average life of 1 year or less 89 87 0.20 217
Average life 1 — 5 years 606 607 2.70 2.73
Average life 5 — 10 years 207 199 8.30 2.62
Average life greater than 10 years 461 462 14.00 2.10
Total $ 1,363 1,355 7.20 2.46 %
Equity securities 703 703
Total available-for-sale and other securities $ 28,678 29,044 6.40 3.19 %

(a)  Taxable-equivalent yield adjustments included in the above table are 0.00%, 0.24%, 2.09% and 1.46% for securities with an average life of 1 year or less, 1-5 years, 5-10 years and in total,

respectively.
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Deposits

The Bancorp’s deposit balances represent an important source of
funding and revenue growth opportunity. The Bancorp continues to
focus on core deposit growth in its retail and commercial franchises

TABLE 28: COMPONENTS OF DEPOSITS

by improving customer satisfaction, building full relationships and
offering competitive rates. Core deposits represented 71% of the
Bancorp’s average asset funding base for both of the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014.

As of December 31 (§ in millions) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Demand $ 36,267 34,809 32,634 30,023 27,600
Interest checking 26,768 26,300 25,875 24,477 20,392
Savings 14,601 15,051 17,045 19,879 21,756
Money market 18,494 17,083 11,644 6,875 4,989
Foreign office 464 1,114 1,976 885 3,250
Transaction deposits 96,594 94,857 89,174 82,139 77,987
Other time 4,019 3,960 3,530 4,015 4,638
Core deposits 100,613 98,817 92,704 86,154 82,625
Certificates $100,000 and over@ 2,592 2,895 6,571 3,284 3,039
Other - - - 79 46
Total deposits $ 103,205 101,712 99,275 89,517 85,710

(@) Includes 81,449, §1,483, $1,479, §1,402 and §1,772 of certificates §250,000 and over at December 31, 2015, 2014, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Core deposits increased $1.8 billion, or 2%, from December 31,
2014, driven by an increase of $1.7 billion, or 2%, in transaction
deposits. Transaction deposits increased from December 31, 2014
due to increases in demand deposits and money matket deposits,
partially offset by decreases in savings deposits and foreign office
deposits. Demand deposits increased $1.5 billion, or 4%, from
December 31, 2014 primarily due to higher balances per customer
account and the acquisition of new commercial customers. Money
market deposits increased $1.4 billion, or 8%, from December 31,
2014 driven primarily by higher balances per commercial account
and the acquisition of new commercial customers. The remaining

increase in money market deposits was due to a promotional
product offering causing balance migration from savings deposits
which decreased $450 million, or 3%, from December 31, 2014.
Foreign office deposits decreased $650 million, or 58%, from
December 31, 2014 driven primarily by lower balances per
commercial account.

The Bancorp uses certificates $100,000 and over as a method
to fund earning assets. At December 31, 2015, certificates $100,000
and over decreased $303 million, or 10%, compared to December
31, 2014 primarily due to the maturity and run-off of retail and
institutional certificates of deposit since December 31, 2014.

The following table presents the components of average deposits for the years ended December 31:

TABLE 29: COMPONENTS OF AVERAGE DEPOSITS

($ in millions) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Demand $ 35,164 31,755 29,925 27,196 23,389
Interest checking 26,160 25,382 23,582 23,096 18,707
Savings 14,951 16,080 18,440 21,393 21,652
Money market 18,152 14,670 9,467 4,903 5,154
Foreign office 817 1,828 1,501 1,528 3,490
Transaction deposits 95,244 89,715 82,915 78,116 72,392
Other time 4,051 3,762 3,760 4,306 6,260
Core deposits 99,295 93,477 86,675 82,422 78,652
Certificates $100,000 and over@ 2,869 3,929 6,339 3,102 3,656
Other 57 - 17 27 7
Total average deposits $ 102,221 97,406 93,031 85,551 82,315

(a)  Includes 81,410, §1,424, $1,283, $1,678 and $1,732 of average certificates $250,000 and over during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

On an average basis, core deposits increased $5.8 billion, or 6%,
compared to December 31, 2014 due to increases of $5.5 billion, or
6%, in average transaction deposits and $289 million, or 8%, in
average other time deposits. The increase in average transaction
deposits was driven by increases in average money market deposits,
average demand deposits and average interest checking deposits,
partially offset by decreases in average savings deposits and average
foreign office deposits. Average money matket deposits increased
$3.5 billion, or 24%, from December 31, 2014 due to a balance
migration from average savings deposits which decreased $1.1
billion, or 7%, from December 31, 2014 driven by a promotional
product offering. The remaining increase in average money market
deposits was due to an increase in average commercial account
balances and the acquisition of new commercial customers. Average
demand deposits increased $3.4 billion, or 11%, from December 31,

2014 primarily due to an increase in average commercial account
balances and new commercial customer accounts. Average interest
checking deposits increased $778 million, or 3%, from December
31, 2014 primarily due to an increase in average commercial account
balances and new commercial customer accounts. Average foreign
office deposits decreased $1.0 billion, or 55%, from December 31,
2014 primarily due to lower balances per account for commercial
customers. Average other time deposits increased $289 million, or
8%, from December 31, 2014 primarily driven by the acquisition of
new customers due to promotional interest rates. Average
certificates $100,000 and over decreased $1.1 billion, or 27%, from
December 31, 2014 due primarily to the maturity and run-off of
retail and institutional certificates of deposit since December 31,

2014.
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The contractual maturities of certificates $100,000 and over as of December 31, 2015 are summarized in the following table:

TABLE 30: CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF CERTIFICATES $100,000 AND OVER

($ in millions) 2015

Next 3 months $ 401
3-6 months 203
6-12 months 237
After 12 months 1,751
Total certificates $100,000 and over $ 2,592

The contractual maturities of other time deposits and certificates $100,000 and over as of December 31, 2015 are summarized in the following

table:

TABLE 31: CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF OTHER TIME DEPOSITS AND CERTIFICATES $100,000 AND OVER

($ in millions) 2015

Next 12 months $ 2,425
13-24 months 1,570
25-36 months 637
37-48 months 1,025
49-60 months 930
After 60 months 24
Total other time deposits and certificates $100,000 and over $ 6,611

Borrowings
Total borrowings increased $835 million, or 5%, from December
31, 2014. Table 32 summarizes the end of period components of

TABLE 32: COMPONENTS OF BORROWINGS

total borrowings. As of December 31, 2015, total borrowings as a
percentage of interest-bearing liabilities were 21% compared to 20%
at December 31, 2014.

As of December 31 (§ in millions) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Federal funds putrchased $ 151 144 284 901 346
Other short-term borrowings 1,507 1,556 1,380 6,280 3,239
Long-term debt 15,844 14,967 9,633 7,085 9,682
Total borrowings $ 17,502 16,667 11,297 14,266 13,267

Other short-term borrowings decreased $49 million, or 3%, from
December 31, 2014 driven primatily by a decrease in commercial
repurchase agreements. Long-term debt increased $877 million, or
6%, from December 31, 2014 primarily driven by issuances of $1.1
billion of unsecured senior notes, $1.3 billion of unsecured senior
bank notes and the issuance of asset-backed securities by a
consolidated VIE of $750 million related to an automobile loan

TABLE 33: COMPONENTS OF AVERAGE BORROWINGS

securitization in 2015. These increases were partially offset by the
maturity of $500 million of subordinated fixed-rate bank notes and
$1.7 billion of paydowns on long-term debt associated with
automobile loan securitizations. For additional information
regarding automobile securitizations and long-term debt, refer to
Note 11 and Note 16, respectively, of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

For the years ended December 31 ($ in millions) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Federal funds purchased 920 458 503 560 345
Other short-term borrowings 1,721 1,873 3,024 4,246 2,777
Long-term debt 14,677 12,928 7,914 9,043 10,154
Total average borrowings 17,318 15,259 11,441 13,849 13,276

Average total borrowings increased $2.1 billion, or 13%, compared
to December 31, 2014, due to increases in average long-term debt
and average federal funds purchased, partially offset by a decrease in
average other short-term borrowings. The increase in average long-
term debt of $1.7 billion, or 14%, was driven primarily by the
issuances of long-term debt as discussed above and the issuance of
asset-backed securities by a consolidated VIE of $1.0 billion related
to an automobile loan securitization during the fourth quarter of
2014. The impact of these issuances was partially offset by the
aforementioned matutity of subordinated fixed-rate bank notes and
paydowns on long-term debt associated with automobile loan
securitizations since December 31, 2014. The level of average
federal funds purchased and average other short-term borrowings
can fluctuate significantly from period to period depending on
funding needs and which sources are used to satisfy those needs.
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Information on the average rates paid on borrowings is presented in
the Net Interest Income subsection of the Statements of Income
Analysis section of MD&A. In addition, refer to the Liquidity Risk
Management subsection of the Risk Management section of MD&A
for a discussion on the role of borrowings in the Bancorp’s liquidity
management.
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RISK MANAGEMENT - OVERVIEW

Managing risk is an essential component of successfully operating a
financial services company. The Bancorp’s risk management
approach includes processes for identifying, assessing, managing,
monitoring and reporting risks. The ERM division, led by the
Bancorp’s Chief Risk Officer, ensures the consistency and adequacy
of the Bancorp’s risk management approach within the structure of
the Bancorp’s operating model. Management within the lines of
business and support functions assess and manage risks associated
with their activities and determine if actions need to be taken to
strengthen risk management or reduce risk given their risk profile.
They are responsible for considering risk when making business
decisions and for integrating risk management into business
processes. In addition, the Internal Audit division provides an
independent assessment of the Bancorp’s internal control structure
and related systems and processes.

The assumption of risk requires robust and active risk
management practices that comprise an integrated and
comprehensive set of activities, measures and strategies that apply to
the entire organization. The Bancorp has established a Risk Appetite
Framework, approved by the Board, that provides the foundations
of corporate risk capacity, risk appetite and risk tolerances. The
Bancorp’s risk capacity is represented by its available financial
resources. Risk capacity sets an absolute limit on risk-assumption in
the Bancorp’s annual and strategic plans. The Bancorp understands
that not all financial resources may persist as viable loss buffers over
time. Further, consideration must be given to regulatory capital
buffers required per Capital Policy Targets that would reduce risk
capacity. Those factors take the form of capacity adjustments to
arrive at an Operating Risk Capacity which represents the operating
risk level the Bancorp can assume while maintaining its solvency
standard. The Bancorp’s policy currently discounts its Operating
Risk Capacity by a minimum of 5% to provide a buffer; as a result,
the Bancorp’s risk appetite is limited by policy to, at most, 95% of
its Operating Risk Capacity.

Economic capital is the amount of unencumbered financial
resources trequired to support the Bancorp’s risks. The Bancorp
measures economic capital under the assumption that it expects to
maintain debt ratings at strong investment grade levels over time.
The Bancorp’s capital policies require that the Operating Risk
Capacity less the aforementioned buffer exceed the calculated
economic capital required in its business.

Risk appetite is the aggregate amount of risk the Bancorp is
willing to accept in pursuit of its strategic and financial objectives.
By establishing boundaries around risk taking and business
decisions, and by incorporating the needs and goals of its
shareholders, regulators, rating agencies and customers, the
Bancorp’s risk appetite is aligned with its priorities and goals. Risk
tolerance is the maximum amount of risk applicable to each of the
eight specific risk categories included in its Enterprise Risk
Management Framework. This is expressed primarily in qualitative
terms; however certain risk types also have quantitative metrics that
are used to measure the Bancorp’s level of risk against its risk
tolerances. The Bancorp’s risk appetite and risk tolerances are
supported by risk targets and risk limits. Those limits are used to
monitor the amount of risk assumed at a granular level. On a
quarterly basis, the Risk and Compliance Committee of the Board
reviews current assessments of each of the eight risk types relative
to the established tolerance. Information supporting these
assessments, including policy limits and key risk indicators, is also
reported to the Risk and Compliance Committee of the Board. Any
results outside of tolerance require the development of an action
plan that describes actions to be taken to return the measure to
within the tolerance.

The risks faced by the Bancorp include, but are not limited to,
credit, market, liquidity, operational, regulatory compliance, legal,
reputational and strategic. Each of these risks is managed through
the Bancorp’s risk program which includes the following key
functions:

. ERM is responsible for developing and oversecing the
implementation of risk programs and reporting that facilitate
a broad integrated view of risk. The department also leads
the continual fostering of a strong risk management culture
and the framework, policies and committees that support
effective risk governance, including the oversight of
Sarbanes-Oxley compliance;

. Commercial Credit Risk Management is responsible for
overseeing the safety and soundness of the commercial loan
portfolio within an independent portfolio management
framework that supports the Bancorp’s commercial loan
growth strategies and underwriting practices, ensuring
portfolio optimization and appropriate risk controls;

. Risk Strategies and Reporting is responsible for quantitative
analysis needed to support the commercial dual rating
methodology, ALLL methodology and analytics needed to
assess credit risk and develop mitigation strategies related to
that risk. The department also provides oversight, reporting
and monitoring of commercial underwriting and credit
administration processes. The Risk Strategies and Reporting
department is also responsible for the economic capital
program;

. Consumer Credit Risk Management is responsible for
overseeing the safety and soundness of the consumer
portfolio within an independent management framework that
supports the Bancorp’s consumer loan growth strategies,
ensuring portfolio optimization, appropriate risk controls
and oversight, reporting, and monitoring of underwriting and
credit administration processes;

. Operational Risk Management works with lines of business
and regional management to maintain processes to monitor
and manage all aspects of operational risk, including ensuring
consistency in application of operational risk programs;

. Bank Protection oversees and manages fraud prevention and
detection and provides investigative and recovery services for
the Bancorp;

. Capital Markets Risk Management is responsible for
instituting, monitoring, and reporting appropriate trading
limits, monitoring liquidity, interest rate risk and risk
tolerances within Treasury, Mortgage and Capital Markets
groups and utilizing a value at risk model for Bancorp market
risk exposure;

. Regulatory  Compliance Risk  Management provides
independent oversight to ensure that an enterprise-wide
framework, including processes and procedures, are in place
to comply with applicable laws, regulations, rules and other
regulatory requirements; internal policies and procedures;
and principles of integrity and fair dealing applicable to the
Bancorp’s activities and functions The Bancorp focuses on
managing regulatory compliance risk in accordance with the
Bancorp’s integrated risk management framework, which
ensures consistent processes for identifying, assessing,
managing, monitoring and reporting risks; and

. The ERM division creates and maintains other functions,
committees or processes as are necessary to effectively
oversee risk management throughout the Bancorp.
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Risk management oversight and governance is provided by the
Risk and Compliance Committee of the Board of Directors and
through multiple management committees whose membership
includes a broad cross-section of line-of-business, regional market
and support representatives. The Risk and Compliance Committee
of the Board of Directors consists of five outside directors and has
the responsibility for the oversight of risk management for the
Bancorp, as well as for the Bancorp’s overall aggregate risk profile.
The Risk and Compliance Committee of the Board of Directors has
approved the formation of key management governance committees
that are responsible for evaluating risks and controls. The primary
committee responsible for the oversight of risk management is the
ERMC. Committees accountable to the ERMC, which support the
core risk programs, are the Corporate Credit Committee, the
Operational Risk Committee, the Management Compliance
Committee, the Asset/ Liability Committee and the Enterprise
Marketing Committee. Other committees accountable to the ERMC

CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT

The objective of the Bancorp’s credit risk management strategy is to
quantify and manage credit risk on an aggregate portfolio basis, as
well as to limit the risk of loss resulting from the failure of a
borrower or counterparty to honor its financial or contractual
obligations to the Bancorp. The Bancorp's credit risk management
strategy is based on three core principles: conservatism,
diversification and monitoring. The Bancorp believes that effective
credit risk management begins with conservative lending practices.
These practices include conservative exposure and counterparty
limits and conservative underwriting, documentation and collection
standards. The Bancorp's credit risk management strategy also
emphasizes diversification on a geographic, industry and customer
level as well as ongoing portfolio monitoring and timely
management teviews of large credit exposures and credits
experiencing deterioration of credit quality. Credit officers with the
authority to extend credit are delegated specific authority amounts,
the utilization of which is closely monitored. Underwriting activities

oversee the ALLL, capital, model risk and regulatory change
management functions. There are also new products and initiatives
processes applicable to every line of business to ensure an
appropriate standard readiness assessment is performed before
launching a new product or initiative. Significant risk policies
approved by the management governance committees are also
reviewed and approved by the Risk and Compliance Committee of
the Board of Directors.

Credit Risk Review is an independent function responsible for
evaluating the sufficiency of underwriting, documentation and
approval processes for consumer and commercial credits, the
accuracy of risk grades assigned to commercial credit exposure,
nonaccrual status, specific reserves and monitoring for charge-offs.
Credit Risk Review reports directly to the Risk and Compliance
Committee of the Board of Directors and administratively to the
Chief Auditor.

are centrally managed, and ERM manages the policy and the
authority delegation process directly. The Credit Risk Review
function provides objective assessments of the quality of
underwriting and documentation, the accuracy of risk grades and
the charge-off, nonaccrual and reserve analysis process. The
Bancorp’s credit review process and overall assessment of the
adequacy of the allowance for credit losses is based on quarterly
assessments of the probable estimated losses inhetrent in the loan
and lease portfolio. The Bancorp uses these assessments to
promptly identify potential problem loans or leases within the
portfolio, maintain an adequate reserve and take any necessary
charge-offs. The Bancorp defines potential problem loans and leases
as those rated substandard that do not meet the definition of a
nonaccrual loan or a restructured loan. Refer to Note 6 of the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements for further information on the
Bancorp’s credit grade categories, which are derived from standard
regulatory rating definitions.

The following tables provide a summary of potential problem portfolio loans and leases as of December 31:

TABLE 34: POTENTIAL PROBLEM PORTFOLIO LOANS AND LEASES

Unpaid
Carrying Principal
2015 ($ in millions) Value Balance Exposure
Commercial and industrial loans $ 1,383 1,384 1,922
Commercial mortgage loans 170 171 172
Commercial construction loans 6 6 7
Commercial leases 36 36 39
Total potential problem portfolio loans and leases $ 1,595 1,597 2,140
TABLE 35: POTENTIAL PROBLEM PORTFOLIO LOANS AND LEASES
Unpaid
Carrying Principal
2014 (§ in millions) Value Balance Exposure
Commercial and industtial loans $ 1,022 1,028 1,344
Commercial mortgage loans 272 273 273
Commercial construction loans 7 7 11
Commercial leases 29 29 29
Total potential problem portfolio loans and leases $ 1,330 1,337 1,657

In addition to the individual review of larger commercial loans that
exhibit probable or observed credit weaknesses, the commercial
credit review process includes the use of two risk grading systems.
The risk grading system currently utilized for reserve analysis
purposes encompasses ten categories. The Bancorp also maintains a
dual risk rating system for credit approval and pricing, portfolio
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monitoting and capital allocation that includes a “through-the-cycle”
rating philosophy for modeling expected losses. The dual risk rating
system includes thirteen probabilities of default grade categories and
an additional six grade categories for estimating losses given an
event of default. The probability of default and loss given default
evaluations are not separated in the ten-category risk rating system.
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The Bancorp has completed significant validation and testing of the
dual risk rating system as a commercial credit risk management tool.
The Bancorp is assessing the necessary modifications to the dual
risk rating system outputs to develop a U.S. GAAP compliant
ALLL model and will make a decision on the use of modified dual
risk ratings for purposes of determining the Bancorp’s ALLL once
the FASB has issued a final standard regarding proposed
methodology changes to the determination of credit impairment as
outlined in the FASB’s Proposed ASU-Financial Instruments—Credit
Losses (Subtopic 825-15) issued on December 20, 2012. Scoring
systems, various analytical tools and portfolio performance
monitoring are used to assess the credit risk in the Bancorp’s
homogenous consumer and small business loan portfolios.

Overview

Economic growth continues to improve, and GDP is expected to
maintain its modest expansionary pattern. The U.S. job market is
slowly but steadily improving. Housing prices have largely stabilized
and are increasing in many markets. However, overall current
economic and competitive conditions are causing weaker than
desired qualified loan growth, that combined with a weakness in
global economic conditions and a relatively low interest rate
environment, may directly or indirectly impact the Bancorp’s growth
and profitability.

Among consumer portfolios, residential mortgage and
brokered home equity portfolios exhibited the most stress. As of
December 31, 2015, consumer real estate loans originated from
2005 through 2008 represent approximately 20% of the consumer
real estate portfolio and approximately 60% of total losses for the
year ended December 31, 2015. Loss rates continue to improve as
newer vintages are performing within expectations. Currently, the
level of new commercial real estate fundings is slightly above the
amortization and payoff of the portfolio with growth in the
commercial construction portfolio as those markets have
rebounded. The Bancorp continues to engage in loss mitigation
strategies such as reducing credit commitments, restructuring certain
commercial and consumer loans, as well as utilizing commercial and
consumer loan workout teams. For commercial and consumer loans
owned by the Bancorp, loan modification strategies are developed
that are workable for both the borrower and the Bancorp when the
borrower displays a willingness to cooperate. These strategies
typically involve either a reduction of the stated interest rate of the
loan, an extension of the loan’s maturity date with a stated rate
lower than the current market rate for a new loan with similar risk,
or in limited circumstances, a reduction of the principal balance of
the loan or the loan’s accrued interest. For residential mortgage
loans serviced for FHLMC and FNMA, the Bancorp participates in
the HAMP and HARP 2.0 programs. For loans refinanced under
the HARP 2.0 program, the Bancorp strictly adheres to the
underwriting requirements of the program. Loan restructuring
under the HAMP program is performed on behalf of FHLMC or
FNMA and the Bancorp does not take possession of these loans
during the modification process. Therefore, participation in these
programs does not significantly impact the Bancorp’s credit quality
statistics. The Bancorp participates in trial modifications in
conjunction with the HAMP program for loans it services for
FHLMC and FNMA. As these trial modifications relate to loans
serviced for others, they are not included in the Bancorp’s TDRs as
they are not assets of the Bancorp. In the event there is a
representation and warranty violation on loans sold through the
programs, the Bancorp may be required to repurchase the sold
loans. As of December 31, 2015, repurchased loans restructured or
refinanced under these programs were immaterial to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. Additionally, as of December

31, 2015 and 2014, $14 million and $22 million, respectively, of
loans refinanced under HARP 2.0 were included in loans held for
sale in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. For the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Bancorp recognized $6 million
and $13 million, respectively, of noninterest income in mortgage
banking net revenue in the Consolidated Statements of Income
related to the sale of loans restructured or refinanced under the
HAMP and HARP 2.0 programs.

In the financial services industry, there has been heightened
focus on foreclosure activity and processes. The Bancorp actively
works with borrowers experiencing difficulties and has regulatly
modified or provided forbearance to borrowers where a workable
solution could be found. Foreclosure is a last resort, and the
Bancorp undertakes foreclosures only when it believes they are
necessary and appropriate and is careful to ensure that customer and
loan data are accurate.

At December 31, 2015, the Bancorp’s non-power producing
energy portfolio balance was $1.7 billion, representing
approximately 2% of total loans and leases. This portfolio continues
to be an important part of the Bancotp’s commercial business
strategy. Due to the sensitivity of this portfolio to downward
movements in oil prices, the Bancorp has seen migration in the
portfolio into criticized classifications during 2015. When
establishing the ALLL, all portfolio and general economic factors
are considered, including the level of criticized assets and the level
of commodity prices.

Commercial Portfolio

The Bancorp’s credit risk management strategy includes minimizing
concentrations of risk through diversification. The Bancorp has
commercial loan concentration limits based on industry, lines of
business within the commercial segment, geography and credit
product type.

The risk within the commercial loan and lease portfolio is
managed and monitored through an underwriting process utilizing
detailed origination policies, continuous loan level reviews,
monitoring of industry concentration and product type limits and
continuous portfolio risk management reporting. The origination
policies for commercial real estate outline the risks and underwriting
requirements for owner and nonowner-occupied and construction
lending. Included in the policies are maturity and amortization
terms, maximum LTVs, minimum debt service coverage ratios,
construction loan monitoring procedures, appraisal requirements,
pre-leasing requirements (as applicable), sensitivity and pro-forma
analysis requirements and interest rate sensitivity. The Bancorp
requires a valuation of real estate collateral, which may include third-
party appraisals, be performed at the time of origination and
renewal in accordance with regulatory requirements and on an as
needed basis when market conditions justify. Although the Bancorp
does not back test these collateral value assumptions, the Bancorp
maintains an appraisal review department to order and review third-
party appraisals in accordance with regulatory requirements.
Collateral values on criticized assets with relationships exceeding $1
million are reviewed quarterly to assess the appropriateness of the
value ascribed in the assessment of charge-offs and specific reserves.
In addition, the Bancorp applies incremental valuation adjustments
to older appraisals that relate to collateral dependent loans, which
can currently be up to 20-30% of the appraised value based on the
type of collateral. These incremental valuation adjustments generally
reflect the age of the most recent appraisal as well as collateral type.
Trends in collateral values, such as home price indices and recent
asset dispositions, are monitored in order to determine whether
changes to the appraisal adjustments are warranted. Other factors
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such as local market conditions or location may also be considered
as necessary.

The Bancorp assesses all real estate and non-real estate
collateral securing a loan and considers all cross-collateralized loans
in the calculation of the LTV ratio. The following tables provide

detail on the most recent LTV ratios for commercial mortgage loans
greater than $1 million, excluding impaired commercial mortgage
loans individually evaluated. The Bancorp does not typically
aggregate the LTV ratios for commercial mortgage loans less than
$1 million.

TABLE 36: COMMERCIAL MORTGAGE LOANS OUTSTANDING BY LTV, LOANS GREATER THAN $1 MILLION

As of December 31, 2015 ($ in millions)

LTV >100% LTV 80-100% LTV < 80%

Commercial mortgage owner-occupied loans $ 119 216 2,063
Commercial mortgage nonowner-occupied loans 120 194 2,032
Total $ 239 410 4,095

TABLE 37: COMMERCIAL MORTGAGE LOANS OUTSTANDING BY LTV, LOANS GREATER THAN $1 MILLION

As of December 31, 2014 (§ in millions)

LTV >100% LTV 80-100% LTV < 80%

Commercial mortgage owner-occupied loans $ 148 248 1,982
Commercial mortgage nonowner-occupied loans 243 333 2,423
Total $ 391 581 4,405
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The following table provides detail on commercial loan and leases by industry classification (as defined by the North American Industry
Classification System), by loan size and by state, illustrating the diversity and granularity of the Bancorp’s commercial loans and leases:

TABLE 38: COMMERCIAL LOAN AND LEASE PORTFOLIO (EXCLUDING LOANS HELD FOR SALE)

2015 2014
As of December 31 (§ in millions) Outstanding Exposure Nonaccrual Outstanding Exposure Nonaccrual
By Industry:
Manufacturing $ 10,572 20,422 70 10,315 20,496 55
Real estate 6,494 10,293 40 5,392 8,612 32
Financial services and insurance 5,896 13,021 3 6,097 13,557 20
Healthcate 4,676 6,879 22 4,133 6,322 20
Business services 4,471 6,765 96 4,644 7,109 79
Wholesale trade 4,082 7,254 23 4314 8,004 62
Retail trade 3,764 7,391 8 3,754 7,190 22
Transportation and warehousing 3,111 4,619 1 3,012 4,276 1
Communication and information 2,913 5,052 2 2,409 4,140 3
Accommodation and food 2,507 4,104 6 1,712 2,945
Construction 1,871 3,403 8 1,864 3,352 25
Mining 1,499 2,695 36 1,862 3,323 3
Utilities 1,217 2,854 - 1,044 2,551 -
Entertainment and recreation 1,210 2,066 4 1,451 2,321 10
Other services 864 1,188 10 881 1,207 11
Public administration 495 562 - 567 658 -
Agribusiness 368 527 4 318 444 11
Individuals 139 187 2 170 201
Other 7 6 6 14 17
Total $ 56,156 99,288 341 53,953 96,725 367
By Loan Size:
Less than $200,000 1% 1 7 1 1 6
$200,000 to $1 million 4 3 10 5 3 15
$1 million to $5 million 10 8 25 11 9 22
$5 million to $10 million 8 7 25 8 7 19
$10 million to $25 million 24 21 15 25 22 24
Greater than $25 million 53 60 18 50 58 14
Total 100 % 100 100 100 100 100
By State:
Ohio 16 % 17 8 17 20 11
Michigan 8 7 9 9 8 11
Florida 8 7 12 7 6 17
Illinois 7 8 20 7 8 6
Indiana 5 5 4 5 5 5
North Carolina 4 4 1 3 4 2
Tennessee 3 3 - 3 3 -
Kentucky 3 3 1 3 3 2
Pennsylvania 3 3 3 2 7
All other states 43 43 43 43 41 39
Total 100 % 100 100 100 100 100
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The Bancorp has identified certain categories of loans which it
believes represent a higher level of risk compared to the rest of the

Bancorp’s commercial loan portfolio, due to economic or market
conditions within the Bancorp’s key lending areas.

The following tables provide an analysis of nonowner-occupied commercial real estate loans (excluding loans held for sale):

TABLE 39: NONOWNER-OCCUPIED COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE®

For the Year Ended
December 31, 2015

90 Days Net Charge-offs
As of December 31, 2015 ($ in millions) Outstanding Exposure Past Due Nonaccrual (Recoveries)
By State:
Ohio $ 1,334 1,594 - 7 ?2)
Florida 687 1,041 - 9 2
1llinois 650 1,028 - 2 -
Michigan 598 722 - 13 7
North Carolina 375 669 - - (Y}
Indiana 294 521 - - -
All other states 2,467 4,383 - 4 11
Total $ 6,405 9,958 - 35 17
(a)  Included in commercial morigage loans and commercial construction loans in the Loans and Leases subsection of the Balance Sheet Analysis section of MD&>A.
TABLE 40: NONOWNER-OCCUPIED COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE®
For the Year Ended

December 31, 2014

90 Days Net Charge-offs

As of December 31, 2014 (§ in millions) Outstanding Exposure Past Due Nonaccrual (Recoveries)

By State:
Ohio $ 1,283 1,685 - 7 1)
Florida 575 871 - 16 5
Illinois 449 964 - 6 2
Michigan 724 797 - 9 8
North Carolina 369 537 - - -
Indiana 250 344 - - -
All other states 1,865 3,560 - 19

Total $ 5,515 8,758 - 57 18

(@) Included in commercial morigage loans and commercial construction loans in the Loans and 1 eases subsection of the Balance Sheet Analysis section of MD&>A.

Consumer Portfolio

The Bancorp’s consumer portfolio is materially comprised of three
categories of loans: residential mortgage, home equity and
automobile. The Bancorp has identified certain categories within
these loan types which it believes represent a higher level of risk
compared to the rest of the consumer loan portfolio due to high
loan amount to collateral value. The Bancorp does not update LTV
ratios for the consumer portfolio subsequent to origination except
as part of the charge-off process for real estate secured loans.

Residential Mortgage Portfolio
The Bancorp manages credit risk in the residential mortgage
portfolio through conservative underwriting and documentation
standards and geographic and product diversification. The Bancorp
may also package and sell loans in the portfolio.

The Bancorp does not originate mortgage loans that permit
customers to defer principal payments or make payments that are
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less than the accruing interest. The Bancorp originates both fixed
and ARM loans. Resets of rates on ARMs are not expected to have
a material impact on credit costs in the current interest rate
environment, as approximately $846 million of ARM loans will have
rate resets during the next twelve months. Of those resets, 89% are
expected to experience an increase in rate, with an average increase
of approximately one third of a percent.

Certain residential mortgage products have contractual features
that may increase credit exposute to the Bancorp in the event of a
decline in housing values. These types of mortgage products offered
by the Bancorp include loans with high LTV ratios, multiple loans
on the same collateral that when combined result in a LTV greater
than 80% and interest-only loans. The Bancorp has deemed
residential mortgage loans with greater than 80% LTV ratios and no
mortgage insurance as loans that represent a higher level of risk.
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The following table provides an analysis of the tesidential mortgage portfolio loans outstanding by LTV at origination:

TABLE 41: RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE PORTFOLIO LOANS BY LTV AT ORIGINATION

2015 2014
Weighted- Weighted-
As of December 31 (§ in millions) Outstanding Average LTV Outstanding ~ Average LTV
LTV < 80% 10,198 65.6% § 9,220 65.1%
LTV > 80%, with mortgage insurance 1,300 93.3 1,206 93.8
LTV > 80%, no mortgage insurance 2,218 96.0 1,963 96.2
Total 13,716 73.4% $ 12,389 73.0 %

The following tables provide an analysis of the residential mortgage portfolio loans outstanding with a greater than 80% LTV ratio and no

mortgage insurance:

TABLE 42: RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE PORTFOLIO LOANS, LTV GREATER THAN 80%, NO MORTGAGE INSURANCE

For the Year Ended
December 31, 2015
90 Days
As of December 31, 2015 ($ in millions) Outstanding Past Due  Nonaccrual Net Charge-offs
By State:
Ohio $ 517 2 4 3
Tllinois 375 - 1 1
Michigan 280 1 1 2
Florida 278 1 4 -
Indiana 137 1 1 -
North Carolina 108 1 -
Kentucky 84 1 - -
All other states 439 - 1 -
Total $ 2,218 6 13 6
TABLE 43: RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE PORTFOLIO LOANS, LTV GREATER THAN 80%, NO MORTGAGE INSURANCE
For the Year Ended
December 31, 2014
90 Days
As of December 31, 2014 (§ in millions) Outstanding Past Due Nonaccrual Net Charge-offs
By State:
Ohio $ 509 1 10 22
Tllinois 293 1 4 3
Michigan 265 1 5 11
Florida 247 1 5 3
Indiana 126 1 2 3
North Carolina 100 1 1 -
Kentucky 78 - 1 2
All other states 345 - 2 2
Total $ 1,963 6 30 46 @

(@) Includes $34 in charge-offs related to the transfer of §720 restructured residential mortgage loans from the portfolio to loans held for sale during the fourth quarter of 2014.

Home Equity Portfolio

The Bancorp’s home equity portfolio is primarily comprised of
home equity lines of credit. Beginning in the first quarter of 2013,
the Bancorp’s newly originated home equity lines of credit have a
10-year interest only draw period followed by a 20-year amortization
petiod. The home equity line of credit previously offered by the
Bancorp was a revolving facility with a 20-year term, minimum
payments of interest only and a balloon payment of principal at
maturity.

The ALLL provides coverage for probable and estimable losses
in the home equity portfolio. The allowance attributable to the
portion of the home equity portfolio that has not been restructured
in a TDR is calculated on a pooled basis with senior lien and junior
lien categories segmented in the determination of the probable
credit losses in the home equity portfolio. The modeled loss factor

for the home equity portfolio is based on the trailing twelve month
historical loss rate for each category, as adjusted for certain
prescriptive loss rate factors and certain qualitative adjustment
factors to reflect risks associated with current conditions and trends.
The prescriptive loss rate factors include adjustments for
delinquency trends, LTV trends and refreshed FICO score trends.
The qualitative factors include adjustments for credit administration
and portfolio management, credit policy and underwriting and the
national and local economy. The Bancorp considers home price
index trends when determining the national and local economy
qualitative factor.

The home equity portfolio is managed in two primary groups:
loans outstanding with a combined LTV greater than 80% and
those loans with a LTV 80% or less based upon appraisals at
origination. The carrying value of the greater than 80% LTV home
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equity loans and 80% or less LTV home equity loans were $2.7
billion and $5.6 billion, respectively, as of December 31, 2015. Of
the total $8.3 billion of outstanding home equity loans:

e 85% reside within the Bancorp’s Midwest footprint of
Ohio, Michigan, Kentucky, Indiana and Illinois as of
December 31, 2015;

e 35% are in senior lien positions and 65% are in junior lien
positions at December 31, 2015;

e Over 80% of non-delinquent borrowers made at least one
payment greater than the minimum payment during the
year ended December 31, 2015; and

e The portfolio had an average refreshed FICO score of 742
and 740 at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

The Bancorp actively manages lines of credit and makes
reductions in lending limits when it believes it is necessary based on
FICO score detetioration and property devaluation. The Bancorp
does not routinely obtain appraisals on performing loans to update

LTV ratios after origination. However, the Bancorp monitors the
local housing markets by reviewing various home price indices and
incorporates the impact of the changing market conditions in its on-
going credit monitoring processes. For junior lien home equity loans
which become 60 days or more past due, the Bancorp tracks the
performance of the senior lien loans in which the Bancorp is the
servicer and utilizes consumer credit bureau attributes to monitor
the status of the senior lien loans that the Bancorp does not service.
If the senior lien loan is found to be 120 days or more past due, the
junior lien home equity loan is placed on nonaccrual status unless
both loans are well-secured and in the process of collection.
Additionally, if the junior lien home equity loan becomes 120 days
or more past due and the senior lien loan is also 120 days or more
past due, the junior lien home equity loan is assessed for charge-off,
unless it is well-secured and in the process of collection. Refer to the
Analysis of Nonperforming Assets subsection of the Risk
Management section of MD&A for more information.

The following table provides an analysis of home equity portfolio loans outstanding disaggregated based upon refreshed FICO score as of:

TABLE 44: HOME EQUITY PORTFOLIO LOANS OUTSTANDING BY REFRESHED FICO SCORE

($ in millions)

% of % of
December 31, 2015 Total December 31, 2014 Total

Senior Liens:

FICO < 620 $ 159 2% % 178 2%
FICO 621-719 563 7 613 7
FICO > 720 2,210 26 2,257 25
Total senior liens 2,932 35 3,048 34
Junior Liens:
FICO < 620 389 5 471 6
FICO 621-719 1,399 17 1,542 17
FICO > 720 3,581 43 3,825 43
Total junior liens 5,369 65 5,838 66
Total $ 8,301 100% § 8,886 100 %

64 Fifth Third Bancorp



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The Bancorp believes that home equity portfolio loans with a greater than 80% combined LTV ratio present a higher level of risk. The following
table provides an analysis of the home equity portfolio loans outstanding in a senior and junior lien position by LTV at origination:

TABLE 45: HOME EQUITY PORTFOLIO LOANS OUTSTANDING BY LTV AT ORIGINATION

2015 2014
Weighted- Weighted-
As of December 31 (§ in millions) Outstanding Average LTV Outstanding  Average LTV
Senior Liens:
LTV < 80% $ 2,557 551% § 2,635 55.2 %
LTV > 80% 375 89.1 413 89.1
Total senior liens 2,932 59.7 3,048 60.0
Junior Liens:
LTV < 80% 3,088 67.6 3,281 67.4
LTV > 80% 2,281 90.9 2,557 91.1
Total junior liens 5,369 79.2 5,838 79.6
Total $ 8,301 71.8% § 8,886 72.4 %
The following tables provide an analysis of home equity portfolio loans by state with a combined LTV greater than 80%:
TABLE 46: HOME EQUITY PORTFOLIO LOANS OUTSTANDING WITH A LTV GREATER THAN 80%
For the Year Ended
December 31, 2015
90 Days
As of December 31, 2015 ($ in millions) Outstanding Exposure Past Due  Nonaccrual Net Charge-offs
By State:
Ohio $ 1,081 1,830 - 10 6
Michigan 519 773 - 5 5
Tllinois 305 457 - 3 3
Indiana 220 352 - 3 3
Kentucky 208 344 - 2 1
Florida 95 129 - 2 1
All other states 228 320 - 5 2
Total $ 2,656 4,205 - 30 21
TABLE 47: HOME EQUITY PORTFOLIO LOANS OUTSTANDING WITH A LTV GREATER THAN 80%
For the Year Ended
December 31, 2014
90 Days
As of December 31, 2014 (§ in millions) Outstanding Exposure Past Due  Nonaccrual Net Charge-offs
By State:
Ohio $ 1,123 1,338 - 9
Michigan 613 882 - 7 8
Tllinois 346 507 - 6 6
Indiana 260 404 - 4 3
Kentucky 246 390 - 3 3
Florida 107 143 - 2
All other states 275 376 - 5 4
Total $ 2,970 4,540 - 36 35
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Automobile Portfolio new automobiles. It is a common practice to advance on automobile
The automobile portfolio is characterized by direct and indirect loans an amount in excess of the automobile value due to the
lending products to consumers. As of December 31, 2015, 50% of inclusion of taxes, title and other fees paid at closing. The Bancorp
the automobile loan portfolio is comprised of loans collateralized by monitors its exposure to these higher risk loans.

The following table provides an analysis of automobile portfolio loans outstanding by LTV at origination:

TABLE 48: AUTOMOBILE PORTFOLIO LOANS OUTSTANDING BY LTV AT ORIGINATION

2015 2014
Weighted- Weighted-
As of December 31 (§ in millions) Outstanding  Average LTV Outstanding ~ Average LTV
LTV = 100% $ 7,740 81.7% §$ 8,212 81.6 %
LTV > 100% 3,753 111.3 3,825 111.0
Total $ 11,493 91.7% $ 12,037 91.3 %

The following table provides an analysis of the Bancorp’s automobile portfolio loans with a LTV at origination greater than 100%:

TABLE 49: AUTOMOBILE PORTFOLIO LOANS OUTSTANDING WITH A LTV GREATER THAN 100%

90 Days Past Net Charge-offs for the
As of (§ in millions) Outstanding Due and Accruing Nonaccrual Year Ended
December 31, 2015 $ 3,753 5 1 20
December 31, 2014 3,825 5 1 16
European Exposure Bancorp’s risk appetite for foreign country exposure is managed by
The Bancorp has no direct sovereign exposure to any European having established country exposure limits. The Bancorp’s total
government as of December 31, 2015. In providing services to our exposure to FEuropean domiciled or owned businesses and
customers, the Bancorp routinely enters into financial transactions European financial institutions was $3.7 billion and funded
with foreign domiciled and U.S. subsidiaries of foreign businesses as exposure was $1.9 billion as of December 31, 2015. Additionally,
well as foreign financial institutions. These financial transactions are the Bancorp was within its established country exposure limits for
in the form of loans, loan commitments, letters of credit, all European countries.

derivatives, guarantees, bankers acceptances and securities. The

The following table provides detail about the Bancorp’s exposure to all European domiciled and owned businesses and financial institutions as of

December 31, 2015:

TABLE 50: EUROPEAN EXPOSURE

Non-Financial

Sovereigns Financial Institutions Institutions Total
Total Funded Total Funded Total Funded Total Funded
($ in millions) Exposure® Exposure  Exposure® Exposure  Exposure® Exposure  Exposure® Exposure
Peripheral Europe® $ - - 270 228 43 24 313 252
Other Eurozone® - - 294 133 1,850 994 2,144 1,127
Total Eurozone $ - - 564 361 1,893 1,018 2,457 1,379
Other Europe@ - - 145 92 1,058 417 1,203 509
Total Europe $ - - 709 453 2,951 1,435 3,660 1,888

(a)  Total exposure includes funded exposure and unfunded commitments.

(b)  Peripheral Eurgpe includes Greece, Ireland, Italy, Portngal and Spain.

(¢)  Eurozone includes conntries participating in the European common currency (Euro).

(d)  Other Enrope includes Eunropean countries not part of the Enrozone (primarily the United Kingdom and Switzerland).

Analysis of Nonperforming Assets Nonperforming assets were $659 million at December 31 2015
Nonperforming assets include nonaccrual loans and leases for compared to $783 million at December 31, 2014. At December 31,
which ultimate collectability of the full amount of the principal 2015, $12 million of nonaccrual loans were held for sale, compared
and/or interest is uncertain; restructured commercial and credit card to $39 million at December 31, 2014. The decrease in nonaccrual
loans which have not yet met the requirements to be classified as a loans held for sale from December 31, 2014 was primarily due to
performing asset; restructured consumer loans which are 90 days the sale in 2015 of $10 million of held for sale residential mortgage
past due based on the restructured terms unless the loan is both loans classified as TDRs. The remaining decrease was due to
well-secured and in the process of collection; and certain other paydowns and additional sales of nonaccrual loans held for sale.

assets, including OREO and other repossessed property. A Nonperforming assets as a percentage of total loans and leases
summary of nonperforming assets is included in Table 51. For and OREO, as of December 31, 2015 were 0.70%, compared to
further information on the Bancorp’s policies related to accounting 0.86% as of December 31, 2014. Nonperforming portfolio assets as
for delinquent and nonperforming loans and leases refer to the a percent of portfolio loans and leases and OREO were 0.70% as of
Nonaccrual Loans and Leases section of Note 1 of the Notes to December 31, 2015, compared to 0.82% as of December 31, 2014.
Consolidated Financial Statements. Nonaccrual loans and leases secured by real estate were 43% of total
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nonaccrual loans and leases as of December 31, 2015 compared to
50% as of December 31, 2014.

Commercial portfolio nonaccrual loans and leases were $341
million at December 31, 2015, a decrease of $26 million from
December 31, 2014 as charge-offs, loan paydowns/payoffs, loan
transfers to OREO and loans sold outpaced new nonaccruals.

Consumer portfolio nonaccrual loans and leases were $165
million at December 31, 2015, a decrease of $47 million from
December 31, 2014. The decrease was primarily due to charge-offs,
loan paydowns/payoffs and transfers to accrual status and OREO
which outpaced new mnonaccrual loans. Geographical market
conditions continue to be a large driver of nonaccrual activity as
Florida properties represent approximately 11% of residential
mortgage balances, but represent 27% of nonaccrual loans at
December 31, 2015. Refer to Table 52 for a rollforward of the
nonaccrual loans and leases.

OREO and other repossessed property was $141 million at
December 31, 2015, compared to $165 million at December 31,
2014. The Bancorp recognized $24 million and $26 million in losses
on the sale or write-down of OREO properties during the years
ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The decrease
from the prior year was primarily due to a modest improvement in
general economic conditions.

During the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014,
approximately $35 million and $49 million, respectively, of interest
income would have been recognized if the nonaccrual and
renegotiated loans and leases on nonaccrual status had been current
in accordance with their original terms. Although these values help
demonstrate the costs of carrying nonaccrual credits, the Bancorp
does not expect to recover the full amount of interest as nonaccrual
loans and leases are generally carried below their principal balance.

TABLE 51: SUMMARY OF NONPERFORMING ASSETS AND DELINQUENT LOANS

As of December 31 (§ in millions) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
Nonaccrual portfolio loans and leases:
Commercial and industrial loans 82 86 127 234 408
Commercial mortgage loans 56 64 90 215 358
Commercial construction loans - - 10 70 123
Commercial leases - 3 3 1 9
Residential mortgage loans 28 44 83 114 134
Home equity 62 72 74 30 25
Other consumer loans and leases - - - 1 1
Nonaccrual portfolio restructured loans and leases:
Commercial and industrial loans 177 142 154 96 79
Commercial mortgage loans® 25 71 53 67 63
Commercial construction loans - 19 6 15
Commercial leases 1 1 2 8 3
Residential mortgage loans 23 33 83 123 141
Home equity 17 21 19 23 29
Automobile loans 2 1 1 2 2
Credit card 33 41 33 39 48
Total nonaccrual portfolio loans and leases® 506 579 751 1,029 1,438
OREO and other repossessed property@ 141 165 229 257 378
Total nonperforming portfolio assets 647 744 980 1,286 1,816
Nonaccrual loans held for sale 1 24 6 25 131
Nonaccrual restructured loans held for sale 11 15 - 4 7
Total nonperforming assets 659 783 986 1,315 1,954
Loans and leases 90 days past due and accruing:
Commercial and industrial loans 7 - - 1 4
Commercial mortgage loans - - - 22 3
Commercial construction loans - - - 1 1
Residential mortgage loans® 40 56 66 75 79
Home equity - - - 58 74
Automobile loans 10 8 8 8 9
Credit card 18 23 29 30 30
Total loans and leases 90 days past due and accruing 75 87 103 195 200
Nonperforming portfolio assets as a percent of portfolio loans and leases
and OREO 0.70 % 0.82 1.10 1.49 2.23
ALLL as a percent of nonperforming portfolio assets 197 178 161 144 124

Information for all periods presented excludes loans whose repayments are insured by the FFHLA or guaranteed by the V.A. These loans were $335, $373, $§378, §414 and $309 as of December
31, 2015, 2014, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively. The Bancorp recognized losses of 88, §13, §5, 82 and immaterial for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, 2013, 2012 and

cial loans whose repayments are insured by the SBA at December 31, 2015, 2014, 2013, 2012 and 2011,
respectively, and 32, §4, $2, $1, and §2 of restructured nonaccrual government insured commercial loans at December 31, 2015, 2014, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
Exccludes $20 of restructured nonaccrnal loans at December 31, 2015 and $§21 at both December 31, 2014 and 2013 associated with a consolidated V1E in which the Bancorp has no

(@)
2011, respectively, due o claim denials and curtailments associated with these advances.
(b)  Includes 86, $9, $10, §10 and §17 of nonaccrual government insured
©
continuing credit risk due to the risk being assumed by a third party.
@)

Excludes $14, §71, §77, 872 and $64 of OREQ related to government insured loans at December 31, 2015, 2014, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The Bancorp has historically
exccluded government gnaranteed loans classified in OREQ from its nonperforming asset disclosures. Upon the prospective adoption on Jannary 1, 2015 of ASU 2014-14, “Classification of Certain
Government-Guaranteed Mortgage Loans Upon Foreclosure,” government gnaranteed loans meeting certain criteria will be reclassified to other receivables rather than OREQ upon foreclosure. As of
December 31, 2015, the Bancorp had $44 of government guaranteed loans classified as other receivables. Refer to Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial S 15 for further
information on the adoption of this amended guidance.
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The following table provides a rollforward of portfolio nonaccrual loans and leases, by portfolio segment:

TABLE 52: ROLLFORWARD OF PORTFOLIO NONACCRUAL LOANS AND LEASES

Residential

For the year ended December 31, 2015 ($ in millions) Commercial Mortgage Consumer Total

Balance, beginning of period $ 367 77 135 579
Transfers to nonaccrual 515 65 155 735
Transfers to accrual status @) 39) (68) (116)
Transfers from held for sale - 5 - 5
Transfers to held for sale (12) - ()) 13)
Loans sold from portfolio (11) - - (11)
Loan paydowns/payoffs (189) (15) (28) (232)
Transfers to OREO (32) (29) (18) (79)
Charge-offs (298) 13) (61) 372)
Draws/other extensions of credit 10 - - 10

Balance, end of period $ 341 51 114 506

For the year ended December 31, 2014 (§ in millions)

Balance, beginning of period $ 458 166 127 751
Transfers to nonaccrual 520 135 219 874
Transfers to accrual status (71) (79) (88) (238)
Transfers to held for sale “ 24 - (28)
Loans sold from portfolio (43) - - (43)
Loan paydowns/payoffs (181) 41) ) (231)
Transfers to OREO (41) (67) (22 (130)
Charge-offs 279) (13) 92 (384)
Draws/other extensions of credit 8 - - 8

Balance, end of period $ 367 77 135 579

Troubled Debt Restructurings

If a borrower is experiencing financial difficulty, the Bancorp may
consider, in certain circumstances, modifying the terms of their loan
to maximize collection of amounts due. Typically, these
modifications reduce the loan interest rate, extend the loan term,
reduce the accrued interest or in limited circumstances, reduce the
principal balance of the loan. These modifications are classified as
TDRs.

At the time of modification, the Bancorp maintains certain
consumer loan TDRs (including residential mortgage loans, home
equity loans, and other consumer loans) on accrual status, provided
there is reasonable assurance of repayment and performance
according to the modified terms based upon a current, well-
documented credit evaluation. Commercial loans modified as part

The following tables summarize TDRs by loan type and delinquency status:

TABLE 53: ACCRUING AND NONACCRUING PORTFOLIO TDRs

of a TDR are maintained on accrual status provided there is a
sustained payment history of six months or greater prior to the
modification in accordance with the modified terms and all
remaining contractual payments under the modified terms are
reasonably assured of collection. TDRs of commercial loans and
credit card loans that do not have a sustained payment history of six
months or greater in accordance with the modified terms remain on
nonaccrual status until a six month payment history is sustained.

Consumer restructured loans on accrual status totaled $979
million and $905 million at December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. As of December 31, 2015, the percentage of
restructured residential mortgage loans, home equity loans, and
credit card loans that are past due 30 days or more were 30%, 11%
and 31%, respectively.

Accruing
30-89 Days 90 Days or

As of December 31, 2015 ($ in millions) Current Past Due More Past Due Nonaccruing Total
Commercial loans®@ $ 487 4 - 203 694
Residential mortgage loans 443 54 110 23 630
Home equity 307 20 - 17 344
Automobile loans 17 - - 2 19
Credit card 24 4 - 33 61
Total $ 1,278 82 110 278 1,748
(@) Information includes advances made pursuant to servicing agreements for GNMA morigage pools whose repayments are insured by the FHLA or guaranteed by the 1A. As of December 31,

2015, these advances represented 8202 of current loans, $42 of 30-89 days past due loans and $99 of 90 days or more past due loans.

®)
risk due to the risk being assumed by a third party.
(¢c)  Excludes restructured nonaccrual loans held for sale.
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TABLE 54: ACCRUING AND NONACCRUING PORTFOLIO TDRs

Accruing
30-89 Days 90 Days or
As of December 31, 2014 (§ in millions) Current Past Due More Past Due Nonaccruing Total
Commercial loans® $ 867 2 - 214 1,083
Residential mortgage loans@ 312 54 119 33 518
Home equity 337 23 - 21 381
Automobile loans 22 1 - 1 24
Credit card 31 6 - 41 78
Total $ 1,569 86 119 310 2,084

(a)  Information includes advances made pursnant to servicing agreements for GNMA morigage pools whose repayments are insured by the FHA or guaranteed by the 1VA. As of December 31, 2014,
these advances represented §165 of current loans, §42 of 30-89 days past due loans and $§102 of 90 days or more past due loans.

(b)  As of December 31, 2014, excludes §7 of restructured accruing loans and §21 of restructured nonaccrual loans associated with a consolid,

risk due to the risk being assumed by a third party.

(¢)  Excludes restructured nonaccrual loans held for sale.

Analysis of Net Loan Charge-offs

Net charge-offs were 48 bps and 64 bps of average portfolio loans
and leases for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. Table 55 provides a summary of credit loss experience
and net charge-offs as a percentage of average portfolio loans and
leases outstanding by loan category.

The ratio of commercial loan and lease net charge-offs to
average portfolio commercial loans and leases decreased to 46 bps
during the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to 48 bps in
the same period in the prior year, primarily as a result of an increase
in average commercial loan and lease balances of $2.3 billion.
Commercial net charge-offs were flat for the year ended December
31, 2015 compared to the year ended December 31, 2014.

The ratio of consumer loan and lease net charge-offs to
average consumer loans and leases decreased to 51 bps for the year
ended December 31, 2015 compated to 86 bps for the year ended
December 31, 2014. Residential mortgage loan net charge-offs,
which typically involve pattial charge-offs based upon appraised
values of undetlying collateral, decteased $109 million from

d VIE in which the Bancorp has no continuning credit

December 31, 2014. The decrease in net charge-offs on residential
mortgage loans was primarily due to an $87 million charge-off
related to the transfer of certain residential mortgage loans from
portfolio to held for sale in the fourth quarter of 2014. The
remaining decrease was due to improvements in delinquencies and
loss severities. The Bancorp expects the composition of the
residential mortgage portfolio to improve as it continues to retain
high quality residential mortgage loans.

Home equity net charge-offs decreased $20 million compared
to the year ended December 31, 2014, primarily due to
improvements in loss severities. In addition, management actively
manages lines of credit and makes reductions in lending limits when
it believes it is necessary based on FICO score deterioration and
property devaluation.

Automobile loans, credit card and other consumer loans and
leases net charge-offs remained relatively flat compared to the prior
year. The Bancorp utilizes a risk-adjusted pricing methodology to
ensure adequate compensation is received for those products that
have higher credit costs.

69 Fifth Third Bancorp



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

TABLE 55: SUMMARY OF CREDIT LOSS EXPERIENCE

For the years ended December 31 ($ in millions) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
Losses charged-off:
Commercial and industrial loans (253) (248) (207) (194) (314)
Commercial mortgage loans 39) (37) (60) (120) (211)
Commercial construction loans “ (13) ) (34) (89)
Commercial leases 2) ) @) (10) )
Residential mortgage loans (28) (139) (70) (129) (180)
Home equity (55) (75) (114) (172) (234
Automobile loans (46) (44) (44) (55) (85)
Credit card 94) 95) 92) 90) (114)
Other consumer loans and leases (21) 27) (33) (33) (86)
Total losses charged-off (542) (679) (637) (837) (1,314
Recoveries of losses previously charged-off:
Commercial and industrial loans 24 26 39 29 38
Commercial mortgage loans 12 11 19 21 16
Commercial construction loans 1 1 5 9 4
Commercial leases - - 1 2 3
Residential mortgage loans 11 13 10 7 7
Home equity 16 16 17 15 14
Automobile loans 18 17 22 24 32
Credit card 12 13 14 16 16
Other consumer loans and leases 2 7 9 10 12
Total recoveries of losses previously charged-off 96 104 136 133 142
Net losses charged-off:
Commercial and industrial loans (229) (222) (168) (165) (276)
Commercial mortgage loans (27) (26) 47) 99) (195)
Commercial construction loans 3 (12) 4) (25) (85)
Commercial leases 2) ) @ ®) 2
Residential mortgage loans a7) (126) (60) (122) 173)
Home equity 39) (59) 97) (157) (220)
Automobile loans (28) 27) (22 (31) (53)
Credit card (82) (82) (78) (74) 98)
Other consumer loans and leases (19) (20) (24) (23) (74)
Total net losses charged-off (446) (575) (501) (704) (1,172)
Net losses charged-off as a percent of average portfolio loans and leases:
Commercial and industrial loans 0.54 % 0.54 0.44 0.50 0.97
Commercial mortgage loans 0.38 0.34 0.56 1.02 1.89
Commercial construction loans 0.11 0.79 0.51 3.08 4.96
Commercial leases 0.04 0.01 0.04 0.22 (0.08)
Total commercial loans and leases 0.46 0.48 0.44 0.63 1.26
Residential mortgage loans 0.13 0.99 0.48 1.07 1.75
Home equity 0.46 0.65 1.02 1.51 1.97
Automobile loans 0.24 0.22 0.18 0.26 0.47
Credit card 3.60 3.60 3.67 3.79 5.19
Other consumer loans and leases 3.26 5.80 6.71 7.02 15.29
Total consumer loans and leases 0.51 0.86 0.77 1.13 1.79
Total net losses charged-off as a percent of average portfolio loans and leases 0.48 % 0.64 0.58 0.85 1.49

Allowance for Credit Losses

The allowance for credit losses is comprised of the ALLL and the
reserve for unfunded commitments. The ALLL provides coverage
for probable and estimable losses in the loan and lease portfolio.
The Bancorp evaluates the ALLL each quarter to determine its
adequacy to cover inherent losses. Several factors are taken into
consideration in the determination of the overall ALLL, including
an unallocated component. These factors include, but ate not
limited to, the overall risk profile of the loan and lease portfolios,
net charge-off experience, the extent of impaired loans and leases,
the level of nonaccrual loans and leases, the level of 90 days past
due loans and leases and the overall level of the ALLL as a percent
of portfolio loans and leases. The Bancorp also considers overall
asset quality trends, credit administration and portfolio management
practices, risk identification practices, credit policy and underwriting
practices, overall portfolio growth, portfolio concentrations and
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current national and local economic conditions that might impact
the portfolio. Refer to the Critical Accounting Policies section of
MD&A for more information.

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Bancorp did
not substantively change any material aspect of its overall approach
in the determination of the ALLL and there have been no material
changes in assumptions or estimation techniques as compared to
prior periods that impacted the determination of the current period
allowance. In addition to the ALLL, the Bancorp maintains a
reserve for unfunded commitments recorded in other liabilities in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The methodology used to
determine the adequacy of this reserve is similar to the Bancorp’s
methodology for determining the ALLL. The provision for
unfunded commitments is included in other noninterest expense in
the Consolidated Statements of Income.
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The ALLL attributable to the portion of the tesidential
mortgage and consumer loan and lease portfolio that has not been
restructured is determined on a pooled basis with the segmentation
based on the similarity of credit risk characteristics. Loss factors for
real estate backed consumer loans are developed for each pool
based on the trailing twelve month historical loss rate, as adjusted
for certain prescriptive loss rate factors and certain qualitative
adjustment factors. The prescriptive loss rate factors and qualitative
adjustments are designed to reflect risks associated with current
conditions and trends which are not believed to be fully reflected in
the trailing twelve month historical loss rate. For real estate backed
consumer loans, the prescriptive loss rate factors include
adjustments for delinquency trends, LTV trends, refreshed FICO
score trends and product mix, and the qualitative factors include
adjustments for credit administration and portfolio management
practices, credit policy and underwriting practices and the national
and local economy. The Bancorp considers home price index trends
in its footprint when determining the national and local economy
qualitative factor. The Bancorp also considers the volatility of
collateral valuation trends when determining the unallocated
component of the ALLL.

TABLE 56: CHANGES IN ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES

The Bancorp’s determination of the ALLL for commercial
loans is sensitive to the risk grades it assigns to these loans. In the
event that 10% of commercial loans in each risk category would
experience a downgrade of one risk category, the allowance for
commercial loans would increase by approximately $149 million at
December 31, 2015. In addition, the Bancorp’s determination of the
ALLL for residential mortgage and consumer loans and leases is
sensitive to changes in estimated loss rates. In the event that
estimated loss rates would increase by 10%, the ALLL for
residential mortgage and consumer loans and leases would increase
by approximately $32 million at December 31, 2015. As several
qualitative and quantitative factors are considered in determining the
ALLL, these sensitivity analyses do not necessarily reflect the nature
and extent of future changes in the ALLL. They are intended to
provide insights into the impact of adverse changes to risk grades
and estimated loss rates and do not imply any expectation of future
deterioration in the risk ratings or loss rates. Given current
processes employed by the Bancorp, management believes the risk
grades and estimated loss rates currently assigned are appropriate.

For the years ended December 31 ($ in millions) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

ALLL:

Balance, beginning of period 1,322 1,582 1,854 2,255 3,004
Losses charged-off (542) (679) (637) (837) (1,314)
Recoveries of losses previously charged-off 96 104 136 133 142
Provision for loan and lease losses 396 315 229 303 423

Balance, end of period 1,272 1,322 1,582 1,854 2,255

Reserve for unfunded commitments:

Balance, beginning of period 135 162 179 181 227
Provision for (benefit from) unfunded commitments 4 27 17) @) (46)
Charge-offs 1) - - - -

Balance, end of period 138 135 162 179 181

Certain inherent, but unconfirmed losses are probable within the
loan and lease portfolio. The Bancorp’s current methodology for
determining the level of losses is based on historical loss rates,
current credit grades, specific allocation on impaired commercial
credits above specified thresholds and restructured loans and other
qualitative adjustments. Due to the heavy reliance on realized
historical losses and the credit grade rating process, the model-
derived estimate of ALLL tends to slightly lag behind the
deterioration in the portfolio in a stable or deteriorating credit
environment, and tends not to be as responsive when improved
conditions have presented themselves. Given these model
limitations, the qualitative adjustment factors may be incremental or
detrimental to the quantitative model results.

An unallocated component to the ALLL is maintained to
recognize the imprecision in estimating and measuring loss. The
unallocated allowance as a percent of total portfolio loans and leases
at both December 31, 2015 and 2014 was 0.12%. The unallocated
allowance was 9% of the total allowance as of December 31, 2015
compared to 8% as of December 31, 2014.

As shown in Table 57, the ALLL as a percent of portfolio
loans and leases was 1.37% at December 31, 2015, compared to
1.47% at December 31, 2014. The ALLL was $1.3 billion at both
December 31, 2015 and 2014.
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TABLE 57: ATTRIBUTION OF ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN AND LEASE LOSSES TO PORTFOLIO LOANS AND LEASES

As of December 31 (§ in millions) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
Attributed ALLL:
Commercial and industrial loans $ 652 673 767 802 929
Commercial mortgage loans 117 140 212 333 441
Commercial construction loans 24 17 26 33 77
Commercial leases 47 45 53 68 80
Residential mortgage loans 100 104 189 229 227
Home equity 67 87 94 143 195
Automobile loans 40 33 23 28 43
Credit card 929 104 92 87 106
Other consumer loans and leases 1 13 16 20 21
Unallocated 115 106 110 111 136
Total attributed ALLL $ 1,272 1,322 1,582 1,854 2,255
Portfolio loans and leases:
Commercial and industrial loans $ 42,131 40,765 39,316 36,038 30,783
Commercial mortgage loans 6,957 7,399 8,066 9,103 10,138
Commercial construction loans 3,214 2,069 1,039 698 1,020
Commercial leases 3,854 3,720 3,625 3,549 3,531
Residential mortgage loans 13,716 12,389 12,680 12,017 10,672
Home equity 8,301 8,886 9,246 10,018 10,719
Automobile loans 11,493 12,037 11,984 11,972 11,827
Credit card 2,259 2,401 2,294 2,097 1,978
Other consumer loans and leases 657 418 364 290 350
Total portfolio loans and leases $ 92,582 90,084 88,614 85,782 81,018
Attributed ALLL as a percent of respective portfolio loans and leases:
Commercial and industtial loans 1.55 % 1.65 1.95 2.23 3.02
Commercial mortgage loans 1.68 1.89 2.63 3.66 4.35
Commercial construction loans 0.75 0.82 2.50 4.73 7.55
Commercial leases 1.22 1.21 1.46 1.92 2.27
Residential mortgage loans 0.73 0.84 1.49 1.91 2.13
Home equity 0.81 0.98 1.02 1.43 1.82
Automobile loans 0.35 0.27 0.19 0.23 0.36
Credit card 4.38 4.33 4.01 4.15 5.36
Other consumer loans and leases 1.67 3.11 4.40 6.90 6.00
Unallocated (as a percent of portfolio loans and leases) 0.12 0.12 0.12 0.13 0.17
Attributed ALLL as a percent of portfolio loans and leases 1.37 % 1.47 1.79 2.16 2.78

MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT
Market risk arises from the potential for market fluctuations in
interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices that may
result in potential reductions in net income. Interest rate risk, a
component of market risk, is the exposure to adverse changes in net
interest income or financial position due to changes in interest rates.
Management considers interest rate risk a prominent market risk in
terms of its potential impact on earnings. Interest rate risk can occur
for any one or more of the following reasons:
e Assets and liabilities may mature or reprice at different times;
e Short-term and long-term market interest rates may change
by different amounts; or
e The expected maturity of various assets or liabilities may
shorten or lengthen as interest rates change.

In addition to the direct impact of interest rate changes on net
interest income, interest rates can indirectly impact earnings through
their effect on loan demand, credit losses, mortgage originations, the
value of servicing rights and other sources of the Bancorp’s
earnings. Stability of the Bancorp’s net income is largely dependent
upon the effective management of interest rate risk. Management
continually reviews the Bancorp’s balance sheet composition and
earnings flows and models the interest rate risk, and possible actions
to reduce this risk, given numerous possible future interest rate
scenarios.
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Interest Rate Risk Management Oversight

The Bancorp’s ALCO, which includes senior management
representatives and is accountable to the ERMC, monitors and
manages interest rate risk within Board approved policy limits. In
addition to the risk management activities of ALCO, the Bancorp
has a Market Risk Management function as part of ERM that
provides independent oversight of market risk activities.

Net Interest Income Sensitivity

The Bancorp employs a variety of measurement techniques to
identify and manage its interest rate risk, including the use of an NII
simulation model to analyze the sensitivity of net interest income to
changing interest rates. The model is based on contractual and
assumed cash flows and repricing characteristics for all of the
Bancorp’s assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet exposures and
incorporates market-based assumptions regarding the effect of
changing interest rates on the prepayment rates of certain assets and
attrition rates of certain liabilities. The model also includes senior
management’s projections of the future volume and pricing of each
of the product lines offered by the Bancorp as well as other
pertinent assumptions. Actual results may differ from simulated
results due to timing, magnitude and frequency of interest rate
changes as well as changes in market conditions and management
strategies.
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The Bancorp’s interest rate risk exposure is evaluated by
measuring the anticipated change in net interest income over 12-
month and 24-month hotizons assuming 100 bps and 200 bps
parallel ramped increases and a 25 bps parallel rate decrease in
interest rates. In accordance with policy, the 100 bps and 200 bps
parallel ramped increased rate movements are assumed to occur
over one year and are sustained thereafter. The 25 bps parallel rate
decrease is an immediate change. The analysis would typically
include 100 bps and 200 bps parallel ramped decreases in interest
rates; however, this analysis is currently omitted due to the current
low levels of certain interest rates. Applying the ramps would result
in certain interest rates becoming negative in the parallel ramped
decrease scenarios.

In this economic cycle, banks have experienced significant
growth in deposit balances, particularly in noninterest-bearing
demand deposits. The Bancorp, like other banks, is exposed to
deposit balance run-off in a rising interest rate environment. In
consideration of this risk, the Bancorp’s NII sensitivity modeling
assumes that approximately $2.5 billion of noninterest-bearing

demand deposit balances run-off for each 100 bps increase in short-
term market interest rates. These lost noninterest-bearing demand
deposit balances are modeled to flow into funding products that
reprice in conjunction with market rate increases.

Another important deposit modeling assumption is the amount
by which interest-bearing deposit rates will increase when market
rates increase. This deposit repricing sensitivity is known as the beta
and it represents the expected amount by which the Bancorp
deposit rates will increase for a given increase in short-term market
rates. The Bancorp’s NII sensitivity modeling assumes a weighted-
average interest-bearing deposit beta of approximately 70%, which
is approximately 20 percentage points higher than the 50% beta that
the Bancorp expetienced in the last FRB tightening cycle from June
2004 to June 2006.

The Bancorp continually evaluates the sensitivity of its interest
rate risk measures to these important deposit modeling
assumptions. The Bancorp also evaluates the sensitivity of other
important modeling assumptions, such as loan and secutity
prepayments and early withdrawals on fixed-rate customer liabilities.

The following table shows the Bancorp’s estimated NII sensitivity profile and ALCO policy limits as of December 31:

TABLE 58: ESTIMATED NII SENSITIVITY PROFILE

2015

2014

% Change in NII (FTE)

ALCO Policy Limits

% Change in NII (FTE) ALCO Policy Limits

13-24 13-24 13-24 13-24
Change in Interest Rates (bps) 12 Months Months 12 Months Months 12 Months Months 12 Months Months
+200 2.05 % 5.93 (4.00) (6.00) 2.19 6.49 (4.00) (6.00)
+100 112 3.87 - - 1.16 4.18 - -
-25 (1.39) (2.49) - - (1.43) (2.41) - -

At December 31, 2015, the Bancorp’s net interest income would
benefit in year one and year two under parallel ramp increases and
suffer from a parallel rate curve decline. The benefit to rising rates
was attributable to the combination of floating-rate assets, including
the predominantly floating-rate commercial loan portfolio, and
certain intermediate-term fixed-rate liabilities. The rising rates
benefit was down modestly compared to December 31, 2014. The
decline in the NII benefit was primarily attributable to growth in the

investment portfolio, with a partial offset from core deposit growth.
The year two benefit was also impacted by changes to wholesale
funding assumptions, which include a greater reliance on floating-
rate debt.

Tables 59 and 60 provide information on the Bancorp’s
estimated net interest income sensitivity profile given changes to
balances or certain key assumptions.

The following table shows the Bancorp's estimated net interest income sensitivity profile with a $1 billion decrease and a $1 billion increase in
demand deposit balances as of December 31, 2015:

TABLE 59: ESTIMATED NII SENSITIVITY ASSUMING A $1 BILLION CHANGE IN DEMAND DEPOSIT BALANCES
% Change in NII (FTE)

$1 Billion Balance Decrease

$1 Billion Balance Increase

12 13-24 12 13-24
Change in Interest Rates (bps) Months Months Months Months
+200 1.77 % 5.37 2.33 6.49
+100 0.98 3.59 1.26 4.14

The following table shows the Bancorp's estimated net interest income sensitivity profile with a 25% increase and a 25% decrease to the deposit
beta assumption as of December 31, 2015. The resulting weighted-average interest-bearing deposit beta included in this analysis is approximately
88% and 52%, respectively, as of December 31, 2015:
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TABLE 60: ESTIMATED NII SENSITIVITY WITH DEPOSIT BETA ASSUMPTION CHANGES

% Change in NII (FTE)

Betas 25% Higher Betas 25% Lower
13-24 12 13-24
Change in Interest Rates (bps) Months Months Months Months
+200 1.07) % (0.30) 5.16 12.16
+100 0.44) 0.75 2.68 6.98

Economic Value of Equity Sensitivity

The Bancorp also uses EVE as a measurement tool in managing
interest rate risk. Whereas the net interest income sensitivity analysis
highlights the impact on forecasted NII over one and two year time
horizons, the EVE analysis is a point in time analysis of the current
positions that incorporates all cash flows over their estimated
remaining lives. The EVE of the balance sheet is defined as the
discounted present value of all asset and net derivative cash flows
less the discounted value of all liability cash flows. Due to this

longer horizon, the sensitivity of EVE to changes in the level of
interest rates is a measure of longer-term interest rate risk. EVE
values only the current balance sheet and does not incorporate the
growth assumptions used in the NII sensitivity analysis. As with the
NII simulation model, assumptions about the timing and variability
of existing balance sheet cash flows are critical in the EVE analysis.
Particularly important are assumptions driving loan and security
prepayments and the expected balance attrition and pricing of
transaction deposits.

The following table shows the Bancorp’s estimated EVE sensitivity profile as of December 31:

TABLE 61: ESTIMATED EVE SENSITIVITY PROFILE

2015 2014
Change in Interest Rates (bps) Change in EVE ALCO Policy Limit Change in EVE ALCO Policy Limit
+200 5.21) % (12.00) (2.21) (12.00)
+100 (2.30) - 0.62) -
+25 (0.44) - (0.06) -
-25 0.32 - (0.05) -

The EVE sensitivity to rising rates was modestly negative at
December 31, 2015 and exposure to rising rates has increased from
the EVE sensitivity at December 31, 2014. The higher level of EVE
risk since December 31, 2014 was attributable to growth in the
investment portfolio and certain fixed-rate consumer loans.

While an instantaneous shift in interest rates was used in this
analysis to provide an estimate of exposure, the Bancorp believes
that a gradual shift in interest rates would have a much more modest
impact. Since EVE measures the discounted present value of cash
flows over the estimated lives of instruments, the change in EVE
does not directly correlate to the degree that earnings would be
impacted over a shorter time horizon (e.g., the cutrent fiscal year).
Further, EVE does not take into account factors such as future
balance sheet growth, changes in product mix, changes in yield
curve relationships and changing product spreads that could
mitigate ot exacerbate the impact of changes in interest rates. The
NII simulations and EVE analyses do not necessarily include certain
actions that management may undertake to manage risk in response
to anticipated changes in interest rates.

The Bancorp regularly evaluates its exposures to a static
balance sheet forecast, LIBOR, Prime Rate and other basis risks,
yield curve twist risks and embedded options risks. In addition, the
impact on NII on an FTE basis and EVE of extreme changes in
interest rates is modeled, wherein the Bancorp employs the use of
yield curve shocks and environment-specific scenatios.

Use of Derivatives to Manage Interest Rate Risk

An integral component of the Bancorp’s interest rate risk
management strategy is its use of detivative instruments to minimize
significant fluctuations in earnings caused by changes in market
interest rates. Examples of derivative instruments that the Bancorp
may use as part of its interest rate risk management strategy include
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interest rate swaps, interest rate floors, interest rate caps, forward
contracts, forward starting interest rate swaps, options, swaptions
and TBA securities.

As part of its overall risk management strategy relative to its
mortgage banking activity, the Bancorp enters into forward
contracts accounted for as free-standing derivatives to economically
hedge IRLCs that are also considered free-standing derivatives.
Additionally, the Bancorp economically hedges its exposure to
mortgage loans held for sale through the use of forward contracts
and mortgage options.

The Bancorp also establishes derivative contracts with major
financial institutions to economically hedge significant exposures
assumed in commercial customer accommodation derivative
contracts. Generally, these contracts have similar terms in order to
protect the Bancorp from market volatility. Credit risk arises from
the possible inability of counterparties to meet the terms of their
contracts, which the Bancorp minimizes through collateral
arrangements, approvals, limits and monitoring procedures. For
further information including the notional amount and fair values of
these derivatives, refer to Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Portfolio Loans and Leases and Interest Rate Risk

Although the Bancorp’s portfolio loans and leases contain both
fixed and floating/adjustable-rate products, the rates of interest
earned by the Bancorp on the outstanding balances are generally
established for a period of time. The interest rate sensitivity of loans
and leases is directly related to the length of time the rate earned is
established. The following table summarizes the carrying value of
the Bancorp’s portfolio loans and leases expected cash flows as of

December 31, 2015:
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TABLE 62: PORTFOLIO LOANS AND LEASES EXPECTED CASH FLOWS

IAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

($ in millions) Less than 1 year 1-5 years Over 5 years Total
Commercial and industrial loans $ 21,699 18,933 1,499 42,131
Commercial mortgage loans 2,728 3,781 448 6,957
Commercial construction loans 1,301 1,881 32 3214
Commercial leases 751 1,756 1,347 3,854

Total commercial loans and leases 26,479 26,351 3,326 56,156
Residential mortgage loans 2,446 6,229 5,041 13,716
Home equity 1,050 1,654 5,597 8,301
Automobile loans 5,159 6,203 131 11,493
Credit card 452 1,807 - 2,259
Other consumer loans and leases 482 135 40 657

Total consumer loans and leases 9,589 16,028 10,809 36,426

Total portfolio loans and leases $ 36,068 42,379 14,135 92,582

Additionally, the following table displays a summary of expected cash flows, excluding interest receivable, occurring after one year for both fixed

and floating/adjustable-rate loans and leases as of December 31, 2015:

TABLE 63: PORTFOLIO LOANS AND LEASES EXPECTED CASH FLOWS

OCCURRING AFTER 1 YEAR

Interest Rate

($ in millions) Fixed Floating or Adjustable
Commercial and industrial loans $ 2,729 17,703
Commercial mortgage loans 958 3,271
Commercial construction loans 4 1,909
Commercial leases 3,103 -

Total commercial loans and leases 6,794 22,883
Residential mortgage loans 8,113 3,157
Home equity 624 6,627
Automobile loans 6,280 54
Credit card 535 1,272
Other consumer loans and leases 20 155

Total consumer loans and leases 15,572 11,265

Total portfolio loans and leases $ 22,366 34,148

Residential Mortgage Servicing Rights and Interest Rate Risk
The net carrying amount of the residential MSR portfolio was $784
million and $856 million as of December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. The value of servicing rights can fluctuate sharply
depending on changes in interest rates and other factors. Generally,
as interest rates decline and loans are prepaid to take advantage of
refinancing, the total value of existing servicing rights declines
because no further servicing fees are collected on repaid loans. The
Bancorp maintains a non-qualifying hedging strategy relative to its
mortgage banking activity in order to manage a portion of the risk
associated with changes in the value of its MSR portfolio as a result
of changing interest rates.

Mortgage rates increased duting the year ended December 31,
2015 which caused actual prepayments on the servicing portfolio to
decrease. The decrease in actual prepayments on the servicing
portfolio caused the modeled prepayment speeds to decrease, which
led to a recovery of temporary impairment of $4 million on
servicing rights during the year ended December 31, 2015. Mortgage
rates decreased during the year ended December 31, 2014 which
caused actual prepayments on the servicing portfolio to increase.
The increase in actual prepayments on the servicing portfolio caused
the modeled prepayment speeds to increase, which led to a
temporary impairment of $65 million on servicing rights during the
year ended December 31, 2014.

Servicing rights are deemed temporarily impaired when a
borrower’s loan rate is distinctly higher than prevailing rates.
Temporaty impairment on servicing rights is reversed when the
prevailing rates return to a level commensurate with the borrower’s

loan rate. In addition to the MSR valuation, the Bancorp recognized
net gains of $90 million and $95 million on derivatives associated
with its non-qualifying hedging strategy during the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The Bancorp may adjust
its hedging strategy to reflect its assessment of the composition of
its. MSR portfolio, the cost of hedging and the anticipated
effectiveness of the hedges given the economic environment. Refer
to Note 12 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for
further discussion on servicing rights and the instruments used to
hedge interest rate risk on MSRs.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Bancorp may enter into foreign exchange derivative contracts
to economically hedge certain foreign denominated loans. The
derivatives are classified as free-standing instruments with the
revaluation gain or loss being recorded in other noninterest income
in the Consolidated Statements of Income. The balance of the
Bancorp’s foreign denominated loans at December 31, 2015 and
December 31, 2014 was $812 million and $720 million, respectively.
The Bancorp also enters into foreign exchange contracts for the
benefit of commercial customers involved in international trade to
hedge their exposure to foreign currency fluctuations. The Bancorp
has internal controls in place to help ensure excessive risk is not
being taken in providing this service to customers. These controls
include an independent determination of cutrency volatility and
credit equivalent exposure on these contracts, counterparty credit
approvals and country limits.
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LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT

The goal of liquidity management is to provide adequate funds to
meet changes in loan and lease demand, unexpected levels of
deposit withdrawals and other contractual obligations. Mitigating
liquidity risk is accomplished by maintaining liquid assets in the
form of cash, investment securities, maintaining sufficient unused
borrowing capacity in the debt markets and delivering consistent
growth in core deposits. A summary of certain obligations and
commitments to make future payments under contracts is included
in Note 17 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Bancorp maintains a contingency funding plan that
assesses the liquidity needs under various scenarios of market
conditions, asset growth and credit rating downgtades. The plan
includes liquidity stress testing which measures various sources and
uses of funds under the different scenarios. The contingency plan
provides for ongoing monitoring of unused borrowing capacity and
available sources of contingent liquidity to prepare for unexpected
liquidity needs and to cover unanticipated events that could affect
liquidity.

Sources of Funds

The Bancorp’s primary sources of funds relate to cash flows from
loan and lease repayments, payments from securities related to sales
and maturities, the sale or securitization of loans and leases and
funds generated by core deposits, in addition to the use of public
and private debt offerings.

Table 62 of the Market Risk Management subsection of the
Risk Management section of MD&A illustrates the expected
maturities from loan and lease repayments. Of the $29.0 billion of
securities in the Bancorp’s available-for-sale and other portfolio at
December 31, 2015, $3.9 billion in principal and interest is expected
to be received in the next 12 months and an additional $3.7 billion is
expected to be received in the next 13 to 24 months. For further
information on the Bancorp’s securities portfolio, refer to the
Investment Securities subsection of the Balance Sheet Analysis
section of MD&A.

Asset-driven liquidity is provided by the Bancorp’s ability to
sell or securitize loans and leases. In order to reduce the exposure to
interest rate fluctuations and to manage liquidity, the Bancorp has
developed securitization and sale procedures for several types of
interest-sensitive assets. A majority of the long-term, fixed-rate
single-family residential mortgage loans underwritten according to
FHILMC or FNMA guidelines are sold for cash upon origination.
Additional assets such as certain other residential mortgages, certain
commercial loans, home equity loans, automobile loans and other
consumer loans are also capable of being securitized or sold. For the
years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Bancorp sold or
securitized loans totaling $6.4 billion and $9.4 billion, respectively.
For further information on the transfer of financial assets, refer to
Note 12 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Core deposits have historically provided the Bancorp with a
sizeable source of relatively stable and low cost funds. The
Bancorp’s average core deposits and average shareholders’ equity
funded 82% of its average total assets during the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014. In addition to core deposit funding,
the Bancorp also accesses a variety of other short-term and long-
term funding sources, which include the use of the FHLB system.
Certificates $100,000 and over and deposits in the Bancorp’s foreign
branch located in the Cayman Islands are wholesale funding tools
utilized to fund asset growth. Management does not rely on any one
source of liquidity and manages availability in response to changing
balance sheet needs.

As of December 31, 2015, $8.9 billion of debt or other
securities were available for issuance under the current Bancorp’s
Board of Directors’ authorizations and the Bancorp is authorized to
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file any necessary registration statements with the SEC to permit
ready access to the public securities markets; however, access to
these markets may depend on market conditions. On July 27, 2015,
the Bancorp issued and sold $1.1 billion of senior fixed-rate notes.
At December 31, 2015, the Bancorp has approximately $38.6 billion
of borrowing capacity available through secured borrowing sources
including the FHLB and FRB.

The Bancorp’s banking subsidiary’s global bank note program
has a borrowing capacity of $25 billion. On August 20, 2015, the
Bank issued and sold $1.0 billion of senior fixed-rate notes and $250
million of senior floating-rate notes. The Bank has $18.4 billion of
borrowing capacity under the bank note program as of December
31, 2015.

For the year ended December 31, 2015, the Bancorp
transferred approximately $750 million in consumer automobile
loans to a bankruptcy remote trust which was deemed to be a VIE.
The Bancorp concluded that it is the primary beneficiary of this
VIE and, therefore, has consolidated this VIE. The assets of this
VIE are restricted to the settlement of the notes and other
obligations of the VIE. Third-party holders of the notes do not

have recourse to the general assets of the Bancorp.

Liquidity Coverage Ratio and Net Stable Funding Ratio

A key reform within the Basel III framework to strengthen
international liquidity standards was the BCBS’ introduction of the
LCR and NSFR. On January 7, 2013, the BCBS issued a final
standard for the LCR applicable to large internationally active
banking organizations. The BCBS issued a final NSFR standard in
the fourth quarter of 2014 and disclosure requirements in the
second quarter of 2015 which are applicable to internationally active
banks. The NSFR will become a minimum standard by January 1,
2018. The Bancorp is currently evaluating the BCBS’ standard for
NSFR and will begin to conform to a domestic version of the
NSER once adopted by the U.S. banking regulators.

Section 165 of the DFA requites the FRB to establish
enhanced liquidity standards in the U.S. for BHCs with total assets
of $50 billion or greater. On October 10, 2014, the U.S. banking
agencies published final rules implementing a quantitative liquidity
requirement consistent with the LCR standard established by the
BCBS for large internationally active banking organizations,
generally those with $250 billion or more in total consolidated assets
or $10 billion or more in on-balance sheet foreign exposure. In
addition, a Modified LCR requirement was finalized for BHCs with
$50 billion or more in total consolidated assets that are not
internationally active, such as the Bancorp. The Modified LCR
requires BHCs to maintain HQLA equal to its calculated net cash
outflows over a 30 calendar-day stress period multiplied by a factor
of 0.7. The Modified LCR is effective January 1, 2016 and requires
BHCs to calculate its LCR on a monthly basis. The final rule
includes a transition period for the modified LCR in which BHCs
must maintain HQLA of 90% of its calculated net cash outflows for
2016 and then 100% beginning in 2017. The Bancorp estimates its
Modified LCR was 116% at December 31, 2015 calculated under
the Modified L.CR final rule. For more information on LCR, refer to
the Non-GAAP Financial Measures section of MD&A.

Credit Ratings

The cost and availability of financing to the Bancorp ate impacted
by its credit ratings. A downgrade to the Bancorp’s credit ratings
could affect its ability to access the credit markets and increase its
borrowing costs, thereby adversely impacting the Bancorp’s
financial condition and liquidity. Key factors in maintaining high
credit ratings include a stable and diverse earnings stream, strong
credit quality, strong capital ratios and diverse funding sources, in
addition to disciplined liquidity monitoring procedures.
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The Bancorp’s credit ratings are summarized in Table 64. The
ratings reflect the ratings agency’s view on the Bancorp’s capacity to
meet financial commitments. *

* As an investor, you should be aware that a security rating is not a
recommendation to buy, sell or bhold securities, that it may be subject to revision

TABLE 64: AGENCY RATINGS

or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating organigation and that each
rating should be evalnated independently of any other rating. Additional
information on the credit rating ranking within the overall classification system is
located on the website of each credit rating agency.

As of February 25, 2016 Moody's  Standard and Poor's Fitch DBRS
Fifth Third Bancorp:
Short-term No rating A-2 F1 R-1L
Senior debt Baal BBB+ A AL
Subordinated debt Baal BBB A- BBBH
Fifth Third Bank:
Short-term P-1 A-2 F1 R-1L
Long-term deposit Aa3 No rating A+ A
Senior debt A3 A- A A
Subordinated debt Baal BBB+ A- AL

OPERATIONAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or
failed processes or systems or due to external events that are neither
matket nor credit-related. Operational risk is inherent in the
Bancorp’s activities and can manifest itself in various ways including
fraudulent acts, business interruptions, inappropriate behavior of
employees, unintentional failure to comply with applicable laws and
regulations, cyber-security incidents and privacy breaches, or failure
of vendors to perform in accordance with their arrangements. These
events could result in financial losses, litigation and regulatory fines,
as well as other damage to the Bancorp. The Bancorp’s risk
management goal is to keep operational risk at appropriate levels
consistent with the Bancorp’s risk appetite, financial strength, the
characteristics of its businesses, the matkets in which it operates,
and the competitive and regulatory environment to which it is
subject.

To control, monitor, and govern operational risk, the Bancorp
maintains an overall Risk Management Framework which comprises
governance oversight, risk assessment, capital measurement,
monitoring, and reporting as well as a formal three lines of defense
approach. ERM is responsible for prescribing the framework to the
lines of business and corporate functions, and to provide
independent oversight of its implementation (second line of
defense). In 2015, Business Controls Directors were appointed in
each of the lines of business to ensure consistent implementation

COMPLIANCE RISK MANAGEMENT
Regulatory Compliance Risk is defined as the risk of legal or
regulatory sanctions, financial loss, or damage to reputation as a
result of noncompliance with (i) applicable laws, regulations, rules
and other regulatory requitements (including but not limited to the
risk of consumers experiencing economic loss or other legal harm as
a result of noncompliance with consumer protection laws,
regulations and requirements); (ii) internal policies and procedures,
standards of best practice or codes of conduct; and (iii) principles of
integrity and fair dealing applicable to Fifth Third’s activities and
functions. Fifth Third focuses on managing regulatory compliance
risk in accordance with the Bancorp’s integrated risk management
framework, which ensures consistent processes for identifying,
assessing, managing, monitoring, and reporting risks.  The
Bancorp’s risk management goal is to keep compliance risk at
appropriate levels consistent with the Bancorp’s risk appetite.

The current regulatory environment, including heightened
regulatory expectations and material changes in laws and
regulations, increases compliance risk. To mitigate compliance risk,

and execution of managing day to day operational risk (first line of
defense).

The Bancorp’s risk management framework consists of five
integrated components, including identifying, assessing, managing,
monitoting and independent governance reporting of risk. The
corporate Operational Risk Management function within Enterprise
Risk is responsible for developing and overseeing the
implementation of the Bancorp’s approach to managing operational
risk. This includes providing governance, awareness and training,
tools, guidance and oversight to support implementation of key risk
programs and systems as they relate to operational risk
management, such as risk and control self-assessments, new
product/initiative risk reviews, key risk indicators, Vendor Risk
Management, and operational losses. The function is also
responsible for developing reports that support the proactive
management of operational risk across the enterprise. The lines of
business and corporate functions are responsible for managing the
operational risks associated with their areas in accordance with the
risk management framework. The framework is intended to enable
the Bancorp to function with a sound and well-controlled
operational environment. These processes support the Bancorp’s
goals to minimize future operational losses and strengthen the
Bancorp’s performance by maintaining sufficient capital to absorb
operational losses that are incurred.

Compliance Risk Management provides independent oversight to
ensure consistency and sufficiency, and ensures that lines of
business, regions and support functions are adequately identifying,
assessing and monitoring compliance risks and adopting proper
mitigation strategies. The lines of business and enterprise functions
are responsible for managing the compliance risks associated with
their areas. Additionally, Compliance Risk Management implements
key compliance programs and processes including but not limited
to, risk assessments, key risk indicators program, issues tracking,
regulatory compliance testing and monitoring, anti-money
laundering, privacy, and oversees the Bancorp’s compliance with the
Community Reinvestment Act.

Fifth Third also focuses on reporting and escalation of
compliance issues to senior management and the Board. The
Management Compliance Committee is the key committee that
oversees and supports Fifth Third in the management of
compliance risk across the enterprise. The Management
Compliance Committee addresses Fifth Third-wide compliance
issues, industry best practices, legislative developments, regulatory
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concerns, and other leading indicators of compliance risk. The
Management Compliance Committee reports to the Enterprise Risk

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Management regularly reviews the Bancorp’s capital levels to help
ensure it is appropriately positioned under various operating
environments. The Bancorp has established a Capital Committee
which is responsible for making capital plan recommendations to
management. These recommendations are reviewed by the ERMC
and the annual capital plan is approved by the Board of Directors.
The Capital Committee is responsible for execution oversight of the
capital actions of the capital plan.

Regulatory Capital Ratios

The Basel III Final Rule was effective for the Bancorp on January 1,
2015, subject to phase-in periods for certain of its components and
other provisions. It established quantitative measures that assign risk
weightings to assets and off-balance sheet items and also defined
and set minimum regulatory capital requirements. Prior to January 1,
2015, the Bancorp was subject to the General Risk-Based Capital
Rules (Basel I). The minimum capital ratios established under the
Basel III Final Rule are 4.5% for the CET1 capital ratio, 6% for the
Tier I risk-based capital ratio, 8% for the Total risk-based capital

Management Committee, which reports to Risk and Compliance
Committee of the Board of Ditectors.

ratio and 4% for the Tier I Leverage ratio (Tier I capital to average
consolidated assets). The PCA provisions adopted by the U.S.
banking agencies define “well-capitalized” ratios for CET1 capital,
Tier I risk-based capital, Total risk-based capital and Tier I Leverage
greater than or equal to 6.5%, 8%, 10% and 5%, respectively.
Additionally, the Basel III Final Rule includes a capital conservation
buffer of CET1 capital of 2.5% in additional to the 4.5% minimum
requirement, or 7%, in order to avoid limitations on capital
distributions and discretionary bonus payments to executive
officers. The Bancorp exceeded these “well-capitalized” and “capital
conservation buffer” ratios for all periods presented.

The Bancorp made a one-time permanent election to not
include AOCI in regulatory capital in the March 31, 2015 FFIEC
031 and FR Y-9C filings. The Basel III Final Rule phases out the
inclusion of certain TruPS as a component of Tiet I capital. Under
these provisions, these TruPS would qualify as a component of Tier
II capital. At December 31, 2015, the Bancorp’s Tier I capital
included $13 million of TruPS representing approximately 1 bp of
risk-weighted assets under the transition provisions of the Basel III
Final Rule.

The following table summarizes the Bancorp's capital ratios as of December 31:

TABLE 65: CAPITAL RATIOS

($ in millions) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
Average total Bancotp shareholders' equity as a percent of average assets 11.32 % 11.59 11.56 11.65 11.41
Tangible equity as a percent of tangible assets@ 9.55 9.41 9.44 9.17 9.03
Tangible common equity as a percent of tangible assets@@ 8.59 8.43 8.63 8.83 8.68
Basel I1I
Transitional® Basel 10/
CET1 capital 11,917 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Tier I capital 13,260 12,764 12,094 11,685 12,503
Total regulatory capital 17,134 16,895 16,431 15,811 16,876
Risk-weighted assets 121,290 117,878 115,969 109,301 104,219
Regulatory capital ratios:
CET1 capital 9.82 % N/A N/A N/A N/A
Tier I risk-based capital 10.93 10.83 10.43 10.69 12.00
Total risk-based capital 14.13 14.33 14.17 14.47 16.19
Tier I leverage 9.54 9.66 9.73 10.15 11.25
Tier I common equity® N/A 9.65 9.45 9.54 9.41
Basel ITI

CET1 capital®

Fully Phased-In

9.72 % N/A N/A N/A N/A

(a)  These are non-GAAP measures. For further information, refer to the Non-GAAP Financial Measures section of MDe>A.

(b)  Under the U.S. banking agencies’ Basel 111 Final Rule, assets and credit equivalent

s of off-balance sheet exposures are calenlated according to the standardized approach for risk-weighted

assets. The resulting weighted values are added together resulting in the total risk-weighted assets.

(c)  These capital amonnts and ratios were calculated under the Supervisory Agencies general risk-based capital rules (Basel 1) which were in effect prior to January 1, 2015.

(d)  Excludes unrealized gains and losses.

Preferred Stock Offering

As contemplated by the 2014 capital plan part of the FRB’s CCAR,
on June 5, 2014, the Bancorp issued in a registered public offering
300,000 depositary shares, representing 12,000 shares of 4.90%
fixed-to-floating rate non-cumulative Series ] perpetual preferred
stock, for net proceeds of $297 million. Each preferred share has a
$25,000 liquidation preference. The preferred stock accrues
dividends, on a non-cumulative semi-annual basis, at an annual rate
of 4.90% through but excluding September 30, 2019, at which time
it converts to a quartetly floating rate dividend of three-month
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LIBOR plus 3.129%. Subject to any required regulatory approval,
the Bancorp may redeem the Series ] preferred shares at its option
in whole or in part, at any time on or after September 30, 2019, or at
any time following a regulatory capital event. The Series | preferred
shares are not convertible into Bancorp common shares or any
other securities.
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Stress Tests and CCAR

In 2011 the FRB adopted the capital plan rule, which requires BHCs
with consolidated assets of $50 billion or more to submit annual
capital plans to the FRB for review. Under the rule, these capital
plans must include detailed descriptions of the following: the BHC’s
internal processes for assessing capital adequacy; the policies
governing capital actions such as common stock issuances,
dividends and share repurchases; and all planned capital actions over
a nine-quarter planning horizon. Further, each BHC must also
report to the FRB the results of stress tests conducted by the BHC
under a number of scenarios that assess the sources and uses of
capital under baseline and stressed economic scenarios. The FRB
launched the 2015 stress testing program and CCAR on October 23,
2014, with firm submissions of stress test results and capital plans to
the FRB due to the FRB on January 5, 2015, which the Bancorp
submitted as requited. Refer to Note 3 and Note 23 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion on the FRB’s
review of the capital plan, the FRB’s non-objection to the Bancorp’s
proposed capital actions and the Bancorp’s capital actions taken in
2015.

The FRB launched the 2016 stress testing program and CCAR
on January 28, 2016. The stress testing results and capital plan are
required to be submitted by the Bancorp to the FRB by April 5,
2016.

The FRB expects to release summary results of the 2016 stress
testing program and CCAR in June of 2016. The results will include

supetvisory projections of capital ratios, losses and revenues under
the supervisory adverse and supervisory severely adverse scenarios.
The FRB will also issue an objection or non-objection to each
participating institution’s capital plan submitted under CCAR. The
FRB’s summary results will also include an overview of
methodologies used for supervisory tests. Additionally, as a CCAR
institution, the Bancorp will be required to disclose the results of its
company-run stress test as required by the DFA, within 15 days of
the date the FRB discloses the results of its DFA supervisory stress
test.

Dividend Policy and Stock Repurchase Program

The Bancorp’s common stock dividend policy and stock repurchase
program reflect its earnings outlook, desired payout ratios, the need
to maintain adequate capital levels, the ability of its subsidiaries to
pay dividends, the need to comply with safe and sound banking
practices as well as meet regulatory requirements and expectations.
The Bancorp declared dividends per common share of $0.52 and
$0.51 during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. The Bancorp entered into or settled a number of
accelerated share repurchase transactions during the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014. Refer to Note 23 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on the
accelerated share repurchases.

The following table summarizes shares authorized for repurchase for the years ended December 31:

TABLE 66: SHARE REPURCHASES

2015 2014
Shares authorized for repurchase at January 1 73,180,368 43,071,613
Additional authorizations® - 64,908,628
Share repurchases” (42,607,855) (34,799,873)
Shares authorized for repurchase at December 31 30,572,513 73,180,368
Average price paid per share®” $ 19.60 20.87

(@) In March 2014, the Bancorp annonnced that its Board of Directors had anthorized management to purchase 100 million shares of the Bancorp’s common stock through the open market or in any
private transaction. The anthorization does not include specific price targets or an expiration date. This share repurchase anthorization replaces the Board’s previons authorization pursuant to which

approximately 35 million shares remained available for repurchase by the Bancorp.

(b)  Excludes 1,930,233 and 2,116,370 shares repurchased during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, in connection with various employee compensation plans. These
purchases are not included in the calenlation for average price paid per share and do not count against the maximum number of shares that may yet be repurchased under the Board of Directors’

anthorization.
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

In the ordinary course of business, the Bancorp enters into financial
transactions that are considered off-balance sheet arrangements as
they involve varying elements of market, credit and liquidity risk in
excess of the amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets. The Bancorp’s off-balance sheet arrangements include
commitments, contingent liabilities, guarantees and transactions
with non-consolidated VIEs. A brief discussion of these
transactions is as follows:

Commitments

The Bancorp has certain commitments to make future payments
under contracts, including commitments to extend credit, letters of
credit, forward contracts related to held for sale residential mortgage
loans, noncancelable operating lease obligations, purchase
obligations, capital commitments for private equity investments and
capital expenditures. Refer to Note 17 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional information on commitments.

Guarantees and Contingent Liabilities

The Bancorp has performance obligations upon the occurrence of
certain events provided in certain contractual arrangements,
including residential mortgage loans sold with representation and
warranty provisions or credit recourse. Refer to Note 17 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional
information on guarantees and contingent liabilities.

Transactions with Non-consolidated VIEs

The Bancorp engages in a variety of activities that involve VIEs,
which are legal entities that lack sufficient equity to finance their
activities, or the equity investors of the entities as a group lack any
of the characteristics of a controlling interest. The investments in
those entities in which the Bancorp was determined not to be the
primary beneficiary but holds a variable interest in the entity are
accounted for under the equity method of accounting or other
accounting standards as appropriate and not consolidated. Refer to
Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information on non-consolidated VIEs.
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

The Bancorp has certain obligations and commitments to make in future periods. Due to the uncertainty of the amounts to be
future payments under contracts. The aggregate contractual ultimately paid as well as the timing of such payments, all uncertain
obligations and commitments at December 31, 2015 are shown in tax liabilities that have not been paid have been excluded from the
Table 67. As of December 31, 2015, the Bancorp has unrecognized following table. For further detail on the impact of income taxes,
tax benefits that, if recognized, would impact the effective tax rate refer to Note 20 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

TABLE 67: CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

Less than 1 Greater than
As of December 31, 2015 (§ in millions) year 1-3 years  3-5 years 5 years Total
Contractually obligated payments due by period:
Deposits with a stated maturity of less than one year® $ 96,594 - - - 96,594
Time deposits© 2,425 2,207 1,955 24 6,611
Short-term borrowings® 1,658 - - - 1,658
Long-term debt® 3,844 4,813 3,484 3,703 15,844
Forward contracts related to held for sale residential mortgage loans@ 1,330 - - - 1,330
Noncancelable operating lease obligations? 91 166 136 242 635
Partnership investment commitments® 212 86 37 32 367
Pension benefit payments? 19 35 32 79 165
Purchase obligations and capital expenditures?” 47 31 12 - 90
Capital lease obligations 7 12 6 2 27

Total contractually obligated payments due by period $ 106,227 7,350 5,662 4,082 123,321

Other commitments by expiration period:

Commitments to extend credit? $ 28,469 13,095 17,774 7,606 66,944
Letters of credit® 1,700 771 530 54 3,055

Total other commitments by expiration period $ 30,169 13,866 18,304 7,660 69,999

(a)  Includes demand, interest checking, savings, money market and foreign office deposits. For additional information, refer to the Deposits subsection of the Balance Sheet Analysis section of MD&>A.

(b)  Interest-bearing obligations are principally used to fund interest-earning assets. As such, interest charges on contractual obligations were excluded from reported amounts, as the potential cash outflows
wounld have corresponding cash inflows from interest-earning assets. Refer to Note 16 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on these debt instruments.

(¢c)  Includes other time and certificates §100,000 and over. For additional information, refer to the Deposits subsection of the Balance Sheet Analysis section of MD&>A.

(d)  Refer to Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on forward contracts to sell residential mortgage loans.

(¢)  Includes federal funds purchased and borrowings with an original maturity of less than one year. For additional information, refer to Note 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial St .

() Includes rental commitments.

(¢)  Includes low-income housing and bistoric tax investments. For additional information, refer to Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial S 1s.

(h)  Represents agreements to purchase goods or services and includes commitments to various general contractors for work related to banking center construction.

(i) Refer to Note 21 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial S s for additional information on pension obligations.

() Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend, typically having fixed expiration dates or other termination clanses that may require payment of a fee. Many of the commitments to extend credit
may expire without being drawn upon. The total commitment amonnts include capital commitments for private equity investments and do not necessarily represent future cash flow requirements. For
additional information, refer to Note 17 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial S 5

(k) Letters of credit are conditional commitments issued to guarantee the performance of a customer to a third party. For additional information, refer to Note 17 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements.
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MANAGEMENT’S ASSESSMENT AS TO THE EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Bancorp conducted an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the Bancorp’s management, including the Bancorp’s
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Bancorp’s disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act). Based on the foregoing, as of the end of the period
covered by this report, the Bancorp’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Bancorp’s disclosure controls and
procedures were effective, in all material respects, to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports the Bancorp files and submits
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported as and when required and information is accumulated and
communicated to management on a timely basis.

The management of Fifth Third Bancorp is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control, designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The Bancorp’s management assessed the effectiveness of the
Bancorp’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015. Management’s assessment is based on the criteria established in the
Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and was
designed to provide reasonable assurance that the Bancorp maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015.
Based on this assessment, management believes that the Bancorp maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2015. The Bancorp’s independent registered public accounting firm, that audited the Bancorp’s consolidated financial statements included in this
annual report, has issued an audit report on our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015. This report appeats on page 83
of the annual report.

The Bancorp’s management also conducted an evaluation of internal control over financial reporting to determine whether any changes
occurred during the year covered by this report that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Bancorp’s internal
control over financial reporting. Based on this evaluation, there has been no such change during the year covered by this report.

Greg D. Carmichael Tayfun Tuzun
President and Chief Executive Officer Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
February 25, 2016 February 25, 2016
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Fifth Third Bancorp:

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Fifth Third Bancorp and subsidiaries (the “Bancorp”) as of December 31, 2015,
based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. The Bancorp's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Assessment as to the
Effectiveness of Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Bancorp’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal executive
and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other
personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions ate recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management
override of controls, material misstatements due to ertor or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any
evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Bancorp maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015,
based on the criteria established in Infernal Control— Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Otganizations of the
Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated
financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2015 of the Bancorp and our teport dated February 25, 2016 expressed an
unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

Tulrtle < Towebe Lip

Cincinnati, Ohio
February 25, 2016

To the Sharcholders and Board of Directors of Fifth Third Bancorp:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Fifth Third Bancorp and subsidiaries (the “Bancorp”) as of December 31, 2015
and 2014, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the
petiod ended December 31, 2015. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Bancorp’s management. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Fifth Third Bancorp and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2015, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Bancorp’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 25, 2016 expressed an
unqualified opinion on the Bancorp’s internal control over financial reporting.

Tl i [Gwebe L P

Cincinnati, Ohio
February 25, 2016
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31 ($ in millions, except share data) 2015 2014
Assets
Cash and due from banks® $ 2,540 3,091
Available-for-sale and other securities® 29,044 22,408
Held-to-maturity securities® 70 187
Trading securities 386 360
Other short-term investments 2,671 7,914
Loans held for sale® 903 1,261
Portfolio loans and leases@®© 92,582 90,084
Allowance for loan and lease losses( (1,272) (1,322)
Portfolio loans and leases, net 91,310 88,762
Bank premises and equipment? 2,239 2,465
Operating lease equipment 707 728
Goodwill 2,416 2,416
Intangible assets 12 15
Servicing rights 785 858
Other assets@ 7,999 8,241
Total Assets $ 141,082 138,706
Liabilities
Deposits:
Noninterest-bearing deposits $ 36,267 34,809
Interest-beating deposits 66,938 66,903
Total deposits® 103,205 101,712
Federal funds purchased 151 144
Other short-term borrowings 1,507 1,556
Accrued taxes, interest and expenses 2,164 2,020
Other liabilities® 2,341 2,642
Long-term debt 15,844 14,967
Total Liabilities $ 125,212 123,041
Equity
Common stock® $ 2,051 2,051
Preferred stock® 1,331 1,331
Capital surplus 2,666 2,646
Retained earnings 12,358 11,141
Accumulated other comprehensive income 197 429
Treasury stock®” (2,764) (1,972)
Total Bancorp shareholders’ equity $ 15,839 15,626
Noncontrolling interests 31 39
Total Equity 15,870 15,665
Total Liabilities and Equity $ 141,082 138,706
(@) Includes $152 and §179 of cash and due from banks, 82,537 and §3,378 of porifolio loans and leases, $(28) and §(22) of ALLL, $20 and $25 of other assets, 83 and §5 of other liabilities
and 32,493 and $3,434 of long-term debt from consolidated VI1Es that are included in their respective captions above at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. For further information,
refer to Note 11.
(b)  Amortized cost of $28,678 and §21,677 at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
(¢c)  Fair valne of $70 and $187 at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
() Includes $519 and $561 of residential morigage loans held for sale measured at fair value at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
(¢)  Includes 8167 and §108 of residential morigage loans measured at fair value at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
() Includes 881 and $26 of bank premises and equipment held for sale at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. For further information refer to Note 7.
(¢)  Includes 8628 and $0 of deposits held for sale at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. For further information refer to Note 7.
(h)  Common shares: Stated value $2.22 per share; authorized 2,000,000; outstanding at December 31, 2015 — 785,080,314 (excludes 138,812,267 treasury shares), 2014 — 824,046,952
(excludes 99,845,629 treasury shares).
(i) 446,000 shares of undesignated no par value preferred stock are authorized and nnissued at December 31, 2015 and 2014; fixed-to-floating rate non- lative Series H perpetnal preferred

stock with a §25,000 liguidation preference: 24,000 anthorized shares, issued and ontstanding at December 31, 2015 and 2014; fixed-to-floating rate non-cumunlative Series 1 perpetnal
preferred stock with a §25,000 lignidation preference: 18,000 anthorized shares, issned and outstanding at December 31, 2015 and 2014; and fixed-to-floating rate non-cumnlative Series |
perpetnal preferred stock with a $25,000 lignidation preference: 12,000 anthorized shares, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2015 and 2014.

Refer to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

For the years ended December 31 (§ in millions, except share data) 2015 2014 2013
Interest Income

Interest and fees on loans and leases $ 3,151 3,298 3,447
Interest on securities 869 724 520
Interest on other short-term investments 8 8 6
Total interest income 4,028 4,030 3,973
Interest Expense

Interest on deposits 186 202 202
Interest on federal funds purchased 1 - -
Interest on other short-term borrowings 2 2 6
Interest on long-term debt 306 247 204
Total interest expense 495 451 412
Net Interest Income 3,533 3,579 3,561

Provision for loan and lease losses 396 315 229
Net Interest Income After Provision for Loan and Lease Losses 3,137 3,264 3,332
Noninterest Income

Service charges on deposits 563 560 549
Investment advisory revenue 418 407 393
Corporate banking revenue 384 430 400
Mortgage banking net revenue 348 310 700
Card and processing revenue 302 295 272
Other noninterest income 979 450 879
Securities gains, net 9 21 21

Securities gains, net - non-qualifying hedges on mortgage servicing rights - - 13
Total noninterest income 3,003 2,473 3,227
Noninterest Expense

Salaries, wages and incentives 1,525 1,449 1,581

Employee benefits 323 334 357
Net occupancy expense 321 313 307
Technology and communications 224 212 204
Card and processing expense 153 141 134
Equipment expense 124 121 114
Other noninterest expense 1,105 1,139 1,264
Total noninterest expense 3,775 3,709 3,961

Income Before Income Taxes 2,365 2,028 2,598
Applicable income tax expense 659 545 772
Net Income 1,706 1,483 1,826
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (6) 2 (10)
Net Income Attributable to Bancorp 1,712 1,481 1,836
Dividends on preferred stock 75 67 37
Net Income Available to Common Shareholders $ 1,637 1,414 1,799
Earnings per share - basic $ 2.03 1.68 2.05
Earnings per share - diluted $ 2.01 1.66 2.02
Average common shares outstanding - basic 798,628,173 833,116,349 869,462,977
Average common shares outstanding - diluted 807,658,669 842,967,356 894,736,445
Cash dividends declared per common share $ 0.52 0.51 0.47

Refer to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the years ended December 31 ($ in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Net Income $ 1,706 1,483 1,826
Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income, Net of Tax:
Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities:
Unrealized holding (losses) gains atising during the year (227) 378 (295)
Reclassification adjustment for net (gains) losses included in net income (10) (24) 4
Unrealized gains on cash flow hedge derivatives:
Unrealized holding gains (losses) arising during the year 48 39 ®)
Reclassification adjustment for net gains included in net income 49) 29) (29)
Defined benefit pension plans, net:
Net actuarial (loss) gain arising during the year 5) (25) 25
Reclassification of amounts to net periodic benefit costs 1 8 10
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax (232) 347 (293)
Comprehensive Income 1,474 1,830 1,533
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests (6) 2 (10)
Comprehensive Income Attributable to Bancorp $ 1,480 1,828 1,543

Refer to Notes to Consolidated Financial St 5.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Bancorp Shareholders” Equity

Accumulated Total
Other Bancorp Non-
Common Preferred Capital Retained Comprehensive Treasury Shareholders’ Controlling — Total

($ in millions, except per share data) Stock Stock Surplus  Earnings Income Stock Equity Interests Equity
Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 2,051 398 2,758 8,768 375 (634) 13,716 48 13,764
Net income 1,836 1,836 (10) 1,826
Other comprehensive loss (293) (293) (293)
Cash dividends declared:

Common stock at $0.47 per share (407) (407) (407)

Preferred stock® (37) 37) (37)
Shares acquired for treasury (78) (1,242) (1,320) (1,320)
Issuance of preferred stock 1,034 1,034 1,034
Redemption of preferred stock, Series G (398) (142) 540 - -
Impact of stock transactions under

stock compensation plans, net 22 38 60 60
Other 1 4 3 - ) )
Balance at December 31, 2013 2,051 1,034 2,561 10,156 82 (1,295) 14,589 37 14,626
Net income 1,481 1,481 2 1,483
Other comprehensive income 347 347 347
Cash dividends declared:

Common stock at $0.51 per share (427) (427) (427)

Preferred stock® (67) (67) 67)
Shares acquired for treasury 72 (726) (654) (654)
Issuance of preferred stock 297 297 297
Impact of stock transactions under

stock compensation plans, net 13 47 60 60
Other 2) 2 - .
Balance at December 31, 2014 2,051 1,331 2,646 11,141 429 (1,972) 15,626 39 15,665
Net income 1,712 1,712 6) 1,706
Other comprehensive loss (232) (232) (232)
Cash dividends declared:

Common stock at $0.52 per share 417) (417) 417)

Preferred stock® (75) (75) (75)
Shares acquired for treasury 3) (847) (850) (850)
Impact of stock transactions under

stock compensation plans, net 23 52 75 75
Other 3) 3 - (2) (2)
Balance at December 31, 2015 $ 2,051 1,331 2,666 12,358 197 (2,764) 15,839 31 15,870

(a)  For the year ended December 31, 2013, dividends were §1,074.31 per preferred share for Perpetual Preferred Stock, Series G and §796.88 per preferred share for Perpetual Preferred Stock, Series

H.

(b)  For the year ended December 31, 2014, dividends were §1,275.00 per preferred share for Perpetual Preferred Stock, Series H, §1,757.46 per preferred share for Perpetual Preferred Stock, Series 1
and §391.32 per preferred share for Perpetual Preferred Stock, Series .
(c)  For the year ended December 31, 2015, dividends were 81,275.00 per preferred share for Perpetnal Preferred Stock, Series H, $1,656.24 per preferred share for Perpetual Preferred Stock,

Series I and 81,225.00 per preferred share for Perpetual Preferred Stock, Series |.

Refer to Notes to Consolid.

d Financial S 5.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended December 31 ($ in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Operating Activities
Net income $ 1,706 1,483 1,826
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Provision for loan and lease losses 396 315 229
Depreciation, amortization and accretion 41 414 507
Stock-based compensation expense 100 83 78
(Benefit from) provision for deferred income taxes (71) 79 253
Securities gains, net 5) (1) 21)
Securities gains, net - non-qualifying hedges on mortgage servicing rights - - 13)
(Recovery of) provision for MSR impairment ©) 65 (192)
Net gains on sales of loans and fair value adjustments on loans held for sale 98) 67) (622)
Net losses on disposition and impairment of bank premises and equipment 101 19 6
Net losses on disposition and impairment of operating lease equipment 33 - -
Loss on extinguishment of debt - - 8
Proceeds from sales of loans held for sale 5,102 5477 22,047
Loans originated for sale, net of repayments (5,142) (4,874) (19,003)
Dividends representing return on equity method investments 25 42 54
Gain on sale of Vantiv, Inc. shares (331) (125) (327)
Gain on the TRA associated with Vantiv, Inc. 31 (23) )
Net change in:
Trading securities (34) (16) (131)
Other assets 94 (221) (672)
Accrued taxes, interest and expenses 327 1 8
Other liabilities (191) (555) 569
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 2,418 2,076 4,595

Investing Activities
Proceeds from sales:

Available-for-sale and other securities 16,828 5,234 9,328

Loans 741 147 657

Bank premises and equipment 37 24 33
Proceeds from repayments / maturities:

Available-for-sale and other securities 2,865 2,265 3,191

Held-to-maturity securities 117 20 74
Purchases:

Available-for-sale and other securities (26,733) (10,691) (16,216)

Bank premises and equipment (164) (216) 274
Proceeds from sales and dividends representing return of equity method investments 458 279 674
Net change in:

Other short-term investments 5,243 (2,798) (2,695)

Loans and leases (3,238) (3,1306) (4,750)

Operating lease equipment (85) (66) (206)
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (3,931) (8,938) (10,184)

Financing Activities
Net change in:

Deposits 1,493 2,437 9,758

Federal funds purchased 7 (140) (618)

Other short-term borrowings 49) 176 (4,900)
Dividends paid on common stock (422) (423) (393)
Dividends paid on preferred stock (75) 67) 37)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 3,091 6,570 5,044
Repayment of long-term debt (2,205) (1,399) (2,225)
Reputchases of treasury shares and related forward contracts (850) (654) (1,320)
Issuance of preferred stock - 297 1,034
Other (28) (22) (17)
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities 962 6,775 6,326
(Decrease) Increase in Cash and Due from Banks (551) 87) 737
Cash and Due from Banks at Beginning of Period 3,091 3,178 2,441
Cash and Due from Banks at End of Period $ 2,540 3,091 3,178
Refer to Notes to Consolidated Financial S s. Note 2 contains cash payments related to interest and income taxes in addition to non-cash investing and financing activities.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING POLICIES

Nature of Operations

Fifth Third Bancorp, an Ohio corporation, conducts its principal
lending, deposit gathering, transaction processing and service
advisory activities through its banking and non-banking subsidiaties
from banking centers located throughout the Midwestern and
Southeastern regions of the United States.

Basis of Presentation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the
Bancorp and its majority-owned subsidiaries and VIEs in which the
Bancorp has been determined to be the primary beneficiary. Other
entities, including certain joint ventures, in which the Bancorp has
the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and
financial policies of the investee, but upon which the Bancorp does
not possess control, are accounted for by the equity method of
accounting and not consolidated. The investments in those entities
in which the Bancorp does not have the ability to exercise
significant influence are generally carried at the lower of cost or fair
value. Intercompany transactions and balances have been
eliminated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S.
GAAP requites management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Cash and Due From Banks

Cash and due from banks consist of curtency and coin, cash items
in the process of collection and due from banks. Currency and coin
includes both U.S. and foreign currency owned and held at Fifth
Third offices and that is in-transit to the FRB. Cash items in the
process of collection include checks and drafts that are drawn on
another depository institution or the FRB that are payable
immediately upon presentation in the U.S. Balances due from banks
include noninterest-bearing balances that are funds on deposit at
other depository institutions or the FRB.

Securities
Securities are classified as held-to-maturity, available-for-sale or
trading on the date of purchase. Only those securities which
management has the intent and ability to hold to maturity are
classified as held-to-maturity and reported at amortized cost.
Securities are classified as available-for-sale when, in management’s
judgment, they may be sold in response to, or in anticipation of,
changes in market conditions. Securities ate classified as trading
when bought and held principally for the purpose of selling them in
the near term. Available-for-sale securities are reported at fair value
with unrealized gains and losses, net of related deferred income
taxes, included in OCI. Trading securities are reported at fair value
with unrealized gains and losses included in noninterest income.
The fair value of a security is determined based on quoted market
prices. If quoted market prices are not available, fair value is
determined based on quoted prices of similar instruments or DCF
models that incorporate market inputs and assumptions including
discount rates, prepayment speeds and loss rates. Realized securities
gains or losses are reported within noninterest income in the
Consolidated Statements of Income. The cost of securities sold is
based on the specific identification method.

Available-for-sale and  held-to-maturity  securities  with
unrealized losses are reviewed quarterly for possible OTTI. For debt
securities, if the Bancorp intends to sell the debt security or will

more likely than not be required to sell the debt security before
recovety of the entire amortized cost basis, then an OTTI has
occurred. However, even if the Bancorp does not intend to sell the
debt security and will not likely be required to sell the debt security
before recovery of its entire amortized cost basis, the Bancorp must
evaluate expected cash flows to be received and determine if a credit
loss has occurred. In the event of a credit loss, the credit
component of the impairment is recognized within noninterest
income and the non-credit component is recognized through OCI.
For equity securities, the Bancorp’s management evaluates the
securities in an unrealized loss position in the available-for-sale
portfolio for OTTI on the basis of the duration of the decline in
value of the security and severity of that decline as well as the
Bancorp’s intent and ability to hold these securities for a period of
time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in the market
value. If it is determined that the impairment on an equity security is
other-than-temporaty, an impairment loss equal to the difference
between the amortized cost of the security and its fair value is
recognized within noninterest income.

Portfolio Loans and Leases

Basis of Acconnting

Portfolio loans and leases are generally reported at the principal
amount outstanding, net of unearned income, deferred loan fees
and costs and any direct principal charge-offs. Direct loan
origination fees and costs are deferred and the net amount is
amortized over the estimated life of the related loans as a yield
adjustment. Interest income is recognized based on the principal
balance outstanding computed using the effective interest method.

Loans acquired by the Bancorp through a purchase business
combination are recorded at fair value as of the acquisition date.
The Bancorp does not carty over the acquired company’s ALLL,
nor does the Bancorp add to its existing ALLL as part of purchase
accounting.

Purchased loans are evaluated for evidence of credit
deterioration at acquisition and recorded at their initial fair value.
For loans acquired with no evidence of credit deterioration, the fair
value discount or premium is amortized over the contractual life of
the loan as an adjustment to yield. For loans acquired with evidence
of credit deterioration, the Bancorp determines at the acquisition
date the excess of the loan’s contractually required payments over all
cash flows expected to be collected as an amount that should not be
accreted into interest income (nonaccretable difference). The
remaining amount representing the difference in the expected cash
flows of acquired loans and the initial investment in the acquired
loans is accreted into interest income over the remaining life of the
loan or pool of loans (accretable yield). Subsequent to the
acquisition date, increases in expected cash flows over those
expected at the acquisition date are recognized prospectively as
interest income over the remaining life of the loan. The present
value of any decreases in expected cash flows resulting directly from
a change in the contractual interest rate are recognized prospectively
as a reduction of the accretable yield. The present value of any
decreases in expected cash flows after the acquisition date as a result
of credit deterioration is recognized by recording an ALLL or a
direct charge-off. Subsequent to the purchase date, the methods
utilized to estimate the required ALLL are similar to originated
loans. Loans carried at fair value, residential mortgage loans held for
sale and loans under revolving credit agreements are excluded from
the scope of this guidance on loans acquired with deteriorated credit
quality.

The Bancorp’s lease portfolio consists of both direct financing
and leveraged leases. Direct financing leases are carried at the
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

aggregate of lease payments plus estimated residual value of the
leased property, less unearned income. Interest income on direct
financing leases is recognized over the term of the lease to achieve a
constant periodic rate of return on the outstanding investment.

Leveraged leases are carried at the aggregate of lease payments
(less nonrecourse debt payments) plus estimated residual value of
the leased property, less uneatned income. Interest income on
leveraged leases is recognized over the term of the lease to achieve a
constant rate of return on the outstanding investment in the lease,
net of the related deferred income tax liability, in the years in which
the net investment is positive.

Nonaccrnal Loans and 1 eases

When a loan is placed on nonaccrual status, the accrual of interest,
amortization of loan premium, accretion of loan discount and
amortization/accretion of deferred net loan fees are discontinued
and all previously accrued and unpaid interest is charged against
income. Commercial loans are placed on nonaccrual status when
there is a clear indication that the borrowet’s cash flows may not be
sufficient to meet payments as they become due. Such loans are also
placed on nonaccrual status when the principal or interest is past
due 90 days or more, unless the loan is both well-secured and in the
process of collection. The Bancorp classifies residential mortgage
loans that have principal and interest payments that have become
past due 150 days as nonaccrual unless the loan is both well-secured
and in the process of collection. Residential mortgage loans may
stay on nonperforming status for an extended time as the
foreclosure process typically lasts longer than 180 days. Home
equity loans and lines of credit are reported on nonaccrual status if
principal or interest has been in default for 90 days or more unless
the loan is both well-secured and in the process of collection. Home
equity loans and lines of credit that have been in default for 60 days
or more are also reported on nonaccrual status if the senior lien has
been in default 120 days or more, unless the loan is both well
secured and in the process of collection. Residential mortgage,
home equity, automobile and other consumer loans and leases that
have been modified in a TDR and subsequently become past due 90
days are placed on nonaccrual status unless the loan is both well-
secured and in the process of collection. Commercial and credit card
loans that have been modified in a TDR are classified as nonaccrual
unless such loans have sustained repayment performance of six
months or more and are reasonably assured of repayment in
accordance with the restructured terms. Well-secured loans are
collateralized by petfected security interests in real and/or personal
property for which the Bancorp estimates proceeds from the sale
would be sufficient to recover the outstanding principal and accrued
interest balance of the loan and pay all costs to sell the collateral.
The Bancorp considers a loan in the process of collection if
collection efforts or legal action is proceeding and the Bancorp
expects to collect funds sufficient to bring the loan current or
recover the entire outstanding principal and accrued interest
balance.

Nonaccrual commercial loans and nonaccrual credit card loans
are generally accounted for on the cost recovery method. The
Bancorp believes the cost recovery method is appropriate for
nonaccrual commercial loans and nonaccrual credit card loans
because the assessment of collectability of the remaining recorded
investment of these loans involves a high degree of subjectivity and
uncertainty due to the nature or absence of underlying collateral.
Under the cost recovery method, any payments received are applied
to reduce principal. Once the entite recorded investment is
collected, additional payments received ate treated as recoveries of
amounts previously charged-off until recovered in full, and any
subsequent payments are treated as interest income. Nonaccrual
residential mortgage loans and other nonaccrual consumer loans are
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generally accounted for on the cash basis method. The Bancorp
believes the cash basis method is appropriate for nonaccrual
residential mortgage and other nonaccrual consumer loans because
such loans have generally been written down to estimated collateral
values and the collectability of the remaining investment involves
only an assessment of the fair value of the underlying collateral,
which can be measured more objectively with a lesser degree of
uncertainty than assessments of typical commercial loan collateral.
Under the cash basis method, interest income is recognized upon
cash receipt to the extent to which it would have been accrued on
the loan’s remaining balance at the contractual rate. Nonaccrual
loans may be returned to accrual status when all delinquent interest
and principal payments become current in accordance with the loan
agreement and are reasonably assured of repayment in accordance
with the contractual terms of the loan agreement, or when the loan
is both well-secured and in the process of collection.

Commercial loans on nonaccrual status, including those
modified in a TDR, as well as criticized commercial loans with
aggregate borrower relationships exceeding $1 million, are subject to
an individual review to identify charge-offs. The Bancorp does not
have an established delinquency threshold for partially or fully
charging off commercial loans. Residential mortgage loans, home
equity loans and lines of credit and credit card loans that have
principal and interest payments that have become past due 180 days
are assessed for a charge-off to the ALLL, unless such loans are
both well-secured and in the process of collection. Home equity
loans and lines of credit are also assessed for charge-off to the
ALLL when such loans or lines of credit have become past due 120
days if the senior lien is also 120 days past due, unless such loans are
both well-secured and in the process of collection. Automobile and
other consumer loans and leases that have principal and interest
payments that have become past due 120 days are assessed for a
charge-off to the ALLL, unless such loans are both well-secured and
in the process of collection.

Restructured Loans and Leases

A loan is accounted for as a TDR if the Bancorp, for economic or
legal reasons related to the borrower’s financial difficulties, grants a
concession to the borrower that it would not otherwise consider. A
TDR typically involves a modification of terms such as a reduction
of the stated interest rate or remaining principal amount of the loan,
a reduction of accrued interest or an extension of the maturity date
at a stated interest rate lower than the current market rate for a new
loan with similar risk. In 2012, the OCC, a national bank regulatory
agency, issued interpretive guidance that requites non-reaffirmed
loans included in Chapter 7 bankruptcy filings to be accounted for
as nonperforming TDRs and collateral dependent loans regardless
of their payment history and capacity to pay in the future. The
Bancorp’s banking subsidiary is a state chattered bank which
therefore is not subject to guidance of the OCC. The Bancorp does
not consider the bankruptcy court’s discharge of the borrower’s
debt a concession when the discharged debt is not reaffirmed and as
such, these loans are classified as TDRs only if one or more of the
previously mentioned concessions are granted.

The Bancorp measures the impairment loss of a TDR based on
the difference between the original loan’s carrying amount and the
present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the
original, effective yield of the loan. Residential mortgage loans,
home equity loans, automobile loans and other consumer loans
modified as part of a TDR are maintained on accrual status,
provided there is reasonable assurance of repayment and of
petformance according to the modified terms based upon a cutrent,
well-documented credit evaluation. Commercial loans and credit
card loans modified as part of a TDR are maintained on accrual
status provided there is a sustained payment history of six months
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or more prior to the modification in accordance with the modified
terms and all remaining contractual payments under the
modified terms are reasonably assured of collection. TDRs of
commercial loans and credit cards that do not have a sustained
payment history of six months or more in accordance with their
modified terms remain on nonaccrual status until a six month
payment history is sustained. In certain cases, commercial TDRs on
nonaccrual status may be accounted for using the cash basis method
for income recognition, provided that full repayment of principal
under the modified terms of the loan is reasonably assured.

Impaired Loans and Leases

A loan is considered to be impaired when, based on current
information and events, it is probable that the Bancorp will be
unable to collect all amounts due (including both principal and
interest) according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement.
Impaired loans generally consist of nonaccrual loans and leases,
loans modified in a TDR and loans over $1 million that are
currently on accrual status and not yet modified in a TDR, but for
which the Bancorp has determined that it is probable that it will
grant a payment concession in the near term due to the borrower’s
financial difficulties. For loans modified in a TDR, the contractual
terms of the loan agreement refer to the terms specified in the
original loan agreement. A loan restructured in a TDR is no longer
considered impaired in years after the restructuring if the
restructuring agreement specifies a rate equal to or greater than the
rate the Bancorp was willing to accept at the time of the
restructuring for a new loan with comparable risk and the loan is
not impaired based on the terms specified by the restructuring
agreement. Refer to the ALLL section for discussion regarding the
Bancorp’s methodology for identifying impaired loans and
determination of the need for a loss accrual.

Loans Held for Sale

Loans held for sale primarily represent conforming fixed-rate
residential mortgage loans originated or acquired with the intent to
sell in the secondary market and jumbo residential mortgage loans,
commercial loans, other residential mortgage loans and other
consumer loans that management has the intent to sell. Loans held
for sale may be carried at the lower of cost or fair value, or carried at
fair value where the Bancorp has elected the fair value option of
accounting under U.S. GAAP. The Bancorp has elected to measure
certain residential mortgage loans originated as held for sale under
the fair value option. For loans in which the Bancorp has not
clected the fair value option, the lower of cost or fair value is
determined at the individual loan level.

The fair value of residential mortgage loans held for sale for
which the fair value election has been made is estimated based upon
mortgage-backed securities prices and spreads to those prices o, for
certain  ARM loans, DCF models that may incorporate the
anticipated portfolio composition, credit spreads of asset-backed
securities with similar collateral, and market conditions. The
anticipated portfolio composition includes the effects of interest
rate spreads and discount rates due to loan characteristics such as
the state in which the loan was originated, the loan amount and the
ARM margin. These fair value marks are recorded as a component
of noninterest income in mortgage banking net revenue. The
Bancorp generally has commitments to sell residential mortgage
loans held for sale in the secondary market. Gains or losses on sales
are recognized in mortgage banking net revenue.

Management’s intent to sell residential mortgage loans
classified as held for sale may change over time due to such factors
as changes in the overall liquidity in markets or changes in
characteristics specific to certain loans held for sale. Consequently,

these loans may be reclassified to loans held for investment and,
thereafter, reported within the Bancorp’s residential mortgage class
of portfolio loans and leases. In such cases, the residential mortgage
loans will continue to be measured at fair value, which is based on
mortgage-backed securities prices, interest rate risk and an internally
developed credit component.

Loans held for sale are placed on nonaccrual status consistent
with the Bancorp’s nonaccrual policy for portfolio loans and leases.

Other Real Estate Owned

OREO, which is included in other assets, tepresents propetty
acquired through foreclosure or other proceedings and is carried at
the lower of cost or fair value, less costs to sell. All OREO property
is periodically evaluated for impairment and decreases in carrying
value are recognized as reductions in other noninterest income in
the Consolidated Statements of Income. For government-
guaranteed mortgage loans, upon foreclosure, a separate other
receivable is recognized if certain conditions are met for the amount
of the loan balance (principal and interest) expected to be recovered
from the guarantor. This receivable is also included in other assets,
separate from OREQ, in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

ALLL

The Bancorp disaggregates its portfolio loans and leases into
portfolio segments for purposes of determining the ALLL. The
Bancorp’s portfolio segments include commercial, residential
mortgage and consumer. The Bancorp further disaggregates its
portfolio segments into classes for purposes of monitoring and
assessing credit quality based on certain risk characteristics. Classes
within the commercial portfolio segment include commercial and
industrial, commercial mortgage owner-occupied, commetcial
mortgage nonowner-occupied, commercial construction and
commercial leasing. The residential mortgage portfolio segment is
also considered a class. Classes within the consumer portfolio
segment include home equity, automobile, credit card and other
consumer loans and leases. For an analysis of the Bancorp’s ALLL
by portfolio segment and credit quality information by class, refer to
Note 6.

The Bancorp maintains the ALLL to absorb probable loan and
lease losses inherent in its portfolio segments. The ALLL is
maintained at a level the Bancorp considers to be adequate and is
based on ongoing quarterly assessments and evaluations of the
collectability and historical loss experience of loans and leases.
Credit losses are charged and recoveries are credited to the ALLL.
Provisions for loan and lease losses are based on the Bancorp’s
review of the historical credit loss experience and such factors that,
in management’s judgment, deserve consideration under existing
economic conditions in estimating probable credit losses. The
Bancorp’s strategy for credit risk management includes a
combination of conservative exposure limits significantly below
legal lending limits and conservative underwriting, documentation
and collections standards. The strategy also emphasizes
diversification on a geographic, industry and customer level, regular
credit examinations and quarterly management reviews of large
credit exposures and loans experiencing detetioration of credit
quality.

The Bancorp’s methodology for determining the ALLL is
based on historical loss rates, current credit grades, specific
allocation on loans modified in a TDR and impaired commercial
credits above specified thresholds and other qualitative adjustments.
Allowances on individual commercial loans, TDRs and historical
loss rates are reviewed quarterly and adjusted as necessary based on
changing borrower and/or collateral conditions and actual
collection and charge-off experience. An unallocated allowance is
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maintained to recognize the imprecision in estimating and
measuting losses when evaluating allowances for individual loans or
pools of loans.

Larger commercial loans included within aggregate borrower
relationship balances exceeding $1 million that exhibit probable or
observed credit weaknesses, as well as loans that have been
modified in a TDR, are subject to individual review for impairment.
The Bancorp considers the current value of collateral, credit quality
of any guarantees, the guarantor’s liquidity and willingness to
cooperate, the loan structure and other factors when evaluating
whether an individual loan is impaired. Other factors may include
the industry and geographic region of the borrower, size and
financial condition of the borrower, cash flow and leverage of the
borrower and the Bancorp’s evaluation of the borrower’s
management. When individual loans are impaired, allowances are
determined based on management’s estimate of the borrower’s
ability to repay the loan given the availability of collateral and other
sources of cash flow, as well as an evaluation of legal options
available to the Bancorp. Allowances for impaired loans are
measured based on the present value of expected future cash flows
discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate, fair value of the
underlying collateral or readily observable secondary market values.
The Bancorp evaluates the collectability of both principal and
interest when assessing the need for a loss accrual.

Historical credit loss rates are applied to commercial loans that
are not impaired or are impaired, but smaller than the established
threshold of $1 million and thus not subject to specific allowance
allocations. The loss rates are detived from a migration analysis,
which tracks the historical net charge-off experience sustained on
loans according to their internal risk grade. The risk grading system
utilized for allowance analysis purposes encompasses ten categories.

Homogenous loans and leases in the residential mortgage and
consumer portfolio segments are not individually risk graded.
Rather, standard credit scoring systems and delinquency monitoring
are used to assess credit risks and allowances are established based
on the expected net charge-offs. Loss rates are based on the trailing
twelve month net chatge-off history by loan category. Historical loss
rates may be adjusted for certain prescriptive and qualitative factors
that, in management’s judgment, are necessary to reflect losses
inherent in the portfolio. Factors that management considers in the
analysis include the effects of the national and local economies;
trends in the nature and volume of delinquencies, charge-offs and
nonaccrual loans; changes in loan mix; credit score migration
comparisons; asset quality trends; risk management and loan
administration; changes in the internal lending policies and credit
standards; collection practices; and examination results from bank
regulatory agencies and the Bancorp’s internal credit reviewers.

The Bancorp’s primary market areas for lending are the
Midwestern and Southeastern regions of the United States. When
evaluating the adequacy of allowances, consideration is given to
these regional geographic concentrations and the closely associated
effect changing economic conditions have on the Bancorp’s
customers.

In the current year, the Bancorp has not substantively changed
any material aspect to its overall approach to determining its ALLL
for any of its portfolio segments. There have been no material
changes in criteria or estimation techniques as compared to prior
petiods that impacted the determination of the current period
ALLL for any of the Bancorp’s portfolio segments.

Reserve for Unfunded Commitments

The reserve for unfunded commitments is maintained at a level
believed by management to be sufficient to absorb estimated
probable losses related to unfunded credit facilities and is included
in other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
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determination of the adequacy of the reserve is based upon an
evaluation of the unfunded credit facilities, including an assessment
of historical commitment utilization experience, credit risk grading
and historical loss rates based on credit grade migration. This
process takes into consideration the same risk elements that are
analyzed in the determination of the adequacy of the Bancorp’s
ALLL, as previously discussed. Net adjustments to the reserve for
unfunded commitments are included in other noninterest expense
in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Loan Sales and Securitizations

The Bancorp periodically sells loans through either securitizations
or individual loan sales in accordance with its investment policies.
The sold loans are removed from the balance sheet and a net gain or
loss is recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements at the
time of sale. The Bancorp typically isolates the loans through the
use of a VIE and thus is requited to assess whether the entity
holding the sold or securitized loans is a VIE and whether the
Bancorp is the primary beneficiary and therefore consolidator of
that VIE. If the Bancorp holds the power to direct activities most
significant to the economic performance of the VIE and has the
obligation to absorb losses or right to receive benefits that could
potentially be significant to the VIE, then the Bancorp will generally
be deemed the primary beneficiaty of the VIE. If the Bancorp is
determined not to be the primary beneficiary of a VIE but holds a
vatiable interest in the entity, such variable interests are accounted
for under the equity method of accounting or other accounting
standards as appropriate. Refer to Note 11 for further information
on consolidated and non-consolidated VIEs.

The Bancorp’s loan sales and securitizations are generally
structured with servicing retained. As a result, servicing rights
resulting from residential mortgage loan sales are initially recorded
at fair value and subsequently amortized in proportion to and over
the period of estimated net servicing revenues and atre reported as a
component of mortgage banking net revenue in the Consolidated
Statements of Income. Servicing rights ate assessed for impairment
monthly, based on fair value, with temporary impairment
recognized through a valuation allowance and other-than-temporary
impairment recognized through a write-off of the servicing asset
and related valuation allowance. Key economic assumptions used in
measuring any potential impairment of the servicing rights include
the prepayment speeds of the underlying loans, the weighted-
average life, the discount rate and the weighted-average coupon, as
applicable. The primary risk of material changes to the value of the
servicing rights resides in the potential volatility in the economic
assumptions used, particularly the prepayment speeds. The Bancorp
monitors risk and adjusts its valuation allowance as necessaty to
adequately reserve for impairment in the servicing portfolio. For
purposes of measuring impairment, the mortgage servicing rights
are stratified into classes based on the financial asset type (fixed-rate
vs. adjustable-rate) and interest rates. Fees received for servicing
loans owned by investors are based on a percentage of the
outstanding monthly principal balance of such loans and are
included in noninterest income in the Consolidated Statements of
Income as loan payments are received. Costs of servicing loans are
charged to expense as incurred.

Reserve for Representation and Warranty Provisions

Conforming residential mortgage loans sold to unrelated third
parties are generally sold with representation and warranty
provisions. A contractual liability arises only in the event of a breach
of these representations and warranties and, in general, only when a
loss results from the breach. The Bancorp may be required to
repurchase any previously sold loan or indemnify (make whole) the
investor or insurer for which the representation or warranty of the
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Bancorp proves to be inaccurate, incomplete or misleading. The
Bancorp establishes a residential mortgage repurchase reserve
related to vatious trepresentations and warranties that reflects
management’s estimate of losses based on a combination of factors.

The Bancorp’s estimation process requires management to
make subjective and complex judgments about matters that are
inherently uncertain, such as future demand expectations, economic
factors and the specific characteristics of the loans subject to
repurchase. Such factors incorporate historical investor audit and
repurchase demand rates, appeals success rates, historical loss
severity and any additional information obtained from the GSEs
regarding future mortgage repurchase and file request criteria. At the
time of a loan sale, the Bancorp records a trepresentation and
warranty reserve at the estimated fair value of the Bancorp’s
guarantee and continually updates the reserve during the life of the
loan as losses in excess of the reserve become probable and
reasonably estimable. The provision for the estimated fair value of
the representation and watranty guarantee arising from the loan
sales is recorded as an adjustment to the gain on sale, which is
included in other noninterest income at the time of sale. Updates to
the reserve are recorded in other noninterest expense.

Legal Contingencies

The Bancorp and its subsidiaties are parties to numerous claims and
lawsuits as well as threatened or potential actions or claims
concerning matters atising from the conduct of its business
activities. The outcome of claims or litigation and the timing of
ultimate resolution are inherently difficult to predict and significant
judgment may be required in the determination of both the
probability of loss and whether the amount of the loss is reasonably
estimable. The Bancorp’s estimates are subjective and are based on
the status of legal and regulatory proceedings, the merit of the
Bancorp’s defenses and consultation with internal and external legal
counsel. An accrual for a potential litigation loss is established when
information related to the loss contingency indicates both that a loss
is probable and that the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated.
This accrual is included in other liabilities in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets and is adjusted from time to time as appropriate to
reflect changes in circumstances. Legal expenses are recorded in
other noninterest expense in the Consolidated Statements of
Income.

Bank Premises and Equipment and Other Long-Lived
Assets

Bank premises and equipment, including leasehold improvements,
are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method based on
estimated useful lives of the assets for book purposes, while
accelerated depreciation is used for income tax purposes.
Amortization of leasehold improvements is computed using the
straight-line method over the lives of the related leases or useful
lives of the related assets, whichever is shotter. Whenever events or
changes in circumstances dictate, the Bancorp tests its long-lived
assets for impairment by determining whether the sum of the
estimated undiscounted future cash flows attributable to a long-lived
asset or asset group is less than the carrying amount of the long-
lived asset or asset group through a probability-weighted
approach. In the event the carrying amount of the long-lived asset
or asset group is not recoverable, an impairment loss is measured as
the amount by which the carrying amount of the long-lived asset or
asset group exceeds its fair value. Maintenance, repairs and minor
improvements are charged to noninterest expense in the
Consolidated Statements of Income as incurred.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Bancorp accounts for its derivatives as either assets or liabilities
measuted at fair value through adjustments to AOCI and/or current
earnings, as appropriate. On the date the Bancorp enters into a
derivative contract, the Bancorp designates the derivative
instrument as either a fair value hedge, cash flow hedge or as a free-
standing derivative instrument. For a fair value hedge, changes in
the fair value of the derivative instrument and changes in the fair
value of the hedged asset or liability attributable to the hedged risk
are recorded in current period net income. For a cash flow hedge,
changes in the fair value of the derivative instrument, to the extent
that it is effective, are recorded in AOCI and subsequently
reclassified to net income in the same period(s) that the hedged
transaction impacts net income. For free-standing derivative
instruments, changes in fair values are reported in current period net
income.

Prior to entering into a hedge transaction, the Bancorp
formally documents the relationship between the hedging
instrtument and the hedged item, as well as the risk management
objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge transaction. This
process includes linking the derivative instrument designated as a
fair value or cash flow hedge to a specific asset or liability on the
balance sheet or to specific forecasted transactions and the risk
being hedged, along with a formal assessment at both inception of
the hedge and on an ongoing basis as to the effectiveness of the
derivative instrument in offsetting changes in fair values or cash
flows of the hedged item. If it is determined that the derivative
instrument is not highly effective as a hedge, hedge accounting is
discontinued.

Income Taxes

The Bancorp estimates income tax expense based on amounts
expected to be owed to the various tax jurisdictions in which the
Bancorp conducts business. On a quarterly basis, management
assesses the reasonableness of its effective tax rate based upon its
current estimate of the amount and components of net income, tax
credits and the applicable statutory tax rates expected for the full
year. The estimated income tax expense is recorded in the
Consolidated Statements of Income.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined using
the balance sheet method and the net deferred tax asset or liability
by taxing jurisdiction is reported in other assets or accrued taxes,
interest and expenses in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Under
this method, the net deferred tax asset or liability is based on the tax
effects of the differences between the book and tax basis of assets
and liabilities and reflects enacted changes in tax rates and laws.
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent they exist and are
subject to a valuation allowance based on management’s judgment
that realization is more likely than not. This analysis is performed on
a quarterly basis and includes an evaluation of all positive and
negative evidence, such as the limitation on the use of any net
operating losses, to determine whether realization is more likely
than not.

Accrued taxes trepresent the net estimated amount due to
taxing jurisdictions and are reported in accrued taxes, interest and
expenses in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Bancorp
evaluates and assesses the relative risks and appropriate tax
treatment of transactions and filing positions after considering
statutes, regulations, judicial precedent and other information and
maintains tax accruals consistent with its evaluation of these relative
risks and merits. Changes to the estimate of accrued taxes occur
petiodically due to changes in tax rates, interpretations of tax laws,
the status of examinations being conducted by taxing authorities
and changes to statutory, judicial and regulatory guidance that
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impact the relative risks of tax positions. These changes, when they
occur, can affect deferred taxes and accrued taxes as well as the
current period’s income tax expense and can be significant to the
operating results of the Bancorp. Any interest and penalties incurred
in connection with income taxes are recorded as a component of
income tax expense in the Consolidated Financial Statements. For
additional information on income taxes, refer to Note 20.

FEarnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income
available to common shareholders by the weighted-average number
of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Earnings
pet diluted share is computed by dividing adjusted net income
available to common shareholders by the weighted-average number
of shares of common stock and common stock equivalents
outstanding during the period. Dilutive common stock equivalents
represent the assumed conversion of dilutive convertible preferred
stock, the exetcise of dilutive stock-based awards and warrants and
the dilutive effect of the settlement of outstanding forward
contracts.

The Bancorp calculates earnings per share pursuant to the two-
class method. The two-class method is an earnings allocation
formula that determines earnings per share separately for common
stock and participating securities according to dividends declared
and participation rights in undistributed earnings. For purposes of
calculating earnings per share under the two-class method, restricted
shares that contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends are considered
participating securities until vested. While the dividends declared per
share on such restricted shares are the same as dividends declared
pet common share outstanding, the dividends recognized on such
restricted shares may be less because dividends paid on restricted
shares that are expected to be forfeited are reclassified to
compensation expense during the period when forfeiture is
expected.

Goodwill

Business combinations entered into by the Bancorp typically include
the acquisition of goodwill. Goodwill is required to be tested for
impairment at the Bancorp’s reporting unit level on an annual basis,
which for the Bancorp is September 30, and more frequently if
events or circumstances indicate that there may be impairment. The
Bancorp has determined that its segments qualify as reporting units
under U.S. GAAP.

Impairment exists when a reporting unit’s carrying amount of
goodwill exceeds its implied fair value. In testing goodwill for
impairment, U.S. GAAP permits the Bancorp to first assess
qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not
that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount.
In this qualitative assessment, the Bancorp evaluates events and
circumstances which may include, but are not limited to, the general
economic environment, banking industry and market conditions,
the overall financial performance of the Bancorp, the performance
of the Bancorp’s common stock, the key financial performance
metrics of the Bancorp’s reporting units and events affecting the
reporting units. If, after assessing the totality of events and
circumstances, the Bancorp determines it is not more likely than not
that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount,
then performing the two-step impairment test would be
unnecessary. However, if the Bancorp concludes otherwise or elects
to bypass the qualitative assessment, it would then be required to
perform the first step (Step 1) of the goodwill impairment test, and
continue to the second step (Step 2), if necessary. Step 1 of the
goodwill impairment test compares the fair value of a reporting unit
with its cartying amount, including goodwill. If the carrying amount
of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, Step 2 of the goodwill
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impairment test is performed to measure the amount of impairment
loss, if any.

The fair value of a reporting unit is the price that would be
received to sell the unit as a whole in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. As none of the
Bancorp’s reporting units are publicly traded, individual reporting
unit fair value determinations cannot be directly correlated to the
Bancorp’s stock price. To determine the fair value of a reporting
unit, the Bancorp employs an income-based approach, utilizing the
reporting unit’s forecasted cash flows (including a terminal value
approach to estimate cash flows beyond the final year of the
forecast) and the reporting unit’s estimated cost of equity as the
discount rate. Additionally, the Bancorp determines its market
capitalization based on the average of the closing price of the
Bancorp’s stock during the month including the measurement date,
incorporating an additional control premium, and compares this
market-based fair value measurement to the aggregate fair value of
the Bancorp’s reporting units in order to corroborate the results of
the income approach.

When required to perform Step 2, the Bancorp compares the
implied fair value of a reporting unit’s goodwill with the carrying
amount of that goodwill. If the carrying amount exceeds the implied
fair value, an impairment loss equal to that excess amount is
recognized. A recognized impairment loss cannot exceed the
carrying amount of that goodwill and cannot be reversed in future
petiods even if the fair value of the reporting unit subsequently
recovers.

During Step 2, the Bancorp determines the implied fair value
of goodwill for a reporting unit by assigning the fair value of the
reporting unit to all of the assets and liabilities of that unit (including
any unrecognized intangible assets) as if the reporting unit had been
acquired in a business combination. The excess of the fair value of
the reporting unit over the amounts assigned to its assets and
liabilities is the implied fair value of goodwill. This assignment
process is only performed for purposes of testing goodwill for
impairment. The Bancorp does not adjust the carrying values of
recognized assets or liabilities (other than goodwill, if appropriate),
nor does it recognize previously unrecognized intangible assets in
the Consolidated Financial Statements as a result of this assignment
process. Refer to Note 9 for further information regarding the
Bancorp’s goodwill.

Fair Value Measurements

The Bancorp measures certain financial assets and liabilities at fair
value in accordance with U.S. GAAP, which defines fair value as the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an ordetly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. Valuation techniques the Bancorp uses to
measute fair value include the market approach, income approach
and cost approach. The market approach uses prices or relevant
information generated by market transactions involving identical or
comparable assets or liabilities. The income approach involves
discounting future amounts to a single present amount and is based
on current market expectations about those future amounts. The
cost approach is based on the amount that currently would be
required to teplace the service capacity of the asset.

U.S. GAAP establishes a fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into
three broad levels. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority
to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
(Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). A
financial instrument’s categorization within the fair value hierarchy
is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the
instrument’s fair value measurement. The three levels within the fair
value hierarchy are described as follows:
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Level 1T — Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Bancorp has the ability
to access at the measurement date.

Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs include: quoted prices
for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted
prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets
that are not active; inputs other than quoted prices that are
observable for the asset or liability; and inputs that are
derived principally from or corroborated by observable
matket data by correlation or othet means.

Level/ 3 — Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability for
which there is little, if any, market activity at the
measurement date. Unobservable inputs reflect the
Bancorp’s own assumptions about what market patticipants
would use to price the asset or liability. The inputs are
developed based on the best information available in the
circumstances, which might include the Bancorp’s own
financial data such as internally developed pricing models
and DCF methodologies, as well as instruments for which
the fair value determination requires significant management
judgment.

The Bancorp’s fair value measurements involve various
valuation techniques and models, which involve inputs that are
observable, when available. Valuation techniques and parameters
used for measuring assets and liabilities are reviewed and validated
by the Bancorp on a quarterly basis. Additionally, the Bancorp
monitors the fair values of significant assets and liabilities using a
vatiety of methods including the evaluation of pricing runs and
exception reports based on certain analytical criteria, comparison to
previous trades and overall review and assessments for
reasonableness. Refer to Note 27 for further information on fair
value measurements.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Bancorp recognizes compensation expense for the grant-date
fair value of stock-based awards that are expected to vest over the
requisite service period. All awards, both those with cliff vesting and
graded vesting, are expensed on a straight-line basis. Awards to
employees that meet eligible retirement status are expensed
immediately. As compensation expense is recognized, a deferred tax
asset is recorded that represents an estimate of the future tax
deduction from exercise or release of restrictions. At the time
awards are exercised, cancelled, expire or restrictions are released,
the Bancorp may be required to recognize an adjustment to income
tax expense for the difference between the previously estimated tax
deduction and the actual tax deduction realized. For further
information on the Bancorp’s stock-based compensation plans,
refer to Note 24.

Pension Plans

The Bancorp uses an expected long-term rate of return applied to
the fair market value of assets as of the beginning of the year and
the expected cash flow during the year for calculating the expected
investment return on all pension plan assets. Amortization of the
net gain or loss resulting from experience different from that
assumed and from changes in assumptions (excluding asset gains
and losses not yet reflected in market-related value) is included as a
component of net periodic benefit cost. If, as of the beginning of
the year, that net gain or loss exceeds 10% of the greater of the

projected benefit obligation and the market-related value of plan
assets, the amortization is that excess divided by the average
remaining service period of participating employees expected to
receive benefits under the plan. The Bancorp uses a third-party
actuary to compute the remaining service period of participating
employees. This period reflects expected turnover, pre-retirement
mortality and other applicable employee demographics.

Other

Securities and other property held by Fifth Third Investment
Advisors, a division of the Bancorp’s banking subsidiary, in a
fiduciary or agency capacity are not included in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets because such items are not assets of the subsidiaries.
Investment advisory revenue in the Consolidated Statements of
Income is recognized on the accrual basis. Investment advisory
service revenues are recognized monthly based on a fee charged per
transaction processed and/or a fee charged on the market value of
average account balances associated with individual contracts.

The Bancorp recognizes revenue from its card and processing
services on an accrual basis as such services are performed,
recording revenues net of certain costs (primarily interchange fees
charged by credit card associations) not controlled by the Bancorp.

The Bancorp purchases life insurance policies on the lives of
certain directors, officers and employees and is the owner and
beneficiary of the policies. The Bancorp invests in these policies,
known as BOLI, to provide an efficient form of funding for long-
term retirement and other employee benefits costs. The Bancorp
records these BOLI policies within other assets in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets at each policy’s respective cash surrender value, with
changes recorded in other noninterest income in the Consolidated
Statements of Income.

Other intangible assets consist of core deposit intangibles,
customer lists, non-compete agreements and cardholder
relationships. Other intangible assets are amortized on either a
straight-line or an accelerated basis over their estimated useful lives.
The Bancorp reviews other intangible assets for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that carrying
amounts may not be recoverable.

Securities sold under repurchase agreements are accounted for
as secured borrowings and included in other short-term borrowings
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at the amounts at which the
securities were sold plus accrued interest.

Acquisitions of treasury stock are carried at cost. Reissuance of
shares in treasury for acquisitions, exercises of stock-based awards
or other corporate purposes is recorded based on the specific
identification method.

Advertising costs are generally expensed as incurred.

Accounting and Reporting Developments

Accounting for Investments in Qualified Affordable Housing Projects

In January 2014, the FASB issued amended guidance which would
permit the Bancorp to make an accounting policy election to
account for its investments in qualified affordable housing projects
using a proportional amortization method if certain conditions are
met and to present the amortization as a component of income tax
expense. The amended guidance would be applied retrospectively to
all periods presented and is effective for fiscal years, and interim
periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2014, with
early adoption permitted. Regardless of the policy election, the
amended guidance requires disclosures to enable the users of the
financial statements to understand the nature of the Bancorp’s
investments in qualified affordable housing projects and the effect
of the measurement of the investments in qualified affordable
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housing projects and the related tax credits on the Bancorp’s
financial position and results of operation.

The Bancorp adopted the amended guidance on January 1,
2015 and did not make an accounting policy election to apply the
proportional amortization method for its investments in qualified
affordable housing projects. Therefore, the adoption of the
amended guidance did not have a material impact on the
Consolidated Financial Statements. The required disclosures are
included in Note 11.

Reclassification of Residential Real Estate Collateralized Consumer Mortgage
Loans upon Foreclosure

In January 2014, the FASB issued amended guidance that clarifies
when a creditor should be considered to have received physical
possession of residential real estate property collateralizing a
consumer mortgage loan such that the loan receivable should be
derecognized and the real estate property recognized. The amended
guidance clarifies that an in substance repossession or foreclosure
occurs and a creditor is considered to have received physical
possession of residential real estate property collateralizing a
consumer mortgage loan, upon either 1) the creditor obtaining legal
title to the residential real estate property upon completion of a
foreclosure or 2)the borrower conveying all interest in the
residential real estate property to the creditor to satisfy that loan
through completion of a deed in lieu of foreclosure or through a
similar legal agreement. In addition, the amended guidance requires
interim and annual disclosures of both 1) the amount of foreclosed
residential real estate property held by the creditor and 2) the
recorded investment in consumer mortgage loans collateralized by
residential real estate property that are in the process of foreclosure
according to local requirements of the applicable jurisdiction. The
amended guidance may be applied prospectively or through a
modified retrospective approach and is effective for fiscal years, and
interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15,
2014, with early adoption permitted. The Bancorp adopted the
amended guidance on January 1, 2015 and the adoption of the
amended guidance did not have a material impact on the
Consolidated Financial Statements. The required disclosures are
included in Note 6.

Reporting - Discontinned ~ Operations and ~ Disclosures  of  Disposals  of
Components of an Entity

In April 2014, the FASB issued amended guidance that changes the
criteria for reporting discontinued operations. The amended
guidance requires a disposal of a component of an entity or a group
of components of an entity to be reported in discontinued
operations if the disposal represents a strategic shift that has (or will
have) a major effect on an entity’s operations and financial results
when any of the following occurs: 1) the component of an entity or
group of components of an entity meets the criteria to be classified
as held for sale; 2) the component of an entity or group of
components of an entity is disposed of by sale; or 3) the component
of an entity or group of components of an entity is disposed of
other than by sale (for example, by abandonment ot in a distribution
to owners in a spinoff). The amended guidance requires an entity to
present, for each comparative period, the assets and liabilities of a
disposal group that includes a discontinued operation separately in
the asset and liability sections, trespectively, of the statement of
financial position, as well as additional disclosures about
discontinued operations. The amended guidance is to be applied
prospectively for 1) all disposals (or classifications as held for sale)
of components of an entity that occur within annual periods
beginning on or after December 15, 2014, and interim periods
within those years; and 2) all businesses or nonprofit activities that,
on acquisition, are classified as held for sale that occur within annual
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periods beginning on or after December 15, 2014, and interim
petiods within those years. The Bancorp adopted the amended
guidance on January 1, 2015 and the adoption of the amended
guidance did not have a material impact on the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

In May 2014, the FASB issued amended guidance on revenue
recognition from contracts with customers. The standard outlines a
single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most
contract revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific
guidance. The cote principle of the amended guidance is that an
entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services. The amended guidance is effective for
annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, and
interim periods within the reporting petiod, and should be applied
either retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented or
retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments recognized at the date of initial application. Early
adoption is permitted only as of annual reporting periods beginning
after December 15, 2016 and interim reporting periods within those
fiscal years. The Bancorp is currently in the process of evaluating
the impact of the amended guidance on its Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Repurchase-to-Maturity Transactions, Repurchase Financings and Disclosures
In June 2014, the FASB issued amended guidance that changes the
accounting for repurchase-to-maturity transactions to secured
borrowing accounting. The amended guidance also requires separate
accounting for a transfer of a financial asset executed
contemporaneously with a repurchase agreement with the same
counterparty, which will result in secured borrowing accounting for
the repurchase agreement. The amended guidance requires
disclosures for certain transactions comprising: 1) a transfer of a
financial asset accounted for as a sale and 2) an agreement with the
same transferee entered into in contemplation of the initial transfer
that results in the transferor retaining substantially all of the
exposure to the economic return on the transferred financial asset
throughout the term of the transaction. The amended guidance also
requires new disclosures for repurchase agreements, securities
lending transactions and repurchase-to-maturity —transactions
accounted for as secured borrowings. The amended guidance is
effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years,
beginning after December 15, 2014, with early adoption prohibited.
Changes in accounting for transactions outstanding on the effective
date should be presented as a cumulative-effect adjustment to
retained earnings as of the beginning of the period of adoption. The
disclosures for certain transactions accounted for as a sale are
required to be presented for interim and annual periods beginning
after December 15, 2014, and the disclosures for repurchase
agreements, securities lending transactions and repurchase-to-
maturity transactions accounted for as secured borrowings are
required to be presented for annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2014, and interim periods beginning after March 15,
2015. The Bancorp adopted the amended guidance on January 1,
2015 and the adoption of the amended guidance did not have a
material impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements. The
required disclosures are included in Note 15.
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Accounting for Share-Based Payments When the Terms of the Award Provide
That a Performance Target Could be Achieved after the Requisite Service
Period

In June 2014, the FASB issued amended guidance which clarifies
that a performance target that affects vesting and can be achieved
after the requisite service period be treated as a performance
condition. The amended guidance provides that an entity should
apply existing guidance as it relates to awards with performance
conditions that affect vesting to account for such awards. As such,
the performance target should not be reflected in estimating the
grant-date fair value of the award. Compensation cost should be
recognized in the period in which it becomes probable that the
petformance target will be achieved and should represent the
compensation cost attributable to the period(s) for which the
requisite service has already been rendered. If the performance
target becomes probable of being achieved before the end of the
requisite service period, the remaining unrecognized compensation
cost should be recognized prospectively over the remaining requisite
service period. The total amount of compensation cost recognized
during and after the requisite service period should reflect the
number of awards that are expected to vest and should be adjusted
to reflect those awards that ultimately vest. The requisite service
period ends when the employee can cease rendering service and still
be eligible to vest in the award if the performance target is achieved.
The amended guidance is effective for annual periods, and interim
petiods within those annual petiods, beginning after December 15,
2015, with early adoption permitted. The amended guidance may be
adopted either prospectively to all awards granted or modified after
the effective date or retrospectively to all awards with performance
targets that are outstanding as of the beginning of the earliest annual
petiod presented in the financial statements and to all new or
modified awards thereafter. If retrospective transition is adopted,
the cumulative effect of applying the amended guidance as of the
beginning of the earliest annual period presented in the financial
statements should be recognized as an adjustment to the opening
retained earnings balance at that date. The Bancorp adopted the
amended guidance prospectively on January 1, 2016 and the
adoption of the amended guidance did not have a material impact
on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Measuring the Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities of a Consolidated
Collateralized Financing Entity

In August 2014, the FASB issued amended guidance that provides
an alternative to ASC Topic 820: Fair Value Measurement for
measuring the financial assets and financial liabilities of a CFE, such
as a collateralized debt obligation or a collateralized loan obligation
entity consolidated as a VIE when a) all of the financial assets and
the financial liabilities of that CFE are measured at fair value in the
consolidated financial statements and b) the changes in the fair
values of those financial assets and financial liabilities are reflected
in earnings. If elected, the measurement alternative would allow the
Bancorp to measure both the financial assets and the financial
liabilities of the CFE by using the more observable of the fair value
of the financial assets or the fair value of the financial liabilities and
to eliminate any measurement difference. When the measurement
alternative is not elected for a consolidated CFE within the scope of
this amended guidance, the amendments clarify that 1) the fair value
of the financial assets and the fair value of the financial liabilities of
the consolidated CFE should be measured using the requirements
of Topic 820 and 2) any difference in the fair value of the financial
assets and the fair value of the financial liabilities of that
consolidated CFE should be reflected in earnings and attributed to
the Bancorp in the Consolidated Statements of Income. The
amended guidance may be applied retrospectively or through a

modified retrospective approach and is effective for fiscal years, and
interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after
December 15, 2015. The Bancorp adopted the amended guidance
on January 1, 2016 and the adoption did not have a material impact
on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Classification of Certain  Government-Guaranteed Mortgage Loans npon
Foreclosure

In August 2014, the FASB issued amended guidance clarifying the
classification of certain foreclosed mortgage loans that are either full
or partially guaranteed under government programs. The amended
guidance requires that a mortgage loan be derecognized and that a
separate other treceivable be recognized upon foreclosure if the
following conditions are met: 1) the loan has a government
guarantee that is not separable from the loan before foreclosure; 2)
at the time of foreclosure, the creditor has the intent to convey the
real estate property to the guarantor and make a claim on the
guarantee, and the creditor has the ability to recover under that
claim; and 3) at the time of foreclosure, any amount of the claim
that is determined on the basis of the fair value of the real estate is
fixed. Upon foreclosure, the separate other receivable would be
measured based on the amount of the loan balance (principal and
interest) expected to be recovered from the guarantor. The
amended guidance may be applied prospectively or through a
modified retrospective approach and is effective for fiscal years, and
interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15,
2014, with early adoption permitted. The Bancorp adopted the
amended guidance prospectively on January 1, 2015 and the
adoption of the amended guidance did not have a material impact
on the Consolidated Financial Statements. The required disclosures
are included in Note 6.

Determining Whether the Host Contract in a Hybrid Financial Instrument
Issued in the Form of a Share is More Akin to Debt or Equity

In November 2014, the FASB issued amended guidance that
clarifies how current U.S. GAAP should be interpreted in evaluating
the economic characteristics and risks of a host contract in a hybrid
financial instrument that is issued in the form of a share.
Specifically, the amendments clarify that an entity should consider
all relevant terms and features, including the embedded derivative
features being evaluated for bifurcation, in evaluating the nature of
the host contract. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that no
single term or feature would necessarily determine the economic
characteristics and risks of the host contract. Rather, the nature of
the host contract depends upon the economic characteristics and
risks of the entire hybrid financial instrument. The amended
guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within
those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015, with eatly
adoption permitted. The effects of initially adopting the amended
guidance should be applied on a modified retrospective basis to
existing hybrid financial instruments issued in the form of a share as
of the beginning of the fiscal year for which the amendments are
effective and shall be reported as a cumulative-effect adjustment
directly to retained earnings as of the beginning of the year of
adoption. The Bancorp adopted the amended guidance on January
1, 2016 and the adoption of the amended guidance did not have a
material impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Simplifying Income Statement Presentation by Eliminating the Concept of
Extraordinary Items

In January 2015, the FASB issued amended guidance that eliminates
the concept of extraordinary items from U.S. GAAP. Presently, an
event or transaction is presumed to be an ordinary and usual activity
of a reporting entity unless evidence cleatly supports its
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classification as an extraordinary item, which must be both unusual
in nature and infrequent in occurrence. An entity was required to
segregate the extraordinary item from the results of ordinary
operations and show the item separately in the income statement,
net of tax, after income from continuing operations. An entity was
also required to disclose applicable income taxes and either present
or disclose earnings-per-shate data applicable to the extraordinary
item. The presentation and disclosure guidance for items that are
unusual in nature or occur infrequently will be retained and will be
expanded to include items that are both unusual in nature and
infrequently occurring. The amended guidance is effective for fiscal
years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after
December 15, 2015, with early adoption permitted provided that the
guidance is applied from the beginning of the fiscal year of
adoption. The amended guidance may be applied prospectively or
retrospectively to all periods presented in the financial statements.
The Bancorp adopted the amended guidance prospectively on
January 1, 2016 and the adoption of the amended guidance did not
have a material impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis

In February 2015, the FASB issued amended guidance that changes
the analysis a reporting entity must perform to determine whether it
should consolidate certain types of legal entities. The amended
guidance 1) modifies the evaluation of whether limited partnerships
and similar legal entities are VIEs or voting interest entities; 2)
eliminates the presumption that a general partner should consolidate
a limited partnership; 3) affects the consolidation analysis of
reporting entities that are involved with VIEs, particularly those that
have fee arrangements and related party relationships; and 4)
provides a scope exception from consolidation guidance for
reporting entities that are required to comply with or operate in
accordance with requirements that are similar to those in Rule 2a-7
of the Investment Company Act of 1940 for registered money
market funds. The amended guidance is effective for fiscal years,
and interim periods within those years, beginning after
December 15, 2015, with eatly adoption permitted. The amended
guidance may be applied using cither a retrospective approach or a
modified retrospective approach with a cumulative-effect
adjustment to equity as of the beginning of the fiscal year of
adoption. The Bancorp adopted the amended guidance on January
1, 2016 and the adoption of the amended guidance did not have a
material impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs

In April 2015, the FASB issued amended guidance to address the
different balance sheet presentation requirements for debt issuance
costs and debt discounts and premiums. The amended guidance
requires that debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability
be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the
carrying amount of that debt lability, consistent with debt
discounts. The recognition and measurement guidance for debt
issuance costs are not affected by the amended guidance. The
amended guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods
within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015, with
eatly adoption permitted for financial statements that have not been
previously issued. The amended guidance should be applied
retrospectively, wherein the balance sheet of each individual period
presented should be adjusted to reflect the period-specific effects of
applying the amended guidance. As of December 31, 2015 and
2014, the Bancorp had approximately $34 million and $36 million of
debt issuance costs, respectively, recorded within other assets in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets that were required to be reclassified
and presented as a direct deduction from the debt liability upon the
adoption of the amended guidance on January 1, 2016.
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Practical Expedient for the Measurement Date of an Employer's Defined
Benefit Obligation and Plan Assets

In April 2015, the FASB issued amended guidance intended to
simplify an entity’s measurement of the fair value of plan assets of a
defined benefit pension or other postretitement benefit plan when
the fiscal year-end does not coincide with a month end. For an
entity with a fiscal year-end that does not coincide with a month-
end, the amended guidance provides a practical expedient that
permits the entity to measure defined benefit plan assets and
obligations using the month-end that is closest to the entity’s fiscal
year-end and apply that practical expedient consistently from year to
year. The amended guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim
petiods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15,
2015, with early adoption permitted. The amended guidance should
be applied prospectively. The adoption of the amended guidance
did not have an impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements as
the Bancorp’s fiscal year-end coincides with a month end.

Customer’s Accounting for Fees Paid in a Cloud Computing Arrangement

In April 2015, the FASB issued amended guidance on a customer’s
accounting for fees paid in a cloud computing arrangement. Under
the amended guidance, if a cloud computing arrangement includes a
software license, then the customer should account for the software
license element of the arrangement consistent with the acquisition
of other software licenses. If a cloud computing arrangement does
not include a software license, the customer should account for the
arrangement as a service contract. The amended guidance is
effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal
years, beginning after December 15, 2015, with early adoption
permitted. The amended guidance may be applied either
prospectively to all arrangements entered into or materially modified
after the effective date, or retrospectively. The Bancorp adopted the
amended guidance prospectively on January 1, 2016 and the
adoption did not have material impact on the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Disclosures for Investments in Certain Entities That Calenlate Net Asset
Value per Share

In May 2015, the FASB issued amended guidance to remove the
requirement to categorize within the fair value hierarchy all
investments for which fair value is measured using the net asset
value per share practical expedient. The amended guidance also
removes the tequitement to make certain disclosures for all
investments that are eligible to be measured at fair value using the
net asset value per share practical expedient. Rather, those
disclosures are limited to investments for which the entity has
elected to measure the fair value using that practical expedient. The
amended guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods
within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015. The
amended guidance should be applied retrospectively to all periods
presented. The retrospective approach requires that an investment
for which fair value is measured using the net asset value per share
practical expedient be removed from the fair value hierarchy in all
petiods presented in an entity’s financial statements. Earlier
application is permitted. The Bancorp adopted the amended
guidance on January 1, 2016 and the adoption did not have a
material impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Presentation and Subsequent Measurement of Debt Issuance Costs Associated
with Line-Of-Credit Agreements

In August 2015, the FASB issued amended guidance about the
presentation and subsequent measurement of debt issuance costs
associated with line of credit arrangements. Given the absence of
authoritative guidance for debt issuance costs related to line of
credit arrangements within ASU 2015-03, the amended guidance
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provides that the SEC staff would not object to an entity deferring
and presenting debt issuance costs as an asset and subsequently
amortizing the deferred debt issuance costs ratably over the term of
the line of credit arrangement, regardless of whether there were any
outstanding borrowings on the line of credit arrangement. The
amended guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods
within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015. The
amended guidance should be applied retrospectively, where in the
balance sheet of each individual period presented should be adjusted
to reflect the period-specific effects of applying the amendments.
Early adoption is permitted for financial statements that have not
been previously issued. The Bancorp adopted the amended
guidance on January 1, 2016 and the adoption did not have a
material impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Simplifying the Accounting for Measurement-Period Adjustments

In September 2015, the FASB issued amended guidance to simplify
the accounting for adjustments made to provisional amounts
recognized in a business combination. The amended guidance
climinates the requirement to retrospectively account for those
adjustments and requires that an acquirer recognize adjustments to
provisional amounts that are identified during the measurement
period in the reporting period in which the adjustment amounts are
determined. The acquirer shall record, in the same period’s financial
statements, the effect on earnings of changes in depreciation,
amortization or other income effects, if any, as a result of the
change to the provisional amounts, calculated as if the accounting
had been completed at the acquisition date. The amended guidance
requires an entity to present separately on the face of the income
statement or disclose in the notes the portion of the amount
recorded in current-period earnings by line item that would have
been recorded in previous reporting periods if the adjustment to the
provisional amounts had been recognized as of the acquisition date.
The amended guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim
periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15,
2015, with earlier application permitted for financial statements that
have not been issued. The amended guidance should be applied
prospectively to adjustments to provisional amounts that occur after
the effective date of the amended guidance. The Bancorp adopted
the amended guidance on January 1, 2016 and the adoption did not
have an impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

In January 2016, the FASB issued amended guidance to improve
certain aspects of recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of financial instruments. Specifically, the amendments
significantly revise an entity’s accounting related to 1) the
classification and measurement of investments in equity securities,
2) the presentation of certain fair value changes for financial
liabilities measured at fair value, and 3) certain disclosure
requirements associated with the fair value of financial instruments.
The amendments require equity investments (except those
accounted for under the equity method of accounting or those that
result in consolidation of the investee) to be measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognized in net income. However, an
entity may choose to measure equity investments that do not have
readily determinable fair values at cost minus impairment, if any,
plus or minus changes as a result of an observable price change. The
amendments also simplify the impairment assessment of equity
investments for which fair value is not readily determinable by
requiring an entity to perform a qualitative assessment to identify
impairment. If qualitative indicators are identified, the entity will be
required to measure the investment at fair value. For financial
liabilities that an entity has elected to measure at fair value, the

amendments require an entity to present separately in other
comprehensive income the portion of the change in fair value that
results from a change in instrument-specific credit risk. For public
business entities, the amendments 1) eliminate the requirement to
disclose the method(s) and significant assumptions used to estimate
fair value for financial instruments measutred at amortized cost and
2) require, for disclosure purposes, the use of an exit price notion in
the determination of the fair value of financial instruments. The
amended guidance is effective for fiscal years and interim periods
within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2017. Upon
adoption, the Bancorp will be required to make a cumulative-effect
adjustment to the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of the beginning
of the fiscal year of adoption. The guidance on equity securities
without readily determinable fair value will be applied prospectively
to all equity investments that exist as of the date of adoption of the
standard. Early adoption of the amendments is not permitted with
the exception of the presentation of certain fair value changes for
financial liabilities measured at fair value for which eatly application
is permitted. The Bancorp is currently in the process of evaluating
the impact of the amended guidance on its Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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2. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash payments related to interest and income taxes in addition to non-cash investing and financing activities are presented in the following table

for the years ended December 31:

($ in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Cash Payments:

Interest $ 475 429 406
Income taxes 400 550 535
Non-cash Investing and Financing Activities:

Portfolio loans to loans held for sale 487 855 641
Loans held for sale to portfolio loans 288 31 44
Portfolio loans to OREO 105 145 204
Loans held for sale to OREO 2 4
Capital lease obligation 4 15 -

3. RESTRICTIONS ON CASH, DIVIDENDS AND OTHER CAPITAL ACTIONS

The FRB, under Regulation D, requites that banks hold cash in
reserve against deposit liabilities, known as the reserve requirement.
The reserve requirement is calculated based on a two-week average
of daily net transaction account deposits as defined by the FRB and
may be satisfied with average vault cash during the following two-
week maintenance period. When vault cash is not sufficient to meet
the reserve requirement, the remaining amount must be satisfied
with average funds held at the FRB. At December 31, 2015 and
2014, the Bancorp’s banking subsidiary reserve requirement was
$1.9 billion and $1.8 billion, respectively. The Bancorp’s banking
subsidiary satisfied its reserve requirement during the two-week
maintenance petiods covering December 31, 2015 and 2014. The
noninterest-bearing portion of the Bancorp’s deposit at the FRB is
held in cash and due from banks in the Consolidated Balance Sheets
while the interest-bearing portion is held in other short-term
investments in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The dividends paid by the Bancorp’s indirect banking
subsidiary are subject to regulations and limitations presctibed by
state and federal supervisory agencies. The Bancorp’s indirect
banking subsidiary paid the Bancorp’s direct nonbank subsidiary
holding company, which in turn paid the Bancorp $1.0 billion and
$1.1 billion in dividends during the years ended December 31, 2015
and 2014, respectively.

In 2011, the FRB adopted the capital plan rule, which requires
BHCs with consolidated assets of $50 billion or more to submit
annual capital plans to the FRB for review. Under the rule, these
capital plans must include detailed descriptions of the following: the
BHC’s internal processes for assessing capital adequacy; the policies
governing capital actions such as common stock issuances,
dividends, and share repurchases; and all planned capital actions
over a nine-quarter planning horizon. Further, each BHC must also
report to the FRB the results of stress tests conducted by the BHC
under a number of scenatios that assess the sources and uses of
capital under baseline and stressed economic scenarios. The FRB
launched the 2015 stress testing program and CCAR on October 23,
2014, with firm submissions of stress test tesults and capital plans
due to the FRB on January 5, 2015, which the Bancorp submitted as
required.

The FRB’s review of the capital plan assessed the
comprehensiveness of the capital plan, the reasonableness of the
assumptions and the analysis underlying the capital plan.
Additionally, the FRB reviewed the robustness of the capital
adequacy process, the capital policy and the Bancorp’s ability to
maintain capital above the minimum regulatory capital ratios and
above a Tier I common ratio (changed to CET1 on January 1, 2015)
of 5% on a pro forma basis under expected and stressful conditions
throughout the planning horizon. The FRB assessed the Bancorp’s
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strategies for addressing proposed revisions to the regulatory capital
framework agreed upon by the BCBS and requirements arising from
the DFA.

On Match 11, 2015, the Bancorp announced the results of its
capital plan submitted to the FRB as part of the 2015 CCAR. For
BHCs that proposed capital disttibutions in their plans, the FRB
cither objected to the plan or provided a non-objection whereby the
FRB permitted the proposed 2015 capital distributions. The FRB
indicated to the Bancorp that it did not object to the following
capital actions for the period beginning April 1, 2015 and ending
June 30, 2016:

e The potential increase in the quarterly common stock

dividend to $0.14 per share in 2016;

e The potential repurchase of common shares in an amount

up to $765 million; and

e The additional ability to repurchase shares in the amount

of any after-tax gains from the sale of Vantiv, Inc.
common stock.

As contemplated by the 2014 capital plan part of the FRB’s
CCAR, during the first quarter of 2015, the Bancorp entered into a
$180 million accelerated share repurchase transaction. As
contemplated by the 2015 capital plan part of the FRB’s CCAR, the
Bancorp entered into $155 million, $300 million and $215 million of
accelerated share repurchase transactions during the second, third
and fourth quarters of 2015, respectively.

Additionally, as a CCAR institution, the Bancorp is required to
disclose the results of its company-run stress test under the
supervisory severely adverse scenario, and to provide information
related to the types of risk included in its stress testing; a general
description of the methodologies used; estimates of certain financial
results and pro forma capital ratios; and an explanation of the most
significant causes of changes in regulatory capital ratios. On March
5, 2015 the Bancorp publicly disclosed the results of its company-
run stress test as required by the DFA stress testing rules, in a press
release.

The BHCs that participated in the 2015 CCAR, including the
Bancorp, were required to also conduct mid-cycle company-run
stress tests using data as of March 31, 2015. The stress tests must be
based on three BHC defined scenarios — baseline, adverse and
severely adverse. The Bancorp submitted the results of its mid-cycle
stress test to the FRB by the required July 6, 2015 submission date.
In addition, the Bancorp published a Form 8-K providing a
summary of the results under the severely adverse scenario on July
27, 2015. These results represented estimates of the Bancorp’s
results from the second quarter of 2015 through the second quarter
of 2017 under the severely adverse scenario.
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4. INVESTMENT SECURITIES

The following table provides the amortized cost, fair value and unrealized gains and losses for the major categories of the available-for-sale and
other and held-to-maturity investment securities portfolios as of December 31:

2015 2014
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
($ in millions) Cost Gains Losses Value Cost Gains Losses Value
Available-for-sale and other securities:
U.S. Treasury and federal agencies securities $ 1,155 32 - 1,187 1,545 87 - 1,632
Obligations of states and political subdivisions securities 50 2 - 52 185 7 - 192
Mortgage-backed securities:
Agency residential mortgage-backed securities® 14,811 283 13) 15,081 11,968 437 &) 12,404
Agency commercial mortgage-backed securities 7,795 100 33) 7,862 4,465 101 1 4,565
Non-agency commercial mortgage-backed securities 2,801 35 (32) 2,804 1,489 61 - 1,550
Asset-backed securities and other debt securities 1,363 13 (21) 1,355 1,324 40 @) 1,362
Equity securities” 703 2 2) 703 701 3 ) 703
Total available-for-sale and other securities $ 28,678 467 (101) 29,044 21,677 736 (5) 22,408
Held-to-maturity securities:
Obligations of states and political subdivisions securities $ 68 - - 68 186 - - 186
Asset-backed secutities and other debt securities 2 - - 2 1 - - 1
Total held-to-maturity securities $ 70 - - 70 187 - - 187

(a)  Includes interest-only mortgage-backed securities of $50 and §175 as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, recorded at fair value with fair valne changes recorded in securities gains, net,
in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

(b)  Equity securities consist of FHL.B, FRB and DTCC restricted stock holdings of $248, $355, and $1, respectively, at December 31, 2015 and §248, $352 and $0, respectively, at December
31, 2014, that are carried at cost, and certain mutnal fund and equity security holdings.

The following table presents realized gains and losses that were recognized in income from available-for-sale securities for the years ended
December 31:

($ in millions) 2015 2014 2013

Realized gains $ 97 70 77
Realized losses (76) ) (102)
OTTI ®) @4 a4
Net realized gains (losses)@ $ 16 37 (99)

(a)  Excludes net losses on interest-only morigage-backed securities of 34 and §17 for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and net gains on interest-only morigage-backed
securities of §129 for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Trading securities were $386 million as of December 31, 2015, compared to $360 million at December 31, 2014. The following table presents total
gains and losses that were recognized in income from trading securities for the years ended December 31:

($ in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Realized gains®@ $ 6 8 5
Realized losses® (10) (7) 8)
Net unrealized (losses) gains® 3) (3) 3
Total trading securities losses $ (7) (2)

(a)  Includes realized gains of $6, §4 and §4 for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively, recorded in corporate banking revenne and investment advisory revensne in the
Consolidated Statements of Income.

(b)  Includes realized losses of $10, 87 and §8 for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively, recorded in corporate banking revenne and investment advisory revenne in the
Consolidated Statements of Income.

(c)  Includes an immaterial amount of net unrealized gains for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 recorded in corporate banking revenne and investment advisory revenue in the
Consolidated Statements of Income.

At December 31, 2015 and 2014, securities with a fair value of $11.0 borrowings, public deposits, trust funds, derivative contracts and for
billion and $14.2 billion, respectively, were pledged to secure other purposes as required or permitted by law.
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The expected maturity distribution of the Bancorp’s mortgage-backed securities and the contractual maturity distribution of the remainder of the
Bancorp’s available-for-sale and other and held-to-maturity investment securities as of December 31, 2015 are shown in the following table:

Available-for-Sale and Other Held-to-Maturity
($ in millions) Amortized Cost Fair Value Amortized Cost Fair Value
Debt securities:@
Less than 1 year $ 695 707 43 43
1-5 years 7,277 7,441 12 12
5-10 years 18,191 18,372 13 13
Over 10 years 1,812 1,821 2 2
Equity securities 703 703 - -
Total $ 28,678 29,044 70 70

(a)  Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities when there exists a right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.

The following table provides the fair value and gross untealized losses on available-for-sale and other securities in an unrealized loss position,
aggregated by investment category and length of time the individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position as of December
31:

Less than 12 months 12 months or more Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized

($ in millions) Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
2015

Agency residential mortgage-backed securities $ 2,903 13) - - 2,903 13)
Agency commercial mortgage-backed securities 3,111 (33) - - 3,111 33)
Non-agency commercial mortgage-backed securities 1,610 32) - - 1,610 32)
Asset-backed securities and other debt securities 623 1) 226 (10) 849 (21)
Equity securities 1 () 37 () 38 2)
Total $ 8,248 (90) 263 (11) 8,511 (101)
2014

Agency residential mortgage-backed securities $ 73 ) - - 73 @
Agency commercial mortgage-backed securities 355 1 - - 355 ™
Asset-backed securities and other debt securities 286 &) 74 &) 360 2
Equity securities - - 30 (1 30 (1)
Total $ 714 (3) 104 2) 818 (5)

Other-Than-Temporary Impairments

The Bancorp recognized $5 million, $24 million and $74 million of
OTTI on its available-for-sale and other debt securities, included in
securities gains, net and securities gains, net — non-qualifying hedges
on mortgage servicing rights in the Consolidated Statements of
Income during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. The Bancorp did not recognize OTTI on any of its
available-for-sale equity securities or held-to-maturity debt securities
during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013. At
December 31, 2015, 1% of unrealized losses in the available-for-sale
and other securities portfolio were represented by non-rated
securities, compared to less than 1% at December 31, 2014.
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5. LOANS AND LEASES

The Bancorp diversifies its loan and lease portfolio by offering a
variety of loan and lease products with various payment terms and
rate structures. Lending activities are generally concentrated within
those states in which the Bancorp has banking centers and are
primarily located in the Midwestern and Southeastern regions of the
United States. The Bancorp’s commercial loan portfolio consists of
lending to various industry types. Management petiodically reviews

the performance of its loan and lease products to evaluate whether
they ate performing within acceptable interest rate and credit risk
levels and changes are made to underwriting policies and procedures
as needed. The Bancorp maintains an allowance to absorb loan and
lease losses inherent in the portfolio. For further information on
credit quality and the ALLL, refer to Note 6.

The following table provides a summary of commercial loans and leases classified by primary purpose and consumer loans and leases classified

based upon product or collateral as of December 31:

($ in millions) 2015 2014
Loans and leases held for sale:
Commercial and industrial loans $ 20 36
Commercial mortgage loans 34 11
Commercial construction loans - 2
Commercial leases - 1
Residential mortgage loans 708 1,193
Home equity 35 -
Automobile loans 4 _
Credit card 101 -
Other consumer loans and leases 1 18
Total loans and leases held for sale $ 903 1,261
Portfolio loans and leases:
Commercial and industrial loans $ 42,131 40,765
Commercial mortgage loans 6,957 7,399
Commercial construction loans 3,214 2,069
Commercial leases 3,854 3,720
Total commercial loans and leases 56,156 53,953
Residential mortgage loans 13,716 12,389
Home equity 8,301 8,886
Automobile loans 11,493 12,037
Credit card 2,259 2,401
Other consumer loans and leases 657 418
Total consumer loans and leases 36,426 36,131
Total portfolio loans and leases $ 92,582 90,084

Total portfolio loans and leases are recorded net of unearned
income, which totaled $624 million as of December 31, 2015 and
$665 million as of December 31, 2014. Additionally, portfolio loans
and leases are recorded net of unamortized premiums and
discounts, deferred loan fees and costs and fair value adjustments
(associated with acquired loans or loans designated as fair value
upon origination) which totaled a net premium of $220 million and
$169 million as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

The Bancorp’s FHLB and FRB advances are generally secured
by loans. The Bancorp had loans of $11.9 billion and $11.1 billion at
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, pledged at the FHLB,
and loans of $33.7 billion and $33.9 billion at December 31, 2015
and 2014, respectively, pledged at the FRB.
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The following table presents a summary of the total loans and leases owned by the Bancorp and net charge-offs as of and for the years ended

December 31:
90 Days Past Due Net
Balance and Still Accruing Charge-Offs

($ in millions) 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Commercial and industrial loans $ 42,151 40,801 7 - 229 222
Commercial mortgage loans 6,991 7,410 - - 27 26
Commercial construction loans 3,214 2,071 - - 3 12
Commercial leases 3,854 3,721 - - 2 1
Residential mortgage loans 14,424 13,582 40 56 17 126
Home equity 8,336 8,886 - - 39 59
Automobile loans 11,497 12,037 10 8 28 27
Credit card 2,360 2,401 18 23 82 82
Other consumer loans and leases 658 436 - - 19 20
Total loans and leases $ 93,485 91,345 75 87 446 575
Less: Loans and leases held for sale $ 903 1,261

Total portfolio loans and leases $ 92,582 90,084

The Bancorp engages in commercial lease products primarily related
to the financing of commercial equipment. The Bancorp had $3.1
billion and $2.8 billion of direct financing leases, net of unearned
income, at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and $801
million and $874 million of leveraged leases, net of unearned
income, at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Pre-tax income from leveraged leases was $27 million during
the year ended December 31, 2015 and $25 million during both the
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 and the tax effect of this
income was an expense of $1 million for the year ended December
31, 2015 and $9 million during both the years ended December 31,
2014 and 2013.

The following table provides the components of the commercial lease financing portfolio as of December 31:

($ in millions) 2015 2014

Rentals receivable, net of principal and interest on nonrecourse debt $ 3,550 3,589
Estimated residual value of leased assets 906 779
Initial direct cost, net of amortization 22 17
Gross investment in lease financing 4,478 4,385
Unearned income (624) (665)
Net investment in commercial lease financing® $ 3,854 3,720

A 4/

The

(a) ¢ for uncollectib
The Bancorp periodically reviews residual values associated with its
leasing portfolio. Declines in residual values that are deemed to be
other-than-temporary are recognized as a loss. The Bancorp
recognized $8 million and $4 million of residual value write-downs
related to commercial leases for the years ended December 31, 2015
and 2014, respectively. The residual value write-downs related to
commercial leases are recorded in corporate banking revenue in the
Consolidated Statements of Income. At December 31, 2015, the
minimum future lease payments receivable for each of the years
2016 through 2020 was $715 million, $632 million, $532 million,
$449 million and $333 million, respectively.
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6. CREDIT QUALITY AND THE ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN AND LEASE LOSSES

The Bancorp disaggregates ALLL balances and transactions in the ALLL by portfolio segment. Credit quality related disclosures for loans and
leases are further disaggregated by class.

Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses
The following tables summatize transactions in the ALLL by portfolio segment for the years ended December 31:

Residential
2015 ($ in millions) Commercial Mortgage Consumer Unallocated Total
Balance, beginning of period $ 875 104 237 106 1,322
Losses charged-off (298) (28) (216) - (542)
Recoveries of losses previously charged-off 37 1 48 - 96
Provision for loan and lease losses 226 13 148 9 396
Balance, end of period $ 840 100 217 115 1,272
Residential
2014 (§ in millions) Commercial Mortgage Consumer Unallocated Total
Balance, beginning of period $ 1,058 189 225 110 1,582
Losses charged-off (299) (139) (241) - (679)
Recoveries of losses previously charged-off 38 13 53 - 104
Provision for loan and lease losses 78 41 200 ) 315
Balance, end of period $ 875 104 237 106 1,322
Residential
2013 ($ in millions) Commercial Mortgage Consumer Unallocated Total
Balance, beginning of period $ 1,236 229 278 111 1,854
Losses charged-off (284) (70) (283) - (637)
Recoveries of losses previously charged-off 64 10 62 - 136
Provision for loan and lease losses 42 20 168 1) 229
Balance, end of period $ 1,058 189 225 110 1,582
The following tables provide a summary of the ALLL and related loans and leases classified by portfolio segment:
Residential
As of December 31, 2015 ($ in millions) Commercial Mortgage Consumer Unallocated Total
ALLL:@
Individually evaluated for impairment $ 119 @ 67 49 - 235
Collectively evaluated for impairment 721 33 168 - 922
Unallocated - - - 115 115
Total ALLL $ 840 100 217 115 1,272
Portfolio loans and leases:®
Individually evaluated for impairment $ 815 @ 630 424 - 1,869
Collectively evaluated for impairment 55,341 12,917 22,286 - 90,544
Loans acquired with deteriorated credit quality - 2 - - 2
Total portfolio loans and leases $ 56,156 13,549 22,710 - 92,415

(a)  Includes $5 related to leveraged leases at December 31, 2015,

(b)  Excludes $167 of residential morigage loans measured at fair valne and includes $801 of leveraged leases, net of unearned income, at December 31, 2015,

(c)  Includes five restructured loans at December 31, 2015 associated with a consolidated V'1E in which the Bancorp has no continuing credit risk due to the risk being assumed by a third party, with
a recorded investment of 827 and an ALLL of 815,

105 Fifth Third Bancorp



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Residential
As of December 31, 2014 (§ in millions) Commercial Mortgage Consumer Unallocated Total
ALLL:@
Individually evaluated for impairment $ 179 @ 65 61 - 305
Collectively evaluated for impairment 696 39 176 - 911
Unallocated - - - 106 106
Total ALLL $ 875 104 237 106 1,322
Portfolio loans and leases:®
Individually evaluated for impairment $ 1,260 @ 518 483 - 2,261
Collectively evaluated for impairment 52,693 11,761 23,259 - 87,713
Loans acquired with deteriorated credit quality - 2 - - 2
Total portfolio loans and leases $ 53,953 12,281 23,742 - 89,976

(@) Includes $6 related to leveraged leases at D ber 31, 2014.

(b)  Excludes §108 of residential morigage loans measured at fair valne and includes $874 of leveraged leases, net of unearned income, at December 31, 2014.
(¢)  Includes five restructured loans at December 31, 2014 associated with a consolidated VIE in which the Bancorp has no continuing credit risk due to the risk being assumed by a third party, with a

recorded investment of $28 and an ALLL of §10.

CREDIT RISK PROFILE

Commercial Portfolio Segment

For purposes of monitoring the credit quality and risk
characteristics of its commercial portfolio segment, the Bancorp
disaggregates the segment into the following classes: commercial
and industrial, commercial mortgage owner-occupied, commercial
mortgage nonowner-occupied, commercial construction and
commercial leases.

To facilitate the monitoring of credit quality within the
commercial portfolio segment, and for purposes of analyzing
historical loss rates used in the determination of the ALLL for the
commercial portfolio segment, the Bancorp utilizes the following
categories of credit grades: pass, special mention, substandard,
doubtful and loss. The five categories, which are detived from
standard regulatory rating definitions, are assigned upon initial
approval of credit to borrowers and updated periodically thereafter.

Pass ratings, which are assigned to those borrowers that do not
have identified potential or well defined weaknesses and for which
there is a high likelihood of orderly repayment, are updated at least
annually based on the size and credit characteristics of the borrower.
All other categories are updated on a quarterly basis during the
month preceding the end of the calendar quarter.

The Bancorp assigns a special mention rating to loans and
leases that have potential weaknesses that deserve management’s
close attention. If left uncorrected, these potential weaknesses may,
at some future date, result in the deterioration of the repayment
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prospects for the loan or lease or the Bancorp’s credit position.

The Bancorp assigns a substandard rating to loans and leases
that are inadequately protected by the current sound worth and
paying capacity of the borrower or of the collateral pledged.
Substandard loans and leases have well defined weaknesses or
weaknesses that could jeopardize the orderly repayment of the debt.
Loans and leases in this grade also are characterized by the distinct
possibility that the Bancorp will sustain some loss if the deficiencies
noted are not addressed and corrected.

The Bancorp assigns a doubtful rating to loans and leases that
have all the attributes of a substandard rating with the added
characteristic that the weaknesses make collection or liquidation in
full, on the basis of currently existing facts, conditions, and values,
highly questionable and improbable. The possibility of loss is
extremely high, but because of certain important and reasonable
specific pending factors that may work to the advantage of and
strengthen the credit quality of the loan or lease, its classification as
an estimated loss is deferred until its more exact status may be
determined. Pending factors may include a proposed merger or
acquisition, liquidation proceeding, capital injection, perfecting liens
on additional collateral or refinancing plans.

Loans and leases classified as loss are considered uncollectible
and are charged-off in the period in which they are determined to be
uncollectible. Because loans and leases in this category are fully
charged-off, they are not included in the following tables.
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The following tables summatize the credit risk profile of the Bancorp’s commercial portfolio segment, by class:

Special
As of December 31, 2015 ($ in millions) Pass Mention Substandard Doubtful Total
Commercial and industrial loans $ 38,756 1,633 1,742 - 42,131
Commercial mortgage owner-occupied loans 3,344 124 191 - 3,659
Commercial mortgage nonowner-occupied loans 3,105 63 130 - 3,298
Commercial construction loans 3,201 4 9 - 3,214
Commercial leases 3,724 93 37 - 3,854
Total commercial loans and leases $ 52,130 1,917 2,109 - 56,156

Special
As of December 31, 2014 (§ in millions) Pass Mention Substandard Doubtful Total
Commercial and industrial loans $ 38,013 1,352 1,400 - 40,765
Commercial mortgage owner-occupied loans 3,430 137 267 - 3,834
Commercial mortgage nonowner-occupied loans 3,198 76 284 7 3,565
Commercial construction loans 1,966 65 38 - 2,069
Commercial leases 3,678 9 33 - 3,720
Total commercial loans and leases $ 50,285 1,639 2,022 7 53,953

Residential Mortgage and Consumer Portfolio Segments
For purposes of monitoring the credit quality and risk
characteristics of its consumer portfolio segment, the Bancorp
disaggregates the segment into the following classes: home equity,
automobile loans, credit card and other consumer loans and leases.
The Bancorp’s residential mortgage portfolio segment is also a
separate class.

The Bancorp considers repayment performance as the best
indicator of credit quality for residential mortgage and consumer

loans, which includes both the delinquency status and performing
versus nonpetforming status of the loans. The delinquency status of
all residential mortgage and consumer loans is presented by class in
the age analysis section while the performing versus nonperforming
status is presented in the following table. Refer to the nonaccrual
loans and leases section of Note 1 for additional delinquency and
nonperforming information.

The following table presents a summary of the Bancorp’s residential mortgage and consumer portfolio segments, by class, disaggregated into

performing versus nonperforming status as of December 31:

2015 2014
($ in millions) Performing Nonperforming Performing Nonperforming
Residential mortgage loans( $ 13,498 51 12,204 77
Home equity 8,222 79 8,793 93
Automobile loans 11,491 2 12,036 1
Credit card 2,226 33 2,360 41
Other consumer loans and leases 657 - 418 -
Total residential mortgage and consumer loans and leases® $ 36,094 165 35,811 212

(a)  Excludes $167 and $108 of loans measnred at fair valne at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
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Age Analysis of Past Due Loans and Leases
The following tables summarize the Bancorp’s recorded investment in portfolio loans and leases, by age and class:

Current Past Due 90 Days Past
Loans and 30-89 90 Days Total Total Loans Due and Still
As of December 31, 2015 ($ in millions) Leases® Days® or More® Past Due and Leases Accruing
Commercial loans and leases:
Commercial and industrial loans $ 41,996 55 80 135 42,131 7
Commercial mortgage owner-occupied loans 3,610 15 34 49 3,659 -
Commercial mortgage nonowner-occupied loans 3,262 9 27 36 3,298 -
Commercial construction loans 3,214 - - - 3,214 -
Commercial leases 3,850 3 1 4 3,854 -
Residential mortgage loans@® 13,420 37 92 129 13,549 40
Consumer loans and leases:
Home equity 8,158 82 61 143 8,301 -
Automobile loans 11,407 75 1 86 11,493 10
Credit card 2,207 29 23 52 2,259 18
Other consumer loans and leases 656 1 - 1 657 -
Total portfolio loans and leases $ 91,780 306 329 635 92,415 75

(a)  Excludes 8167 of residential mortgage loans measured at fair value at December 31, 2015,

(b)  Information includes advances made pursuant to servicing agreements for GNMA mortgage pools whose repayments are insured by the FHA or gnaranteed by the 1VA. As of December 31,
2015, $102 of these loans were 30-89 days past due and $335 were 90 days or more past due. The Bancorp recognized $8 of losses during the year ended December 31, 2015 due to claim
denials and curtailments associated with these insured or gnaranteed loans.

(¢)  Includes accrual and nonaccrual loans and leases.

Current Past Due 90 Days Past
Loans and 30-89 90 Days Total Total Loans Due and Still
As of December 31, 2014 (§ in millions) Leases® Days® or More® Past Due and Leases Accruing
Commetcial loans and leases:
Commercial and industtial loans $ 40,651 29 85 114 40,765 -
Commercial mortgage owner-occupied loans 3,774 7 53 60 3,834 -
Commercial mortgage nonowner-occupied loans 3,537 11 17 28 3,565 -
Commercial construction loans 2,069 - - - 2,069 -
Commercial leases 3,717 3 - 3 3,720 -
Residential mortgage loans@® 12,109 38 134 172 12,281 56
Consumer loans and leases:
Home equity 8,710 100 76 176 8,886
Automobile loans 11,953 74 10 84 12,037 8
Credit card 2,335 34 32 66 2,401 23
Other consumer loans and leases 417 1 - 1 418 -
Total portfolio loans and leases® $ 89,272 297 407 704 89,976 87

(a)  Excludes §108 of residential morigage loans measured at fair valne at December 31, 2014.

(b)  Information includes advances made pursnant to servicing agreements for GNMA morigage pools whose repayments are insured by the FHA or guaranteed by the 1VA. As of December 31, 2014,
$99 of these loans were 30-89 days past due and §373 were 90 days or more past due. The Bancorp recognized §14 of losses during the year ended December 31, 2014 due to claim denials and
curtailments associated with these insured or guaranteed loans.

(¢)  Includes accrual and nonaccrual loans and leases.
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Impaired Portfolio Loans and Leases

Larger commercial loans and leases included within aggregate
borrower relationship balances exceeding $1 million that exhibit
probable or observed credit weaknesses are subject to individual
review for impairment. The Bancorp also performs an individual

evaluating whether an individual loan or lease is impaired. Other
factors may include the geography and industry of the borrower,
size and financial condition of the borrower, cash flow and
leverage of the borrower and the Bancorp’s evaluation of the
borrower’s management. Smaller-balance homogenous loans or

review on loans and leases that ate restructured in a TDR. The
Bancorp considers the current value of collateral, credit quality of
any guarantees, the loan structure and other factors when

leases that are collectively evaluated for impairment are not
included in the following tables.

The following tables summarize the Bancorp’s impaired portfolio loans and leases, by class, that were subject to individual review, which includes
all portfolio loans and leases restructured in a TDR as of December 31:

Unpaid
Principal Recorded
2015 ($ in millions) Balance Investment ALLL
With a related ALLL:
Commercial loans and leases:
Commercial and industrial loans $ 412 346 84
Commercial mortgage owner-occupied loans® 28 21 5
Commercial mortgage nonowner-occupied loans 75 64 12
Commercial construction loans 4 4
Commercial leases 3 3 1
Restructured residential mortgage loans 450 444 67
Restructured consumer loans and leases:
Home equity 226 225 32
Automobile loans 17 16 2
Credit card 61 61 15
Total impaired portfolio loans and leases with a related ALLL $ 1,276 1,184 220
With no related ALLL:
Commercial loans and leases:
Commercial and industrial loans $ 228 182 -
Commercial mortgage owner-occupied loans 54 51 -
Commercial mortgage nonowner-occupied loans 126 m -
Commercial construction loans 9 5 -
Commercial leases 1 1 -
Restructured residential mortgage loans 210 186 -
Restructured consumer loans and leases:
Home equity 122 119 -
Automobile loans 3 3 -
Total impaired portfolio loans and leases with no related ALLL 753 658 -
Total impaired portfolio loans and leases $ 2,029 1,842 @ 220

(@) Includes $491, $607 and 8372, respectively, of commercial, residential morigage and consumer portfolio TDRs on accrnal status and 3203, $23 and 852, respectively, of commercial, residential
mortgage and consumer portfolio TDRs on nonaccrual status at December 31, 2015,

(b)  Excludes five restructured loans at December 31, 2015 associated with a consolidated VIE in which the Bancorp bhas no continuing credit risk due to the risk being assumed by a third party,
with an unpaid principal balance of $27, a recorded investment of 327 and an ALLL of $15.
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Unpaid
Principal Recorded
2014 ($ in millions) Balance Investment ALLL
With a related ALLL:
Commercial loans and leases:
Commercial and industrial loans $ 598 486 149
Commercial mortgage owner-occupied loans® 54 46 14
Commercial mortgage nonowner-occupied loans 69 57 4
Commercial construction loans 18 15
Commercial leases 3 3 2
Restructured residential mortgage loans 388 383 65
Restructured consumer loans and leases:
Home equity 203 201 42
Automobile loans 19 19 3
Credit card 78 78 16
Total impaired portfolio loans and leases with a related ALLL $ 1,430 1,288 295
With no related ALLL:
Commercial loans and leases:
Commercial and industrial loans $ 311 276 -
Commercial mortgage owner-occupied loans 72 68 -
Commercial mortgage nonowner-occupied loans 251 231 -
Commercial construction loans 48 48 -
Commercial leases 2 2 -
Restructured residential mortgage loans 155 135 -
Restructured consumer loans and leases:
Home equity 183 180 -
Automobile loans 5 5 -
Total impaired portfolio loans and leases with no related ALLL 1,027 945 -
Total impaired portfolio loans and leases $ 2,457 2,233 @ 295

(@) Includes $869, §485 and §420, respectively, of commercial, residential mortgage and consumer portfolio TDRs on accrual statns and $214, §33 and $63, respectively, of commercial, residential
mortgage and consumer portfolio TDRs on nonaccrunal status at December 31, 2014.

(b)  Excludes five restructured loans at December 31, 2014 associated with a consolidated VIE in which the Bancorp has no continuing credit risk due to the risk being assumed by a third party, with
an unpaid principal balance of §28, a recorded investment of $28 and an ALLL. of $10.

The following table summarizes the Bancorp’s average impaired portfolio loans and leases, by class, and interest income, by class, for the years
ended December 31:

2015 2014 2013
Averag